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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains “forward-looking statementsthim the meaning of the securities laws of certain
jurisdictions, including statements under the hegsli‘Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion andlsis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” $B1ess” and in other sections. In some cases, thegard-looking
statements can be identified by the use of foriao#ting terminology, including the words “aims,”éleves,”
“estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends ifay,” “will,” “plans,” “continue” or “should” or, h each case, their
negative or other variations or comparable ternaigglor by discussions of strategies, plans, ohjestitargets, goals,
future events or intentions. These forward-loolétefements include all matters that are not histbfacts. They appear
in a number of places throughout this Report aoctlde statements regarding our intentions, betefsurrent
expectations concerning, among other things, ault®of operations, financial condition, liquidifgrospects, growth,
strategies and dividend policy, and the industryitich we operate.
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By their nature, forward-looking statements invokrewn and unknown risks and uncertainties bectnese
relate to events and depend on circumstances gaabmmay not occur in the future. Forward-lookstatements are not
guarantees of future performance. In addition, eévear actual results of operations, financial dition and liquidity,
and the development of the industry in which werafee are consistent with the forward-looking stetats contained in
this Report, those results or developments maypedandicative of results or developments in futpeeiods. You should
not place undue reliance on these forward-lookiatements.

Any forward-looking statements are only made athefdate of this Report and we do not intend, andat
assume any obligation, to update forward-lookirgeshents set forth in this Report.

Many factors may cause our results of operatianantial condition, liquidity and the developmeftize
industries in which we compete to differ materidtiym those expressed or implied by the forward<ing statements
contained in this Report.

These factors include, among others:

« the impact of global economic conditions on wuwiilde demand for our products and services and on ou
access to financing;

» the deterioration of Spanish economic conditions;
» cyclicality in the market prices for our pulp plects;

* increases in the cost of wood, certain chemi@alsrgy and oil, which are the main raw materiaksoun
our activities;

» volatility in market electricity prices;

» failure to adjust pulp production volumes inraeiy or cost-efficient manner in response to charige
demand;

« failure to keep up with technological changesyalt as changes in prices, industry standardsotimer
factors;

e economic, political and social risks in foreigouotries;

» significant competition in the industries in whiwe operate;

» the expiration of the administrative concessiglated to our Pontevedra facilities in 2018;

» competition for land use;

» significant interruptions to our operations & thulp production, energy generation, transpormastorage,

distribution and port facilities we own or utilizecluding those resulting from mechanical failuoes
difficulties or unplanned or planned shutdownswatulp production facilities;



e catastrophes, natural disasters, adverse weathditions, unexpected geological or other physical
conditions, or criminal or terrorist acts;

e interest rate and currency risks;

» risks related to hedging activities;

» any insufficiency of our insurance coverage;

* regulatory changes affecting our electricity gatiag operations;

» exposure to various administrative controls axtdmesive governmental regulation;

» the costs of compliance with environmental, Heatid safety laws and regulations;

» liability and costs in connection with hazardeubstances present at certain of our facilities;
e concerns about the effects of climate change;

» changes in the financing conditions for biomasgqets;

» failure to satisfy requirements related to sufiish capital investments, suitable sites, qualieippliers
and administrative permits and authorizations inaectricity generating activity;

e delays in the completion of our biomass energyeuts;

e adverse effects to our electricity generatingrafiens resulting from adverse circumstances affgaiur
pulp production operations;

» the social, economic and environmental side &ffetour electricity generating operations;

» failure to retain key employees;

* wage increases or work stoppages by our uniorénguloyees;

» credit risk of our counterparties;

* risks associated with acquisitions or investmémjsint ventures with third parties;

+ risks in connection with divestitures; and

» other factors beyond our control.

These risks and others described under “Risk Fsictme not exhaustive. Other sections of this Regescribe
additional factors that could adversely affect msaults of operations, financial condition, liquydand the development
of the industries in which we operate. New risks emerge from time to time, and it is not possfbteus to predict all
such risks, nor can we assess the impact of dfl §sks on our business or the extent to whichrésig, or combination
of risks and other factors, may cause actual resuoltliffer materially from those contained in dagward-looking
statements. Given these risks and uncertaintiessiould not rely on forward-looking statements gsediction of
actual results.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

This Report includes the audited consolidated anfimancial statements of the Issuer and its suases as of
and for each of the years ended December 31, 28d Dacember 31, 2012, including the accompanyingaihereto.
The audited consolidated financial statementsHeryears ended December 31, 2011 and Decembe®B2 a2e herein
referred to as the “Consolidated Financial Statésién

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Compad its subsidiaries as of and for the years@nde

December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012 have lbeparpd in accordance with International FinanRggborting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFFEEXYept as otherwise indicated, the financiakstents and



financial information included herein are presenteduro. The euro is the common legal currenchefMember States
participating in the third stage of the Europeanritsnic and Monetary Union, including Spain.

In this Report, we present certain non-GAAP measuneluding Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Costs, EBITDA,
Gross debt, Mid-cycle EBITDA, Net debt, Other C&x¥sts, Unlevered free cash flow (excluding expamsapital
expenditure), Wood Costs and Working capital, aentiain leverage and coverage ratios that are ooined by, or
presented in accordance with, IFRS. Our manageb®dieives that the presentation of these non-GAARsmes and
ratios is helpful to investors because these amer gimilar measures are widely used by certaiastors, security
analysts and other interested parties as supplehmaetsures of performance and liquidity. Howeyeu, should not
construe these non-GAAP measures and ratios anatltes to profit and loss from operations deteediin accordance
with IFRS or to cash flows from operations, invegtactivities or financing activities, or to anynet measure or ratio
required by, or presented in accordance with, IRR@&ddition, our non-GAAP measures and ratios matybe
comparable to similarly titled measures or ratissdiby other companies.

As used in this Report, the following terms hawe fiilowing meanings:

e “Adjusted EBITDA” means EBITDA adjusted for semece payments, for provisions and other items, for
capitalized interest expenses, for results frora seffixed assets and other extraordinary itemsfand
operational hedging.

* “Cash Costs” means Wood Costs plus Other CastsCos

» “EBITDA” means profit and loss from operationgusted for depreciation and amortization and for
impairment and gains or losses on disposals ofaunrent assets.

* “Gross debt” means current and non-current firerdebt plus other financial liabilities. We praseur
gross debt both including and excluding projecafiice indebtedness.

« “Mid-cycle EBITDA” means, at any time, senior nagygment’s good faith estimate of the consolidated
EBITDA of the company based on an estimate of ayehastorical peak and trough pulp prices throumh t
economic cycle.

» “Net debt” means gross debt less cash and cashadents. We present our net debt both includimg) a
excluding project finance indebtedness.

» “Other Cash Costs” means the cost of chemicals;lriomass fuels, energy costs (net of energy t@®n
commercial expenses, logistics, packaging, fixexipction costs and other cash overhead.

* “Unlevered free cash flow (excluding expansiopita expenditure)” means net cash flow from ogarat
activities adjusted for interest paid, interesereed, income tax paid (recovered) and maintenaapéal
expenditure.

*  “Wood Costs” means the cost of timber at the galfe plus the forestry depletion charge.

*  “Working capital” means inventories, plus tradl ather receivables plus receivables from public
authorities, plus other current financial assetss pther current assets, less trade and othebfesydess
corporate income tax payable, less other accowayalye to public authorities and less other current
liabilities.

Certain data contained in this Report, includimgficial information, have been subject to rounding
adjustments. Accordingly, in certain instances, s of the numbers in a column or a row in tableg not conform
exactly to the total figure given for that colunmaw or table, or the sum of certain numbers preskas a percentage
may not conform exactly to the total percentageigiv

The financial information included in this Repatriot intended to comply with the applicable acdtimgn
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and thateel rules and regulations of the SEC which woplalaif the Notes
were being registered with the SEC.

Pursuant to Spanish regulatory requirements, “thretreports” are required to accompany our Cadated
Financial Statements and the related auditors’rtepuwl are included in this Report only in ordecdmnply with such
regulatory requirements. Investors are stronglyicaad that the directors’ reports contain inforimatas of various
historical dates and do not contain a current detsen of our business, affairs or results. Theinfation contained in
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the directors’ reports has been neither auditecorepared for the specific purpose of this Repaetordingly, the
directors’ reports should be read together withatier sections of this Report, and particularlys®Factors” and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations.” Any informaticontained
in the directors’ reports is deemed to be modifieduperseded by any information contained elsesvimethis Report
that is subsequent to or inconsistent with it. Femnore, the directors’ reports include certaimveémd-looking
statements that are subject to inherent uncertgttyase see “Forward-Looking Statements”). Acaaglyi, investors are
cautioned not to rely upon the information contdiiresuch directors’ reports.

DEFINITIONS
In this Report:

» References to “Collateral” are to the collatersidescribed under “Description of the Notes—Credit
Enhancement—Security.”

» References to “Consolidated Financial Statemeats™to the audited consolidated annual accourttseof
Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries as ofamnithe years ended December 31, 2011 and Dece3iber
2012.

» References to “dollar,” “U.S. dollar” or “$” atte the currency of the United States.

» References to “euro” or “€” are to the currenéyie Member States of the European Union partiziga
in the third stage of the Economic and Monetaryddni

» References to “ENCE,” “we,” “us” and “our” andettiGroup” are to the Issuer and its consolidated
subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requoirélse meaning is clear from the context.

 References to “EURIBOR” are to the Euro Interb@ftered Rate.

» References to “Existing Credit Facilities” are(ipthe credit agreement dated April 2, 2008 ezddnto by
and among ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A., as bomaeetain subsidiaries within its group, as
guarantors, and a syndicate of lenders acting BBilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A., as agent therasf,
amended from time to time; (ii) the credit agreetmated October 14, 2010 entered into by and among
ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A., as borrower, Ceadate Asturias, S.A.U., as guarantor, and a sytedica
of lenders acting Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaidd. as agent thereof; (iii) the credit agreemexted
February 19, 1990 between Norte Forestal, S.A&Jhaarower, and Banco Gallego, S.A., as bilateral
lender, as amended from time to time; (iv) the gage-secured loan agreement dated December 12, 2005
entered into by and between Silvasur Agrofore§&a.U. as borrower, and Caja Rural del Sur, Sodeda
Cooperativa de Crédito, as lender, as amendedtfroento time; and (v) the mortgage-secured loan
agreement dated April 1, 2009 entered into by atdien Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.U., as borrovaed
Caja Rural del Sur, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crgastdender.

» References to “GAAP” are to Generally Accepted@unting Principles as used in accordance with IFRS
as issued by the International Accounting StandBaisd and adopted by the European Union.

» References to the “Guarantees” are to the seeicured guarantees by the Guarantors to guardmgtee t
payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes.

» References to the “Guarantors” are, collectivedyCelulosa Energia, S.A.U.; Celulosas de
Asturias, S.A.U.; Norte Forestal, S.A.U.; and SswaAgroforestal, S.A.U., as guarantors of the Note

» References to “IFRS” are to International Finah&eporting Standards as adopted by the EuropaamU

» References to the “Indenture” are to the indenhetween, among others, the Issuer, the Secugignta
and the Trustee under which the Notes will aregdsu

» References to the “Initial Purchasers” are tofitms referred to under the “Plan of Distributioséction in
the Offering Memorandum.

» References to the “Intercreditor Agreement” ar¢éhe Intercreditor Agreement to entered betwermgray
others, the Issuer, Deutsche Bank AG, London BraBeahco Espafiol de Crédito, S.A., Bankia, S.A.,
Banco de Sabadell, S.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Cair&B3.A., Citibank International PLC, London and
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Bankinter, S.A., as revolving lenders; Deutschek3a®, London Branch, as facility agent, original
issuing bank and security agent; and Deutsche deusbmpany Limited, as secured notes trustee.ePleas
see “Description of Other Indebtedness—Intercredigreement.”

» References to the “Issue Date” are to the dateldoh the Notes offered hereby were issued.

» References to the “Issuer” are to ENCE Energiellosa, S.A.

» References to “LIBOR” are to the London Interb&ifered Rate.

» References to the “Luxembourg Listing Agent” tvdeutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

» References to the “Market Tariff” are to the optiof receiving the sale price set by the organimadket
(the pool price) or the price freely negotiatedtiisy owner or representative of the facilities, depented,
as the case may be, by a premium, subject to atydicaps and floors, for all electricity sold.

» References to the “Notes” are to the 7.25% Sebemured Notes of the Issuer offered hereby.

» References to the “Offering” are to the offerofghe Notes hereby.

» References to the “Paying Agent” are to Deutdghiek AG, London Branch.

» References to the “Registrar” are to DeutschekBarxembourg S.A.

» References to the “Regulated Tariff” are to théan of receiving a regulated single tariff fof s¢heduling
periods for all electricity sold.

» References to the “Revolving Credit Facility” aoethe Super Senior Multicurrency Revolving Faygili
Agreement entered between, among others, the |s=réain subsidiaries of the Issuer, Deutsche Bank
AG, London Branch, Banco Espafiol de Crédito, Bankia, S.A., Banco de Sabadell, S.A., Barclays
Bank PLC, CaixaBank, S.A., Citibank Internation&l® London and Bankinter, S.A., as arrangers, gerta
financial institutions listed in Schedule 1 thereds original lenders, and Deutsche Bank AG, London
Branch, as facility agent, original issuing bankl aecurity agent, providing for a €90.0 million oéxing
credit facility. Please see “Description of Othedébtedness.”

» References to the “Security Agent” are to DeutsBhAnk AG, London Branch, as security agent urtaker t
Indenture.

» References to the “Security Documents” are toSbeurity Documents defined in the Indenture.
» References to the “Transfer Agent” are to DewgdBank Luxembourg S.A.
* References to the “Trustee” are to Deutsche @euStompany Limited, as trustee under the Indenture.

For a glossary of certain industry-related termedua this Report, please see “Glossary of Seletézths.”
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Notes involves a high degfeiska In addition to the other information contad in this
Report, you should carefully consider the followiigl factors before purchasing the Notes. If ahthe possible events
described below occurs, our business, financiabaion, results of operations or prospects couldableersely affected.
If that happens we may not be able to pay inteseprincipal on the Notes when due and you couse lall or part of
your investment. The risks and uncertainties beltawnot the only ones we face, but represent gies ithat we believe
are material. However, there may be additional sitikat we currently consider not to be materiabbwhich we are not
currently aware that could have the effects sahfabove.

This Report also contains forward-looking stateraghat involve risks and uncertainties. Our acttesults
could differ materially from those anticipated imcé forward-looking statements as a result of aarfactors, including
the risks we face that are described below andadisee in this Report.

Risks Relating to Our Business

Difficult conditions in the global economy and irhe global markets have caused, and may continueaase, a sharp
reduction in worldwide demand for our products amsérvices, including global demand for our pulp practs, and
negatively impact our access to the levels of finang necessary for the successful development afexisting and
future biomass projects.

Our results of operations have been, and contimbe t materially affected by conditions in the glbeconomy
and in the global capital markets. Recently, come@ver commodity prices, energy costs, geopadlitisaies and the
availability and cost of financing have contributedncreased volatility and diminished expectagiéor the economy
and global markets going forward. These factormkioed with declining global business and consuroefidence and
rising unemployment, have precipitated an econataiwdown and have led to a recession. The econimstigbility and
uncertainty is affecting the willingness of compento make capital expenditures and investmefiteimtarkets in
which we operate. Poor economic conditions thaehepacted, and continue to affect, government btsdglso
threaten the continuation of certain governmensglibs which have benefitted our business. Thesatsand
continuing disruptions in the global economy anthim capital markets may, therefore, have a maidieerse effect on
our business, financial condition and results afraions. Moreover, even in the absence of a madwhturn, we are
exposed to substantial risk of loss due to mar&tility with certain factors, including consunmsyending, business
investment, government spending and the volatilitg strength of financial markets. Generalizedoalized downturns
in our key geographical areas, such as Westernpeummuld also have a material adverse effect @pdnformance of
our business.

In addition, continued disruptions, uncertaintyolatility in capital and credit markets may linoitir access to
additional capital required to operate our busingssuding our access to project finance whichuse to fund many of
our biomass projects. Such market conditions nrait bur ability to replace, in a timely manner, onéatg liabilities and
access the capital necessary to grow our busiAsssresult, we may be forced to delay raisingtedpssue shorter-
term securities than we prefer, or bear an unditeacost of capital which could decrease our pabflity and
significantly reduce our financial flexibility.

Furthermore, demand for our pulp products is lintedverall economic activity within those interiaaual
markets in which we sell our products. After a dieperiod of growth between 2003 and 2007, durihictvperiod pulp
demand increased with a CAGR of 3.7%, the markeg dr demand resulting from the global economisisrof 2008,
when pulp demand declined by 1.0% year on yearpdstrated the vulnerability of the pulp marketriternational
economic conditions. Through 2010, the global econoontinued its recovery and provided improvedditions for
the pulp market. In 2011, however, the pulp mahkeet two distinct phases, with demand in the glplodp market
increasing during the first half of the year, priityaas a result of strong Chinese demand, butesesing in the second
half of the year, primarily as a result of econortacerns in Europe and the impact of such conamrrike global
economy. In 2012, rising demand in China led pricgscrease in the first half of the year, althloag the same time a
decrease in demand in Europe coupled with a deilimaports in Europe resulted once again in angiase in producer
inventories. More recently, demand for pulp haseased, along with prices. A decline in the levedivity in either
the domestic or the international markets withinolthwe operate could adversely affect both the dehiar and the
price of our pulp products and have a material estveffect on us.

The deterioration of Spanish economic conditionsutth adversely affect our business.

In 2012, we made 12.9% of our sales of pulp by maun Spain, and we sell all of our electricitydpain,
where the global economic crisis, together wittomestic real estate crisis, has caused a signifdetarioration in the



economy since 2009. While our sales are diverstfiedughout the European Union and Asia, a pomibour business
is concentrated in Spain, and we may be signifigaffected by the general economic conditionspais.

In addition, Spain has recently experienced higinyployment and government debt which we believddcou
adversely affect our operations in the near futlirBpain’s economic conditions deteriorate furtharr business,
financial condition and results of operations mayabversely affected. Furthermore, economic intylind difficult
economic conditions in Spain have resulted in diken tax revenue obtained by the Spanish puddiministration,
which has resulted in higher effective tax rated mtuced local financing availability.

The market prices for our pulp products are cyclica

The prices we are able to obtain for our pulp potsiufrom which we derived 72.1% and 72.3% of otalt
revenues during the years ended December 31, 2@lPecember 31, 2011, respectively, depend onrthaajing
world prices for market pulp. The price of pulgeiablished in an active market, the evolution bith significantly
affects our revenues and our earnings. World prifep have been considerably volatile in recentsyaa a result of
periodic supply/demand imbalances in the pulp amkpindustries and subject to significant fludtua over short
periods of time depending on a number of factoxdpuding: global demand for pulp products; globalipproduction
capacity and inventories; strategies adopted bynmajlp producers; and the availability of subséitufor our pulp
products. All of these factors are beyond our en®rice fluctuations occur not only from yearygar but also within a
given year as a result of global and regional ecdo@onditions, capacity constraints, facility opegs and closures,
and the supply of and demand for both raw mateaiatsfinished products, among other factors. Tiétj and
magnitude of price increases or decreases in tipegma paper markets have generally varied by regia by type of
pulp and paper. Discounts from list prices aredssdly granted by sellers to significant purchasatthough we have
long-term relationships with many of our customersassurance can be given that prices for pullstaibilize or not
decline further in the future, or that demand fa@ pulp that we produce will not decline in theufet Furthermore,
while most of our pulp sales contracts are one-gakas contracts, the pricing is generally based fammula linked to
the BHKP price and reset on a monthly basis. Assalt, no assurance can be given that we will e taboperate our
pulp production facilities in a profitable mannerthe future. A significant decline in the priceasfe or more of our pulp
products could have a material adverse effect ometioperating revenues, cash flows, operatingnrecand net
income.

Increases in our Wood Costs, the cost of certairenticals or the cost of energy or oil could sign#iatly increase our
operating costs.

Some of our activities require significant consuimpf wood, chemicals (mainly caustic soda), eleity and
energy and oil, and we are vulnerable to mateliatdations in their prices. Eucalyptus timberhis tmain raw material
input for the production of cellulose pulp. Presgnive supply our production facilities mostly wildcal timber
acquired from third-party suppliers in Spain andtégal and, to a lesser extent, with timber impaiftem South
America and Africa.

If there is an insufficient supply of eucalyptusitier to meet our demand in certain markets wheréagilities
are located, we may be required to seek timber fltemnative markets at increased purchase pricesloincreasing
logistical costs. A number of factors can affeet supply of available timber, including climate ddions, fires, pests,
droughts, floods, disease, ice, wind storms andrathture and man-made causes, substantial chemigpesdemand for
pulp or other products whose raw material is timdewell as environmental litigation aimed at petitey forests and
species habitats or regulatory restrictions that reduce the amount of timber available for comiadttarvest. In
addition, future claims and regulations concerriimgpromotion of forest health and the responsmtbprevention of
wildfires could affect timber supplies in the jutistions in which we operate. Any changes or disoms in the supply
of timber due to these or other factors could iaseethe price of timber and, depending on the alvititly of alternative
sources, make it difficult to find replacement slypghannels. In addition, in accordance with owu® on corporate
responsibility and the promotion of sustainableftimanagement, we aim to source a significantqutiom of the
timber we use from forests that have been certddanaged according to certain internationabstais of
sustainability. In the event of pulp capacity irages or supply disruptions, we may face difficslfiading alternative
sources of certified timber in particular. Moreagviacreases in the price of timber, whether cedifor not, may have a
materially adverse effect on our profits and cdstvs.

Furthermore, approximately 80% of the chemicalsldsethe cooking and bleaching process of our petsl
tend to have their prices closely linked to thapetroleum. Significant increases in our Wood Gadsis cost of
chemicals (especially caustic soda) or the coshefgy or oil, or shortages of the supply of arghgoroducts, could
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition and results of operations.



We may not be able to adjust pulp production volwsnie a timely or cost-efficient manner in respont@echanges in
demand.

If we have to operate at significant idle capaditying periods of weak pulp demand, we may be eqhts
higher Cash costs since a significant portion afamst structure is fixed in the short term du¢gh@high capital
investment required for our pulp operations. Thil$ also result in lower co-generation of energy alddition, efforts to
reduce costs during periods of weak demand couldried by labor regulations or previous laborgovernment
agreements. Conversely, during periods of high eaeinaur ability to rapidly increase production ceipais limited,
which could render us unable to satisfy the denfandur pulp products. If we are unable to satesftgess customer
demand, we may lose market share.

We may fail to keep up with and effectively incomate technological changes into our pulp producti@nd
energy-generation processes, as well as changgsiges, industry standards and other factors.

The markets in which our businesses operate chamigly because of technological innovations arahcfes,
prices, industry standards, product instructionst@mer requirements and the economic environriaw. technology
or changes in industry and customer requirementsrevader existing products obsolete, excessivesyigor otherwise
unmarketable. As a result, we must continuouslyaané the efficiency and reliability of our existiteghnologies and
seek to develop new technologies in order to rembihe forefront of industry standards and custamguirements. In
addition, our renewable energy products and sesviely, to a significant extent, on governmentdisstdies to remain
competitive with conventional energy sources. Ifare unable to introduce and integrate new teclyieéanto our
products and services in a timely and cost-effeathanner, our competitive position will suffer ang prospects for
growth will be impaired.

The primary pulp production process applied infagilities is known as the Kraft or sulphate pracébe
“Kraft process”) and currently constitutes the doamt technology in the chemical cellulose produrcti@ustry thanks
to its high efficiency in energy and environmeréas and raw material consumption. We cannot giiegathat a new
product replacing cellulose pulp will not emergetmat a more competitive production process tharcthrent Kraft
process will not be invented. Any new product tt@npetes or replaces cellulose pulp or any innomati any
component of the Kraft process may render our liasi@ans less competitive or obsolete and may negsuibstantial
investments to update and replace them.

Our exports of pulp expose us to economic, politiaad social risks in foreign countries.

Our pulp sales outside of Spain, primarily to thedpean Union and Asia, accounted for 87% and 86éti0
total revenue from the sale of pulp during the gesarded December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2Ghkatévely. Our
exports expose us to risks not faced by compariesating solely in Spain or in any other singlerdoy For example,
our exports may be affected by import restrictiand tariffs, other trade protection measures, itnpoexport licensing
requirements, payment collection difficulties, ahd absence, loss or non-renewal of favorablei¢®at similar
agreements with local authorities, or politicalgisband economic instability. Our future finangerformance will
depend significantly on economic conditions in principal export markets. Other risks associateth wur
international activities include: adapting to tlegulatory requirements of such countries, lowebglalemand for pulp,
which could result in a reduction of our sales,raing income and cash flows; changes in foreignericy exchange
rates (particularly against the U.S. dollar), cneyecontrol measures and inflation in the foreigantries in which we
operate; exchange and international trade contthinges in a specific country’s or region’s ecoigaconditions,
particularly in developing markets; adverse consegas deriving from changes in regulatory requirgsencluding
environmental rules, regulations and certificatiequirements; difficulties and costs associatett eatmplying with,
and enforcing remedies under, a wide variety of gleminternational laws, treaties, and regulati@uerse
consequences from changes in tax laws; and logistists, disruptions in shipping or reduced avditplof freight
transportation. While we attempt to manage cexéihese risks through the use of risk managemegrams, they
cannot and do not fully eliminate these risks. Anwrence of any of these events may negativelaahpur ability to
transact business in certain existing or developiagkets and have a material adverse effect obusginess.

We face significant competition, which may advenrsalffect our market share and profitability.

The pulp industry is highly competitive. In theamational pulp market, certain of our competitmisy have
greater financial strength and access to cheapece® of capital, and consequently have the alidisupport strategic
expenditures directed to increase their marketesi@wr market share may be adversely affectedetextent we are
unable to continue to successfully expand our prtoin capacity at the same pace as our competitors.

In addition, most markets for pulp are served hyesas suppliers, often from different countries.iydactors
influence our competitive position, including nelfificiency and operating rates and the availahitityality and cost of
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wood, energy, water, chemicals, logistics, labat exchange rate fluctuations. Some of our compstittay have
greater financial and marketing resources, openilte that are lower-cost producers of pulp produbgn our mills,
receive government subsidies or have a greatedtiref product offerings than we do. Some of ounpetitors may
have advantages over us, including lower raw maltexnergy and labor costs and fewer environmemdl
governmental regulations with which to comply. Aeault, we cannot assure you that each of ous mill remain
competitive or that we will be able to take advaetaf consolidation opportunities that may arigehat any failure to
exploit opportunities for growth would not makeless competitive. If we are unable to remain coitigetwith these
producers in the future, our market share may beradly affected. Furthermore, increased compatiticcluding a
decrease in import duties in accordance with thedef free trade agreements, could cause us ¢onhasket share,
increase expenditures or reduce pricing, any otkwbould have a material adverse effect on thdtsesfiour
operations. In addition, competition may resulbur inability to increase the selling prices of puoducts sufficiently
or in time to offset the effects of increased ceogthout losing market share and aggressive pribjngompetitors may
force us to decrease prices in an attempt to maintarket share.

We may also face competition in the future fromeottenewable energy providers in Spain. Legislaition
Spain currently limits payment of incentives to gextors of 50 MW or below, but in the future pastieay bring
increased political pressure to reduce subsidiestpancrease the generation threshold or larganket participants
could become beneficiaries of such subsidies. kamele, in the United Kingdom the absence of a marn threshold
has allowed larger competitors to be eligible tweree payments of incentives.

Although we endeavor to maintain our competitiven@® assurance can be given that we will be able t
succeed in doing so in the face of current or Ritampetition. Any such failure to compete sucadsivould
negatively impact our ability to grow our businessl generate revenue, which could have a matehiarse effect on
our business, financial condition and results aragions.

Our Pontevedra facilities are constructed on landigect to an administrative concession that is egfeal to expire in
2018, which may have a material adverse effect on aperations.

Our Pontevedra facilities are constructed on laret avhich there is a right of use covered by aniadtnative
concession which, pursuant to article 66 of thesBoact of 1988 (the “Coasts Act”) will expire iI©028. The facilities
comprise a biomass co-generation installation witbtal installed nominal power of 34.57 MW. We seeking to
extend our Pontevedra land concession beyond 2008w law which would amend the Coasts Act of 1838urrently
being debated in the Spanish Parliament. Among dtiregs, this new law would extend the limits bétconcessions up
to 75 years, provided that the activities undemade compatible with maritime-terrestrial publgeuThe draft law also
foresees a special extension for concessions gréefere its entry into force. In relation to thenevedra concession,
the approval of this law would enable an extensibup to 75 years from 2018. Nevertheless, if treppsed law is not
passed and if we otherwise fail to achieve therestém of our Pontevedra land concession, we magdpgired to cease
the operation of our Pontevedra facility, whichldve a material adverse effect on our businassndial condition
and results of operation. Please see “Business—Stbes and Facilities—Pontevedra.”

Furthermore, the non-governmental organization (QNJAsociacién Salvemos Pontevedi@s requested the
General Directorate of Coasts to declare the etipiraf the concession, due to an alleged infringetnof the terms of
the concession. These proceedings resulted incaidfale judgment for this NGO before the Spanishrtsotdowever,
we and the General Directorate of Coasts have $gup#as judgment, with the appeal currently pegdiefore the
Spanish Supreme Court. In addition, the extensidgheointegrated Environmental Authorization grahte our
Pontevedra facilities on December 31, 2011 has bkaltenged by another NGO, tAsociacién por la Defensa da
Ria da Pontevedraand the town council of Pontevedra, althoughgidnernment of Galicia subsequently confirmed the
extension of this authorization. The town coun€iPontevedra and the NGO have appealed these aeisi

Competition for land for use as eucalyptus forefts the purposes of pulp production or for otheragps, such as soy
beans, sugar cane and other commaodities, may afteatexpansion.

Greater global demand for certain commaodities, @afig for grains and biofuel, may impact our fdrgs
operations such that greater competition for lamddimpact the price of such commodities. Graid biofuel
production generally are economically superiorai@$try activities and, as a result, prospecticegases in land values
may inhibit expansion of new forests. For the sa@ason, we may face difficulties in convincing dthparty partners to
begin or to expand eucalyptus production for usdénpulp industry.
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We may be materially adversely affected if operati@t the pulp production, energy generation, trapustation,
storage, distribution and port facilities we own atilize were to experience significant interruptis or suffer any
mechanical failures or difficulties. In addition, or operations may be affected by unplanned and piad shutdowns
at our pulp production facilities.

Our operations are dependent upon the uninterrugetation of pulp production, energy generation,
transportation, storage, distribution and portlitkees that we own or utilize. Operations at thé&sslities could be
partially or completely shut down, temporarily @rmanently, as a result of any number of circunt&arhat are not
under our control, including catastrophic eventskes or other labor difficulties and transpomatidisruptions.
Furthermore, we may face issues related to ourexiiom to the main network due to congestion oeofactors,
mechanical failures or difficulties and the suspem®r termination of public concessior®(cesiones administrativas
granted to us or to our commercial partners orpedeent contractors relating to the right to prevadspecific service.
Any significant interruption at any of our facié or any inability to transport products to onfrthese facilities
(including through exports) or to or from our custers for any reason may materially adversely affiect

We also depend on connection and access to elgcgias for the sale and transport of the enexgy
produce. We do not own or control the electricignsport and distribution installations. If thensport and distribution
grids suffer from technical capacity restriction$iether temporary or permanent, our ability to skttricity will be
adversely affected and our operations, revenudinadcial condition may suffer as a result.

On occasion, we experience unplanned shutdowresyutions or reductions in the rate of pulp prdturcin
our pulp production facilities located. For exampfeMay 2012, an unexpected outage at our Huelda production
facility resulting from a mechanical failure ledashutdown of our pulp production at this facifity 16 days. In
addition, every year the pulp production in alkgliof our facilities is stopped in order to enals¢o undertake planned
operations and annual maintenance work. Such plavwoeks are carried out during a period of apprataty 15 days,
with no pulp being produced in the affected fagitiiring such periods. Once the planned works haem completed, it
typically takes around one to two days to retumftility to its normal rate of pulp productiorué unplanned and
planned shutdowns and interruptions at our pulplpection facilities have the effect of reducing teeel of income we
generate from our pulp production operations, aag affect our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.

Our business may be adversely affected by catastespnatural disasters, adverse weather conditiansgxpected
geological or other physical conditions, or crimihar terrorist acts at one or more of our sites facilities.

If one or more of our sites were to be exposetiénfature to fire, flood or a natural disaster, ede weather
conditions, terrorism, power loss or other catgdie or if unexpected geological or other advetsesigal conditions
were to develop at any of our sites, we may nailide to carry out our business activities at tHosations or such
operations could be significantly reduced. Thisldoasult in lost revenue at these sites duringpiréod of disruption
and costly remediation, which could have a matexiaderse effect on our business, financial condidiod results of
operations. In addition, despite security meastalesn by us, it is possible that our sites relatongur pulp facilities or
energy generation facilities, or other sites, cdaddaffected by criminal or terrorist acts. Anylsacts could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmabition and results of operations.

Furthermore, the Spanish landscape is prone toeemidgically adapted to, frequent fires. The ok
uncontrolled fires entering and burning significantas of plantation is high, but under normal Wweatonditions this
risk is managed through comprehensive fire prevardnd protection plans. In the last decade, Spasrexperienced
certain disastrous fires across vast areas d#ritsdry. Furthermore, there is some cause for eomthat abnormal
weather conditions that lead to such fires may oomre frequently as a result of the impact of afienchange. In
addition, other catastrophic events, such as pathagd pest infestations may occur. As a consequémne risk of
plantation fires or other catastrophic events resaigh and may be increasing. Continued or inegkéssses of our
wood source could jeopardize our ability to supgly mills with timber from the region.

We are exposed to interest rate and currency risks.

We are exposed to various types of market riskénrtormal course of business, including the impéatterest
rate changes and foreign currency exchange ratuéitions. Some of our indebtedness, includingRawolving Credit
Facility, bears interest at variable rates, geheliaked to market benchmarks such as EURIBOR ABDR. Any
increase in interest rates would increase our fieasts relating to our variable rate indebtedaadsincrease the costs
of refinancing our existing indebtedness and igsuiew debt. Please see “Management’s Discussioraalysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Qit@tite and Qualitative Disclosures About MarkesiRi-
Commaodity Price Risk.”
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Furthermore, while the majority of our sales araelena the European market, revenues from salellofiase
pulp are affected by the U.S. dollar/euro exchamagg, because the benchmark sale price on theatienal market is
in U.S. dollars per tonne and we invoice our cushanin U.S. dollars. Insofar as our cost structsimainly in euro,
changes in the U.S. dollar/euro exchange rate age & significant adverse effect on our earnintgade see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operation—Quantitive anigative
Disclosures About Market Risk—Foreign Exchange Risk

Our business may be adversely impacted by riskateel to hedging activities.

We enter into hedging transactions using finambéivatives instruments to protect against riskatee to the
fluctuation of interest rates, exchange ratesptiee of pulp, the price of gas, fuel oil and etiity used in the
production process, equity swaps related to oureshace and CO2 forward agreements related t@menhouse gas
emission rights. Please see “Management’s Discussid Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuft©peration—
Quantitive and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRétk.” Among interest rate derivatives, we mosthe financial
interest rate swaps. Pulp price derivatives andettod certain energy products are principally swapb options. Our
hedging transactions may not sufficiently or adegjygorotect us against these risks. Market changt®e future may
not be consistent with historical data or our agsions. If markets move adversely, we may incuafiicial losses on
these hedging transactions.

We account for our derivative instruments in aceo® with IFRS. Such methodology could imply a cjeaim
the value of the derivative instruments that cdwdge an impact on the profit and loss accountdtiteon, the value of
such instruments may increase or decrease duectodtions resulting from changes in economic dig, investor
sentiment, monetary and fiscal policies, the ligyidf global markets, international and regionalifical events and
acts of war or terrorism.

Our insurance coverage may be insufficient to covarr losses.

Our insurance coverage may be insufficient to ca&ses that we might incur. We have comprehensive
insurance with leading insurers to cover our regiglis, damage to our facilities caused by fireggarthird-party
liability for accidents and operational risks, antktrnational and domestic transportation. We donmaintain insurance
coverage against all risks related to our forestparticular with respect to forest fires. The weence of losses or other
damages not covered by insurance, or that excedidsirance limits, could result in unexpected @ddal costs.

In addition, our insurance policies are subjeattgew by our insurers. If the level of premiumsrevéo
increase in the future, we might not be able tontadi insurance coverage comparable to that cuyremeffect at a
comparable cost, or at all. If we were unable tsspEny increase in insurance premiums on to otogss, such
additional costs could have a material adverseceffie our business, financial condition and reseiltsperations.

Regulatory changes may have an adverse effect onebectricity generating operations.

Our electricity generating operations have reliacadavorable regulatory regime in Spain and haweavg to
become increasingly important to our business, sz they represent an increasing proportion obearall sales.
Regulatory changes relating to electricity generathay have an adverse effect on our electricibegging operations
and ultimately our revenue and financial conditionparticular, on January 27, 2012, the SpanistnCib of Ministers
approved the Moratorium, temporarily suspendinghierr generation capacity from being registered uRg/al Decree
661/2007, which had provided economic incentivegte construction of new energy facilities thagédiso-generation,
renewable energy sources and waste. Please seel&Req.” Nonetheless, those facilities that hagadly been
registered prior to the passing of the Moratoriimoluding all of the facilities we currently opegatr are in the process
of constructing (including our Huelva and Méridaifides), will continue to benefit from the econ@nincentives
provided by Royal Decree 661/2007. While the Marato allows the Spanish government to set up a@emomic
incentive regime for co-generation facilities atles energy facilities using primary energy sourcesiconsumable and
non-hydraulic renewable energy, biomass, biofuetsagricultural waste, this new economic incentagime has not
yet been established. The Moratorium, so long emitins in effect, therefore removes incentivegfowing our
electricity generating operations and introduceseuainty with regard to the development of newlitées, as the
suspension period is open-ended and may extendriitedky.

On December 28, 2012, a new law aimed at redubiagl¢ficit within Spain’s subsidized electricityoguction
industry and ensuring the sustainability of Spaeriergy supply through the imposition of certan@easures was
published in the Spanish Official Gazette (the “EyyeTax Law”). Please see “Regulation.” The Enefgyx Law, which
became effective as of January 1, 2013, providesnier alia:
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e adirect tax on energy generators equal to 7t#henfotal annual revenues of each energy generation
facility; and

» the implementation of a “green cent&ftimo verdgtax on natural gas under certain circumstances
(including for the purposes for which natural gasised in our energy generation facilities) atte od
€0.65 per gigajoule and on fuel oil (which we usesiinall amounts to start the boilers necessaryito o
energy operations) used for the production of gfeenergy at a rate of €12.00 per tonne.

Although both taxes are deductible and we expecetéctricity market to pass a portion of these tews
through the electricity pool prices, the Energy Taxv is likely to increase our cost of productidreaergy.

On February 1, 2013, the Royal Decree Law 2/2018meargency measures for the electrical sectortand t
financial system, modified the reference index exale to RD 661/2007 annual tariff adjustment fritve general CPI
index to the underlying CPI at constant taxes {g&kiolg tax increases, unprocessed foods and eneogugts); and the
prime economic regimen will be based only on thlgutated tariff option (with the pool+premium optieliminated).
This regulation is likely to increase our cost odguction of energy.

Our business is conducted under various adminisivatcontrols and subject to extensive governmeméggulation.

Our operations are subject to the general supervisi various public administrative authorities;lirding
labor, tax and environmental authorities, as welicaextensive regulation of our business. Sucls kmd regulations
require licenses, permits and other approvals todb@ined in connection with the operations of lbusiness. This
regulatory framework imposes significant actuai-ttzday compliance burdens, costs and risks olNas-compliance
with such regulations could result in the revoaatd permits, sanctions, fines or even criminalgées. Compliance
with regulatory requirements may result in subsséhigbsts to our operations that may not be reaxdn addition, we
cannot predict the timing or form of any future wkdory or law enforcement initiatives. Changesxisting energy,
environmental and administrative laws and regutetimay materially and adversely affect our busin@sslucts,
services, margins and investments. Furthermoréy, shianges in laws and regulations could increassitte and number
of claims and damages asserted against us or sulsjéx enforcement actions, fines and even crihgianalties.

We believe that we manage our business in a mahaeconforms to general practice in our industrgt that
complies with applicable administrative rules, fagjons and procedures. However, we cannot assuréhat our
interpretation and application of such rules, rajohs and procedures will not differ from the véewf the relevant
public authorities as to their appropriate intetation and application. These public authoritiey madit, review or
inspect our activity.

To the extent any such audit, review or inspecteeals discrepancies between the interpretatiots a
applications made by us and those made by thearelg@ublic authority, we may experience a matexislerse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of ofiers and cash flows.

In particular, our biomass renewable energy geimgrddcilities are subject to strict internationadtional, state
and local regulations relating to their developmennstruction and operation (including, among othiangs, land
acquisition, leasing and use, and the corresporaliiding permits, landscape conservation, noigelegion,
environmental protection and environmental periaitd energy transmission and distribution networgestion
regulations). In addition, the turnover that we eate from our biomass renewable energy projedgsficantly
dependent on regulated tariffs. Under our agreesneith the Spanish public administration, a tastflicture is
established, and we have limited, or no, possyiifitindependently raising tariffs beyond the ekthied rates. In
addition, we may be unable to adjust our tariffa agsult of fluctuations in the prices of raw mi@tls, exchange rates,
labor and subcontractor costs or any other vanatiavhich may reduce our revenue. Moreover, in soases, if we fail
to comply with certain pre-established conditichg, Spanish government may reduce tariffs payablestIn addition,
during the life of a concession, the Spanish gavemmt may unilaterally impose additional restricamn our tariff rates.
The Spanish government may also postpone anniffinareases until a new tariff structure is apyed without
compensating us for lost revenue. In the caseatinabne or more of these events occur, there dmula material
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operation.

In addition, we may decide to pursue biomass rebnenergy projects in the future in countries urdpe

other than Spain. Regulations applicable to theggion of electricity in such countries may vampstantially vis-a-vis
Spain, and may be more restrictive or unfavoratlest
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We may face high costs related to compliance witlvieonmental, health and safety laws and regulat&n

Our business is subject to extensive environmenéaith and safety laws and regulations relatingptatrolling
discharges and emissions of pollutants to landematd air, the use and preservation of naturaluress, the noise
impact of our operations and the use, disposatamediation of hazardous materials. Compliance thi#ise laws and
regulations is a significant aspect of our indusanyd substantial legal and financial resourceseayeired to ensure
compliance and to manage environmental risks. M@eenvironmental laws and regulations applicables are likely
to become more stringent in the future.

For example, the EU Emissions Trading Scheme, winighements the Kyoto Protocol of 1997 in the coast
in which our mills operate, is expected to reqpiregressively increased reductions of carbon dgidd other
greenhouse gas emissions during its third phasegofation from 2013 to 2020. Until January 201/3jer the EU
Emissions Trading Scheme, greenhouse gas emidl@raaces were allocated to us largely free of ghaHowever,
from January 2013 to January 2020, our regulathogation of CQ rights will be reduced. Currently, it is estimatbdt
such allocation will amount to 128,544 tonnes of,@i@hts annually, which creates a deficit for opecational
requirements. This reduction and any further litiotas applicable to us may require additional matexpenditures. In
addition, most of our facilities in Spain have bdieansed under the EU Integrated Pollution Preeerdnd Control
regime, and conditions imposed by authorities asgdahis licensing scheme, or the licensing schemder its
successor, could become more stringent over tirdeeguire material capital and other expenditures.

Our industry also faces increasing public and conitypressure to consume energy more efficiently,
including through the use of renewable fuels, ancetluce waste. In addition, the European papeising faces
increasing pressure to procure wood and pulp frestesnably managed forests through a number ofication
schemes. While approximately 27% of the wood useaddnufacture our products currently comes fronm$acests, we
may be required to implement additional measuremieffort to address these concerns in the futunesh may require
us to invest substantial resources in adjustingraodifying our production processes.

The risk of substantial environmental costs anillizes is inherent in our industry, and there ¢&nno
assurance that any incurrence by us of such codtiabilities, or the adoption of increasinglyistrenvironmental laws,
regulations and enforcement policies and practizédbnot have a material adverse effect on ouafficial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Although we strive to ensure that our facilitiesrgaly with all applicable environmental laws andrpis
required for our operations, we have in the pashpand may in the future be, subject to governatemiforcement
actions for failure to comply with environmentatdations. Impacts from historical operations, uithg the land or
water disposal of waste materials, or our own & may require costly investigation and cleanlapddition, we
could become subject to environmental liabilitiesulting from personal injury (including from expios to hazardous
materials in the workplace), property damage ounahresources damage and governmental authomitgsimpose
fines, penalties and sanctions, together with taotleer liens on the responsible parties to sethearties’
reimbursement obligations. Expenditures to comgth Wuture environmental requirements and the cadtted to any
potential environmental liabilities and claims abhlve a material adverse effect on our businesddiaancial
condition.

Environmental regulations also require us to penfenvironmental impact studies as a condition d¢dioling
the necessary regulatory licenses, permits and afiirovals for future projects. There can be su@sice that
governmental authorities will approve these envinental impact studies; or that laws or regulatiilsnot change or
be interpreted in a manner that increases our cbstsmpliance, or materially or adversely affeat operations,
facilities or our plans for the companies in whieé have an investment or to which we provide owises.

We may incur liability and costs in connection wittazardous substances present at certain of ouiilfaes.

Some of our properties are located on land withng history of industrial use by us and other comgs
before us, which has resulted in spills and otbkrases of hazardous materials (including asbestes)time. The
limited testing for contamination that has takescpl at certain of our properties may not be sefficto ascertain the
extent of our obligations with respect to any caritation relating to any of our facilities.

Should we face claims relating to any such hazardobstances, we could incur significant costsritifg

such claims or damages awards arising from theich 8xpenses could have a material adverse effeztiobusiness,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Concerns about the effects of climate change mayé&an impact on our business.

Concerns about global warming and carbon footpragswvell as legal and financial incentives favgrin
alternative fuels, are causing the increased useasifiinable, non fossil fuel sources for eledirigeneration. Electricity
generation companies are competing in the sameetsaak us for the same raw materials we use ipdprproduction
process, namely wood and wood chips, driving prioesuch materials upwards, especially duringwir@er in the
Northern hemisphere. Climate change could alsoecthesspread of disease and pestilence into ontgplans and fiber
sources, far beyond their traditional geographieags, increasing the risk that the wood suppleseary to our
operations may be negatively impacted. If eithethee phenomena intensifies, additional costsgplg shortages
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition and results of operations.

Financing conditions for biomass projects may chamgffecting the growth and profitability of our ettricity
generating operations.

Implementation of the electricity generating biospsojects that form part of our growth plan regsithe
negotiation and closing of project finance strues reducing future capital commitments. Currendly; interest rates
favor the profitability of renewable energy progdncluding biomass, and limit the financial attreeness of
alternative investments. We have been and belletene will continue to be able to reach projecafice agreements
on favorable terms to us. However, any changedrettpected project finance conditions and an isergainterest rates
could lead to a reduction of the profitability cfw biomass projects and, as a result, negativédgtahe prospects for
developing this growth opportunity.

Our electricity generating business requires subigtial capital investments, suitable sites, qualifisuppliers, and
administrative permits and authorizations, and weaynfail to satisfy these requirements.

The development of electricity production requiaesubstantial investment of capital, and the petoagcover
this investment may be long. Under concessionso#tmel agreements, we have committed to make cdttaire capital
expenditures. Any recovery of our capital expendgland research and development, especially thade in respect
of our concessions, will occur over a substantiiqal of time. Moreover, we may be unable to recoupinvestments
in these projects due to delays, cost overrungandral timing issues as to when revenue can ldeeddrom these
projects. Electricity production also requires supply and assembly of several technical componsuath as turbines
and biomass boilers, which are supplied by a smatiber of suppliers, and large areas of land, wai@dble the
cultivation of bioenergy products as raw materiatsthe production of energy. A significant increas the development
and construction costs of new installations, diffies in acquiring or repairing technical equiprand difficulties in
finding suitable sites for electricity productiooutd have a significant adverse effect on our rssnresults of
operation and financial condition.

We are also required to obtain administrative peyieand authorizations to conduct these activitiesifvarious
central, regional and local government bodies. Aot guarantee that the corresponding authovitiéapprove or
grant the necessary permits, licenses and authionzsor our activities or that legislation wilbhbe amended or
interpreted in a manner that increases the costsropliance or causes delays to our projects arestment plans.

Delays in the completion of our biomass projectsyrfaave adverse consequences on our business, imuiuthe
acceleration of the relevant project finance loaasd the loss of the preferential tariff.

We may experience delays in the completion of egjegts, which in turn may have negative consegegnc
including the acceleration of the relevant profawnce loans and government fines. For exampleoagih we have
obtained guarantees from the contractor under 8@ Eontract for the construction of our new indejgem biomass
energy facility in Mérida, Spain, that the facilityll be operational during the fourth quarter 612, in the event that
this deadline is not met we would not only becomigect to a mandatory prepayment of debt undeMieda project
finance loan but may also lose our entittemenhegreferential tariff. Please see “Descriptiot®tiier Indebtedness—
Project Financings—Project Financing for the Méfdaility” and “Regulation.”

Our electricity generating operations may be adwaysaffected by any adverse circumstances affecting pulp
production operations.

In 2012, 67.3% of our electricity generation adi@s were connected with the production of pulp.
Consequently, a shutdown, interruption or reduciiotie rate of pulp production at any of our faigi could result in a
reduction in the volume of electricity productiomda as a result, a reduction in the level of incamegenerate from our
electricity generating operations.
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The social, economic and environmental impact ofralectricity generating operations may have an adse effect on
our business.

Our electricity generating operations may produndrenmental side effects. For example, the foyestr
component of these projects requires devoting largas of forest for the cultivation of bioenerggqucts, which
occasionally can displace traditional economicvitegs and affect the local populations, as weltresnative animal and
plant species of the area. In addition, foreswiiEs necessary for producing timber, such asritigdorests, felling
trees and applying chemical treatments to timbam,lead to the loss of natural habitats for locédlife. Moreover,
electricity production facilities may produce neagateffects on the environment in the form of atpiesic emissions,
waste, water and noise. Public and political oppmsto our electricity generating projects basadteir real or
perceived economic, social and environmental imp@ot obstruct or increase the cost of obtaininggssary permits to
implement projects, and our existing permits arth@izations may be subject to legal challengepdrgons who
consider that they have been prejudiced by oueptsj The real or perceived economic, social oirenmental impact
of our activities may expose us to negative putyliand to compliance, litigation and reputationts@nd, as a result,
have an adverse effect on our business, resuttparhition and financial condition.

As a result, we cannot guarantee that all of tbenbss renewable energy generation facilities tleatnay
develop in the future will ultimately be authorizled local authorities or accepted by the local gafen. For example,
the local population could oppose the construatiba biomass renewable energy generation facilithelocal
government level, which could in turn lead to thgposition of more restrictive requirements.

In certain jurisdictions, if a significant portiarf the local population were to mobilize againgt donstruction
of a biomass renewable energy generation facitityay become difficult, or impossible, for us totain or retain the
required building permits and authorizations. Meexo such challenges could result in the cancelatif existing
building permits or even, in extreme cases, thmdidling of, or the retroactive imposition of chasgn the design of,
existing biomass renewable energy generation fizsili

Our operations could be adversely affected if we anable to retain key employees.

We depend on our senior management. Our perfornamt@ur ability to implement our strategy depend o
the efforts and abilities of our executive officared key employees. Our operations could be adyeaffected if, for
any reason, a number of these officers, key empoye valuable local managers with significant elgpee in a
specific market do not remain with us. There maw lienited number of persons with the requisitdisko serve in
these positions and we may be unable to replacehkgjoyees with qualified personnel on acceptabims. In
addition, our future success requires us to coattowattract and retain competent personnel.

A large percentage of our employees are unionized avage increases or work stoppages by our uniodigeployees
may have a material adverse effect on our business.

A large percentage of our employees are represéntéabor unions under collective bargaining agreets,
which need to be renewed from time to time. Wedare to renegotiate and/or renew five of our curtenon
agreements in 2013, four of which expired in 204& ane in 2010. We will seek but may not be ableetgotiate more
favorable terms for our business and may renevagineement on the same or similar terms to thogemtly in place, a
result that may be more favorable to our employkeaddition, we have in the past and may in thertuseek, or be
obligated to seek, agreements with our employegerding workforce reductions, closures and othstrueturings.
Furthermore, recent labor law reforms in Spain hadeiced the automatic extension of union agreerfemin two
years to only one year from the date of such agee¢shrespective expiration dates, thus increasmgloyees’
incentive to negotiate for more favorable termgaithe expiration of such extension would resuthanemployees
becoming subject to the less favorable generakledgulations. The company is also negotiating Wighunions an
workforce reduction in order to lessen the negatiyeact of the energy reforms in our profitability/e may not be able
to negotiate acceptable new collective bargaingrg@ments or future restructuring agreements, wtockd result in
labor disputes. We may also become subject to rmhtarst increases or additional work rules impadsgdgreements
with labor unions. This could increase expensessolute terms and/or as a percentage of net gdtbeugh we
believe we have good relations with our employe&sk stoppages or other labor disturbances mayrandhe future
which could adversely impact our business. For gtanin August 2012, a strike occurred at the weakter located in
Navia, Spain and, in November 2012, a one-dayestrécurred at our pulp production facility in Pargéra, Spain.

Transactions with counterparties expose us to ctedik which we must effectively manage to mitigate effect of
counterparty defaults.

We are exposed to the default risk of counterpa(Becustomer, provider, partner or financial ghtivhich
could impact our business, financial condition agglilts of operations. Although we actively mantme credit risk
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through the use of nonrecourse factoring contradts;h involve banks and third parties assuminguanterparty’s
credit risk, and credit insurance, our risk managnstrategy may not be successful in limiting exposure to credit
risk, which could adversely affect our businessaficial condition and results of operations.

We may be adversely affected by risks associatéul agquisitions or investments in joint venturestvithird parties.

If we decide to make certain acquisitions or firahimvestments in order to expand or diversify business,
we may take on additional debt to pay for such mifipns. Moreover, we cannot guarantee that welwlable to
complete all, or any, such external expansion eerdification transactions that we might contermglatthe future. To
the extent we do, such transactions expose uskse ifiherent in integrating acquired businessespansbnnel, such as
the inability to achieve projected synergies; diffties in maintaining uniform standards, contrpislicies and
procedures; recognition of unexpected liabilitiesosts; and regulatory complications arising freush transactions.
Furthermore, the terms and conditions of finandorgsuch acquisitions or financial investments dawstrict the
manner in which we conduct our business, partibuliwe were to use debt financing. These riskslddhave a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmabition and results of operations.

In addition, we may pursue significant investmentsertain strategic development projects withdhgarties.
In certain cases, these projects may be developedignt to joint venture agreements over which mlg bave partial or
joint control. Investments in projects over which tave partial or joint control are subject tofisk that the other
shareholders of the joint venture, who may haviedifit business or investment strategies than wer déth whom we
may have a disagreement or dispute, may have flity &b block business, financial or managementisiens, such as
the decision to distribute dividends or appoint rhers of management, which may be crucial to theessof the
project or our investment in the project, or otheeanmplement initiatives that may be contrary tw imterests. Our
partners may be unable, or unwilling, to fulfileih obligations under the relevant joint venturesggnents and
shareholder agreements or may experience finaoc@ther difficulties that may adversely impact ourestment in a
particular joint venture.

We are subject to risks in connection with divestits.

We are examining the potential sale of some offanastry assets. In light of the ongoing and pdgsib
worsening economic crisis, we may be unable tazealch divestitures at all or only at lower tlzemicipated valuation
levels. These risks could have material adversetsfion our business, financial condition and tesifloperations.

Risks Relating to the Notes and Our Structure

Market perceptions concerning the instability oféheuro, the potential re-introduction of individualurrencies within
the countries that utilize the euro as an officialrrency (the “Eurozone”), or the potential dissdiion of the euro
entirely, could adversely affect the value of thetss.

As a result of the credit crisis in Europe, patacly in Greece, Italy, Ireland, Portugal and Sp#ie European
Commission created the European Financial Stalbibisility (the “EFSF”) and the European Financitdility
Mechanism (the “EFSM”) to provide funding to Euroeocountries in financial difficulties that seelpport. In March
2011, the European Council agreed on the needumzBne countries to establish a permanent stahiléchanism, the
European Stability Mechanism (the “ESM”), to assuheerole of the EFSF and the EFSM in providingeexal
financial assistance to Eurozone countries aftee 2013.

On February 2, 2012, the Treaty Establishing thepgean Stability Mechanism (the “ESM Treaty”) wagned
by each Member State of the Eurozone. The ESM Yiraludes a package of measures, including theigiom of
financial assistance to its signatories experignoinbeing threatened by severe financing problevhsye such
financial assistance is necessary for the safequadl financial stability in the Eurozone as a \éh@nd entered into
force on September 27, 2012. On March 2, 2012wafiseal compact, the Treaty on Stability, Coordioa and
Governance in the Economic Monetary Union (the ¢&isCompact”), was signed by all Member StatehefEuropean
Union (the “Member States”) (except the Czech Répuand the United Kingdom) and will enter into ¢eron the first
day of the month following its ratification by tielfth Eurozone country. To date, the Europeanrcidinad received
10 ratification instruments from Eurozone countriBise Fiscal Compact will place deficit restrictioon Member State
budgets (other than the United Kingdom and CzegiuBl&), with associated sanctions for those Mengiates that
violate the specified limits.

Despite these measures, concerns persist regdhdirtiebt burden of certain Eurozone countries heit t
ability to meet future financial obligations, theemall stability of the euro and the suitabilitytbe euro as a single
currency given the diverse economic and politie@umstances in individual Member States. Theseadner concerns
could lead to the re-introduction of individual remcies in one or more Member States, or, in mgtreme
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circumstances, the possible dissolution of the eatoely. Should the euro dissolve entirely, thgdl and contractual
consequences for holders of euro-denominated digigawould be determined by laws in effect at stiicte. These
potential developments, or market perceptions aoieg these and related issues, could adversetgtatie value of the
Notes.

Creditors under the Revolving Credit Facility anetain hedging debt are entitled to be repaid witte proceeds of
Collateral sold in any enforcement sale in prioritg the holders of Notes.

The obligations under the Notes and the Guaramteesecured on a first-ranking basis with secumiigrests
over Collateral that also secures our obligatiomden the Revolving Credit Facility. The Indenturidl @lso permit the
Collateral to be pledged to secure additional ineldtess permitted to be incurred and secured,dimgdwon an equal
and ratable basis or subordinate or junior to thebl the Guarantees and the Revolving Creditigaéi accordance
with the terms thereof and of the Intercreditor égment.

Pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement, the liaéd under the Revolving Credit Facility will hapeiority
over any amounts received from the sale of thea@mihl pursuant to an enforcement action taken nggpect to the
Collateral. As such, in the event of a foreclosefrthe Collateral, you may not be able to recovette Collateral if the
then outstanding claims under the Revolving Crediility and certain hedging arrangements are gréhan the
proceeds realized. Any proceeds from an enforcesaatof the Collateral by any creditor will, aftdr obligations
under the Revolving Credit Facility and certain §ied arrangements have been discharged from seolieges, be
applied in repayment of the Notes and any othdgatibns secured by the Collateral opra ratabasis. The
Intercreditor Agreement will provide that a comnfecurity Agent, who will also serve as the seclaggnt for the
lenders under the Revolving Credit Facility and adgitional secured debt permitted to be incurngthk Indenture
whose representative accedes as a party to threredéor Agreement, will act only as provided fiothe Intercreditor
Agreement. In general, there are limitations onathitity of the holders of the Notes to take enéanent action with
respect to the Collateral, including a specifiedszdtation period that is required to be observefdte enforcement
action can commence. For additional details regagrthie ability of the holders of the Notes to eoéplease see
“Description of Other Indebtedness—Intercreditorégment.”

The Notes are secured only to the extent of theugabf the Collateral that has been granted as setyufor the Notes
and the Guarantees, and such security may not b#fisient to satisfy the obligations under the Notesd the
Guarantees.

The holders of the Notes will be secured only &y @ollateral. While the Indenture limits the amoaht
additional debt that can be incurred by the Issmerits Restricted Subsidiaries, any such debbeasecured by the
Collateral, including on an equal and ratable pad passubasis or on a junior or subordinated basis. Ife¢hg an Event
of Default (as will be defined in the Indenture)tbe Notes, there is no guarantee that the valtigeo€ollateral will be
sufficient to enable the Issuer to perform its gétions under the Notes. There is no requiremeptdeide funds to
enhance the value of the Collateral if it is infiént. The proceeds of any sale of the Collatfiédwing an Event of
Default with respect to the Notes may not be sigffitto satisfy, and may be substantially less thamunts due under
the Notes as well as other indebtedness securdtelyollateral, including indebtedness under theoRéng Credit
Facility as well apari passudebt. The amount of proceeds realized upon theregrinent of the security interests over
the Collateral or in the event of liquidation wdépend upon many factors, including, among otlvensther or not our
business is sold as a going concern, the jurisgidti which the enforcement action or sale is ceteul, the ability to
readily liquidate the Collateral, the availabildaf/buyers and the condition of the Collateral, ardhange rates.
Furthermore, there may not be any buyer willing abkd to purchase our business as a going cormewilling to buy
a significant portion of its assets in the everamienforcement action. The book value of the @i should not be
relied on as a measure of realizable value for sgehts. Portions of the Collateral may be illicandl may have no
readily ascertainable market value. In additior, @ollateral excludes leases as well as intellépnagerty rights,
licenses, concessions, contracts or other agresnfgmine of these contracts may be material tostheet or the
Guarantor or may be necessary to operate essftilities, or conduct to its business operati@rs] such exclusion or
termination could have a material adverse effedhenvalue of the Collateral or the ability to em® or realize it.

By its nature, some or all of the Collateral may Imave a readily ascertainable market value or naye
salable or, if salable, there may be substantialyddn its disposal. To the extent that liensusieg interests and other
rights granted to other parties encumber assetedWwy the Issuer or the Guarantors, those pardies br may exercise
rights and remedies with respect to the propetyest to their liens, security interests or othights that could
adversely affect the value of that Collateral arelability of the Security Agent, acting on belwdlthe Trustee or
investors as holders of the Notes to realize ooreefthat Collateral. If the proceeds of any sé&l€allateral are not
sufficient to repay all amounts due on the Notesthe Guarantees, investors (to the extent noiddpam the proceeds
of the sale of the Collateral) would have only asecured claim against the Issuer’'s and the Guansimemaining
assets. Each of these factors or any challendeetealidity of the Collateral or the Intercreditdgreement could reduce
the proceeds realized upon enforcement of the @odll In addition, there can be no assurancetieaCollateral could
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be sold in a timely manner, if at all. Proceedsifenforcement sales of capital stock and assetateaart of the
Collateral must first be applied in satisfactiorobfigations under the Revolving Credit Facilitydacertain hedging
arrangements and thereafter towards repaymeneadaftitigations of the Issuer and the Guarantor utideNotes on a
pari passubasis. In addition, the Indenture will allow tleiuirrence of certain additional permitted debhim future that
is secured by the Collateral on a priorityparri passubasis. Such additional secured debt may be sutztdrhe rights
of a holder of Notes to the Collateral may be @itlby any increase in the debt secured by the €ddleor a reduction
of the Collateral securing the Notes.

To the extent that other first-priority securitydrests, preexisting liens, liens permitted untlerlbdenture and
other rights encumber the Collateral securing tb&ebl those parties may have or may exercise ragiitsemedies with
respect to the Collateral that could adverselycaffee value of the Collateral and the ability lné Security Agent to
realize or foreclose on the Collateral.

The Issuer and the Guarantors have control over t@ellateral securing the Notes, and the sale of peular assets
could reduce the pool of assets securing the Notes.

The Security Documents will allow the Issuer angl @uarantors to remain in possession of, retaitusixe
control over, freely operate, and collect, invedd dispose of any income from the Collateral sequtihe Notes. So long
as no default or event of default under the Indentvould result therefrom, the Issuer and the Gatara may, among
other things, without any release or consent bySieurity Agent, conduct ordinary course activitigth respect to the
Collateral, such as selling, factoring, abandomingtherwise disposing of Collateral and makingaltecting ordinary
course cash payments, including repayments of iedeless.

The value of the Collateral may decrease becauselisfolescence, impairment or certain casualty egent

The value of the properties that the Issuer anadther Guarantors own or lease and the real estaténg as
Collateral may be adversely affected by depreaiadiod normal wear and tear or because of certa@ntgthat may
cause damage to these properties. Although theri8ePwcuments contain certain covenants in retatmthe
maintenance and preservation of assets, the lasdethe are not required to improve the Colitérhe Issuer is
obligated under the Security Documents to mairitesarance with respect to the Collateral, but tteeeeds of such
insurance may not be sufficient to rebuild or ressuch properties to their original condition ptio the occurrence of
the events that caused the insured damages. Timsance policies will most certainly not coverth# events that may
conceivably result in damage to the Collateral.

It may be difficult to realize the value of the Qateral securing the Notes.

The Collateral securing the Notes is subject toamy all exceptions, defects, encumbrances, lirdother
imperfections permitted under the Indenture antfierintercreditor Agreement and accepted by otrestitors that have
the benefit of first priority security intereststime Collateral securing the Notes from time toetimvhether on or after the
Issue Date. The existence of any such excepti@iects, encumbrances, liens and other imperfectionkl adversely
affect the value of the Collateral securing thedsptis well as the ability of the Security Agentealize or foreclose on
such Collateral. Furthermore, the first-priorityking of security interests can be affected byrgetaof factors,
including, among others, the timely satisfactiopeffection requirements, statutory liens or reabgarization under the
laws of certain jurisdictions.

The security interests of the Security Agent magligject to practical problems generally associaf¢il the
realization of security interests over real or paed property such as the Collateral. For exampeSecurity Agent may
need to obtain the consent of a third party to e&f@ security interest. We cannot assure youtlileabecurity Agent
will be able to obtain any such consents. We adsmot assure you that the consents of any thiriegawill be given
when required to facilitate a foreclosure on susdets. Accordingly, the Security Agent may not hitneeability to
foreclose upon those assets, and the value ofdHat€al may significantly decrease.

In addition, we are required to register our vagsioperations with national regulators. Such requingts may
prohibit foreclosure on the share capital of thef@utors or may require us to incur significant @sl expense due to
such requirements. Furthermore, there can be nwaas=® that any applicable governmental authontitsonsent to
such action. If any regulatory approvals that aguired are not obtained or are delayed, the foseck may be delayed,
a temporary shutdown of operations may occur aad/éue of the Collateral may be significantly eesed.

The security interests in the Collateral are notéctly granted to the holders of the Notes.

The security interests in the Collateral that sed¢he obligations of the Issuer under the Notesthad
obligations of the Guarantors under the Guararaeesiot granted directly to the holders of the Nditet are granted
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only in favor of the Trustee and the holders ofiffmges in accordance with the Indenture and ther¢neditor
Agreement, holders of the Notes will not have disscurity interests and will not be entitled thet@nforcement action
in respect of the Collateral securing the Notesgpkthrough the Trustee, who will (subject to phevisions of the
Indenture) provide instructions to the Security Aige respect of the Collateral.

The enforcement of the Collateral may be restricteygl Spanish law.

Spanish Insolvency Law imposes a moratorium oretifercement of secured creditors’ righits femsecurity)
in the event of insolvency. Once the debtor isaeal insolvent, the enforcement of security intisreser assets owned
by the debtor and used for its professional orrmss activities (presumably most of the debtorsets3 is stayed until
the first of the following circumstances occurg: gaproval of a creditors’ composition agreementdss the content has
been approved by the favorable vote of the seceneditors, in which case it will be bound by whagetias been agreed
in the composition agreement); or (b) one yeardtassed since the declaration of insolvency withiquidation
proceedings being initiated. Enforcement will keeysd even if at the time of declaration of insobsethe notices
announcing the public auction have been publisfibd.stay will only be lifted when the court hearthg insolvency
proceedings determines that the asset is not osele debtor’'s professional or business activities not necessary for
the survival of the debtor’s business. When it comaedetermining which assets of the debtor ard fmeits
professional or business activities, courts haveegdly embraced a broad interpretation and wi#lly include most of
the debtor’s assets. Finally, enforcement of thia@woal will be subject to the provisions of SpenProcedural Law and
Spanish Insolvency Law (where applicable) andnidy entail delays in the enforcement.

Applicable law requires that a security interesténtain assets can only be properly perfectede@istered or
other foreign equivalent) and its priority retairtdough certain actions undertaken by the secpaety. The liens on
the Collateral securing the Notes from time to tomsed by us or the Guarantors may not be perféoteckgistered or
other foreign equivalent), which may result in tbgs of the priority, or a defect in the perfect{on registration or other
foreign equivalent), of the security interest foe benefit of the Trustee and holders of the Nuteshich they would
have been otherwise entitled. Neither the Secémtgnt nor the Trustee will be obligated to creatpearfect any of the
security interests in the Collateral.

Spanish law does not contemplate the concept ofitetg agent.” Although this by itself does not pitait this
agent to be set in place, the fact that therdaslaof regulation on the matter provides uncetya#s to how a Spanish
court would recognize the acting of the SecurityeAigin an enforcement situation. Since holderfi@Motes will not
have any independent power to enforce the Collederauring the Notes, except through the Securggr following
the instructions of the Trustee, there is some itaicety as to whether a Spanish court would recogttie authority of
the Security Agent or whether lack of recognitioowd entail delays in the enforcement or even tiresequence of the
Collateral not being able to be enforced on theesgarms as provided for in the Security Documents.

For more information, please see “Offering Memorand Certain Insolvency Law and Enforceability
Considerations.”

The Collateral may be released without the consehthe holders of the Notes.

The Collateral may be released in certain circuntsts, including in the event the Collateral is qoidsuant to
an enforcement sale in accordance with the IntdittneAgreement. If such Collateral consists ofddithe shares of a
Guarantor, then such Guarantor's Guarantee migbtla released under such circumstances. Plea4eesziption of
the Notes—Credit Enhancement—Release of Guaranéeek”Description of the Notes—Credit Enhancement—
Release of Collateral.”

Additionally, the Indenture will permit us to rekmand retake the security interest granted oeeCdilateral
in order to issue additional Notes pursuant toltigkenture. Upon the issuance of additional Notesyant to the
Indenture, there may be a time period imposed IpjiGgble laws between the release and retakinge§écurity
interest during which there is no security intexaatr the Collateral. In some circumstances, sgdhwae were to file for
bankruptcy after the issuance of additional Naddsardening period may apply and retroactively tbaretaking of the
security interest in favor of the holders of thet& Accordingly, there is a risk that, should ss&ue additional Notes
pursuant to the Indenture, the Collateral coulddbeased and its subsequent retaking voided. PsesstDescription of
the Notes—Certain Covenants—Impairment of Secuniigrest.”

Our substantial indebtedness may make it diffictdt us to service our debt, including the Notes,chto operate our
business.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. A3emfember 31, 2012, as adjusted to give effedtad\otes
issue, we would have had €352.6 million of indebe=s, of which €250.0 million would have been repnted by the
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Notes. We anticipate that our substantial indet#egmwill continue for the foreseeable future. Qubssantial
indebtedness may have important negative consegsiéocyou, including:

« making it more difficult for us and our subsidés to satisfy our obligations with respect to debt,
including the Notes and other liabilities;

* requiring that a substantial portion of the ctistv from operations of our operating subsidiaties
dedicated to debt service obligations, reducingatrelability of cash flow to fund internal growthrough
working capital and capital expenditures, and fhieo general corporate purposes;

* increasing our vulnerability to economic downtiin our industry;
* exposing us to interest rate increases;

» placing us at a competitive disadvantage comperedir competitors that have less debt in relatocash
flow;

« limiting our flexibility in planning for or reaatg to changes in our business and our industry;
» restricting us from pursuing strategic acquisiie@r exploiting certain business opportunitiest an

« limiting, among other things, our and our sulesidis’ ability to borrow additional funds or raisquity
capital in the future and increasing the costsuochsadditional financings.

In the worst case, an actual or impending inabidigyus or our subsidiaries to pay debts as thegrheaue and
payable could result in our insolvency.

In addition, the Indenture and the Revolving Cré&ditility contain restrictions that substantiallyit our
financial and operational flexibility and that afrosubsidiaries. In particular, these agreemeratseplimits on our ability
to incur additional indebtedness; grant securitgriests to third persons; dispose of material assatlertake
organizational measures such as mergers, changespafrate form, joint ventures or similar trangas; and enter into
transactions with related parties.

Despite our current substantial indebtedness, weyrba able to incur more debt in the future, includj on a secured
basis over the Collateral or otherwise, which codidther exacerbate the risks of our indebtedness.

We may incur more debt in the future. The Revolv@rgdit Facility provides for total commitmentsugd to
€90.0 million, and no cash drawings will be outstiag on the date the Notes are issued. The Indemtilirlimit our
ability to incur additional debt but will not prdiit us from doing so. We may incur additional diebtthe future, secured
by the Collateral or otherwise, which could matprier to the Notes, and such debt could be secomegth equal, ratable
andpari passubasis with the Notes and the Guarantees. Any neer@htor subsidiary could also incur additionaltdeb
and the Notes and Guarantees would be structuwaligrdinated to any such debt.

Furthermore, while our management intends to starits publicly communicated strategy, as of theedd
this Report, to maintain a maximum leverage of Zékdebt/Mid-cycle EBITDA going forward, since ZQivhen
management first announced this strategy, our égeeratio has been subject to significant movem&éscannot be
sure that we will be able to implement our strateglyich is subject to numerous known and unknowksrand
uncertainties.

Future defaults under our project finance indebtedss could adversely affect us.

Under the terms of our existing project financinggantees related to the Huelva and Mérida faslitihe
Issuer undertakes under certain circumstanceshiigations of the respective project companieduihiag in the event
of cost overruns related to the construction offdedities, non-completion of the facilities byspecified date or failure
to meet certain requirements under the EPC costracaddition, in connection with each of the Hiaeghnd Mérida
project finance debt, we have agreed to maintaimnamum biomass stock equivalent to 670,000 torames
200,000 tonnes, respectively, and, in the everkstéall below these limits, we have undertakesdabaside in a special
account sufficient funds to purchase the differemdth a cap of €25.0 million and € 4.3 millionspectively. Even
though we now have back-to-back guarantees witledhéractor under our EPC contracts, we may nathibe to enforce
these back-to-back guarantees against the EPCGactatiand the EPC contractor may not be able fitl thiose
guarantees. For a more detailed description ofetres of these project financing agreements, plseseDescription of
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Other Indebtedness—Project Financings—Project Eingrfor the Huelva Facility” and “Description oftlaer
Indebtedness—Project Financings—Project Finananghe Mérida Facility.”

As of December 31, 2012, we had €344.6 millionwktanding indebtedness on a consolidated basighich
€96.2 million (net of €4.2 million of unamortizedhhsaction costs) was project finance debt.

Defaults by our project finance companies can hiaymrtant consequences for the Issuer and theatestr
group, including, without limitation: (i) reducirte restricted Group’s receipt of dividends, feetgrest payments,
loans and other sources of cash since the projegpany will typically be prohibited from distribagy cash to the Issuer
and its restricted subsidiaries during the pendefi@ny default; (ii) causing the Issuer to recardss in the event the
lender forecloses on the assets; and (iii) causiedoss or impairment of investor confidence ia kssuer.

The Issuer is dependent on payments from its sulasids in order to be able to make payments on Mates, and the
Issuer’s subsidiaries may not be permitted or otée able to make payments to the Issuer.

Even if our subsidiaries generate sufficient casmftheir operations, their ability to provide fusni the Issuer
is subject to, among other things, local tax restms and local corporate law restrictions reldtedarnings, the level of
legal or statutory reserves, losses from previ@sss/and capitalization requirements for our sudseas. As a result,
although we may have sufficient resources, on saaated basis, to meet our obligations, our sliases may not be
able to make the necessary transfers to us to pesmd satisfy our obligations under the Notestberwise. In
particular, our subsidiaries may be restricted froviding funds to us under some circumstancess@ltircumstances
include:

» restrictions under the corporate law of the jigdons in which our subsidiaries are based. Ehevant
laws could require, among other things, that obiskliaries retain a certain percentage of annual ne
income in a legal reserve, that our subsidiariemta@m the share capital of a limited liability cpamy and
that, after payment of any divided, the relevais@diary’s shareholders’ equity exceed its shapitah
For example, Spanish law limits our subsidiaridslity to provide funds to the Issuer due to regtoins
that require, among other things, each of our Shasibsidiaries to retain at least 10% of its ahnefa
income in a legal reserve until the reserve reaah&mast 20% of such company’s share capital laaigl t
after payment of any dividend, shareholders’ eg(after subtracting goodwill and start-up expensegyt
exceed the company’s share capital. Moreover, yHaws of each of our Spanish subsidiaries mayideov
for additional reserves that must be retained gdgroviding funds to us;

» restrictions under foreign exchange laws andlegiguns that could limit or tax the remittance ofidends
or transfer payments abroad; and

» existing and future contractual restrictions liiding restrictions in credit facilities, cash piogl
arrangements and other indebtedness that affeebihiy of our subsidiaries to pay dividends orkaa
other payments to us in the future.

We require a significant amount of cash to servicar debt and for other general corporate purposé&ur ability to
generate sufficient cash depends on many factorgdyel our control.

Our ability to make payments on our debt, and twfworking capital and capital expenditures, wdpdnd on
our future operating performance and ability toagate sufficient cash. This depends, to some extangeneral
economic, financial, competitive, market, regulgtand other factors, many of which are beyond autrol, as well as
the other factors discussed in these “Risk Factamns!’elsewhere in this Report.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash floove operations, and additional debt and equitgtiicing
may not be available to us in an amount sufficiergnable us to pay our debts when due, includied\otes, or to fund
our other liquidity needs. For a discussion of cash flows and liquidity, please see “Managemdbitsussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gaems—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

If our future cash flows from operations and ott&pital resources are insufficient to pay our dail@ns as
they mature or to fund our liquidity needs, we rbayforced to:

» reduce or delay our business activities and abeipenditures;
» sell assets;

« obtain additional debt or equity financing; or
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» restructure or refinance all or a portion of dabt, including the Notes, on or before maturity.

We may not be able to accomplish any of theserltaes on a timely basis or on satisfactory teiifreg, all. In
addition, the terms of our debt, including the Reiva Credit Facility and the Notes, and any futdebt that we may
incur, may limit our ability to pursue any of thed&ernatives.

The Guarantees are significantly limited by appligie laws and are subject to certain limitations defenses.

The Guarantors will guarantee the payment of theedlas described in “Description of the Notes—Qredi
Enhancement—Guarantees.” The Guarantees providetters of the Notes with a direct claim agaihstitelevant
Guarantor. However, the obligations of each Guaramder its Guarantee are limited under the Ingenib an amount
that has been determined so as to ensure that &rmayable will not result in violations of lawdating to corporate
benefit, capitalization, capital preservation (undlich, among others, the risks associated wigharantee or grant of
security on account of a parent company’s debt ede reasonable and economically and operatiojpastified from
the guarantor’s or grantor’s perspective), thinitzdigation, corporate purpose, financial assistaoictransactions under
value, or otherwise cause the Guarantor to be déé@melvent under applicable law or such Guaratddee deemed
void, unenforceable arltra vires or cause the directors of such Guarantor to lkihdoreach of applicable corporate or
commercial law for providing such Guarantee. Ifsinémitations were not observed, the Guarantedgtangrant of
security interests by the Guarantors could be stibjelegal challenge.

As a result, a Guarantor’s liability under its Caratees could be materially reduced or eliminatgrbdding
upon the amounts of its other obligations and wgplicable laws. In particular, in certain jurigibos, a guarantee
issued by a company that is not in that company’parate interests or the burden of which excekedénefit to the
company may not be valid and enforceable. It isibds that a Guarantor, a creditor of a Guarantdhe insolvency
administrator, in the case of an insolvency of a@ntor, may contest the validity and enforceabditthe respective
Guarantee and that the applicable court may deterthiat the Guarantee should be limited or voittethe event that
any Guarantee is deemed invalid or unenforceamlhbole or in part, or to the extent that agreedtiitions on the
Guarantee apply, the Notes would not be guararigedich Guarantee.

For more information on the specific limitationsdan applicable law of the respective jurisdictioms
incorporation of the Guarantors and certain cotti@dimitations to be confirmed in the Indentupéease see “Offering
Memorandum-Certain Insolvency Law and Enforceabflibnsiderations.”

Fraudulent conveyance laws may limit your rights asholder of Notes.

Although laws differ among various jurisdictions,general, under fraudulent conveyance laws, a coutd
subordinate or void a Guarantee if it found that:

» the Guarantee was incurred with an actual irttehinder, delay or defraud creditors or sharehsldé the
Guarantor;

» the Guarantee was granted within two years podhe insolvency declaration of the Guarantor iarsl
detrimental for the Guarantor’s state; or

« the Guarantor did not receive fair considerabomeasonably equivalent value for the Guaranteietiaa
Guarantor:

» was insolvent or was rendered insolvent becafifgeedGuarantee;
» was undercapitalized or became undercapitalieedise of the Guarantee; or
» intended to incur, or believed that it would incdiebts beyond its ability to pay at maturity.

The measure of insolvency for purposes of fraudutenveyance laws varies depending on the law egpli
Generally, however, a Guarantor would be considarsalvent if it could not pay its debts as thegdme due. If a
court decided that any Guarantee was a fraudutantayance and voided such Guarantee, or held itfareeable for
any other reason, you would cease to have any d@tarespect of the Guarantor of such Guaranteeasndd be a
creditor solely of the Issuer and the remaining 1@otors. Please see “Offering Memorandum-Certanlirency Law
and Enforceability Considerations.”

In an insolvency proceeding, it is possible thadaors of the Guarantors or the appointed insayen
administrator may challenge the Guarantees, ardciminpany obligations generally, as fraudulentstiens or
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conveyances or on other grounds. If so, such laags parmit a court, if it makes certain findings, (i avoid or
invalidate all or a portion of a Guarantor’s obtigas under its Guarantee; (ii) direct that hold&frthe Notes return any
amounts paid under a Guarantee to the relevanta@taaror to a fund for the benefit of the Guarastoreditors; and
(iii) take other action that is detrimental to you.

Local insolvency laws may not be as favorable to s U.S. bankruptcy laws or those insolvency laatanother
jurisdiction with which you may be more familiar.

The Issuer is incorporated in Spain, and the Guarsuare organized under the laws of Spain. Acogiglj any
insolvency proceedings against the Issuer and tieeadtors would likely be based on Spanish insalydaws. The
insolvency laws of Spain may not be as favorableolders of the Notes as the laws of the UnitedeStar some other
jurisdictions. Certain provisions of Spanish Ingsley Law could affect the ranking of the Notes #tr@lGuarantees or
claims relating to the Notes and the Guaranteesnadnsolvency of the Issuer or the Guarantorshagase may be. In
particular, under Spanish law, a creditor’s righits be subordinated to the preferential and ordjrdebts of a debtor in
an insolvency proceeding if such creditor is deteet to be a “specially related” party to the deb€ne factor
considered in determining if a party is “speciatjated” is (i) whether such party holds more th@f6 of the capital of
the debtor (for companies that are not listed)%r(fr companies that are listed, as in the casheofssuer) by the time
the credit right under dispute in the insolvenogrerio arises; or (ii), in the event of companiedining to the same
group as the insolvent debtor and their commonestedders, provided that such shareholders meenthienum
shareholding requirements set forth before. Paysmade under an equitably subordinated loan pregebe
bankruptcy of an obligor may in certain circumsesbe clawed back. Please see “Offering Memorandartain
Insolvency Law and Enforceability Considerations-afp—Spanish Insolvency Law.”

Not all of our subsidiaries will guarantee the Nateand any claim by us or any of our creditors, Inding the holders
of the Notes, against such non-Guarantor subsidisiwill be structurally subordinated to all of theaims of
creditors of those non-Guarantor subsidiaries.

Not all of our existing and future subsidiarieslwillarantee the Notes. On a consolidated basif as o
December 31, 2012, we had total assets of €1,37illiBn and total debt of €344.6 million. On an aggated basis, we
estimate that the Issuer and the Guarantors togethdd have accounted for approximately 80.0%heftbtal assets,
88.3% of the revenue and 95.4% of the EBITDA ofld®ier and its subsidiaries as of and for theuwsvelonths ended
December 31, 2012. In addition, the subsidiarighefssuer that will not guarantee the Notes wialde had
€96.2 million of debt outstanding as of DecemberZI12 on a consolidated basis. The Indenture dotlmit the
transfer of assets to, or the making of investmemtany of our restricted group members, including non-guarantor
subsidiaries. Please see “Description of the Notéserain Covenants.” Accordingly, even though arlysediary whose
EBITDA for the most recently completely fiscal yeapresents the greater of: (i) 5% or more of thesolidated
EBITDA of the Issuer and the subsidiaries that tilRestricted Subsidiaries under the Indenturéij)a5.0 million,
will be required to provide an additional Guararftaethe benefit of the Notes, non-Guarantor subsiels could account
for a higher portion of our assets, liabilitiesygaues and net income in the future.

In the event that any of our non-Guarantor subsgkebecomes insolvent, liquidates, reorganizessodives or
otherwise winds up, the assets of such non-Guarantisidiary will not be subject to claims from ti@ders of the
Notes to satisfy their respective credits agaissand will be used first to satisfy the claimshaf hon Guarantor
subsidiary’s creditors, including trade creditdranks and other lenders. Consequently, any claioshyr our creditors
against a non-Guarantor subsidiary will be struadtyrsubordinated to all of the claims of the cteds of such non-
Guarantor subsidiary.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds nes&ry to finance a change of control offer.

Upon the occurrence of certain change of contreheyas described in the Indenture, we will beireduo
offer to repurchase all of the Notes in cash imamount equal to 101% of the principal amount thieggas accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to the date of repurch@$e. requirement that we offer to repurchase the®opon a change of
control is limited only to the transactions spesifin the definition of “Change of Control” withthe Indenture. Please
see “Description of the Notes—Change of Control& Way not have sufficient funds at the time of amgh event to
make the required repurchases. Additionally, certhange of control events would be prepaymenttewarder the
Revolving Credit Facility. In the event this resulh an event of default thereunder, the lendedeuthe Revolving
Credit Facility may accelerate such debt, whichid@lso cause an event of default under the Indentu

The source of funds for any repurchase requiredrasult of any such event will be available casbash
generated from operating activities or other sasirizecluding borrowings, sales of assets and sdlegquity or funds
provided by subsidiaries. Sufficient funds may betavailable at the time of any such events to naalerequired
repurchases of the Notes tendered.
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You may be unable to enforce judgments againstths, Guarantors or our respective directors and offis.

Neither the Issuer nor any of the Guarantors arerporated in the United States. In addition, fithe Group’s
assets are outside the United States and all dbtbep’s directors and officers live outside thated States, primarily
in Spain. The Issuer’s and the Guarantors’ auddoesalso organized outside the United States. résut, it may be
difficult or impossible to serve process against aithese persons in the United States. Furthexpicause all or
substantially all of the assets of these persam$oaated outside of the United States, it maybegpossible to enforce
judgments obtained in courts in the United Stateslipated upon civil liability provisions of thederal securities laws
of the United States against these persons. Addiliy there is doubt as to the enforceability iany foreign
jurisdictions, including Spain, of civil liabilitebased on the civil liability provisions of theléral or state securities
laws of the United States against the Issuer, ter&@tors, the directors, controlling persons aadagement and any
experts named in this Report who are not residefritse United States. Please see “Service of Psamed Enforcement
of Civil Liabilities.”

Our significant shareholders may sell their stake the near future, which may ultimately affect owesults of
operations and increase the volatility of our shapece.

Some of our current significant shareholders mdfestinancial distress and may need to sell te&ke in the
Issuer in the market. In order to avoid negatigtadtions to and minimize the volatility of our sagrice derived from
any such sales, we may decide from time to timectuire such shares for our treasury stock, whishldvresult in a
substantial cost for us and may affect our resfltsperations.

There are risks related to withholding tax in Spaiimcluding in conjunction with the collection of ertain
documentation from the Paying Agent.

Under new Spanish tax regulations established lyaRoecree 1065/2007, as amended by Royal Decree
1145/2011, income obtained in respect of the Noits10t be subject to withholding tax in Spain wiifl certain
requirements are met, including that the Payingm\geovides us, in a timely manner, with a duly@axed and
completed statement providing certain details irgatio the Notes (the “Payment Statement”). Acaogt, if we do not
receive the Payment Statement from the Paying Aigesmtimely manner, income in respect of the Netisbe subject
to withholding tax in Spain, currently at the rafe21%. Please see “Offering Memorandum-Certain Tax
Considerations—Spanish Tax Considerations” for eendetailed explanation. The Issuer will not greggpayments in
respect of any such withholding tax.

It is expected that the Paying Agent will followrtzén procedures to facilitate the timely provisionthe
Paying Agent to us of a duly executed and complBi@ginent Statement in connection with each paywientome
under the Notes. Please see “Offering MemorandurtafbelTax Considerations—Spanish Tax Consideratidhsuch
procedures are not followed, however, the Issuéwithhold tax at the applicable rate (currentif®) from any
income payment in respect of the Notes. Such proesdnay be revised from time to time in accordamitie changes
in the applicable Spanish laws and regulationgdaninistrative interpretations thereof. Accordinghyhile the Notes are
represented by a Global Note (as defined hereaijies of the Notes must rely on such proceduresder to receive
payments under the Notes free of any Spanish widitigptax, to the extent applicable. Prospectiwestors should note
that neither the Issuer nor the Underwriters wélllilable for any damage or loss suffered by anyefieial owner who
would otherwise be entitled to an exemption fromar8gh withholding tax because these procedurespneffective.
Moreover, the Issuer will not pay any additionaloamts with respect to any such withholding. Themefto the extent a
payment of income in respect of the Notes is netgpt from Spanish withholding tax, including dueaty failure by
the Paying Agent to deliver a duly executed andpletad Payment Statement, beneficial owners mayg t@mapply
directly to the Spanish tax authorities for anyref to which they may be entitled.

There are certain risks relating to the Euro MTF M&et not being regarded as an organized secondasrket.

Pursuant to Law 13/1985 of May 25 on Investmentd®atOwn Funds and Information Obligations of Ficiah
Intermediaries, as amended (“Law 13/1985"), thdiaation of the tax regime described under “Offgridemorandum-
Certain Tax Considerations—Spanish Tax Considersticequires, among other conditions, that the Blbtlisted on
an organized secondary marketefcado secundario organizaddiowever, Law 13/1985 does not clarify how tlae
should be interpreted and neither the Spanishuthoaties nor the Spanish courts have issued anarpwith respect to
this matter so far. While there is a reasonabléshadelieve that multilateral trading facilitiesjch as the Euro MTF
Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, satisé/rdquirements for such a facility to be considenedorganized
secondary market,” there is a possibility that$ipanish tax authorities could take a different fpmsiand assert that
only “regulated markets” (as this term is defingdtie EU Directive 2004/39/EC) meet the “organisedondary
market” requirement established by Law 13/198héfNotes are not deemed to be listed on an orgasizcondary
market, Law 13/1985 will not apply to the Notes,iethmay have a material adverse effect on our tesiiloperations.
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There are certain risks relating to the interplayetween certain provisions of U.S. and Spanish law.

In Spain, issuers of debt securities such as thed\are generally required to have a syndicat®loleins
(Sindicato de Obligacionistashat is represented by a commissiori&orfisarig. However, because the Indenture
governing the Notes will contain mandatory provisigelating to the appointment of a Trustee, thelibe neither a
Syndicate of Holders nor a commissioner. As a teautolder of Notes will not benefit from: (i) anights as a holder of
Notes arising from Article 411 of the Spanish Calp@ompanies LawLgey de Sociedades de Capijidli) the
constitution of a Syndicate of Holders; and (iiigtappointment of a commissioner (with respectiXaid (iii), both as
regulated by Articles 419 and 429seq of the Spanish Capital Companies Law), and vélbleemed to have
irrevocably instructed the Trustee to take anyoacsind/or to execute and deliver any document®iicas that may be
necessary or desirable to comply with, and giveatffo, the preceding sentence. Notwithstandindaregoing, the
effectiveness of certain amendments, consents gngor other actions of the holders of the Notkenigursuant to the
Indenture or the lack of a syndicate of holderefan express appointment of a commissioner maghb#éenged under
Spanish law.

There is no existing public trading market for tHdotes and the ability to transfer them is limitedhich may
adversely affect the value of the Notes.

There is no existing trading market for the Noted there can be no assurance that a trading nfarkete
Notes will develop. We cannot predict the extenvtoch investor interest in our company will leadthe development
of an active trading market or how liquid that iregimarket might become. Although the Initial Puasérs have advised
us that they intend to make a market in the Ndkes; are not obligated to do so and may stop atiarg, The market
price of our Notes may be influenced by many festeome of which are beyond our control, including:

» changes in demand, the supply or pricing of aodpcts;

e general economic conditions, including raw maiteprices;

« the activities of competitors;

e our quarterly or annual earnings or those ofammpetitors;

e investors’ perceptions of us and the pulp indystr

» the failure of securities analysts to cover ootds$ or changes in financial estimates by analysts;

» the public’s reaction to our press releases owother public announcements;

» future sales of Notes; and

» other factors described under these “Risk Factors

As a result of these factors, you may not be ablesell your Notes at or above the purchasingptit
addition, securities trading markets experiencesax¢ price and volume fluctuations that have offieen unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance pdidicular company. These broad market fluctuatamd industry
factors may materially reduce the market pricewfMotes, regardless of our operating performari@n active trading
market does not develop, you may have difficultiirege any Notes that you buy.

The Notes have not been and will not be registaretr the U.S. Securities Act or any U.S. securitevs and
we have not undertaken to effect any exchange fiffehe Notes in the future. You may not offer thetes for sale in
the United States except pursuant to an exemption, for a transaction not subject to, the registnatequirements of
the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state stesiiaws, or pursuant to an effective registratitatement. The Notes
and the Indenture will contain provisions that wiktrict the Notes from being offered, sold orestise transferred
except pursuant to the exemptions available putdodRule 144A and Regulation S, or other excetionder the U.S.
Securities Act. Furthermore, we have not registéned\otes under any other country’s securitiesldiis your

obligation to ensure that your offers and salethefNotes within the United States and other caemtomply with
applicable securities laws. Please see “Offeringngi@ndum-Notice to Investors.”
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following is a discussion of our financial cdiwh and results of operations as of and for teans ended
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012. The foljpaiscussion contains certain forward-lookingtstaents that
reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our rsscbuld differ materially from those discussethiese forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contriboteuch differences include, but are not limitedthose discussed
below and elsewhere in this Report.

Overview
Our Company

We are the largest BHKP producer in Europe, witlaamual maximum installed capacity of 1.34 millionnes
of pulp as of December 31, 2012. We also haversfgignt co-generation and renewable energy geiograusiness,
with an installed capacity of approximately 230 Mi&/of December 31, 2012 (excluding our new 50 M#épendent
biomass energy facility in Huelva, Spain, whichdme operational in September 2012 and whose owipdrak been
transferred from our EPC contractor to us in Felyr@a2013) and total energy sales of 1,543 GWHhHerntwelve
months ended December 31, 2012. Our integratedgndpenergy business model takes advantage ofrougs
positioning in forestry supply management, bothhwéspect to managing forest plantations and diaphe production
of wood and cultivated biomass and with respesbiarcing wood from third-party sources as requicecur business.
As of December 31, 2012, we managed approximat®823 hectares of plantations (excluding our foyesssets in
Uruguay, which were sold in December 15, 2012wloith we owned approximately 59%.

We are publicly listed on the Madrid Stock Excha(Belsa de Valores de Madiiavith a market capitalization
of €5633.1 million as of December 31, 2012. Fortthelve months ended December 31, 2012, we generayedue of
€827.6 million, Adjusted EBITDA of €175.3 milliomd unlevered free cash flow (excluding expansiqitah
expenditure) of €70.6 million.

Key Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

Our results of operations are driven by a combamatif factors affecting the pulp and energy indastr
including, in addition to general macroeconomicdibans, cyclicality in the pulp industry, costsrafw materials such
as wood, non-biomass fuels and chemicals, energlg,dbe effects of currency fluctuations and gorrent incentives
relating to renewable energy production and co-ggiwa. Our results of operations are also impabted
company-specific structural and operational factasswell as acquisitions, dispositions and chamgbssiness focus.
Set forth below is an overview of the key drivédratthave affected the historical results of operatiof our business
and/or are expected to affect our consolidatedtsestioperations in future periods.

Cyclicality in the Pulp Industry

Our results of operations are affected signifigaht cyclicality in the pulp industry. Long-termmand for
pulp is driven by global economic and demograpt@nds, technological developments and trends irused
preferences and therefore the demand for papeupt®dnd the adjustment of production capacityhenges in
demand. In addition, greater pulp production cagaand hence an increased amount of available gupplies, on a
global basis can also impact the supply and derbhafahce. Profitability in the pulp industry is higlsensitive to
changes in prices, and industry cycles reflecttmestantly shifting balance between supply and aehfiar pulp, as well
as changes in inventory levels. Periods of induside investment in new production capacity or gigant
contractions in demand due to weak economic candithave in previous industry cycles led to de@gas product
prices. Over the last three years, BHKP pricestroge fluctuated from $700 per ton to $920 perdoring 2010; from
$648 per ton to $877 per ton during 2011; and f§&#9 per ton to $786 per ton during 2012.

We are dependent on pulp sales which as of 20tBuated for 72.1% of our revenues. The internationa
market prices of pulp have historically fluctuatgnificantly, and we believe that they will contanto do so due to
global economic developments, such as changesmamik for pulp in China and in other countries whacé significant
consumers of pulp. Significant increases in therimdtional market price of pulp, and consequetttly prices that we
are able to charge customers, would likely increasenet revenues and our results of operatiotisgt@xtent that we
are able to maintain our operating margins and swrieased prices do not reduce sales volumesgiulp that we
produce. Conversely, however, significant decreast®e international market price of pulp, and seoquently, the
prices that we are able to charge customers, wikaly reduce our net revenues and our resultgefations to the
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extent that we are not able to increase our operatiargins and/or such reduced prices do not resiritreased sales
volumes of our products.

Costs of Raw Materials

Our results of operations are impacted by the pnee pay for the raw materials used to manufaciure
products, including, in particular, for wood soutdeom third parties, certain non-biomass fuels enemicals
(including caustic soda). Raw material costs asigaificant component of our Cash Costs (definew/asd Costs plus
Other Cash Costs).

The principal raw materials used in the manufactdireur products are as follows:

*  Wood. Wood Costs accounted for more than half of our Gas$ts 2011 and 2012. Eucalyptus wood is the

principal raw material used by us to manufacturg pOf the total amount of wood supplied 73.9% and
84.9% was obtained from local suppliers or landawme the Iberian Peninsula in the years ended
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012, witth&se same periods 4.6% and 3.7%, respectively,
coming from our own plantations in the Iberian Penla and 21.5% and 11.4%, respectively, being
imported from South America or Africa (includingrquiantations in Uruguay). The price we pay fordbc
wood is dependent on a number of factors relatéaicd supply and demand dynamics (including the
demand for wood from other industries that conswoed and the potential impact on wood supply of
natural phenomena such as forest fires and inststations) as well as the species of eucalyptus f
which the wood was obtained, the characteristich®fand the wood is grown upon, the type of foyes
sustainability certifications provided and, moregeally, pulp prices on the current local markéte price
we pay for imported wood, by contrast, is more dejeat on global macroeconomic conditions, the crre
demand for wood from certain emerging markets Vuitlited local supplies and fluctuations in the \alf
the U.S. dollar, the reference currency for tradmgiood pulp.

* Non-biomass fuelsNon-biomass fuels are comprised primarily of fuiblqoropane and petroleum coke.

Non-biomass fuels accounted for approximately 6ad8%ur Cash Costs in both years ended December 31,

2011 and December 31, 2012. Although our increémsags on developing our biomass-fuelled energy
generation capacity in recent years currently exsabs to self-supply all of the electricity andthea
require for our industrial operations, our energyduction activities require us to complement tieniass
being used as fuel with certain fossil fuels whighljke biomass, are not generated through ourothe
activities.

* Chemicals.Chemicals accounted for approximately 10.7% an@%3of our Cash Costs in the years ended
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012, resplyctifde use a number of chemicals, including caustic
soda, cryogenic oxygen, ethylenediaminetetraaeeiit ("EDTA”), sodium chlorate, hydrogen peroxide,
sulfate and lime, during the conversion of woo@ iptilp, particularly during the cooking and bleachi
stages of this process. A small amount of varigigaaming and dispersion agents is also necegsary
complete the pulp production process. Approxima8&¥6 of the chemicals we use tend to have thedepri
closely linked to that of petroleum.

We are focused on tightly controlling our raw matecosts as well as diversifying our supplier basd
reducing our dependency on imports. We are in thegss of implementing a number of cost-saving omessfocused
on the continuous improvement of our operationgaasof our “Total Quality Management” programnsfiintroduced in
2011, a strategic program aimed at ensuring maximfliciency and quality in all of our business peses, including
through the reduction of wood, non-biomass fuebnoital and energy costs as well as the total copgamthereof. For
example, the program intends to reduce the usgb&hcost imported wood in our pulp productionqasses by
diversifying our local supply sources through thereéased use of small suppliers, as well as inicrgéise volume of
standing timber purchased directly from landowraerd forest proprietors’ associations. These measll@w us to
better control our harvesting and transportatigisiiics costs which would otherwise be includethm price of already-
cut wood purchased by us from other suppliers.

Energy Costs
Energy costs for electricity and natural gas atsustitute a significant component of our coststipalarly for
our pulp production processes. Due to our energgigion activity, in general, as our energy costsease, so do our

revenues. In 2012, energy costs were equivalel® tt% of our consolidated revenues.

We do not currently enter into any hedging actgtin relation to electricity in 2012, as we hathtural hedge
given that we generate a surplus of electricity wadare mainly selling in 2012 at a Market Tarnf6! plus premium
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scheme), thus eliminating the impact of pool priceshe consumption of electricity. However, asoalt generation
assets will received in the future a Regulatedffrafter Royal Decree 2/2013 approved in Febru@y3 we could
consider engaging in electricity hedging activities

We acquire natural gas under one-year agreemetiirices updated on a quarterly basis, linkedtoe oil,
on a “take or pay” basis. We do not currently eirtés any hedging activities in relation to natugak. This is because
the tariff for natural gas co-generation is linkedhatural gas prices and adjusted on a quartedispproviding a natural
hedge to natural gas price volatility.

Effect of Currency Fluctuations

Our sales of pulp are primarily denominated in Wi&lars. Because our principal product, pulp, is a
commodity whose reference sale price in the intewnal market is denominated in U.S. dollars per, tur revenues
from pulp sales are impacted by the U.S. dollad@xchange rate since the price of pulp even wieeomiinated in
euro per ton is a reflection of this price in UdBllar per ton. Our sales of energy, as well astmbsur costs, are
primarily denominated in euro.

As such, when the U.S. dollar appreciates agaiesetiro, assuming international market prices gf ppmain
constant in U.S. dollars, our net sales revenum fralp sales would increase. By contrast, whertl® dollar
depreciates against the euro, our net sales reVesmepulp sales would decrease.

We continuously analyze our U.S. dollar/euro exdearate risk based on our net cash flow expectiion
U.S. dollars over the subsequent twelve months satettively enter into hedging agreements to iaigidghis risk.

Renewable Energy Production Incentives

Our energy generation segment depends significanthggulations and economic incentives and sutssidi
aimed at promoting the greater use of renewablegegee Currently, the income obtained from our praitbn of
electricity depends to a large extent on the ecanoagime established in Spain to incentivize resigle energy
generation and co-generation. New regulations fieduar eliminating these incentives, such as tlamtapted in part in
response to the current fiscal crisis in Spainjdtbave a negative impact on our financial condigmd result of
operations.

For example, the Moratorium suspended proceedowthé registration of special regime energy ftiesi
benefiting from regulated tariffs and premiums gifneezing the development of new renewable enfargljties in
Spain. The Moratorium has not had an impact oresisting biomass projects in Huelva and Mérida,igdzecause the
regulation does not affect energy facilities thatevin operation or registered with a pre-allocatiegistry before the
Moratorium’s entry into force. However, the Moraton could affect our future plans to further expamo biomass
energy facilities in order to reduce the cycligabf our operations, which have been put on hokil tire Moratorium is
lifted. In the interim period, we intend to conteto work on the development and promotion of bissrelectricity
projects, including in countries other than Spain.

Operational Productivity and Efficiency

Our profitability can be affected by the produdinvand efficiency of our operations. Accordinglye are
implementing our “Total Quality Management” progranross our different business activities in otdesptimize our
cost structure and increase the productivity, Efficy and fully leverage the complementary natdreuo pulp
manufacturing, energy generating and forestry aietss We are also optimizing capital expenditur@ur pulp
production facilities and co-generation and rendevabergy generation facilities scheduled for menance and
environmental upgrades in the near future, and menerally focusing on preventive maintenance \secsurective
maintenance to enhance the stability of our pradngirocesses.

In terms of direct cost savings from raw materasts, we have diversified, and intend to continwergifying,
our base of raw material suppliers, and particulawdod suppliers, thereby allowing us to benchnmarksuppliers’
pricing more broadly. Diversification away fromdgr suppliers has been achieved by creating afieeused on
developing relationships with forest owners andlssugpliers, including through offering supportfayest owners to
improve their plantations (including through the w§ more advanced clone trees and silviculturertiees), which in
turn enables us to better understand the forestiress available in the areas supplying our féedliand to improve the
quality of our wood supply and the competivenessusfproduction costs. The diversification of su@g has also been
facilitated by our ongoing initiatives to increake number of different eucalyptus species. Intamidiwe continue our
efforts to develop rapid-growth clone trees andgpnerops better adapted to climatic conditions gedsoil of both us
and our third-party suppliers, thereby reducingdbsts associated with producing such wood andygreops.
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In addition, in our complementary forestry actiyitye have developed and implemented mechanize@stany
techniques, in lieu of the manual felling that vvasnmonly used in the sector, aimed at improvingaV@roductivity
and reducing operating costs. We have also sooghtfrove the logistics for the transportationtad tvood and energy
crops to our production facilities, including thgiuincreased monitoring of the transportation ahsmaterials by
subcontractors in order to decrease inefficiencies.

Acquisitions, Dispositions and Changes in Busindsscus

Acquisitions and dispositions can have a substanti@act on our results of operations. In recertrgewe have
acquired and disposed of significant assets, paatiy assets used in conjunction with our forestetivities. For
example, in 2009 and 2010, we divested forestrgtedl assets in Uruguay and, most recently, in Dbee2012, we
entered into an agreement to fully divest our reingi forestry-related assets in Uruguay. Theseod@is are in line
with our strategy to optimize and diversify ourdbéorestry supply management with a focus on redpueood imports
and fixed assets.

More generally, changes in our business focus tsanimpact our results of operations. Currently,ame
expanding our presence in the biomass energy s@uttrding through a new independent biomass gniaglity in
Huelva, Spain for which we expect transfer of owgh@y in the first quarter of 2013, and a secon@jrhdent biomass
energy facility, in Mérida, Spain, which is expette become operational during the fourth quart&0d4. We
anticipate that each of these facilities, onceyfaimmercially operational, will impact our resultisoperations.
Moreover, in our forestry activity, in addition ¢arr focus on reducing fixed assets, we are alsdugley disengaging
from sales of wood to third parties and our forestinsultancy services business, including thromgh2011
restructuring of Ibersilva, S.A.U., our forest dees and civil works subsidiary, to enable an iasg#l focus on the
provision of intragroup forestry services.

Other Financial Measures

In this Report, we present certain non-GAAP measuneluding Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Costs, EBITDA,
Gross debt, Mid-cycle EBITDA, Net debt, Other C&s¥sts, Unlevered free cash flow (excluding expansapital
expenditure), Wood Costs and Working capital armthaeleverage and coverage ratios that are natined) by, or
presented in accordance with, IFRS. Our manageb@dieives that the presentation of these non-GAARsmes and
ratios is helpful to investors because these amer gimilar measures and ratios are widely usetebiain investors,
security analysts and other interested partiesigiglsmental measures of performance and liquithiopvever, you
should not construe these non-GAAP measures aiod &g an alternative to net income determine¢@omance with
IFRS or to cash flows from operations, investintivétees or financing activities, or to any otheeasure or ratio
required by, or presented in accordance with, IHR&ddition, our non-GAAP measures and ratios maybe
comparable to similarly tited measures or ratissduby other companies.

Explanation of Line Items

Our pulp production activities are inseparably agged with our energy generation, because theegsoby
which we generate energy is integrated with oup pubduction process. In addition, the wood wetaggroduce pulp is
sourced by our forestry activities and we have peaelent energy generation facilities that use bgsnfiael sourced
through our forestry activities. Because our pulpdpiction and energy generation activities arelesety integrated, the
results of the activities carried out by each efnthare analyzed jointly by our management, ancebdor revenue,
there is no separate financial information for eacthem. Furthermore, because the majority ofreuenues from
forestry activities is generated within the Groitiis not possible and would not be representdtiviedicate an EBITDA
figure exclusively associated with sales to thiadties.

The following is a brief description of the lineihs that are included in our consolidated incormtestents.
Revenue

Our revenue represents the combined results ahoee business activities: pulp, energy and foyestr

Revenue from pulp is calculated from the volumeuwp sold in the period multiplied by a net pricesuros.
The net price, in turn, is calculated through tbewersion of the reference price in U.S. dollanead with the customer

into euros and applying the agreed commercial disco

Revenue from energy is calculated by multiplying #olume of electricity sold to the grid at eitlkeRegulated
Tariff or a Market Tariff. Current regulations alaus to sell 100% of our electricity productiortla¢ regulated price
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and buy the energy we consume from the grid at etgotices (plus an access toll). During 2012, wlpced
approximately twice the amount of electricity thaa consumed.

Revenue from forest management relates to our gatbérd parties and is comprised of revenuesvedrirom
our forestry services, civil works activities, wotsdding activities (which, historically, have panily been comprised of
sales of wood from Uruguay to third parties), armbd/swaps with Spanish and Portuguese companiesnifiact of
this activity on our operating profit has histotigdoeen marginal, and we expect our revenue fromforest
management activity to further reduce with the adreale of our Uruguayan forestry assets in Dece@®iE2, as well
as the restructuring of Ibersilva, S.A.U., our Rirgervices and civil works subsidiary, in 2011emable it to focus on
intragroup forestry services.

Gains or losses on hedging operations

Gains or losses on hedging operations representeshilts of our hedging operations, primarily foueign
exchange hedging operations, which we enter infirdtect against exchange rate volatility betwdenU.S. dollar (the
currency in which our pulp sales are conducted)thadturo (with the general exception of importexbd;
petrochemicals and certain fuels, the currencyhichvmost of our costs are incurred). Our foreigohange hedges are
short term, typically for approximately twelve mbhst To a lesser extent, and although we currentlyat have any
material hedging arrangements in place, we als@soras enter into hedging arrangements to reducexposure to
pulp prices.

Changes in inventories of finished goods and workgrogress

Change in inventories of finished goods and worgrimgress consists of variations in the level oEirtories of
finished goods and work in progress at the enti®itost recent period compared with the end optloe period.

Procurements

Procurements are comprised primarily of costsireab purchases of raw materials, including wdoain
third-party suppliers, as well as non-biomass faeld chemicals.

Group work on non-current assets

Group work on non-current assets includes the aligation of expenses related to our property, tdeual
equipment and biological assets (eucalyptus plams&and energy crop plantations). Items capitdlinerelation to
plantations include rental properties, treatmeslsted to the clearing and preparation of landjation, the
phytosanitation of land, the planting and replamtifiland, herbicides, and fertilizer.

Other operating income

Other operating income includes rental income ahdraextraordinary income, compensation provided by
insurance on property damage for loss of profit i@versals of provisions that were not applied.

Capital grants transferred to profit and loss

Capital grants transferred to profit and loss eetatinvestments in our production centers, cedeamts related
to greenhouse gas emissions and, to a lesser estdsidies for operations. The most significamtssly recently
received in this regard is a subsidy granted byRBEthe regional government of Asturias) in 2014:68.5 million in
conjunction with expansion works that were undexteln our Navia pulp production facility. We alsxeive free C®
rights on an annual basis pursuant to the Sparasiomal Allocation Plan (Law 1/2005). These areorded as a capital
grant at the value of the G@ghts as of January 1.

Staff costs
Staff costs include wages and salaries, sociakigg@osts and other personnel costs. Staff cdstsiaclude
the termination benefits to employees terminatetkucertain circumstances. The termination bentféscan be

reasonably quantified are recognized as an experile year in which the decision to terminateehgloyment
relationship is taken.
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Depreciation and amortization charges

Depreciation and amortization charges are comppsiadarily of the depreciation of our industriakass,
together with the depreciation of wood originatorgour own plantations, which is considered a rédoén the value
of our biological assets, also known as forestpleteon. Forestry depletion is the cost allocatetetled timber, based
on the aggregate costs incurred to the date afidedind the residual value of the plantation.

Impairment and gains or losses on disposals of namrent assets

Impairment and gains or losses from disposal ofeument assets relates to the impairment lossspect of,
or gains/losses upon disposal of, intangible aspetperty, plant and equipment and investment gntyp

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses includes cost of transfpeight and marketing, utilities, repairs and ntanance,
leases and royalties, insurance, costs associatiedhe CQ emission rights used, professional services, coniration
and indirect taxes. The key line items includethim other operating expenses are: (i) transp@ight and marketing
costs (primarily comprised of the delivery costafod and other raw materials to our industriallfaes, and the supply
of finished pulp to our end-customers); (ii) utdé and supplies (primarily comprised of electyicibsts incurred to run
our industrial operations); and (iii) repairs andimenance costs (incurred for the general upkedpraintenance of
our production facilities).

Finance income

Finance income includes income from cash deposits.
Change in fair value of financial instruments

Change in fair value of financial instruments imtds the gains or losses derived from changes ifathealue
of financial instruments mainly related to: (i)énést rate swap derivative used to hedge our balok @hich due to a
repayment during 2009, ceased to qualify for hemgmunting and (ii) an equity swap we entered iim2007 for the
purpose of hedging the potential increase in theevaf stock options awarded to the managementbes
subsequently not granted, although the equity seamined in place.
Finance costs

Finance costs include expenses due to interessiamidr expenses, including interest on our outitag
corporate indebtedness. Finance costs also inthedeosts related to factoring and confirming liretered into in the
ordinary course of business.

Exchange differences

Exchange differences include gains and lossesnatigig from exchange differences related to assets
liabilities denominated in currencies other tharodprimarily related to our Uruguay operations).

Income tax

Income tax includes all current and deferred taassalculated in accordance with relevant tax liavisrce in
the jurisdictions in which we operate.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to the YeanBed December 31, 2011

The following table sets out selected items fromaansolidated income statements for the periodisated
and the percentage change from period to periatishaws these items as a percentage of total regenu

Percentage
change

(%)

2011 2012
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Operating Data:

Pulp sales ('000 tonnes) 1,232 1,249 1.3%
Electricity sales (GWh) 1,490 1,543 3.5%
Wood supply to the industrial process ('00¢) m 3,699 3,643 -1.5%

Income Statement Data:

Revenue 825.5 827.6 0.3%
Gains or losses on hedging operations (10.4) (27.6) 165.1%
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work i -148.9%

progress 1.7) 0.8
Procurements (390.8) (408.0) 4.4%

Gross Margin 422.6 392.8 -7.1%
Group work on non-current assets 27.2 24.2 -11.1%
Other operating income 5.2 2.3 -56.4%
Capital grants transferred to profit and loss 7.4 4.3 -42.2%
Staff costs (89.4) (82.1) -8.2%
Depreciation and amortization charge (63.5) (63.4) -0.2%
Impairment and gains or losses on disposals of non-

43.8%
current assets 4.4 6.3
Other operating expenses (233.9) (202.1) -13.6%

Profit/(Loss) from operations 80.0 82.3 2.8%
Finance income 1.4 0.7 -46.5%
Change in fair value of financial instruments 1.6 6.8 324.9%
Finance costs (28.1) (24.4) -13.3%
Exchange differences 2.1 (1.8) -185.9%

Financial Loss (23.0) (18.6) -19.0%
Net results from the valuation of non-current asset

classified as held for sale (0.7)

Profit/(Loss) before tax 57.0 63.0 10.5%
Income tax (15.8) (19.9) 26.2%

Profit/(Loss) for the period from continuing operations 41.2 43.0 4.5%

Profit/(Loss) for the period 41.2 43.0 4.5%

Revenue

Our revenues increased by €2.1 million to €827 léaniin the year ended December 31, 2012 from
€825.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2@10.3% increase. The increase in energy saleksharbetter
volumes (+3.5%) and prices (+6.6%), was offsetieydecreasing sales from forestry-related actsvitiethird parties.

The table below shows the split of our total coitlied revenue generated by each of our three dassin

activities—pulp, energy and forestry—for the yeaded December 31, 2012 and the year ended Dec&tp2011,
respectively:

Year ended December 31, 2011  Year ended December 31, 2012

Revenue by Revenue by Revenue by Revenue Percentage
activity activity activity by activity Change
(€ in millions) (%) (€ in millions) (%) (%)

Pulp sales 596.9 72.3% 597.0 72.1% 0.0%

Electricity sales 184.3 22.3% 208.4 25.2% 13.1%

Wood and forestry 44.3 5.4% 223 27%  (49.7)%
services

Revenue 825.5 827.6 0.3%

Our revenues from pulp sales amounted to € 597l®min 2012 in line with 2011. The decline in aage sale
prices by 1.3% to 478.6 €/ton in 2012 from 48410r€in 2011 was offset by an increase in salesmebiof 1.3% to
1,249 thousand tons in 2012 from 1.232 thousansl ito2011.

Our revenues from energy sales increased by €2dliamto €208.4 million in 2012 from €184.3 millioin
2011, a 13.1% increase. This increase is attritheitaba 6.6% increase in average electricity setepgo 128.0 €/ MWh
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in 2012 from 120.0 €/MWh in 201, a 3.5% increaselectricity sold to the grid to 1,543 GWh in 20t@m 1,490 GWh
in 2011 (as a result of improved efficiency in ¢ieity generation) and €10.8 million contributifrom the new 50MW
power plant in Huelva (operational since Septemlika) are capitalized until the reception of thenp

Our revenues from forestry sales decreased by €2@#i6n to €22.3 million in 2012 from €44.3 millioin
2011, a 49.7% decrease. This decrease is attributabur decision to gradually disengage from #usvity.

Gains or losses on hedging operations

We recorded a €27.6 million loss in the year eridedember 31, 2012, compared to a €10.4 million iloslse
year ended December 31, 2011. During the year ebdedmber 31, 2012, we realized a loss when wieddtdrward
pulp sale contracts in respect of 48,000 tonngmulpf at an average strike price of $720 per tosnenpared to an
average pulp price of $752 per tonne) and $516anibf foreign exchange contracts at an averagjesrice of
1.374 ($/€) (compared to an average exchange fat@85 ($/£€)).

During the year ended December 31,2011, we reatideds when we settled forward pulp sales corstiact
respect of 333,300 tonnes of pulp at an average girice of €551 per tonne (compared to an avepade price of €575
per tonne) which was partly offset by a small gairen we settled $233 million of foreign exchangatcacts at an
average strike price of 1.379 ($/€) (compared tawrage exchange rate of 1.39 ($/£)).

Changes in inventories of finished goods and workgrogress

Changes in inventories of finished goods and wonrbgress were a € 0.8 million increase in the gaded
December 31, 2012 compared to a €1.7 million dseré@athe year ended December 31, 2011.

Procurements

Procurements during the year ended December 32, iB0deased by €17.2 million to €408.0 million from
€390.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2@14.4% increase. This increase was due to theaserin other
external expenses, related to increased harvestiingty as a result of the increase of standintbr purchased directly
from landlords. Despite a 0.5% increase in pulglpotion from 1,243 thousand tons in 2011 to 1,28Q$and tons in
2012, purchases declined by 6.2% being mainly cosgted by a reduction of inventories of raw, aaryliand
commercial materials and other external expenses.

The following table sets forth the items that cdantd our procurements in the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,

2011 2012
(€ in millions)
Purchases 358.3 336.2
Changes in inventories of raw materials, other nalteand
merchandise (10.9) 16.7
Other external expenses 43.4 55.2
Total 390.8 408.0

Group work on non-current assets

Group work on non-current assets decreased byrilion to € 24.2 million in the year ended DecemBg,
2012 from €27.2 million in the year ended Decen8fer2011, an 11.1% decrease. This decrease waargyim
attributable to our increased investments in energps for the supply to our energy generationlifes, which was
partially offset by lower investments in our Uruguessets held for sale.

Other operating income

Other operating income decreased by €2.9 millio82& million in year ended December 31, 2012 from
€5.2 million in year ended December 31, 2011, 4%6decrease.

Capital grants transferred to profit and loss
Capital grants transferred to profit and loss desed by €3.1 million to €4.3 million in the yeaded

December 31, 2012 from €7.4 million in the yearemh®ecember 31, 2011, a 42.2% decrease. This decnes
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primarily attributable to the decrease in the pf@eCQO, rights on January 1, 2012 compared to Januar@ll,2vhich
resulted in a lower valuation of our @@ghts grant.

Staff costs

Staff costs decreased by €7.3 million to €82.1lianilin year ended December 31, 2012 from €89.4aniin
the year ended December 31, 2011, a 8.2% decfHaisedecrease was primarily due to a reductioménaverage
number of workers to 1,270 in the year ended Deeerdh, 2012 from 1,575 in the year ended DecembgeP@l11 as a
result of the restructuring of Ibersilva, S.A.Uurdorestry and civil works subsidiary, and our Guay operations.

The following table sets forth the items that c@nstd our staff costs in the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,

2011 2012
(€ in millions)
Wages and salaries 63.6 60.0
Social security costs 15.2 13.9
Pension contributions and other employee beneditsco 3.8 3.5
Termination benefits 6.8 4.7
Total 89.4 82.1

Depreciation and amortization charge

Depreciation and amortization charge decreasedtyréillion to €63.4 million in year ended DecemBég
2012 from €63.5 million in the year ended Decengfer2011, a 0.2% decrease.

Impairment and gains or losses on disposals of nam+ent assets

We recorded a €6.3 million gain in the year endeddinber 31, 2012 compared to a €4.4 million gathén
year ended December 31, 2011. The gain in yeardeDdeember 31, 2012 and 2011 was primarily dueraversal of
provisions.
Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses decreased by €31.8 midi€202.1 million in the year ended December 31,22
from €233.9 million in year ended December 31, 2@113.6% decrease. This decrease was primarilgtible to a
reduction in transport, freight and marketing cakte to lower volumes of imported timber. Alsotie tecrease of
electricity purchases thanks to better efficienaied lower use of grid charges in Navia.

The following table sets forth the items that cdnt our other operating expenses in the periodsgnted:

Year ended December 31,

2011 2012
(€ in millions)
Outside services:
Transport, freight and marketing costs 87.8 60.4
Utilities 64.4 60.8
Repairs and maintenance 18.7 16.5
Leases and royalties 8.6 7.7
Insurance premiums 6.1 53
Independent professional services 5.8 6.9
Banking and similar services 2.5 2.5
Advertising, publicity and public relations 0.8 1.0
Research and development expenses 0.1 0.1
Other services 19.9 26.1
Total outside services 214.7 187.3
Emission rights used 5.6 3.0
Other taxes and operating expenses 5.0 6.8
Change in operating provisions 8.5 5.1
Total 233.8 202.1

36



Profit from operations

Profit from operations increased by €2.3 milliorE&2.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2042
€80.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2@1h12.8% increase. This increase was primarilytattaible to a
decline in production cost per ton, which was pélstioffset by lower pulp prices.

Finance income

Finance income decreased by €0.7 million to €0lliamiin year ended December 31, 2012 from €1.4ionil
in the year ended December 31, 2011, a 46.5% dexrea

Change in fair value of financial instruments

We recorded a €6.8 million gain in the year endedé®nber 31, 2012 compared to a €1.6 million gathén
year ended December 31, 2011. The gains in botbdsewere primarily due to the settlement of therest rate swap
related to our syndicated credit facility, paryadiffset in 2011 by losses on our equity swap dua decrease in our
share price.

In May 2008, we entered into an interest rate stwdpedge 60% of our bank debt. This debt substintia
changed in 2009 due to a repayment (from the Unudisposal proceeds). As a result, the interestsa@p ceased to
qualify for hedge accounting on October 16, 2008c&that date, changes in the value of this insémt have been
recognized in the change in fair value of finan@iatruments. These changes are due to interestgrdg or movements
of the interest rate curve.

In 2007, we entered into an equity swap to hedgénagthe potential increase in the value of stmutions
awarded to our management. The stock options wirgeguently not granted to management; howevegghiy swap
remained in place. The subsequent changes initheafae of this equity swap have been recognipeithé change in
fair value of financial instruments.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by €3.7 million to €24ldomin year ended December 31, 2012 from €28 llioni
in the year ended December 31, 2011, a 13.3% dexréais decrease was primarily attributable teaehse in interest
rates.

Exchange differences

We recorded a €1.8 million loss in the year endeddnber 31, 2012 compared to a gain of €2.1 milhdhe
year ended December 31, 2011. Both the loss angdinevere primarily attributable to the translatimpact of foreign
exchange fluctuations in relation to our Uruguagasets.

Financial gain/(loss)

Financial loss decreased by €4.4 million to €18iléan in the year ended December 31, 2012 from
€23.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2@0119.0% decrease, primarily due to lower finarestsc

Profit before tax

Profit before tax increased by €6.0 million to €Billion in the year ended December 31, 2012 from
€57.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2@110.5% increase. This increase was primarily dubd increase
profit from operations.
Income tax

Income tax increased by €4.1 million to €19.9 millin year ended September 31, 2012 from €15.8omiih

the year ended December 31, 2011, a 26.2% incréhigeincrease was primarily attributable to ther@ase in profit
before tax.
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Profit from continuing operations

Profit from continuing operations increased by €hiBion to €43.0 million in the year ended DecemBg,
2012 from €41.2 million in the year ended Decengfer2011, a 4.5% increase.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Liquidity and capital resources describe the gbdita company to generate sufficient cash flows&et the
cash requirements of its business operations,dimduworking capital needs, capital expenditurehtdervice
obligations, other commitments, contractual oblma and acquisitions. Our principal sources afitiify have
historically been cash generated from our operatutiyities, cash raised through bank borrowings faom the equity
capital markets. For example, in 2010 we complatedquity raising in which we issued 83,112,890nany shares of
the company in exchange for gross proceeds of &1ifion, which were used to reduce our indebtedn@ss principal
uses of cash are for capital expenditure relatédganaintenance of our pulp production and engemerating facilities,
the improvement of the productivity and efficierafyour pulp production facilities, our further exyséon into the
biomass energy sector and distributions to ourettrdders.

Cash flows

We believe that our operating cash flows and ourdvang capacity under our credit facilities, wkk
sufficient to meet the cash requirements of ouilass operations for the foreseeable future.

However, our ability to generate cash from our afiens depends on future operating performancestwini
turn depends, to a certain extent, on general enmdinancial, competitive market, legislativegtgatory and other
factors, many of which are beyond our control, al s other factors discussed in the sectionsk’Ractors” and
“Business.” Moreover, we cannot assure you thatréutiebt or equity financing will be available ® Uf our cash flows
are lower than expected or the cash requiremeraardiusiness exceed our projections, we may hgreztjto seek
additional financing, which may not be availablecmmmercially reasonable terms, if at all. Ourigbtb arrange
financing generally and our cost of capital depenchumerous factors, including general economiditimms, the
availability of credit from banks, other financiaktitutions, and the capital markets, restrictionthe instruments
governing our debt, and our general financial genfmce.

Year ended December 31,
2011 2012
(€ in millions)

Cash Flow Data:
Cash flows from/used in operating activities:

Consolidated profit for the year before tax 57.0 63.0
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization charge 53.7 53.3
Depletion of forestry reserve 8.5 9.1
Amortization of intangible assets 1.3 1.0
Changes in provisions and other deferred expemst)s ( (3.6) 3.7
Gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets (4.2) (3.0
Finance income (5.3) (0.7)
Finance costs 29.3 18.0
Grants and subsidies transferred to profit and loss (1.2) (1.2)

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables 28.0 (24.0)
Current financial and other assets (10.8) 18.2
Current liabilities (8.0) (13.8)
Inventories (8.3) 18.3

Other cash flows from operating activities:
Interest paid (28.1) (21.5)
Interest received 5.2 0.7
Income tax recovered (paid) (2.9) (9.4)

Net cash flows from/used in operating activities 10.7 111.6

Cash flows from/used in investing activities:

Investments:
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Property, plant and equipment (94.9) (104.4)

Intangible assets (0.4) (16.1)

Other financial assets - (0.2)
Disposals:

Property, plant and equipment 4.3 0.4

Other financial assets 1.7 0.2
Net cash flows from/used in investing activities (89.3) (120.1)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds and payments relating to equity instrusnent
Purchase of treasury shares (53.7) (41.7)
Disposal of treasury shares 7.2 1.3
Proceeds and payments relating to financial lighifistruments:
Increase/(decrease) in bank borrowings, net of éseangement

costs 43.1 37.4

Grants and subsidies received 8.5 -
Dividends (25.8) (16.5)
Financial instruments (equity swaps) - (3.3)
Translation difference (0.2)
Net cash flows from financing activities (20.8) (22.9)

Net cash flows from operating activities

During year ended December 31, 2012, our cashftom bperating activities was €111.6 million, congzhto
€110.7 million during the year ended December 8112 This €0.9 million increase was primarily do&tincrease in
working capital of €1.3 million in the year endedd@mber 31, 2012, compared to a €0.9 million waylkiapital
decrease in the year ended December 31, 2011.

Net cash flows from Investing Activities

During year ended December 31, 2012, our cashfked in investing activities was €120.1 million, quared
to €89.3 million during the year ended December2®1,1. The increase in mainly related to highempents to the EPC
contracts for the construction of Huelva and Mepdaver plants (€58.9M in 2012 vs €50.8M in 2011ghkr
investments in energy crop plantations for therfisupply needs of these plants (€17.6M in 20121¢s6M accounted
in 2011) and repurchase of CO2 emission rights @12

Net cash flows from Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2012, our aashfked in financing activities was €22.9 million,
compared to €20.8 million for the year ended Decam®i, 2011, or €2.1 million higher. Our princigalurces and uses
of cash in the financing activities were:

* a€41.7 million purchase of treasury shares ar ynded December 31, 2012, compared to €53.bmitt
the year ended December 31, 2011.

* a€£16.5 million dividend payment to our sharekaddn the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to
€25.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2011;

e £€8.5 million of grants received in the year en@stember 31, 2011 primarily from the Asturias oegil
government related to the modernization plan forNavia plant located in Asturias;

e £€37.4 million net borrowing in the year ended Baber 31, 2012, resulting from a € 41.3 millionvdrey
under our project finance arrangements offset bg &8llion of debt repayments in the year ended
September 31, 2012 compared to €43.1 million nebleng in the year ended December 31, 2011 when
we borrowed € 54.9 million under our project finarm@rangements partly offset by €11.9 million oftde
repayments; and

Working Capital

The movement in components of net working capétals shown in the table below for each of the perio
indicated.
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2011 2012

(€ in millions)
Inventories 112.5 87.6
Trade and other receivables 122.8 138.6
Receivables from public authorities 13 29.7
Other current financial assets 22.8 7.6
Other current assets 0.9 0.9
Trade and other payables (182.0) (201.9)
Corporate income tax payable (0.4) (1.3)
Other accounts payable to public authorities (17.7) (8.5)
Other current liabilities (0.1) (0.5
Working capital 71.9 52.1
Change in working capital as per cash flow statemen 0.8 (1.3)

We define “working capital” as inventories, pluade and other receivables, plus receivables frdsfiqu
authorities, plus other current financial asseltss pther current assets, less trades and othabfesy less corporate
income tax payable, less other accounts payalgatitic authorities and less other current lialgBti Our working
capital levels vary as a result of several factonduding the impact of raw material prices antlirsg prices, production
stoppages and maintenance works, changes in payenet# in the case of key suppliers, foreign exghaates, our
decisions to hold inventories and the operatingllef our business.

As of December 31, 2012 we had nonrecourse fagtdaicilities in place under which we are allowedactor
up to €85.0 million of which €33.5 million was drawAs of December 31, 2012 we also had confirmingsl (reverse
factoring) in place with an aggregate limit of €8&illion of which €62.8 million was drawn.

Capital Expenditures

Year ended December 31,

2011 2012
Capital expenditures 101,6 113,0
of which maintenance capital expenditure 40,2 36,5

Our principal uses of cash are for capital expemes related to maintenance capital expenditunesldpment
of biomass energy plants at Huelva and Mérida,thedapacity expansion at the Huelva and Naviapmmer plants.
During 2012, capital expenditures increased by£dillion, or 11.2%, to €113.0 million, compared&b01.6 million in
2011. This increase was primarily related to inwvesits in our 50 MW independent biomass energyifiaail Huelva
and Merida, both in the industrial project andhia energy crop plantations that will supply thesgqzts. Investments
related to the maintenance of our pulp activity emdur biomass expansion totaled €36.5 million €4@.2 million for
2012 and 2011 respectively.

Financial Liabilities

Our financial liabilities increased to €344.6 naitlias December 31, 2012 from €304.4 million as of
December 31, 2011. This increase is due to theshiggpex activity in energy although it does nketmto account the
$77.3 million proceeds from the sale of assetsruguay, that was closed in March 7, after gettirgggermits from the
Uruguayan authorities.
Financial and Other Material Contractual Obligations
Financial Obligations

The following table summarizes the aggregate ppeicamount of our financial liabilities as of Dedsen 31,

2012 and the related amounts falling due withingégods indicated, as adjusted to give effech#issuance of the
Notes offered hereby and the use of the proceedsftbom:
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Payments Due by Period
Between
January 1, 2014
Until December  and December 31, After January 1,

Pro Forma Maturities of Financial Liabilities 31, 2013 2019 2020

(€ in millions)
Notes offered hereby..........eeevviiiiiii i — — 250.0
Project fiNANCE ..........covivee et 1.2 48.2 50.9
CDTI and other indebtedness .............cceieeeiiiiiiiiiee e, 2.0 8.5 3.1
Total Financial Liabilities .............ccocociiiiiiiiee e, 3.2 56.6 304.0
Q) Represents the project finance arrangementhéoruelva and Mérida independent biomass enaaitfes.

Other Material Contractual Obligations

We are party to a long-term take-or-pay contracttie supply of natural gas. Under the terms df tbatract,
we are committed to acquire 201 GW of natural gasgpnum. The contract expires in February 2016.

As of December 31, 2012, our lease payments uetiehber 31, 2017 will be €26.9 million and thereaft
€29.2 million (not including common expenses, fatimcreases for inflation or future contractualtréses). As of
December 31, 2012, we leased 28,256 hectaresastflamd for the cultivation of standing timber €8k leases have an
average term of 30 years.

In addition to the above obligations, we enter mtiarge number of short- and long-term agreenfenthe
purchase of standing timber. However, we do nosichan that any of these agreements individuallyet@a material
obligation.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of princigfabr to pay the interest on, or to refinance, ou
indebtedness (including the Notes), or to fundather contractual obligations, will depend on autufe operating
performance, which in turn depends, to a certaiargxon general economic, financial, competitivarket, legislative,
regulatory and other factors, many of which areomelyour control, as well as other factors discusséRisk Factors”
and “Business.”

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Under the Spanish Greenhouse Regulations, we quéed to obtain certain greenhouse gas emission
authorizations. We have entered into EUA daily fetcontracts to purchase 601,000 tonnes of 1@fbts, which are
settled on a daily basis, and which we may rollrdgtally or partially to cover our CQOights needs in the future. These
contracts have their final settlement date on Déear81, 2013. Going forward, we will continue tdearinto forward
contracts to acquire additional géghts, and management believes we have contraotedll be able to contract,
sufficient rights to meet our operational needs2f@t 3 through 2016. Please see “Summary—Recenti@evwents—
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Rights” and “Regulation.”

Other than this forward contract for @@mission authorizations, we do not have any rratefi-balance sheet
finance activities.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed in varying degrees to a varietyarkat risks. The Board of Directors, with the assise of
senior management, defines our risk managemeatiariind approves the specific policies applieshémage
commodity price, exchange rate, interest rate,iceed liquidity risks, and the use of derivativeaincial instruments for
risk management purposes.

The following table summarizes our estimated déinregpositions as of December 31, 2012, as adjustgive
effect to the issuance of the Notes issued hereb\ttee use of the proceeds therefrom:
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As of December 31, 2012

o Current Non-current Current
Liabilities/Assets . .
Assets liabilities liabilities
(€ in millions)
Huelva interest rate swap - 8.1 2.4
Mérida interest rate swap - 15 0.3
Equity swap - 8.1 2.0
Foreign currency hedges 10.7 - -
Total 10.7 17.8 4.7

The main financial risks facing the Group, andhbécies and controls adopted to mitigate them asre
follows.

Commodity Price Risk
Pulp price

The price of pulp is established in an active mirtke evolution of which significantly affects ogvenues.
Changes in pulp prices affect the cash flows obthinom sales. Pulp prices display a cyclical ratand there has been
considerable price volatility in recent years. Engovements are associated with changes in volontbe conditions
dictating supply and demand, as well as the fir@rsifuation of firms operating in the market.

In order to mitigate this risk, we have made sigaifit investments in recent years to raise proditz@nd
improve the quality of the products we sell to therket. We estimate that a 5% increase in theriat@mal pulp price
in euro would have increased our consolidated nes®iy approximately 3.9% in the year ended Decefthe2011.

As of December 31, 2012, the Group had no pulpegredge agreement.
Timber supplies

Eucalyptus timber is the main raw material inputhi@ production of pulp, and its price is subjectitictuations
due to regional changes in the balance of supplyd@mand, and the need to access markets in etiens when local
supplies are insufficient to meet demand, resulfitingigher logistical costs. We also maximize thére added in our
products by increasing our use of certified timlvdrich is more costly. We estimate that a 5% ingeda the price per
cubic meter of eucalyptus timber used in the prtdogrocess would have reduced our operating margi
approximately 15%.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Although the majority of our sales are made inEaeopean market, revenues from sales of pulp #eetafl by
the U.S. dollar/euro exchange rate because thenbear& sale price of pulp on the international maikealculated in
U.S. dollars per tonne. Since our cost structupimarily in euros, changes in the U.S. dollartexage rate can have a
significant impact on earnings volatility. We estite that a 5% appreciation of the U.S. dollar agjdime euro would
have increased our consolidated revenues by appabely 3.6%.

We continuously monitor our foreign exchange rigk anter into hedging transactions if deemed apjatgpto
minimize our exposure to currency fluctuations. Adkdging schemes are subject to the approval oBoard of
Directors. As of December 31, 2012, the notionabant of these hedges amounted to $222 million.

Interest Rate Risk

We have limited exposure to floating interest dabt. To the extent we are exposed to floatingdets, we
use interest rate swap contracts to manage ousarpto interest rate movements on portions oeaisting debt. We
have entered into hedges associated with the priij@encing of our Huelva and Mérida plants. AdD&fcember 31,
2012, these hedges amounted to a liability of €idlison.

Equity Swap
On October 25, 2007, the Issuer arranged an egwiyp with Bankia, S.A. for a total amount of 5. 1liom
shares of the Issuer, at a base price of €4.46h@ee, in order to comply with certain terms andditions set forth in

the management incentive plan of our senior managerithe terms of this equity swap were amendédarch 2010
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as a result of our share capital increase, ata jpdse of €4.11 per share, and in June 2012, tanding its term until
2015, with partial cancellation of 1.0 million skarin each of March 2013 and March 2014 and 1.iomishares in
March 2015. In addition, March 15, 2015 was dedigmhas the new termination date. As of DecembeR@12, the fair
value of the instrument was negative €10.2 million.

Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk in respect of outitanbalances receivable from customers, partiuiarour
pulp business. We manage this risk by enteringdrgdit insurance policies, which assign crediitérto each of our
customers based on their credit quality as detexdhby the insurer. These policies provide covebfiween 75% and
90% of our trade receivables associated with tleeafgpulp. Provisions are made for overdue balandeere there is
evidence of impairment, as well as for all recelgalmverdue by twelve months or more that are ae¢ied by credit
insurance policies. With respect to credit riskatielg to our energy generation business, paymeotitaned from the
Iberian electricity system.

Liquidity and Asset Management Risk

We are exposed to both liquidity and asset managerisk. We manage these risks by closely monitptire
maturities of our bank borrowings and ensuring thate are sufficient committed loan facilitiescfuding refinancing,
if necessary) to cover forecasted cash requiremastaell as taking such risks into account in@ansideration of any
dividends to be distributed.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with IFRS. The preparation of the@sntial
statements requires management to make estimatgadgments that affect the reported amounts aftaskabilities,
revenue and expenses. Changes in the economioemeént, financial markets and any other parameiszd in
determining such estimates and judgments couldecactsial results to differ.

Our accounting policies are more fully describetlote 4 to our audited consolidated financial stests for
the year ended December 31, 2012. We believe tluavfog policies to be the most significant polisighat require
management to consider matters that are inherantlgrtain or to make subjective and complex judgmen

Assessment of Possible Impairment Losses on Cerfgnets

We test tangible and intangible assets for impaitrtee determine whether the recoverable amourteassets
has been reduced below their carrying amount. €beverable amounts are calculated for each of ashi-generating
units. The recoverable amount is the higher ofviaiue less costs to sell and value in use. Inraalealculate value in
use, the estimated cash flows from the cash-gengnanit are discounted applying a discount rapeasenting the cost
of capital, taking into account the cost of bornogvand business risks. Where it is estimated Heatecoverable amount
of an asset is less than its carrying amount,dtierlis written down to the recoverable amountamdmpairment loss is
recognized in the consolidated income statemean ifmpairment loss subsequently reverses, thgiogramount of the
cash-generating unit is increased to the revistohate of the recoverable amount such that theeaszd carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount thaldd@yve been determined had no impairment loss tesagnized
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment losesisognized as income.

Useful Life of Property, Plant and Equipment and fangible Assets

We calculate the depreciation of our property, ptard equipment on a straight-line basis at anratas based
on the years of estimated useful life of the asset$ollows:

Estimated Years of

Useful Life
(S TU ][0 10T 1P PPPPRUTTP 20-40
Plant and MACRINEIY ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnneaees 11-16
Other fixtures, t00IS aNd fUINITUIE. ...ttt e e e e e e 11
Other items of property, plant and eqQUIPMENT...........uuriiiiiiiiieeee e 11

While land is considered to have an indefinite ukkfie and is therefore not depreciated, investtaenade in
buildings constructed on land granted under adinatise concessions are recognized under “Buildingbis cost and
the cost of any other permanent fixtures locatedantession land is depreciated over the shortireofisset’s useful
life or the term of the concession.
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Fair Value of Financial Assets, Financial Instrumets and Derivatives
Financial Assets
We classify our financial assets into two categorie

() Loans and receivabletrade receivables and financial assets with fizedeterminable payments arising from
non-trade operations arising from the sale of gawydke provision of services.

(i) Available-for-sale financial assetthese include debt securities and equity instnimef other companies that
are not classified in any other category.

Financial assets are initially recognized at thevalue of the consideration given plus any diseattributable
transaction costs. Loans and receivables are mezhatiamortized cost. We also recognize impairnosses in the
consolidated income statement where it is deterthihat the financial assets present recoverabibis.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measurddiavalue, and the gains and losses arising ftbanges in
fair value are recognized in consolidated equittjl time asset is disposed of or it is determineat thhas become
permanently impaired, at which time the cumulatiaéns or losses previously recognized are takéhnetmet
consolidated profit or loss for the year.

We derecognize a financial asset when it expireghan the rights to the cash flows from the finahasset
have been transferred and substantially all thes @ d rewards of ownership have been transfertedever, in
transfers of financial assets in which substantialll the risks and rewards of ownership are reiginve do not
derecognize such financial assets and recognirmacial liability for an amount equal to the catesiation received.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable Isytliat have arisen from the purchase of goods emites in
the normal course of business, and those whichhawihg commercial substance, cannot be classifiederivative
financial instruments.

Accounts payable are initially recognized at thealue of the consideration received, adjustedheydirectly
attributable transaction costs. These liabilities subsequently measured at amortized cost. Weatgtize financial
liabilities when the obligations giving rise to theease to exist.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accaugti

We use financial derivative instruments to hedgaresy exposures to certain financial and marké&sris
including foreign exchange, commodity and interagt risks. These financial instruments are irnjtisdcognized at
their cost of acquisition and the necessary valuadidjustments are subsequently made to reflectffievalue at any
given time. Write-downs are recognized under “Datiies” in the consolidated balance sheet, anceaaptual
write-backs are recognized under “Financial ass€srivatives.” The gains or losses on these chaimgeslue are
recognized in the consolidated income statemetgsarthe derivative has been designated as a lgeihgitnument, in
which case it is recognized as follows:

@ Fair value hedgeshoth the hedged item and the hedging instrumentreasured at fair value, and any changes
in the value of either are recognized in the cadatéd income statement. Effects are offset irstirae caption
of the consolidated income statement.

(i) Cash flow hedge£hanges in the fair value of financial derivasiae recognized in “Equity—Valuation
adjustments.” The cumulative loss or gain recoghineder this heading is transferred to the conatsid
income statement to the extent the underlying hampact on the consolidated income statementyatobioth
effects are offset.

In order for these financial instruments to qualdy hedge accounting, they are initially desigdads such and
the hedging relationship is documented. We alsifyydroth at inception and periodically over thenteof the hedge,
that the hedging relationship is effective, i.battit is prospectively foreseeable that changékdrfair value or cash
flows of the hedged item (attributable to the hetigek) will be almost fully offset by those of thedging instrument,
and that, retrospectively, the gain or loss onhtb@ge was within a range of 80—-125% of the gailnss on the hedged
item. The part of the hedging instrument that idrined to be ineffective is immediately recogditierough the
consolidated income statement.
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The fair values of the different financial deriveginstruments is calculated by discounting expectesh flows
based on conditions in both spot and futures markiethe calculation date. All of the methods wsexdgenerally
accepted by financial instrument analysts.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge lenger highly effective. In this case, the cuative gain
or loss arising on the hedging instrument that reasgnized directly in equity is maintained uritié texpected
commitment or transaction materializes, when itassferred to the consolidated income statemeheré/the
commitment or transaction envisaged is not expetctedcur, any accumulated gain or loss previotestpgnized in
equity is taken to the consolidated income statémen

The fair value of financial instruments of this &iwhich are not traded on an active market is ¢aied
applying measurement techniques that maximize ¢seeofiobservable market data, and to a lessertertsimates. On
this basis, the measurement techniques appliedrieative financial instruments are, in generatoswl-level methods,
because the key data employed to calculate failev@hterest rate curves and the cellulose pulgeprurve) are
observable.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument represents a residual ownpritierest in the equity of the Issuer once altofiabilities
have been deducted. The equity instruments issydlteblssuer are recognized in equity for the arhofithe proceeds
received, net of issuance costs. Treasury shagesrad by the Issuer are recognized at the valukeotonsideration
paid and are presented as a reduction in equity.géin or loss arising on the purchase, sale, ssuedemption of
treasury shares is recognized directly in equity.afounts are recognized in the income statemehismespect.

Commitments with Employees

The fair value of the the Special Variable Execi@ompensation Plan, our management incentive pém,
been determined using the Black-Scholes method;hwikigenerally accepted for financial instrumendtthis type. The
fair value of the equity swap we arranged with Ban&.A. on October 25, 2007 is calculated basethemliscounted
cash flows of the share component and the discdwash flows generated by the accrual of intefidss instrument
does not meet the criteria to qualify as a hed@gistfument, and changes in fair value must theeeti@ recognized in
the consolidated income statement as they occur.

Provisions

The consolidated financial statements include ml/isions where there is a likelihood an obligatwiti have
to be settled. Contingent liabilities are not ratagd in the consolidated financial statementsratiter are disclosed in
the accompanying notes, unless the possibilitynadwtflow in settlement is not considered remote.

Provisions, including variable employee remunergtare measured based on the present value oéste b
estimate possible of the sum necessary to cand¢edmsfer the obligation, taking into account thisrmation available
on the event and its consequences. Adjustment®tispns are recognized as finance costs as tteegarued.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax expenses or income relate to the réttog and derecognition of deferred tax assetsliaidlities.
These amounts are measured at the tax rates ¢hexpected to apply in the period when the assebiged or the
liability settled. Deferred tax assets are recoguhito the extent that it is considered probabletti@Group will have
taxable profits in the future against which theedefd tax assets can be utilized. Deferred taxsasel liabilities arising
from transactions charged or credited directlydoity are also recognized in equity. The defersedassets recognized
are reassessed at the end of each reporting pribthe appropriate adjustments are made to teatekiat there are
doubts as to their future recoverability. Also,eswgnized deferred tax assets are reassessedeaidtioé each reporting
period and are recognized to the extent that iblea®me probable that they will be recovered thindugure taxable
profits.

Recent Developments
Current Trading Update

Although our financial results for the first quartd 2013 are not yet available, we believe oueraie and
EBITDA for the first quarter of 2013 will be highéran our revenue and EBITDA for the fourth quaae011. This is
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primarily due to higher pulp prices and energy satethe first quarter of 2013 after the consol@abf the Huelva
50MW power plant whose ownership has been trarexférom the EPC contractor to Ence as of FebruaP@¥3.

Increase in the Sale Price of Pulp

We have announced an increase of our pulp sale {i820 per tonne effective from Marchl, 2013sTh
decision was made in light of the upward trendutppprices for the last six months, and reflectsriking demand
worldwide for short-fiber pulp, such as BHKP, whishn turn used to produce tissue and other prisduc

New Energy Taxes in Spain

On January 1, 2013, a new statute became effethige’Energy Tax Law”), which, among other things,
provides for:

e adirect tax on energy generators equal to 7#hefotal annual revenues of each energy generation
facility; and

» the implementation of a “green cent&ftimo verdgtax on natural gas under certain circumstances
(including for the purposes for which natural gasised in our energy generation facilities) atte o
€0.65 per gigajoule and on fuel oil (which we usamall amounts to start the boilers necessaruito o
energy generation operations) used for the productf electric energy at a rate of €12.00 per tonne

Both taxes are tax-deductible. Although we expleetdlectricity market to pass a portion of these texes
through the electricity pool prices, the Energy Taxv is likely to increase our cost of productidreaergy.

On February 1, 2013, the Royal Decree Law 2/2018meargency measures for the electrical sectortand t
financial system, modified the reference index egaplle to RD 661/2007 annual tariff adjustment friv@ general CPI
index to the underlying CPI at constant taxes {gkiolg tax increases, unprocessed foods and eneogugts); and the
prime economic regimen will be based only on tlgulated tariff option (with the pool+premium optietiminated).
This regulation is likely to increase our cost adguction of energy.

The effect estimated by the financial institutiaghe joint implementation of Law 15/2012 of 27 d@enber,
on tax for energy sustainability and Royal Decregv12/2013 of 1 February, on urgent measures irliwricity sector
and in the financial system, is potentially a readucin the funding available for 20MW Merida profeand 50 MW
Huelva project, of EUR 20 million euros and EUR#8lion euros, respectively.

Currently the Group's management is analysing #asanableness of the assumptions used by financial
institutions, mainly the evolution of costs and tteee CPIl. While we have just initiated negotiasionith our project
finance lenders, we believe that the reductionhef &available amount under these project financditfes may be
significantly less due to the impact of revisedragienal and cost assumptions.

Update on Uruguay Assets Disposal

On December 14, 2012, we entered into an agreeimaetl, subject to certain closing conditions, 730,
hectares of land and related forestry assets owper in Uruguay for a total consideration of $7miion. Closing has
taken place as of March 7, 2013, after the recemifaegulatory approvals. This divestiture of dlruguayan forestry
assets is in line with our strategy to divest auestry assets in order to enable us to focus orcsg wood locally at
more competitive prices from land which we do nehand at the same time to reduce our dependeno®om
expensive imports for part of our wood supply.

Approval of a dividend of € 0.07 per share and Jashfor every 25 shares

On February 19, the Board of Directors resolvegrtipose at the 2013 General Shareholders Meetiingdend
payment of €0.07 per share against the 2012 resuilteell as a dividend on treasury shares drawmdomm the share
premium in the proportion of one treasury sharesfary 26 shares that the shareholder hold. Atl#he of approval,
both dividends amounted to a dividend yield of 7.4%e dividend was approved by the General Meaifng
Shareholders held on March 21, 2013.
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BUSINESS
Our Company

We are the largest BHKP producer in Europe, focuseducalyptus pulp, with an annual maximum insthll
capacity of 1.34 million tons in our three pulp guation facilities in Huelva, Navia and Ponteve(pain) and an
aggregate production of 1.25 million tons in 20tEhresenting a utilization rate of 93%. We expoB&éb of our
eucalyptus pulp sales by volume, primarily to thedpean market, the largest global pulp marketaandt importer of
market pulp, where we have a market share of 14&alsb have a significant co-generation and renkenatergy
generation business, with an installed capacigppiroximately 230 MW as of December 31, 2012 (edinly our new
50 MW independent biomass energy facility in Huelspain, which became operational in September 208i2vhose
ownership has been transferred from our EPC cdotrée us in February 7, 2013) and total energgssaf 1,543 GWh
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012.ifdegrated pulp and energy business model takesnéalye of our
strong positioning in forestry supply managemeathhwith respect to managing forest plantations @ogs for the
production of wood and cultivated biomass and wéipect to sourcing wood from third-party sourceseguired for
the sustainability of our business. As of Decen8ier2012, we managed approximately 87,924 hectdnglantations
(excluding our forestry assets in Uruguay), of whige owned approximately 59%.

We are publicly listed on the Madrid Stock Excha(Belsa de Valores de Madpidvith a market capitalization
of €533.1 million as of December 31, 2012. Fortthelve months ended December 31, 2012, we generayedue of
€827.6 million, Adjusted EBITDA of €175.3 milliomd unlevered free cash flow (excluding expansiqgitah
expenditure) of €88.8 million.

Formation

The origins of our company date back to 1957, whepresa Nacional de Celulosa de Pontevedra, Empresa
Nacional de Celulosa de Huelva and Empresa Nacam@lelulosa de Motril were created by thstituto Nacional de
Industria (an industrial holding institute owned and manalggthe Spanish government). In 1968, these corepani
merged, creating Empresa Nacional de Celulosa, S8uk predecessor company. Our predecessor compasiget up at
its inception with an export focus that we continoignaintain today. In 1987, the Motril facility waold, and, in 1999,
we acquired full ownership of Celulosas de Astyria#\.U., the owner of the Navia facility. We undent two partial
privatizations in 1990 and 1995 (which included lpulistings), and were fully privatized in 2001h& configuration of
our pulp production and forestry activities tookg# in 1995, and we started generating renewablggin 1997.

Company Transformation Process

Our company has undergone a significant transfoomand change in strategy over the last five years
Between 2007 and 2009, our management was focusseveral capital intensive growth projects runnimgarallel
(including a brownfield pulp and energy capacitpa&nxsion at Navia and Huelva, Spain and a greerigliol production
project in Uruguay, as well as a pipeline of biosnpmjects), which were managed with internal faiahand
construction resources, with only limited focustba efficiency and profitability of the existing @mtions. With respect
to our energy generation business, our energy ggéoemrevenue represented approximately 10% ofatal revenue in
2007 and we financed our biomass expansion projectsir balance sheet. As a consequence of this fme growth,
we also had high financial leverage. Additionallig operated a forestry ownership business modhblaviésser focus
on wood sourcing from third parties.

From 2010 onwards, our management’s focus ancegirahifted from capacity expansion to cost optatian
and efficiency improvements across our pulp pradadacilities to exploit the business cash flowigrdial and to better
protect our financial performance from cyclicalifys a result, we reduced fixed costs and introduaedrl otal Quality
Management program in 2011, which was designedite dperational efficiencies, balance maintenasagstal
expenditure requirements across our facilitiessgdificantly improve utilization rate and prodwaty levels.

In forestry, we now operate a forestry supply managnt business model, sourcing our supplies of wood
through various local third parties (primarily fet@wners and traders), and acting across the chhia (from standing
timber through to harvesting and transportatiorriher to reduce costs and to ensure the susthipaid security of
our wood supply. Our revenue from energy generdtamincreased, and, for the twelve months endpteBder 30,
2012, it represented 25% of our total revenue, lamahs to improve our cost competitiveness inghép production
business as well as providing greater stability land term visibility to our future cash flow geasion capabilities.
With respect to growth projects, which are limitedndependent biomass energy generation expangipartunities, we
have started outsourcing their execution to EP@®igdess in order to improve our risk profile. We mmtly finance
independent biomass energy generation projects Umiig-term project finance arrangements. We afserate a
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forestry consultancy services business, althougliné with the restructuring of our Ibersilva, SUA subsidiary in 2011,
we intend to exit this business in the near future.

Through cash proceeds from internal cash flow g, selected asset disposals in 2009 (including
divestment of the Uruguayan companies Eufores, €8lulosa y Energia Punta Pereira, S.A., Zonadar&unta
Pereira, S.A. and Zona Franca Bopicua, S.A.) a@d 30 million capital increase, which we implemehiie 2010, we
have also successfully reduced our net debt fronl &million, or 5.3x net debt/Adjusted EBITDA, esDecember 31,
2008 to €227.7 million, or 1.7x net debt/AdjusteBEDA (including 0.6x in relation to our projectiance debt), as of
December 31, 2012. In December 2012, we also ehiete an agreement for the sale of the remainih@&0 hectareas
of forest plantations that we owned in Uruguaynbeviarch 7 the final closing of the transactioreafeceiving
approval from the Uruguayan authorities. We opeaatenservative financial policy, characterizeddw leverage and
adequate liquidity, which is a fundamental elen@rdur strategy to further enhance the resilierfaguo business. The
company’s financial strategy is to maintain, gofagvard, a maximum leverage of 2.5x net debt/MidteyEBITDA,
including project finance debt. We define “Mid-cgdEBITDA” as, at any time, senior management’s giadtth estimate
of the consolidated EBITDA of the company basedwomestimate of average historical peak and trowdg prices
through the economic cycle. Any strategy is forwimaking in nature, and as such is subject to aistt uncertainties.
Please see “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Industrial Footprint

We have a high-quality asset base underpinningioang operating and environmental performanceinigav
invested over €530 million in our asset base s@f#/, excluding our investments in our new indepahthiomass
energy facilities at Huelva and Mérida, Spain amdduay assets.

Our installed pulp production capacity has incrdasg23% since 2007, with a historically stableppul
production profile. In addition, our energy sahese increased consistently year-on-year since 28@ur renewable
energy generation business continues to grow, 84GWh of energy sold in 2007, 1,490 GWh of enexgjg in 2011
and 1,543 GWh of energy sold in 2012, the higheatlithat we have ever sold.

Pulp Production Capacity and Utilization Rate” Energy Sold (GWh)
102% 100% . 86% 93% 93%
78% .....

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
= Capacity Utilization rate (%) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
1) The decline in the 2009 utilization rate folpproduction was driven by stoppages at the Naulp production facility due to capacity

expansion works we undertook, as well as a tempoeatraordinary shutdown of one of our two produtiines at our Huelva pulp
production facility due to low pulp prices.

Source: Company.

Our industrial infrastructure is comprised of thpedp production facilities located in Huelva, Naand
Pontevedra, Spain, where we also own and opereatm smergy facilities which co-generate and gepexaergy by
taking advantage of synergies from the industniatpss. Each of these facilities is also stratdlgit@cated in close
proximity to our forestry assets and to shipmemtgpan order to allow us to operate our businel reduced inventory
levels as well as to allow efficient and timelyidetfies of our pulp products at a competitive costaddition, the
ownership of the independent 50 MW biomass eneagpitly in Huelva, Spain was transferred from ol@Econtractor
to us in the February 7, 2013. This new independimmhass energy facility is located in close prakjyrnto our pulp
production facility in Huelva, Spain. Furthermowee are currently constructing another independemhass energy
facility in Mérida, Spain, which is expected to bew operational by the fourth quarter of 2014.

We comply with internationally recognized standavdshealth and safety and with respect to the enwient
and pollution prevention, and internationally resizgd guidelines on corporate responsibility anstanability. As of
August, 2012, 71% of our forestry assets werefadtunder the PEFC scheme and 27% under the H&®nsc
(excluding Uruguay), both of which are internatitypaecognized certification schemes promoting aumstble forest

48



management. We intend to continue focusing onuk&amability of our production as well as to coynpith strict
environmental standards.

Excluding expansion programs, our maintenance a@iagxpenditure (including investment in pulp fa@!s,
energy and forestry activities to produce woodpfalp) have remained consistently in the €40 millg@m annum range
during the period from 2007 to 2012.

Our Sites and Facilities
Navia

Our Navia facilities are situated on land ownedibywvhich measures approximately half a million squa
meters. The pulp production facility has a capaaftgpproximately 500,000 tonnes of pulp annudllyo electricity
facilities with a total installed nominal power .98 MW are also located on-site: CEASA NAVIA h(alectrical
biomass co-generation facility, with a) and BIOMAE&ASA (an electrical biomass co-generation fagilitith a
nominal installed power of), with a nominal ins¢allpower of 40.33 MW and 36.65 MW respectively.

Pontevedra

Our pulp production facility has a maximum prodantcapacity of 430,000 tonnes of pulp annuallythét
Pontevedra site, we also have two electrical biensasgeneration facilities (95 MW and 26.62 MW pastively) with
a combined total installed nominal power of 34.57.

The Pontevedra facilities are situated on a magitienrestrial public concession awarded to us uader
Ministerial Order issued on June 13, 1958. The ession deed did not specify a fixed term for thecession itself,
although Article 66 of the Coasts Act later estlidid a maximum term of 30 years for maritime térigdgpublic
concessions, which, for any concession granted fwithe entry into force of the Coasts Act, wosidrt as from the
date of the entry into force of the Coasts Act. 8me the Coasts Act entered into force on JulyL288, our concession
is thus scheduled to expire on July 29, 2018. Véesaeking to extend our Pontevedra concession bekhimexpiration
date. A law that would amend the Coasts Act isenity being debated in the Spanish Parliament. Ajather things,
the new law would extend the limits of the conomssiup to 75 years, provided that the activitiedeutaken are
compatible with maritime-terrestrial public use.€Tdraft law also foresees a special extensiondocessions granted
before its entry into force. In the case of theasmsion granted over the site of our Pontevedilities, the approval of
this law would allow for an up to 75-year extensaidrthis concession which would run from the exina date of the
initial concession in 2018. However, there is nargntee that the proposed amendment to the CoastsilApass, or
that we will otherwise be able to extend our Poetiza land concession. Please see “Risk Factors-sRislating to
Our Business—Our Pontevedra facilities are consttlon land subject to an administrative concessiahis expected
to expire in 2018, which may have a material adveffect on our operations.”

Huelva

Our Huelva pulp production facility has a maximuroguction capacity of approximately 410,000 tonnes
annually. We also have three electricity generatamilities situated on this site; CENER | (a natugas co-generation
facility with an installed nominal power of 49.94W), CBIO (electrical biomass co-generation facjlityth a nominal
installed power of 27.50 MW) and CENER Il (a conskgion installation which uses biomass as fueh aihominal
installed power of 40.95 MW), with a combined tatedtalled nominal power of 118.39 MW and total rigyesales in
2012 of 813.3 GWh.

In September 2012, a new 50 MW independent biompssration facility at Huelva, Spain became openati
following the completion of its construction, thgrtuENCE Energia Huelva, S.L.U. This facility wagsifically
designed to produce electricity from energy craps farestry waste, and has a projected annual ptimeuof
approximately 340 GWh. The test phase for thidifgavas completed in December 2012 and its owriprshs been
transferred from our EPC contractor to us in thierfrary 7, 2013. This new independent biomass reblevemergy
generation facility in Huelva is not impacted by toratorium.

Mérida
We are currently constructing, through ENCE EneEjiremadura, S.L.U., a second independent biomass
generation facility at Mérida, Spain, which is egfgel to enter into production by the fourth quaoie2014. This

facility, like our independent biomass generatiacilfty in Huelva which recently entered into pratian, is also
designed to produce electricity from energy craps f@restry wastes, and will have a projected ahpraauction of
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158 GWh. This facility will have a capacity of 20WWI Our independent biomass generation facility &tilfa is not
impacted by the Moratorium.

Other Assets

The headquarters of the Issuer are located in Ma8pain, at Paseo de la Castellana, 35. This gyopas
leased in 2009 for a term of five years, with tlsgibility of extending it by an additional threeays.

Business Activities

We organize our economic activities into threeidgitbut closely interrelated and complementaryiress
areas:

Pulp Activity

Our pulp activities comprise managing the produrctbpulp at our three pulp production facilitiesSpain,
located in Navia, Huelva and Pontevedra, as wehasales of the produced pulp. The combined nalmpiroduction
capacity of our three pulp production facilitiesli84 million tonnes/per annum and, during 2018,adbmbined
utilization level was 93% (including maintenancepgtages). For the twelve months ended Decemb&032, our pulp
production activities generated revenue of €597llom, representing 72% of our total revenue.

We principally sell to European countries whereane able to better leverage our logistical advagagth a
strategy aim to diversify our customer base. Intihedve months ended December 31, 2012, we exp8itéa of our
eucalyptus pulp sales by volume, primarily to thedpean market, the largest global pulp marketaandt importer of
market pulp, where we have a market share of 14&h®ld a significant market share by volume for BHild each of
Germany, Italy, Spain and France, the principalketsrfor our pulp products, which accounted for 21%86, 13% and
9% of our volume, respectively, for the twelve nifenended December 31, 2012. During the same peviod|so
exported our pulp products to other Western Europeaaintries (20%) and to Eastern Europe (8%), dsaseselectively
outside of Europe (12%, primarily to China).

The destination markets of our pulp products dutirggtwelve months ended December 31, 2012 compared
the year ended December 31, 2011, were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, 2011

RowW

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2012
RoW

11% 12% Germany
Germany 219%

23%

East Europe
8%

East Europe
11%

Other Western
Europe
15%

Other Western

Italy Europe
16% 20%

Italy
17%

France

Spain France Spain
10% P P

14% 9% 13%

Our sales are focused on end-market paper segmihtkigh forecasted growth rates. Our biggest eaatket
by volume is the tissue segment (the end proddatdimzh mainly include paper towels for kitchentfr@om and toilet
paper), which represented 45% of our pulp salesohyme for the twelve months ended December 31228&cording
to RISI, the tissue segment benefits from a regiad stable end-customer demand, and is forectstgrow globally
at a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) by voluofig.1% per annum over the period from 2011 to62®dhich
is, according to RISI, the highest forecasted CAdBfidng the various paper segments by global demanigdsuch
period. Of the remaining 53% of our pulp sales blume for the twelve months ended December 31, 228% came
from certain specialty paper and packaging segn{amkiding packaging for beauty products, labeigarette papers,
currency, coasters and décor paper), includingtgganducts and white-top packaging, while appratiety 26% came
from the printing and writing paper (“P&W") segmemnthich, according to RISI, are expected to groabglly at a
CAGR by volume of 2.8% and 0.9%, respectively, dherperiod from 2011 to 2016.

The following charts show the percentage of ougsaly volume generated from each end-market ibnbke
months ended December 31, 2012 compared to theepead December 31, 2011:
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Year Ended Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012
Packaging Packaging
10% 10%

Coated P&W
12%

Coated P&W
14%
Tist

Tisa 45%

48%
Uncoated P&W

12% Uncoated P&W

12%

Specialties Specialties
18% 19%

Customers

In 2012, our top ten customers by pulp volume saicbunted for 53.7%, and our top 50 customers atedu
for 91.4%, of our consolidated revenues from safqmulp.

We have long-term sales relationships with mostuwfpulp customers in the domestic and internationa
markets. Generally, we sign contracts with custesnderring the last quarter of the year for theiuisgments during the
next year, which can account for up to 100% ofyaarly pulp sales. These contracts outline agrakx yolumes and
also provide the basis for any agreed commercsalodints that will be applied to any purchases paréicular customer.
These contracts usually provide for prices to lvéemeed on a monthly basis and linked to a certainchmark such as
the listed market price of the pulp or a foreigelenge rate. Our prices are usually set on a Gwsttance and Freight
(“CIF") basis, i.e., including freight and insurananeaning that if a certain customer wants usremge the logistics for
the actual delivery of the pulp, an additional feeharged to that customer.

Logistics

Most of our pulp deliveries are to customers withurope and we use third parties to transport coalycts in
Europe by sea, truck or rail. We also use thirdigsito ship our products by sea to customersamitsi Europe.

Our pulp production facilities are strategicallgdted near well-invested port terminals to coverEoropean
market. Due to our presence on the ground in Eynepesan offer certain logistical solutions thatrease our
competiveness over Latin American producers, ssdhause of coastal vessels of a size more adaptectomer
demand, enabling a quicker response to their néenithermore, the north-south flow of goods aro8pdin and
Portugal is greater than the reverse, which enalsés operate in a market with a surplus of logatresources
otherwise forced to return to northern Europe uitddiast, enabling us to obtain lower logisticstsos

Our Huelva pulp production facility is located tetometers from the port of Huelva, which enablas facility
to competitively supply the Mediterranean zone. Bontevedra pulp production facility is located tkilmmeters from
the port of Marin where there is a covered termiwaich enables large cargo ships to be loadedhein arrival,
irrespective of weather conditions. There is alsatainer shipping capacity in this port. FinallyetNavia pulp
production facility is 35 kilometers from the poftRibadeo, which to date has acted as the logitise for the dispatch
of products sold by this particular facility.

We also use warehouses in different European ffoots, which we can efficiently distribute produetsour
customers’ installations by land or by a combirmatid trucks and barges.

Our three-pulp production facility layout, in comhbtion with our relative proximity to the majority our
clients, provides us with the manufacturing flekibito tailor our pulp products to the specifiaats of our clients. This
gives us an advantage over our Latin American cditopg, who, given their logistical difficulties imccessing Europe,
tend to ship pulp of a single grade in bulk.

Production Process

We produce short fiber chemical pulp exclusivebnfreucalyptus timber. We use the Kraft processghwvhi
consists of treating the wood chips with a mixtofsodium hydroxide and sodium sulfide to breaklibads linking the
lignin to the cellulose, in our pulp productionifaies. Our pulp production facilities in Huelvaa@ Navia, Spain
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produce pulp by using the elemental chlorine ff&CE") process, a technique that uses chlorineidminstead of
elemental chlorine gas during the bleaching prqgaewventing the formation of dioxins and othercaawgens. Our pulp
production facility in Pontevedra, Spain, on thieesthand, produces pulp by using the totally chiofree (“TCF”)
process, a technique that bleaches pulp throughgh®f an oxygen bleaching process (typicallygibiydrogen
peroxide) instead of the chlorine dioxide thatsediin the ECF process. Both the ECF and TCF psesasere
developed during the 1990s to replace a chlorisebgaed process, which was more harmful to the@mwvient.

The installed capacity, production and percentdijeation as of and for the twelve months ended
September 30, 2012 for each of our facilities ataited below:

Installed capacity Production Percentage utilization

Type of Bleaching Process Used/Facility (tonnesl/year) (tonnes) (twelve-month average)
HUBIVE ... 410,000 357,008 87%

NAVIA ..ttt 500,000 485,906 97%

TOtal ECF ..o 910,000 842,914 93%
Pontevedra ... 430,000 406,722 95%

TOtal TCF oo 430,000 406,722 95%

TOtAl .o 1,340,000 1,249,636 93%

0] The decline in the utilization rate at our Heeebulp production facility during 2012 was drivieyya mechanical failure at this facility in

May 2012, which led to a shutdown of pulp productior 16 days.

In addition to eucalyptus timber, received in thef of logs (mainly with bark) or in the form ofippings
(typically timber imported from South America), thencipal raw materials used in the pulp produtiiwocess are as
follows:

* Non-biomass fuelsThese fuels consist primarily of fuel oil. Small @umts of propane and petroleum coke
are also used.

» Chemicals.These primarily consist of oxygen produced on &ité cryogenic oxygen, oxygenated water,
caustic soda, sulphuric acid, sodium chlorate, EDiirde and sulphur dioxide. In addition, small gtites
of additives such as talc, antifoaming and dispersigents are also used.

The timber received at the facility is debarked ehigpped prior to being subjected to a controlledsing
process, which uses an alkali additive producesiten The steaming dissolves the lignin (a compbtiet holds
together the cellulose fibers) present in the walods causing the cellulose fibers to separate. résating mixture is
washed with water in a virtually closed circuitpaeating the dissolved lignin from the suspendeidiose fibers and
leaving a residual cellulose paste. The cellulassteis then subjected to a bleaching process forineing dried, cut
and packaged in order to facilitate its transpantato its point of use as raw material in the patébn of paper,
cardboard, card, packaging and related materials.

The separated lignin together with the chemicatipots used in the steaming of the wood are coraieatin a
multiple-effect evaporation train in order to féteite combustion. We harness the energy generai@ugdhe
combustion process, in the form of steam, in ougeweration facilities. Additionally, we use thelbaf the wood as
fuel for our biomass generation facilities. Finallye processes we use allow us to regeneratédkifle @mponent
necessary for the steaming of the wood from outevsiseams with minimum contributions to the citd¢aireplace
losses.

Each pulp production facility undergoes, on an ahbasis, an approximately 15-day-long maintenance
shutdown.

Regulation

We continuously monitor environmental parametersagh of our pulp production facilities in termslogir
liquid and atmospheric effluents (for example, weestd noise), verifying and taking the necessayssto ensure that
they are within the limits required in each cadee monitoring procedures and operating guidelimesat forth in our
pulp production facility management systems. Furtfuge, since December 2008, all of our pulp faetithave been
required to receive a corresponding Integrated f&nmental Authorization, certifying that the fagilcomplies with
certain environmental and anti-pollution regulason

We are also subject to Law 13/2010, which modifiae’ 1/2005 governing the scheme for greenhouse gas
emissions trading and Royal Decree 1722/2012, apgron December 28, which develops certain aspéctie
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allocation of allowances (the “Spanish GreenhousguRation”) implementing Directive 2009/29/EU witlgard to
greenhouse gas emission rights for carbon dioxideer the Spanish Greenhouse Regulations we angeddo obtain
certain greenhouse gas emission authorizationswv&ve allocated 657,970 tonnes of emission rightsialty for the
2008 to 2012 period. However, from January 201Battuary 2020, our regulatory allocation of £ights will be
reduced to 128,544 tonnes of £x@hts annually, which creates a deficit for opeational requirements. However, we
have secured, and we expect to secure in the fliguficient emissions rights to conduct our atit\g, including

through the purchase of such rights. In Decemb#p 2@e acquired 506,202 tonnes of greenhouse gasiemrights

for CO, emissions at a price of €24.7 per right in setdatof a forward agreement entered into in Jund 220
purposes of meeting our emissions rights consumpéquirements arising from our production actstin 2012 and
going forward. We have entered into EUA daily faeteontracts to purchase 601,000 tonnes of I@dts, which are
settled on a daily basis, and which we may rollrdgtally or partially to cover our CQOights needs in the future. These
contracts have their final settlement date on Déear81, 2013. Going forward, we will continue tdearinto forward
contracts to acquire additional géghts, and management believes we have alreattyasied sufficient rights to meet
our operational needs for 2013 through 2016.

Energy Activity
Energy Generation

With respect to our energy generation activities,are primarily a biomass renewable energy genenate
generate renewable energy in two ways: (i) co-gdimar of electricity and steam (that are used engthlp production
processes) integrated with our existing pulp prtéidadacilities, given the nature of the pulp protan process, mainly
fuelled through the use of the black liquor produgethe extraction of cellulose; and (i) eledtiayeneration
independent from our pulp production, using bionfess energy crops and forestry residues (primardgsisting of
wood barks and other wood-based residues relatedri@sting activities). In addition, we co-generaliectricity and
steam using natural gas. All electricity producgdib is sold to the national electricity grid ing8p All of our facilities
use an “all-all” sale and purchase system, sudhathanergy generated at our plants is sold agalated
inflation-adjusted preferential rate and all elieity required by the facilities to cover productioeeds is subsequently
repurchased at a market rate (plus an accessTth#)regulated inflation-adjusted preferential iatgoverned by Royal
Decree 661/2007 and Royal Decree 2/2013, whichagtiae the sale of the total produced electricity.

We operate seven co-generation and biomass geneeatsets at each of our three sites in Spainelded
Navia, Pontevedra and Huelva. Our efforts are fedus reducing steam consumption in order to madrtiie amount
of electricity that will be sold to the grid. In@ition, the Navia and Huelva complexes have condgrisirbines to
maximize the quantity of energy generated from laissn while Huelva also has a natural gas co-geoeiattallation
to support the pulp production process.

Our energy sales by location and installed capaiiting 2012, by location, were as follows:

Twelve months ended Twelve months ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2012
(total sales in GWh) (installed capacity in MW)
[ (01 Y- PO UP S 813.3 118.4 MW
PONEVEAIA ... 218.6 34.6 MW
NAVIA . ..ot e et e e e e eeanas 510.9 77.0 MW
TOAL vttt 1,542.8 230.0 MW

Twelve months ended
December 31, 2012

(total sales in GWh)

Generation With BIOMASS.............oiiiiieieeeeee ettt 504.0
Co-generation With DIOMEBS..............coiirieeeecee ettt s eae s 663.0
CO-gENEration WIth G&5..........o.oeeeee oottt 375.8
B 1] = | U 1,542.8
Q) “Generation with biomass” is defined as eleityigenerated through the use of condensing tagivhich are powered by steam produced

from the combustion of biomass.

2) “Co-generation with biomass” is defined as #leity generated through the use of back pressut®nes powered by steam produced from
the combustion of biomass.
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3) “Co-generation with gas” is defined as eledtyigenerated through the use of back pressur@esipowered by natural gas.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2012emergy generation activities produced revenue of
€208.4 million, representing 25% of our total rewen

On the basis of our position and experience irfahestry sector in the Iberian Peninsula and opeeise in
the development of short-rotation energy cropshase developed a strategy for further expansianiimtependent
biomass plants in order to grow organically ancettuce earnings volatility. These plants are fieginender long-term
project finance arrangements and built through BE Eontract in order to eliminate the constructisk. The first
power plant is a 50 MW biomass energy facility elés our existing facilities in Huelva, which beauoperational in
September 2012. This facility has been specificddlgigned to produce electricity from energy crapd forestry waste,
and has a projected annual production of approxtp@40 GWh, which, when fully operational, will keit the largest
biomass energy facility supplying energy to thergaelectricity grid. We took ownership of thicifgdy from our EPC
in the February 7, 2013, following the successtuhpletion of a test phase in December 2012. Wealarein the
process of constructing a further 20 MW biomassgnéacility in Mérida, Spain, which we expect te bperational by
the fourth quarter of 2014. The renewable energyities in Huelva and Mérida are not or will nat hffected by the
Moratorium imposed by the Spanish government on me@@wable energy facilities in Spain. Please Resgylilation.”

Regulation

All of our energy generation facilities are incladdender Royal Decree 661/2007, which enables ssltdhe
electricity we generate to the Spanish electrigiiyg at either a Regulated Tariff or a Market Tafifor further
information on this regulation, please see “Reguiat We are able to choose between these two epfior every
turbine for a period not less than twelve monthdeaision that is based on our analysis of markee prospects.
(Under the terms of the decree, this remuneratieah@anism will remain in place for 15 years and icuas at a lower
fixed tariff for the life of the installation aftéhe initial 15-year period after installation tby eliminating possible
risks deriving from the income received per MWhd3oFacilities falling under Royal Decree 661/20@Xe priority
access to the distribution grid, guaranteeing #be sf all of the energy that we produce. Pleasé'Resk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business—Regulatory changes mag havadverse effect on our electricity generatperations.” For
all of our assets except CENER | and CENER || ftked tariffs are set to expire in 2024. For CENE&hd CENER I,
the applicable tariff is set to expire in 2015.¢kf2015, both CENER | and CENER I will continuebtenefit from a
fixed preferential tariff, although at a lower rate

Conversely, we acquire the electricity necessasufiply our production processes at the pool pigs an
access toll (payable by persons accessing the @iden the positive difference between the pricetdch we sell
electricity and the price at which we buy electyicall of our facilities use an “all-all” sale apdirchase system,
meaning that all electricity generated at the fided is sold to the grid and all electricity rexpd by the facilities to
cover production process needs is purchased. DAf&g, we produced more than twice the electritign we
consumed.

All facilities with an installed capacity exceedih§ MW (and groupings of power generation planteamnting
to 10 MW or more) must be built or be connected generation control centereptro de control de generacigmwhich
must liaise with the system operator, sending mftion in real time from the facilities and makisigre that the system
operator’s instructions are executed to ensurabiitiy of the electricity system at all times. \WWave our own
generation control center which is responsiblettieroperation as well as the negotiation of ena@rdkie electricity
market. Our generation control center participatebe daily power market, making daily and intaydids for the
purchase and sale of electrical energy to the nageratorOperador del Mercado Ibérico de la Electricidad Bol
Espafiol, S.A(“OMEL"), responsible for managing the bid systeand also interfaces with the system operator Red
Eléctrica de Espafia, S.A.U. (“REE”"), the CNE, thmistry of Industry, Energy and Tourism and othefustry public
authorities. Please see “Regulation.”

Biomass generation process

Biomass covers a large group of materials of défféiorigins and with very different characteristitem the
waste from forest exploitations and agriculturalps to waste from garden pruning, waste from abjtical forestry
industries, crops for energy purposes, liquid fasving from agricultural products, and wastenimal or human
origin, among others.

The biomass which we currently use as raw matfnialenewable energy generation originates from the
following principal sources:

e Lignin. This is biomass generated from a delignificatiomcpss where wood fibers are separated through a
cooking process, which is a part of the pulp préidacprocess. The resulting black liquor—essentjall
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lignin mixed with the chemical products used tolctite wood—is used as fuel in recovery boilers
generating steam for electricity generation. Adudilly, after combustion, the cooking chemicals are
recovered in the lime kiln for re-use during theqarction process, thereby contributing to an elation of
waste generation for the environment and increaffeziency in the pulp production process.

» Forest wastes (solid biomassphis is biomass generated during the managemertiawesting of the
plantations (such as branches and stumps) as sviit@ugh the debarking of the timber, before cinigp
and sending the wood to the digestor for the capkimcess. This biomass is burned in a biomasetioil
generate steam for electricity production, thusdasing the efficiency of the process.

» Energy crops (solid biomassTrops (eucalyptus and poplar) specifically cultdhto be used as fuel in
order to generate electricity.

We have experience and know-how in managementedfittmass supply chain and, with access to our own
forest resources and through arrangements witlsuppliers, we believe we have guaranteed suffib@rhass
resources for our biomass generation assets iméatum and long terms. In addition, since we owmanage more of
our biomass resources, we can harvest our forestdsis at a more efficient cost.

Our investment in R&D&I, particularly in energy @, has also reduced the acquisition cost of aur ra
materials compared with the cost of purchasing fsuppliers. Improvements in productivity of the gsdave allowed
us to reduce our dependence on suppliers and v s greater control over our supply chain. ABecember 31,
2012, we managed 18,336 hectares planted withdighenergy crops, out of which we owned 8,847 hesta
Moreover, additional land for crops continues todime available on long-term leasing agreementsice ferms lower
than those in previous years as existing agricallttnops cease to be economically viable (as dtreklow yields
combined with the gradual elimination of aid demtyifrom the European Union’s common agriculturdiqyd.

Of the 8,847 hectares owned by us, 7,679 hectprasdrily non-irrigated land) are ring-fenced foetsupply
of the 50 MW independent biomass energy facilitiirelva, and are equivalent to 45% of our estimatatlal
requirements for biomass of that installation. Témaining volume relates to the initial activitfes development of
biomass crops for our remaining projects. For ié/®V Huelva independent biomass energy facility, sitategy is for
around 60% of biomass supply to come from energgs;rwhile the remaining supply will come from thjparty
suppliers of forest waste under long-term contraisase see “—Project Financings—Project Finaocthe Huelva
Facility.”

For our remaining development in Mérida, Spaiis #xpected that around 50% of the supply of bicamweas
come from energy crops, but mainly implementedrigéted land. The remaining supply will be covetiebugh waste,
principally forest waste. Productivity of irrigatéghd is much higher than that of unirrigated lavidch, combined with
the fact that we expect to use proportionally feamergy crops in new developments, means that Weedd fewer
hectares planted with energy crops for new devetopisnas compared to the Huelva independent bioemesgy
facility.

Development of Biomass Energy Facilities

The process of constructing a new biomass enemnifjtyan Spain usually requires a number of yed#isst, the
proposed biomass energy facility must receive amimidtrative authorization, including planning péssion by the
town council in the area where the facility will beilt, and an integrated environmental permit fritven relevant
regional administration. The facility must alsoahta water concession from the relevant water aidination, together
with a connection to the electricity grid from REEe Spanish grid manager.

After these permits are granted, the proposeditfatilen must be registered in the pre-allocatiegistry of the
state Ministry of Industry, guaranteeing that tleevpr plant will sell the electricity at the reguddtpreferential rate.
Before or at approximately the same time as theappoeation registration, the project finance doemtation, the EPC
contract(s) and the operation and maintenance adritr relation to the facility are negotiated wille lenders, the
construction company or companies and the openaspgctively. Once all such agreements have begotiated and
signed, the developers of the facility must thenstauct it so that it may be commissioned, registen a definitive
basis with the registry of the state Ministry oflistry under the Special Reginkegistro de Instalaciones de
Produccién en Régimen Espegi@RIPRE”) and start selling energy. The facilityust start selling energy within a
period of 36 months as from the date of registraiiothe pre-allocation registry. After the constian phase is
completed and the facility is tested (which ocafter the start of operations), the completed ityds delivered to its
owner.
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Our presence in all stages of the biomass supglinand our experience in developing energy crog#jding
optimizing the productivity of the different type§crop used and their calorific power, togethethvaiur knowledge of
the forest industry in Spain, where we believe veethe most significant buyer of wood, providesvith an advantage
to benefit from the regulatory support given torbass as a renewable source of energy. Howevernygetae
Moratorium recently imposed by the Spanish govemtrpersuant to Royal Decree 661/2007 preventsdurinewable
generation capacity from being registered, furtterelopment of independent biomass energy faail{tiside from the
independent biomass renewable energy generatidityféicat we have recently completed in HuelvaaBpand the
independent biomass renewable energy generatidityfélcat we are constructing in Mérida, Spainthbof which were
not affected by the Moratorium) has been temporgtit on hold. Please see “Risk Factors—Risks Rejdab Our
Business—Regulatory changes may have an advees# eff our electricity generating operations.”

Forestry Activity

We have over 55 years of experience in the fordmisiness. Our forestry activity focuses on thrisératt
activities: (i) management of eucalyptus plantaisaets (which are comprised primarily of the globeucalyptus
variety) as well as energy crop plantations, whitdhmainly comprised of eucalyptus or poplar, ddpenon the
location of the land; (ii) facilitating the sourgnpurchase and supply of eucalyptus timber (batimfour own forestry
assets and the purchase and supply from thirdegagdurced both locally and, to a significantsér extent,
internationally) to our facilities by managing thervesting and/or transport of such timber to ttias#ities; and (iii) to
a lesser extent, selling timber to third partiesr @rest management activity also provides foyesird environmental
consultancy services.

Wood represents the largest portion of the copraduction of pulp. We source wood in several ways,
including direct purchases from landowners throlaghe and small suppliers and through imports,femwh our own
forestry assets. By increasing the proportion aftotal wood supply sourced locally, we expectaduce our reliance
on wood imports in the coming years, since, inrdent past, wood imports have proven to be magperesive than
locally sourced wood. We also sell timber and paleviorestry services to third parties on a limiedle, an activity
which generated revenue of € 22.3 million for theltte months ended December 31, 2012, represenityg3% of our
total revenue.

Forestry Management Activities

As of December 31, 2012, we managed approximafe§28 hectares of forest plantations (excluding
Uruguay), of which we owned approximately 59%, vitth remainder being managed in collaboration thittd parties.
Under typical management arrangements, the lantihces to be owned by a third party, while we maniigp
preparation, planting and maintenance of the larig. @ hese arrangements typically have a duratfdwo to three
rotation cycles, or approximately 30 years.

Where we manage forests on behalf of third partiespwner will retain the ownership of the landile/kve are
typically responsible for land preparation, plagtand maintenance. At the time of felling, the omeeeives an agreed
percentage of the timber extracted from the aneapn@mount corresponding to this percentage valtietarket price.
These arrangements benefit us by ensuring theisatiity of our future supply of timber withoutgairing us to invest
in the underlying property. Although the saplings aormally supplied by us, in some circumstanttespwner will
take responsibility for certain planting and/or ntanance tasks in exchange for an additional pr@amivhich is paid to
the owner at the time of felling. The duration teé$e arrangements is typically for two to threatioh cycles, or
approximately 30 years, which allows the ownereaaddit from our experience and expertise in foyestanagement
and logistics.

The principal activities of the forestry activityeaas follows:

* Nursing and Planting We reforest our assets in parallel with the haimgsif the prior crop. Our
reforestation program seeks to achieve greatemgtivity of future assets by applying forestry teology
(primarily consisting of planting techniques angattments, land preparation, fertilization and pestrol)
and advanced cloning (primarily consisting of thkestion of trees, their cloning in nurseries amal t
raising of the clones in greenhouses). We havenhmeses located in Pontevedra, Huelva and Navia,
Spain. We planted 1,831 hectares (excluding Urugdasing 2012.

* Maintenance.We carried out conservation and forestry work 0j828 hectares (excluding Uruguay)
during 2012.
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e Harvesting. The crop cycle for pulp wood is 10 to 14 years #redcrop cycle for wood for energy
generation from biomass is 3 to 5 years. We haedes82 thousand hiexcluding Uruguay) from our
owned plantations during 2012.

We apply sustainability criteria in managing ourefstry assets with the goal of managing and usimg o
plantations while maintaining their biodiversitypductivity and regeneration capacity and viabjlag well as
enhancing their ecological, social and economictions.

As of December 31, 2012, our forestry assets umdgragement in Spain and Portugal (excluding forestr
assets to be used solely for biomass generatiorg agefollows:

Hectares under Of which
Geographical area management hectares owned % in ownership
NOrthwest SPain.........ccccvvvvrvveeees e 13,963 2,928 21%
Southwest Spain.........ccccvvverirereeeee s o 51,093 37,534 73%
Portugal........coooe e 4,532 2,608 58%
JL 0= | N 69,588 42,972 62%

In addition, as of December 31, 2012, we manage86thectares, of which we owned 8,847 hectares, of
energy crop plantations to be used as fuel foboamass generation facilities.

During 2012, our total investments in forests ia therian Peninsula amounted to €29.3 million. Gii%ew
investments were allocated to the cultivation afrgy crops, primarily through the leasing of lamdvehich to conduct
such activities as well as the management of thesets.

Our forestry assets in Uruguay were classifiedunfmancial statements for the year ended Dece@bep011
as held for sale. We entered into an agreemenvéstthese assets on December 14, 2012 for acimtaideration of
approximately $77.3 million (€59.1 million) at thpplicable €/$ exchange rate on December 14, 20b2ing was
done by March 7, 2013 after the receipt of centagulatory approvals and the making of requiredtanst notifications
to the Uruguayan authorities, as well as otherasnaty conditions (including a customary materialeade change
clause).

For the supply of biomass, given the shorter crapes (3 to 5 years) of energy crops compared o wood
(9 to 12 years) and the availability of highly puative irrigated land for rent due to the reductidragriculture
subsidies, we directly manage our biomass foressgts and intend to continue to develop energysdmensure self-
sufficiency for our energy generation facilities.

We also engage in research, development and innaydR&D&I") activities related to our forestry éwities
as well as activities focusing on health and sad¢tyork and environmental, quality and forestrihty sustainability
management systems (all of which are fully integgtah the day-to-day management of our forestriyities).

As of December 31, 2012, the net book value ofkthading timber in our owned forest plantationlieding
Uruguay) was €171.0 million.

Timber Supply Activities

Our forestry activity also involves the sourcinglaupply of timber to our pulp production facilgiand
biomass generation facilities. We source our tinflian our own forestry assets as well as througbatliacquisitions
from forest owners, imports (historically from Sbumerica, particularly Uruguay, and Africa) andteé third-party
suppliers. In the twelve months ended Decembe2@12, we sourced our timber as follows as compgrdide twelve
months ended December 31, 2011:
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Forestry Supply in Year Ended
December 31, 2011

Imported
21%

Big suppliers
28%

Owned wood
5%

Acquisitions
from land

. owners
Small suppliers 20%

26%

)

Forestry Supply in Twelve Méo;wths Ended December 31,
2012

Big suppliers

Imported
16%

11%

Owned wood
4%

Acquisitions
from land
owners
30%

Small suppliers
39%

We define “small suppliers” as those supplyiegs than 3,000%of timber per month and “large suppliers” as thaisplying more than

3,000n7 of timber per month.

Source: Company.

from other areas to maintain current productiorlev

The majority of the eucalyptus timber consumedpaifs and Portugal is located in the northern ardniic
zone, where there is a well-developed market dileedavorable conditions for the development oé$&b plantations,
and where current wood growth and availabilitynigkcess of our timber requirements. However, énctchment area
in which the Huelva facility is located, the euqalys timber market is much smaller, resulting te@endence on timber

e Own wood.Although we have been providing for part of ourkigm supply requirements from timber from
our own land assets since 1977, our current siyasetp reduce the level of timber self-supply nder to
reduce the capital investment involved in owning timderlying forestry assets and in order to ireseaaur
overall liquidity. Please see “Summary—Our Strate@yptimize Forestry Supply Management with a

Focus on Reducing Fixed Assets.”

» Direct acquisitions from forest ownergVe purchase wood directly from forest owners andtrifee costs
associated with the harvesting and logistics afdparting this timber to the mill gates. Given the
traditionally high fragmentation of land ownerslvipghe Iberian Peninsula, our strategy is to insecthe
amount of timber sourced directly from forest ovmniirough the development of new purchasing and
harvesting teams in order to achieve better knogdeaf wood availability, reduce harvesting and $tigs
costs, and help forest owners increase the prodlyctif their plantations through the sharing of ou
experience and expertise, improved eucalyptus sland best forestry practices (including the
implementation of advanced silvaculture techniquiesihe longer term, we believe that this strategy
enable us to improve the quality of the wood usedur production processes and the competitivesiess

our production process.

* Imports. We define “imports” as timber sourced from outs8jmin and Portugal. In the case of timber
originating from Uruguay and other countries, véssermally transport both our own timber and that
acquired from third parties. Our current strategtoireduce the level of imports of timber, and
correspondingly increase our sourcing of less-estvenwood from smaller local suppliers, given that
imports have proven to be more expensive and oiefft than other sources of timber available to us.

* Small and large suppliersWe purchase already-harvested timber from supgdbeeged within Spain and
Portugal, which is normally delivered to us at tagilities. The purchase price for such timber ¢ty
reflects the costs associated with felling the ditagntimber through to its transport to our fa@kt Our
current strategy is to increase the amount of tmsberced from small suppliers versus large supplie
order to enable us to diversify our supplier bakdensimultaneously reducing costs. We are noantlon
any particular supplier and we believe we have st significant quantities of timber for the fegeable

future.

Our forestry activity is also responsible for travesting of timber and the logistics of deliverthis timber to
our facilities in cases in which these servicesnategprovided by the seller of the wood. We araigiieg on the
mechanization of the harvesting process in ordgeteerate cost savings, and, in cases in whictirttieer must be
manually harvested, outsourcing the harvestingth@rogistics side, we are currently focused onitoong the
transportation of wood by subcontractors in ordedécrease inefficiencies. In addition, we areemntly implementing a
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new logistics scheme to supply wood to the Huehalify from northwestern Spanish woodlands, thgreliminating
the need to import wood from overseas and decrgasinexposure to volatile international marketd earrency risks.

Ancillary Activities

In addition to our three primary activities, wealsave several ancillary activities, including ®&D&I
activity, health and safety at work and environraémquality and forestry activity sustainability negement systems
(all of which are fully integrated in the day toydmanagement of our activities) and corporate stuivities,
including financial, capital and human resourcegal and corporate services activities.

Our R&D&lI activity covers the whole spectrum of activities, from the cultivation of raw materiglgough
to the production process. Our R&D&I activity foessits efforts on three basic objectives:

e in pulp production, producing ecological papestpa of improved quality, at competitive costs tigio the
improvement of pulp manufacturing processes;

* in energy generation, optimizing renewable engnmgucts and increasing the productivity of crops
devoted to renewable energy production, measur&dahper hectare per year, through two principal
programs based on the production of short rotatioody crops and another for use of waste biomasks; a

» in forest management, increasing forestry praditgtmeasured in tonnes of final cellulose pertaee
planted per year.

In addition to the R&D&I activities we conduct imoown centers, we maintain ongoing collaboratiwith
several public and private universities and redeaenters, both in Spain and internationally, idioig through the use
of research agreements.

Our Strategy

Our overall strategy is to further develop our ctengentary, integrated business model in terms sifi ca
generation, profitability and return on investmaéffe intend to achieve this strategy through thdinaous
improvement of the operational performance of oustang pulp production facilities by focusing oast reduction and
efficiency, stability of production, delivering semor customer satisfaction and maintaining effitifrestry supply
management, and by focusing on growth throughelextve expansion of our renewable energy gemerdtiisiness. In
addition, we intend to continue to maintain ourd®on maximizing cash flow generation through aaletd capital
expenditures and a conservative financial policy.

Maintain Low-Cost, Efficient Pulp Production and fcus on Cash Generation

We believe that we are among the lowest-cost prddyxers in Europe, largely as a result of ourgrated
business model and our significant past investmientsir production facilities, resulting in wellvasted, cost-efficient
production facilities with high utilization ratead expected low maintenance capital expenditure.cOst leadership is
also underpinned by the strategic location of dodpction facilities. We seek to further optimizgr @roduction process
and improve the cost efficiency at all of our faigk. Our strategy is to do so by leveraging otegrated business
model and our energy generation and forestry diegts/ithereby minimizing further investments anctéasing our
competitiveness, profitability and cash generatitie. strive to continuously increase the produgtieit our pulp
business (as measured by tonnes produced per ezsplagd at the same time maintain the competigviopmance of
our production facilities against internal and emx& industry benchmarks relating to key operatiamdicators and raw
material consumption.

Our efficient facilities and production processksvaus to continue to operate during periods @f fgulp
prices. We have continuously maintained a focusast reduction across all our business activibggmproving the
cost base and production efficiency of our pulpdpieiion facilities, increasing the energy contribntfrom our
renewable energy generation activities, shiftirnfra forestry ownership to a forestry managemesiness model,
divesting non-core assets, increasing and stafjliproduction and reducing overhead costs. Asidtresthese
initiatives, since 2007, our Other Cash Costs (@agh Costs excluding Wood Costs) declined by 21€d41 per tonne
in 2012.
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Evolution of Other Cash Costs (Cash Costs Excludingvood Costs)
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Source: Company.

Since 2001, we have not needed to shut down polugtion as a result of economic factors exce20i@9
when, as the result of extraordinarily low pulpces, we temporarily closed one of our two produrctines at our pulp
production facility in Huelva, Spain.

Increase the Geographical Diversification of Revessiwhile Focusing on Key Growth Segments of the Eajdarket

While we exported 87% of our eucalyptus pulp shliesolume primarily to Western European marketstffier
twelve months ended December 31, 2012, since 2@11iawe focused on further diversifying our revertuemcreasing
our exposure to high-growth markets in Eastern peirparticularly Poland and Slovenia, and selelstiselling to non-
European markets, particularly China, to take athgaof the more favorable supply/demand dynamitkase
markets. In parallel, we have reduced our exposutiee Spanish market from 19% of sold volumesih®to 13%
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2012.

Our hardwood eucalyptus pulp is highly suited ®tiksue segment, which accounted for 45% of olr gales
by volume in 2012. We will continue to focus orstie, as this segment is less commoditized, bangfitiom a resilient
and stable end-customer demand, according to Rif8ljs forecasted to grow globally at a CAGR byuwat of 4.1%
per annum over the period from 2011 to 2016

Selective Further Expansion of Our Renewable Ener@gneration Business

We expect biomass energy generation to continbe @ key focus for us. We aim to leverage our eskéen
experience in building and operating biomass-baseédwable energy co-generation and independentajere
facilities to optimize efficiency at our existingdilities as well as to grow selectively in therhass renewable energy
sector by developing profitable opportunities thdfill our requirements both domestically and imtationally. In order
to guarantee biomass supply in terms of volumescasts, and structure project finance schemesaerloash
contribution and improve returns, we intend to depeshort-rotation energy crop plantations to se&0% to 60% of
our total fuel supply. Until the current moratoriumn the development of renewable energy in Spdifias, we do not
intend to undertake any new renewable energy imerss in Spain other than the construction alrestierway on our
20 MW independent biomass energy facility in MériSpain, which is expected to become operationahéyourth
quarter of 2014 and which qualifies for a reguldtdthtion-adjusted preferential rate. In the mé&aet we intend to
explore and pursue opportunities in other jurisditt that offer favorable regulatory regimes foctsinvestments and
where we can apply our expertise, with an initiaduUfs on European countries. We intend to contiodimance any
potential opportunities on a project finance basid transfer the execution risk to EPC providand,\&e plan to address
international opportunities by entering into parsiéps in order to reduce equity contribution aridimize risks.

Renewable energy generation is fundamental totoategy going forward, as a source of recurringlsta
income, and is underpinned by the European Unigo& to have renewable energy account for 20%eEtlropean
Union’s gross total energy consumption by 2020.réfoee, we intend to gradually further expand aatprint in
renewable energy generation while maintaining aseorative financial policy with a view to diversifig our revenue
towards a regulated business and to improving dise @mpetitive position of our pulp productionilities, as well as
to provide greater stability and long-term visityilto our future cash flow generation.

Optimize Forestry Supply Management with a Focus Beducing Fixed Assets
Our Wood Costs are the largest component of ourlse and represented in 2012, more than 50%rof ou
Cash Costs . We intend to continue to focus oreemsing direct purchases of standing timber frorddamers so as to

reduce costs derived across the entire wood vélaim @and increase our visibility on the availagilif wood for our
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facilities and stimulate supply. Leveraging upomn 85 years of experience in the forestry businessaim to further
increase our collaboration with plantation ownéretigh long term agreements, thereby ensuringuaiaaility of
wood from local supplies and sharing our know-hawfarestry management and logistics directly whtl dwners for
their benefit. We also intend to continue to foonsncreased purchases from small suppliers inrdodiecrease our
purchasing power and diversify our wood supply sesr As a result of these measures, the propastionported wood
(up to 50% more expensive than domestic due tep@mation costs) within our total wood supply dased to 11% of
our total wood supply during 2012, compared to X8#%ur total wood supply during 2007.

Our increasing ability to source wood at competitprices from local wood suppliers and landownersthe
low contribution of our owned plantations in theply mix (wood from our plantations accounted fatyo3% of our
total wood supply during the twelve months endept&aber 30, 2012) has led us to look for opporiesito divest our
forestry asset base. We entered into an agreemelntest 27,780 hectares in Uruguay in DecembeR 201 will
continue to look for opportunities to reduce ouekiry asset base in Spain and Portugal.

For the supply of biomass, given the shorter crapes (3 to 5 years) of energy crops as comparediim
wood (9 to 12 years) and the availability of highlypductive irrigated land for rent due to the r&téhn of agriculture
subsidies, we directly manage our biomass forestsgts and intend to continue to develop energysdmensure self-
sufficiency for our energy generation facilities.

Continue to Focus on Strong Cash Flow GenerationdaRollow a Conservative Financial Policy

Our overall strategy across our three main busiaesgities, underpins our focus on continued giriree cash
flow generation, while maintaining a conservativehcial policy. We seek to further optimize cab#&gpenditures and
working capital so as to maintain our leading castiversion capabilities among our European pearsn@nagement
has publicly communicated that the company'’s fi@mmolicy strategy, going forward, is to maint@maximum
leverage of 2.5x net debt/Mid-cycle EBITDA, includiproject finance debt. We define “Mid-cycle EBIADas, at any
time, senior management’s good faith estimate @ttimsolidated EBITDA of the company based on &imate of
average historical peak and trough pulp pricesutinahe economic cycle.

Over the past five years, through cash proceeds iinternal cash flow generation, selected Urugisset
disposals in 2009 and a €130 million capital inseeenplemented in 2010, we have successfully ratlooe net debt
from €471.8 million (or 5.3x net debt/Adjusted EBIA) as of December 31, 2008 to €297.7 million aPetember 31,
2012 (or 1.7x net debt/Adjusted EBITDA, including® in relation to our project finance debt).

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 arithé year ended December 31, 2011, we generated
unlevered free cash flow (excluding expansion ehpitpenditure) of €88.8 million and € 98.4 milljarspectively.

Other Business Considerations
Availability of Raw Materials

The principal raw materials used to manufacturepvaducts are wood, energy, water and chemicals. We
believe we have access to adequate sources avhmaterials necessary to ensure that there istaguption to our
required supply for the foreseeable future. Thegwriof certain raw materials are subject to comtyqutice
fluctuations. Due to competitive pressures, thegwriof our products are not always correlated initheases and
decreases in the cost of raw materials.

Competitors

We sell the majority of the pulp we produce to Eheopean market, due to a shortage of fiber in pgyravhich
only produces two-thirds of the market pulp thatibsumes. This shortage is expected to last fimmaber of years.
Therefore, we face competition from other BHKP progls selling to the European market, particulAttysi and
Portucel in Portugal and Fibria, Suzano, Eldoraatb @enibra in Latin America.

While historically Latin American producers haveshahe low variable cost producers in the industry,
inflationary pressures and currency appreciatioreldosed the gap between Latin American produmedsiberian
producers. Although high capital expenditure regmients and increasing costs challenge the develtprhaeew pulp
production capacity, more pulp production facibtere expected to be built in Latin America in ¢bening years,
thereby increasing the availability of pulp soldle European market.

Competition in the pulp industry is primarily basau price. Nonetheless, our proximity to Europel@amts is
an advantage to us because we are able to offettex Bervice with lower logistical costs.
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In our electricity generating business, we do mohgete with other electricity producers, as theanir
regulatory framework guarantees that all of theeveable energy that we produce will be sold to tharish electricity
system.

Seasonality

The demand for our pulp is not subject to seasynialiany material way. In addition, since all bételectricity
that we generate is sold to the Spanish natiomd/ gur electricity sales also do not experienaseaality.

Intellectual Property

We seek to protect our intellectual property rightSpain, Portugal and other markets. We also wattbus
patents relating to our forestry operations, ceffalproduction operations and our energy generaperations. In
addition, we have non registered intellectual propeghts, including trade secrets, proprietaghtgology, know how
and processes, many of which are related to oesfoy, production and generation operations. Cterdisvith the
industry in which we operate, our operations aredependent to a significant extent on our protkateellectual
property rights. Although our intellectual propeprtfolio as a whole is material, we do not beti¢kat any individual
intellectual property right or group of such righgsnaterial to our business.

Loss Prevention and Insurance

We believe that we maintain insurance coverager#ibgcts the risks, size and requirements of wisiriess
operations and that is comparable to the insuraogerage maintained by other companies operatiogriindustry.
Please see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Ourrigssi—Our insurance coverage may be insufficieobver our
losses.” We currently carry property, loss of pofgeneral liability, product liability, transpation, environmental
impairment and management liability insurance.

We maintain insurance coverage for all of our proes and facilities and all of our properties dacilities are
valued at their reinstatement value. On a considlbasis, in 2012, the total amount we paid feuiance premiums in
relation to policies held by us was.8 million.

We believe that prevention, protection and empldy&i@ing are key means of defending ourselvesatjfoss
from workplace incidents. Please see “Risk Factdgsks Relating to Our Business—Our insurance c@esraay be
insufficient to cover our losses.”

Employee Matters

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 agdeah average of 1,270 employees (excluding Urdguay
as computed on a full-time equivalent basis with@,full-time equivalent employees and 230 tempoeanployees.
Our employees participate in defined contributiod defined benefit post-employment plans. Certagcatives also
participate in a long-term incentive plan consigtird the granting of options over shares.

We believe that we have good relations with ourlegges and their representatives. However, in Aug0%$2,
a strike occurred at our pulp production facilityNavia, Spain, and in November 2012, a one-dékesticcurred at our
pulp production facility in Pontevedra, Spain. tidaion, the works committees at our Huelva andt®eedra facilities
convened strikes on February 18 and 19, 2010 @#iging certain questions in relation to the safetlcies
implemented within these workplaces. We considat we have complied with our health and safety@kvgtandards
in all material respects, including having appléadety standards higher than those laid down bgl&mn, as
accredited by the certification obtained by us urile OHSAS 18000 series of international standards

Substantially all of our employees are represebteldbor unions pursuant to collective bargainiggeaments.
We observe local practice and legislation in obofarelations matters and in negotiating collechaegaining
agreements, and in this respect we are due toegatgand/or renew in 2013 five of our currentiective bargaining
agreements, four of which expired in 2012 and on20i10. The recent labor law reforms in Spain hadeiced the
automatic extension of union agreements to onlyyaae from the date of their expiration date, pdawj an incentive to
employees to negotiate a new labor agreement axfiimtion of the previous one would result intsemployees
becoming subject to less favorable general labgulations. After the regulatory changes in theteieity sector and due
to the negative impact expected in the profitapitit the company, the company is negotiating wih Ynions changes
in the labor agreements conditions and a workfoptemization in order to maintain the competitives®f the
operations. This could lead to strikes during tharg as the negotiation process keeps ongoing.

62



Environmental, Health and Safety Regulation

We operate in industries that are subject to ekterenvironmental regulation, including those pieitay to the
storage, handling, treatment, transportation aspadial of hazardous materials, the constructiorogedation of our
facilities (including the noise and odor impacioof operations), the protection of natural resosieoed endangered
species, and our emissions and discharges of pothito air and water. Environmental, health arfietgatandards
applicable to us are established by the laws oEtlm®pean Union and the Member States in which pegaie (primarily
Spain), standards adopted by regulatory agencieanpermits and licenses, each of which is stilbgeperiodic and
increasingly more stringent modifications and regunents. Violations of these laws, regulationsenngts and licenses
may result in substantial fines and penalties, el ag orders to cease the violating operatiorte aonduct or pay for
corrective works. In some instances, violations mesylt in the suspension or revocation of peranitd licenses.

All of our pulp production facilities have enviroemtal management systems in place that are prgsentl
certified to the 1SO 14001 standard of the Intéomat! Organization for Standardization. Each of pulp production
facilities has also obtained registration of itsimmnmental management standards under the Eurdpei@m’s Eco-
Management and Audit Scheme. Nonetheless, th@fiskvironmental, health and safety infractionsierent in our
industry, and from time to time we have experienced-compliance with such laws and regulationsraag do so
again in the future.

In addition, pursuant to the requirements of sastale forest management and best practices inlisiialy the
chain of custody of wood used, we do not use wbatlis not from legitimate sources (including wabdt could
originate from genetically modified trees or fromarea in which the rights of local people to tlmegources may have
been violated). Our forest management subsidiari€pain in particular have been pioneers in thelémentation of
forest certification programs, and were the figinpanies in the Iberian Peninsula to obtain afasate from the
Programme for Endorsement of Forest Certificatwinich includes a certification as to the chain wétody.

The environmental management systems in placeuiofonest management subsidiaries have also been
certified to the 1SO 14001 standard of the Intéomatl Organization for Standardization.

We also endeavor to ensure that our suppliers antlactors adhere to the same environmental stdadar

The health and safety of persons is a priority ctbje in our management systems and is included as
fundamental aspect of our day-to-day work at atle, with our management and training adaptetiedlifferent
activities carried out by us, both in the forestnd industrial and corporate fields.

We have implemented a system of health and safetgik management that is developed and improved
continuously in accordance with the OHSAS 1800@sef international standards. The industrial clexgs at our
forestry subsidiaries Norte Forestal, S.A.U. arldaSur Agroforestal, S.A.U. are certified in accamde with these
standards, and our remaining workplaces are ipitheess of receiving such certification.

We operate a health and safety joint preventionigemwhich clearly defines roles and responsileiitat all
hierarchical levels within our Group on matterstielg to health and safety. This means that tregeaater integration
of health and safety in all tasks and decisionsadout by us and the system extends to activétifeswork conducted
by contractors and suppliers to ensure compliaritteastablished standards. The joint preventiomisercovers all four
preventative specialties: workplace safety; indakhrygiene; ergonomics and applied psychosociglagg health
monitoring.

Our activities in Uruguay are governed by the sheath and safety at work management criteria afidips
that apply to the Group’s other activities.

Legal Proceedings and Tax Audits

We are party to pending legal proceedings, inclgdix audits, arising in the ordinary course ofihess.
While the results of such proceedings cannot bdipted with certainty, we do not believe any ofshenatters will be
material to our business, financial condition gules of operations, except the matters descriledaib

The following legal proceedings concern the faeisitin Pontevedra:

» Appeal, initially brought before the High Couftlustice of Galicia by a non-profit organizatidie court
partially considered the appeal and ordered theiAdtration to initiate the procedure leading te th
expiration of ENCE’s concession. As far as we avera, this investigation has not yet started. H@rev
the court ruling would not prejudice the meritdtod case. The judgment is based only on procedural
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matters, rather than substance. Both ENCE and dmairfistration have filed an appeal to reverse thetc
ruling before the Supreme Court. Thus, if the afspfil@d with the Supreme Court were to be disndsse
this would not be the automatic expiration of tbaeession granted to ENCE, but only the initiatéthe
administrative procedure for that purpose, in whiake ENCE shall be granted a hearing. The final
decision taken within that procedure can be chgédrbefore the administrative courts.

» Judicial review. The matter was referred to thghHCourt of Galicia for the expiration of the cession
granted to ENCE with the argument that a wastevie#atment station was built on the grounds (ieed)
of ENCE by the Autonomous Community of Galiciaolr opinion, this appeal is unlikely to succeed.

* Judicial review which took place before the Higburt of Galicia, which the Superior Court of Josti
delivered judgment by dismissing the applicationjficial review of the Integrated Environmental
Authorization (“IEA”) of ENCE. This is a final judgent which recognizes the legality of the IEA 2008.

« Judicial review of an action brought by the tosauncil of Pontevedra and a non-profit organization
against the administrative decision of December2®11 by the Government of Galicia granting ENCE& th
renewal of its IEA. The arguments used by the dapeare similar to those referred to in the préaogd
paragraph and which were ruled in favor of ENCE.

Eufores, S.A., a former Uruguayan subsidiary whiels sold by us pursuant to a share purchase agneeme
dated May 17, 2009, is involved in various litigatiregarding claims for damages resulting from e contracts. On
the basis of the share purchase agreement dated M&p09, we may be liable for the outcome oféh@®ceedings.

Additionally, claims have been brought againstardsteach of representations and warranties uhéeshare
purchase agreement dated May 17, 2009 for the ggigremount of US$3,758,511, and we have oppossé tHaims.
However, no arbitral proceedings have yet startea @sult of these claims.

We are also subject to tax audits from time to tikmmong other tax audits, the Spanish tax authesrigire

currently conducting an inspection, which bega0a2, of the corporate income tdmpuesto sobre Sociedadles
returns filed by our Group for the tax years 208008 and 2009.
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REGULATION
Overview

Our business is highly regulated. Our activitiess swbject to both national and international reguaregimes.
Because most of our activities are carried outgaig the regulatory environment of our busineswities is shaped by
EU directives and regulations, which are eitherlengented in the individual Member States througdional legislation
or have direct application to the Member Stateisdividuals.

Each of our business activities—pulp productiorergy generation and forestry—is subject to a dffiebut
sometimes overlapping set of regulations, at batreBd national levels. The following is a descaptof the primary
industry-related regulations applicable to our besses and currently in force in Spain, which ésghincipal market in
which we operate.

European Union and Spanish Regulation Governing OuProduction Processes Generally
IPPC Directive, LCP and IED Directive

The Integrated Pollution Prevention and Controg (PP C”) Directive” (Directive 2008/1/EC of the Eapean
Parliament and of the Council of January 15, 20@&erning integrated pollution prevention and colintepealing the
Council Directive 96/61/EC) mandates a single iraégf permit for air and water discharges, soil ag@ment, waste
management activities, energy efficiency, noise,ube of raw materials, the prevention of accidehesimpact of
operations on the environment, plant closure aatbration.

The IPPC Directive has been implemented in Spawutih Law 16/2002 approved in July 2002. All of our
installations in Spain have been granted permiggordance with this law.

Our operations are also subject to the EU Largelfimtion Plant Directive (the “LCP Directive”) (Dutve
2001/80/EC on the limitation of emissions of certpollutants into the air from large combustionnéa as amended).
The LCP Directive applies to plants with a thermalut of 50 MW or greater and establishes strivith on specific
emissions values, including for sulfur dioxideyogen oxides and particulates.

In Spain, the LCP Directive has been implemente®byal Decree 430/2004, as amended by Royal Decree
687/2011. All of our installations with a thermalpacity over 50 MW are in compliance with the Isrinposed by
Royal Decree 430/2004.

The Industrial Emissions Directive 2010/75/EU (tHeD”) was entered into force in January 2011 anlli w
gradually replace the current IPPC Directive aredgbctorial directives (including the LCP DirecjivEhe IED had to
be implemented into national legislations by Japuar2013. By January 7, 2014, all existing instiédins except for
LCP installations must comply with the IED but Sp still in the process of implementing it. LG#tallations such as
ours must comply with the new requirements, inglgdhe new emission standards, by January 1, 2tfect to
temporary derogation mechanisms associated witheéheavailable techniques provided in the IED).

In Spain, the IED is currently being implementedniyans of the amendment of Law 16/2002 approved on
July 1, 2002 on integrated pollution prevention aaodtrol.

Environmental Liability Directive

Directive 2004/35/EC on environmental liability tvitegard to the prevention and remedying of envirental
damage (the “Environmental Liability Directive”) ptements a “polluter pays” principle for remedyigigvironmental
damage. Its fundamental aim is to hold operatomssetactivities have caused environmental damagedially liable
for remedying the damage. In addition, the Envirental Liability Directive holds those whose aciit caused an
imminent threat of environmental damage liablealartg preventative actions.

The Environmental Liability Directive was implemedtin Spanish law by the provisions of Law 26/2007
environmental liability, approved on October 27020Law 26/2007 upholds the polluter pays princgoe imposes
strict prevention, avoidance and remedy obligatism®perators for damage and threat of damagestertiironment.
The Spanish regulation is stricter than the minimrequirements imposed by the Environmental Liaplirective
because it promotes necessary awareness and riigggngithin the private sector for damages aigks to the
environment that its activities carry. Law 26/20@& been developed by Royal Decree 2090/2008, agxbian
December 22, 2008.
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Emissions Trading System

Our operations are covered by the EU Emissionsifiga8lystem (the “EU ETS”), which is an EU-wide gyst
of trading allowances that are allocated by Men@tates to cover industrial greenhouse gas emisdiahsstrial sites to
which the EU ETS applies receive a certain numbeflowances to emit carbon dioxide or other grerrse gases and
must surrender one allowance for each tonne ofarrouse gas emitted. Sites that emit fewer tooingieenhouse
gases than their allowances cover are able tahgetixcess allowances in the open market, whelneae that emit more
must buy additional allowances through the EU BN&-compliance is subject to penalties. Phasehe®tU ETS
covered emissions in calendar years 2005 to 208 Paase |l covered the period from 2008 to 2012.

By virtue of Directive 2009/29/EC of the Europearlment and of the Council of April 23, 2009 armigry
Directive 2003/87/EC, the European Union has exadrtle EU ETS for a third phase covering emissioralendar
years 2013 to 2020. Our plants will be coveredhgyEU ETS in this phase. The main changes for Rhaselude the
introduction of a single EU-wide cap on emissidme twill decrease annually, extending the systeer other industrial
sectors, and the gradual replacement of the fieeation of allowances with an auctioning systenspant to which,
beginning in 2013, Member States will be requileddction all allowances not allocated free of geaDuring
Phase llI, the allocation of allowances will dee@&ach year at a preset rate, resulting in orty 80allowances
allocated freely by 2020, and none by 2027. Acaalyi, as a result of the more stringent emissiongd and the move
to the auctioning system, we will be required tochase an increasing number of our emissions alioesm Please see
“Business—Principal Activities—Energy Activity.”

In Spain, requirements of the Directive 2009/294£€ implemented into national law by the amendroént
Law 13/2010, approved on July 5, 2010, which medifiaw 1/2005 governing the scheme for greenhoasegissions
trading and the Royal Decree 1722/2012, approvedem@mber 28, 2012, which develops certain asjpdéd¢he
allocation of allowances.

Regulation Promoting Renewable Energy and Biomassédberation
European Union Regulation

The Kyoto Protocol, ratified by the European Unamd its Member States on May 31, 2002, imposethen t
European Union a target of reducing its emissidigg@enhouse gasses by 8%. On November 26, 199 FEutopean
Union published a white paper (the “White Papertiich outlined a strategy and a community-wide acfitan aimed at
doubling energy production from renewable energyaes in the European Union to 12% of total enea@ysumption
by 2010 from 6% in 1996. The White Paper proposedraber of measures to promote the use of renevesiaieyy
sources, including measures designed to providertetcess for renewable energy sources to theieigcmarket.

Directive 2001/77/EC of the European Parliament@odncil of September 27, 2001 (the “2001 Renewable
Energy Directive”) encouraged the development e€teicity produced from renewable energy sourcesfossil fuel
sources, such as wind, solar, hydropower, biomadselief gas) by requiring Member States to seicative national
targets for the consumption of electricity produfesn renewable energy sources consistent witlEtimepean
Commission’s target of generating 12% of the Euampdnion’s energy and 22% of the European Uniol@stacity
from renewable energy sources by 2010.

In 2009, the European Parliament and Council adojite 2009 Renewable Energy Directive (2009/28/EC),
which repealed the 2001 Renewable Energy Direangeset mandatory national overall targets condistéh at least a
20% share of energy from renewable energy sourncgiEuropean Union’s gross final consumptionrafrgy in 2020.
Member States are required to prepare individuadaplans for the implementation of their natioterlgets.

A recent directive on energy efficiency, 2012/27/EStablishes a common framework of measures éor th
promotion of energy efficiency within the Europdanion in order to achieve the 20% target on eneffigiency by
2020 and to pave the way for further energy efficieimprovements beyond that date. Each Membee Si#itbe
obliged to set an indicative national energy edingy target, based on primary or final energy congion, primary or
final energy savings, or energy intensity.

Directive 2004/8/EC on the promotion of co-generatbased on a useful heat and electricity demattakin

internal energy market, obliges Member States #&dyae the potential of co-generation in their ownitry and to
provide support mechanisms to encourage the teshpahto the market.
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Spanish Regulation

Since the early 1980s, a special regulatory rediaseapplied to co-generation facilities, mini-hygawer
stations and other facilities using renewable ensoyrces which have an installed capacity of 50 Wless. The
Electricity Sector Act 54/1997, of November 27 (th897 Electricity Law”) sets forth the main regtitas governing
all aspects of the electricity industry. Articled @ 31 specifically govern this special generatiegime.

1997 Electricity Law

The 1997 Electricity Law included the obligationgstablish a development plan for renewable entrgy
ensure that renewable energy sources provide &it18&o of Spain’s total energy demand by 2010dufitaon to
highlighting the need for a special scheme to stipeoewables, the 1997 Electricity Law obligatedblgc authorities to
take necessary measures to meet these objectivisspidmpted the adoption by the Spanish governioiethie
Renewable Energies Development Plan 2000-2010 (“RIEP—-2010") in 1999.

This first REP 2000-2010 sought to incentivizedhastruction of renewables facilities through vasio
measures, including the establishment of premilmaswould make it attractive to developers to depehese facilities.
These premiums included certain obligations to Ipase renewable energy and the setting of purchases@t one of
two options: a fixed tariff rate or a market pryges premium. On August 26, 2005, the Spanish gouent updated
REP 2000-2010 through the Renewable Energies RR5-2010. In addition, in order to comply with tmandatory
renewable energy targets set forth in the 2009 Wable Energy Directive, the Spanish government @ the
Renewable Energy Plan 2011-2020. However, REP 2@PB-has been affected by the entry into forceamudry 28,
2012 of the Moratorium, discussed in detail below.

Facilities already registered with a pre-allocatiegistry or in operation before the Moratoriumezat into
force on January 28, 2012 are instead mainly réggilay Royal Decree 661/2007. Royal Decree 661/2@@€lops in
great detail the basic provisions found in the 1B8€tricity Law governing special regime genenatiacilities.

Royal Decree 661/2007 (subsequently amended by Rageree Law 2/2013)

Royal Decree 661/2007 requires that in order taefieflom the tariff or economic system chosen, pheject
must be registered in the Administrative RegistriPmduction Facilities under the Special RegifRedistro
Administrativo de Instalacidénes de Produccién egiRen Especial(“RAIPRE”), and start selling the electricity quit
to the grid before a specific deadline. Furthermbyeway of Royal Decree 6/2009, the Spanish gavent launched a
pre-registration requirement of allocation pursuanwhich only those projects that have been reggstin the relevant
pre-allocation registry will be entitled to receithe remuneration as special regime facilities é¢pxdéor solar
photovoltaic projects, which are expressly excluded governed by Royal Decree 1578/2008).

Royal Decree 661/2007 aims for co-generation widhmiass to reach a reasonable degree of profitabitith
through the feed-in tariff system and a market neenation system. Generators subject to the spesgahe may sell
their electricity using either of the following dombs:

0] delivering their output to the electricity sgst through the transmission or distribution griagl &
return receiving the Regulated Tariff. PursuarRtyal Decree 661/2007, the energy so transferred is
not acquired by the local distribution company lingfead, is supplied to the transmission or
distribution grid; or

(i) selling electricity in the wholesale power rhat in which most transactions take place (the fHat
the sale price set by the organized market or tice freely negotiated by the owner or represeveati
of the facilities, supplemented, as the case majpya premium in euro cents per kilowatt-hour (the
Market Tariff), subject to the applicable caps #odrs.

Generators have the ability to switch betweenweedptions each year.

Since June 1, 2007, the electricity generated bijitfas that have opted to sell their electriaiytput at the
Regulated Tariff has been incorporated into thel Bp@ssuming that all of such electricity was offitat 0 euro/MWh.
The settlement of the special regime payments (dégss of the sale option chosen) is made up ofpayonent flows:
payments from the Pool and the settlement of thiévatent premiumgrima equivalentgby the Spanish National
Energy Commission, or the CNE.
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Market Price Settlement

The market operatoQperador del Mercado Ibérico de la Electricidad Bdtspariol, S.A(*OMIE") and, for
the imbalances, the system operaiRed Eléctrica de Espafia, S.A).dalculate their respective settlements to genesat
on a weekly basis. Payments are then carried ontdriet representatives on a monthly basis witiénnhonth
following the production month.

Sellers in the Pool are ordinary power station$ déina not exempt because of the existence of agalys
bilateral contract, and special regime power statnd wholesale supplieMercializadores Buyers in that market
are direct consumers registered as market agettalamlesale suppliers.

The Pool is structured according to the daily martkes security of supply restrictions, solutiontethnical
restrictions, the allocation of secondary regulatibie intra-daily market and adjustment servi€edling and purchasing
bids are normally submitted for each of the 24 hadrthe following day by 10:00 a.m. The marketrapar then
matches the different bids through simplified ompbex matching methods depending on the type «f @deived. The
marginal price is determined by the price offergdhe last selling unit, the production of whichsyr@quired to meet
the demand for electricity for each trading sessidter carrying out different operations (i.e. heeal restrictions,
adjustment services, etc.) the system operatorrdites the final program and the settlement is made

Settlement of the Equivalent Premium and SuppleaneRayments by the CNE

Generators receive the pool price from the margetator and system operator for the energy soldland
CNE, then pays the difference between the regulaiedtin tariff and the market price (the differens known as the
equivalent premiumpfima equivalente

In order to do this, the CNE requires specific infation as follows:

* The system operator must provide the market seprtatives of generators and the CNE withBA&DITA
for specific periods, broken down for each marlkgtresentative or generat&ALDITAis an acronym for
Base de Liquidacion de la Diferencia con la Taiagulada(Settlement Basis of the Difference with the
Regulated Tariff), which is the amount that a markeresentative obtains for the sale of the geogsa
energy on the market and that must be subtracbed thhe regulated tariff in order to calculate the
equivalent premium.

» The market representatives or the generatonsgube information received from the system operatmst
send the CNE a breakdown of BALDITAfor each facility they represent or own.

» The competent company for metering (typically digtribution company) must provide hourly meter
readings (real or estimated) of the net activeraadtive energy per facility.

* The market operator must inform the CNE of thieeoof electricity in the daily market and in thera-day
market sessions, as well as the final prices afedity and the settlement to be made betweemtheket
representatives or generators in accordance wéthetbults of the matched bids in the daily anchiaay
market.

Based on these data, the CNE determines the payhtrd equivalent premium and other supplementary
amounts due to each facility by subtractingB#d_DITAfrom the regulated feed-in tariff.

Neither the CNE nor the Spanish Government actiasagtors of the tariff payments. Rather, the CNE
determines the amount of the equivalent premiumraqdires the distribution companies to pay the artocollected
from consumers and wholesale suppliers into anwattdeeld by the CNE in a capacity analogous tastde for this
purpose.

As such, a generator receives the pool price directthrough its representative from the marketrapor and
the system operator and the remaining amounB&1ieDITA directly from the CNE. The closing of the firgbpisional
settlement from the CNE to the generator for tieeteicity generated during a certain month occurthe 28' of the
following month, or the next business day thereaftith any amounts resulting in favor of the gexter required to be
paid within 31 calendar days following this closing
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Imbalances (desvios):

The system operator is responsible for the detextioin and settlement of the imbalancéssvioy whether the
generator had opted for the Regulated Tariff oitierMarket Tariff.

The company must provide the system operator witiexast of its electricity generation on a daisis. As a
general rule:

» If the electricity generated is lower than theeftasts, the generator shall pay a penalty butibtig
system has suffered an electricity deficit (thatfias a result of all sale and purchase transastihat have
taken place in the relevant settlement period #mahd is higher than expected and therefore more
electricity is needed to cover the demand). Othazwno penalty needs to be paid.

» If the electricity generated is higher than theetasts, the system operator will pay the genebatiothe
price will be different depending on whether or tia system needs such electricity or not to cthver
electricity demand.

The Regulated Tariff and Market Tariff (as wellthe caps and floors) are revised every year depgruati the
type of technology review applicable. The Regulatadff applicable to biomass facilities must bedafed by reference
to the Retail Price Index (“RPI”) minus 0.50 % frd»ecember 31, 2012. The following table indicatesMarket Tariff
for our biomass renewable energy generation fasslit

Evolution of Biomass Generation Remuneration (€/MWh

Year ended December 31, Nine months ended September 30,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
Pool price (E/IMWh) ..., 394 644 37.0 37.0 49.9 49.2 48.6
Premium (€/MWh).......cccccoiiiiiiiii, 39.3 47.7 674 68.2 737 71.7 79.1

Eligibility Criteria for Remuneration

Royal Decree 661/2007 classifies, as special refaiities, power stations with an installed capaof up to
50 MW that fall into any one of the following catees:

» facilities that generate electricity using wastem industrial activities, provided that such gextion
represents a high efficiency (“Group A");

» facilities that use as a primary energy sourgeranewable source, such as non-consumable sources
(e.g. solar or wind), biomass or any kind of bidfpeovided that the owner of the facilities do@s n
operate under the ordinary regime (e.g. large tpalr@r stations) (“Group B”); and

» facilities that use municipal solid wastes asimpry energy source (“Group C").

Certain other facilities are also classified ax@al regime”, such as facilities involved in theatment and
reduction of waste from agricultural and servicestars that have an installed capacity of up t&128, and where
certain high efficiency ratios are satisfied.

Efficiency of each of our facilities is calculatbdsed on a formula prescribed by regulation. Nathing the
efficiency levels established may give rise to m@&tmn under the special regime or suspensioneétonomic regime.
Our generation installations comply with the présed efficiency requirements.

Royal Decree Law 1/2012

Royal Decree Law 1/2012 (the “Moratorium”) camepieffect in January 2012 and provides for (i) the
elimination of economic incentives for the implertaion of special regime energy production faahtiand (ii) the
suspension of the proceedings for registration thighpre-allocation registries. The Moratorium widlt affect our
facilities that are already in operation or registewith the pre-allocation registry before itsrgnnto force.

The amendments introduced by the Moratorium apply) tspecial regime facilities (of any kind of temlogy)
that by the date of entry into force of the Morator were not registered in the pre-allocation regisreated by virtue
of Royal Decree Law 6/2009; (ii) special regime foivoltaic facilities that by the date of entry irftwce of the
Moratorium were not registered in the pre-allogatiegistry created by virtue of Royal Decree 15888 and
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(iii) ordinary regime installations that by the daif entry into force of the Moratorium had notaibed their
administrative authorization.

The changes introduced by the Moratorium were naimdtivated by a rapid over-supply of combined eycl
power plants and special regime installations tejé for the period 2005-2010, and the drop in dehfiar energy
resulting from the economic crisis. The Spanishegoment is now of the view that there is an imbedalpetween the
current production costs of certain types of sgeeigime facilities and remuneration under the geegime.

On December 31, 2012, we have 230 MW of instalkgehcity, all of which is already in commercial ogoén,
having already obtained final registration under $pecial regime, and since the Moratorium is etsbactive, these
facilities in operation are not affected by thigukation. In addition, we also have now a 50 MWIfgclocated in
Huelva, Spain, which became operational in Septe2b&2, and whose ownership has been transferoed dur EPC
contractor to us in the February 7, 20133, and K®@0facility under construction at Mérida registéria the pre-
allocation registry before the Moratorium entenei iforce which are not affected by this regulatidotwithstanding
the foregoing, the Mérida facility must achievedfinegistration with the RAIPRE within the 36 mosfiellowing its
registration with the pre-allocation registry.tifails to do so, it will lose its entitlement toet feed-in tariff that was
allocated to the project when it was registeredh wie pre-allocation registry.

Comparing total installed capacity to the targstatied capacity as per REP 2011-2020, biomas$eiketst
developed technology, has better social impactisnde of the most efficient technologies. The dMorium expressly
allows the Spanish government to establish a neeniive regime for co-generation and biomass, astostyer,
facilities. However, such an incentive regime hasyet been approved.

For the reasons outlined above, we believe thatjiged that a new incentive regime is finally apa, the
Moratorium will not have as negative of an impaetidomass generation as it will on other renewablergy sources.

Law 15/2012 on Tax Measures to Achieve Environmdrgastainability

On December 28, 2012, the Energy Tax Law, aimeddatcing the current funding deficit within Spain’s
heavily-subsidized electricity production indusatyd ensuring the sustainability of Spain’s energypdy through the
imposition of certain tax measures, was publishethé Spanish Official Gazette. The Energy Tax Lahich became
effective as of January 1, 2013, provides iiater alia: (i) the creation of a tax on electricity genevat{“"TEG"); and
(i) the implementation of a “green centégntimo verdgetax on natural gas and oil.

TEG
TEG is a direct tax with aim remnature, levied on the generation and deliverjh&Spanish grid of output
electricity, measured at a power plants’ busbiaasrés de centrgl The main features of this tax can be summarézed

follows:

» All types of electricity generation facilitieseasubject to the TEG. No exceptions are made fpr an
renewable energy producer or nuclear plants, nitrei® a minimum installed capacity threshold.

e The taxable base is calculated on the basisedtfattal proceeds to be received by the taxpayethtor
generation and delivery of the output electricitiie taxable base is determined individually forheac
electricity production facility and referred to ttex period that, in general terms, coincides
calendar year.

e The applicable rate is 7%.

Green cent (gas and fuel)

This tax is levied on natural gas intended for@ather than as a fuel, and for use as a fuehiiosiary engines
at a rate of €0.65 per gigajoule, and on fuel nd diesel used for the production of electric poatea rate of €12.00 per
tonne of fuel oil and €29.15 per 1,000 liters cf<il.

Royal Decree Law 2/2013 on Emergency Measures ffier Electrical Sector and the Financial System
On February 1, 2013, the Royal Decree Law 2/2018margency measures for the electrical sectortand t

financial system, modified the reference index egale to RD 661/2007 annual tariff adjustment fritve general CPI
index to the underlying CPI at constant taxes {gkiolg tax increases, unprocessed foods and eneogugts); and the
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prime economic regimen will be based only on thlgutated tariff option (with the pool+premium optieliminated).
This regulation is likely to increase our cost odguction of energy.

Forestry Management Regulation
European Union regulation
EU timber regulation 995/2010 imposes the followkey obligations:

» It prohibits the placing of illegally harvestdathber and products derived from such timber onEble
market, whether they are of domestic or importedimr

» Timber accompanied by a FLEGT (Forest Law Enforeet, Governance and Trade) or CITES
(Convention on International Trade in Endangereelc#s) license will be accepted as legal. In déot
cases, operators must exercise “due diligence” whey sell imported and domestic timber or timber
products.

» Traders (those after the operators in the supipdyn) must keep records of their suppliers (arsdatoers),
so that the operators can always be traced.

Regulation 995/2010 does not need to be implemantedSpanish law because the regulation is bindirits
entirety and directly applicable in all Member $&tSome of the provisions (mainly related to Merslstates’
obligations) applied from December 2, 2010, butgtiacipal provisions apply from March 3, 2013.

Spanish Regulation

In addition, in Spain the legal framework consstshe Hillside Act 43/2003, approved on Novembgy 2003
(Ley de Montesas amended by Law 10/2006, approved on Aprit286 (and the Second Additional Provision of Law
10/2006), the Water Royal Decree Law approved dn2lyy 2001, Royal Decree Law 1/2008 on Environraklmpact
approved on January 11, 2008 and the rules comgetingé Organization of Hillside©¢denacion de Montgsboth
nationwide and at the autonomous community levetal environmental, waste and labor regulations ajgply to
activities carried out in rural and forest enviramts.

Pursuant to these regulations, it is necessargveldp forest management plans that are submibrelublic
consultation and that must be officially and regylapproved by the Official Hillside AssociatioBglegio Oficial de
Monte$ and the pertinent public authorities.

Internationally Recognized Initiatives

In addition to European Union and Spanish regutatiapplicable to forestry management activitiesiehs a
set of sustainable forest management practicesrérda internationally accepted and acknowledgthe FAO since
1981, which have been subsequently promoted shecRip de Janeiro Earth Summit of 1992. Over tlzesyghey have
been implemented and broadened on a regulatory@ndtary basis in successive international sumanits by means
of non-governmental initiatives.

The most common forest certification system worltkwis the PEFC, with 223 million certified hectares
Furthermore, the FSC has 112 million certified hezes.

We have the UNE-EN-ISO 14001-2004 environmentaifeztion with regard to all of our forest actiié@s in

Spain. Moreover, our forest assets in Spain arttéfiedrin accordance with the PEFC systems and-8€ to a lesser
extent.
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MANAGEMENT
The Issuer
The Board of Directors of the Issuer

The Board of Directors of the Issuer (the “Boardirfectors”) has the power and duty to manage oyparate
affairs. The Board of Directors elects its presidend can select one or more vice presidents. EXoematters reserved
by law and the articles of association to the galngrareholders’ meeting (the “General Shareholdéesting”), the
Board of Directors is the highest decision-makiongyof the Issuer.

Meetings shall be called by the president or bgaars constituting at least one-third of the Baafr®irectors.
The attendance quorum necessary for a Board otremeeting is the majority of the Board of Dires. If the
number of directors on the board is uneven, thessry quorum shall be more than 50% of the bé&¥asolutions of a
Board of Directors meeting are adopted by an abesohajority of the members present at such meetinigss the law
requires a different majority.

The following table sets forth, as of the datehis Report, the name, age and title of each mewitiwe Board
of Directors, and is followed by a brief summarybidgraphical information of each director.

Name Age Position
Juan Luis Arregui CIarSOl0 ...........ouiiii e e e e e 69 Chairman

Ignacio de Colmenares y Brunet 51 Chief Executive Officer
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L., represented by Javieegui Abendivar .................... 42 External Director
Pascual Ferndndez Martin@z .............coicemecemreeeiiiee e 52 External Director
Javier Echenique Landiribar ...........ccooooeeeeee e 52 External Director
Nortefia Patrimonial, S.L., represented by Jesus®Mochales............................ 40 External Director
José Carlos del AlamO JIMENEZ .............oeceeeemeeeeer e 61 Independent Director
Fernando Abril-Martorell HErNANdez ..........cccoevviviiieiiiiiiiiee e 50 Independent Director
GUSLAVO MAtias CIAVETO. ........ccvvvieee et s e e e e s eitaee e e e e e sitaae e e e e s sstaeeaeeenseees 60 Independent Director
José Guillermo Zubia Guinea 66 Independent Director
JOSE MaANUEl SEITa PEIIS .....ccicuvvviiie e o sttt e e s ettt e e e e entaee e e e s e snaaeaaseennnees 53 Independent Director
Pedro Barato Triguero ...............cceeeeeen. 53 Independent Director

Isabel TOCINO BiSCArOlasaga ...........oe i ceeeeeeieeee e 64 Independent Director

Juan Luis Arregui Ciarsolois Chairman of the Board of Directors as well &&i@nan of the Executive
Committee of the Issuer. He joined us in Febru@ga2

Mr. Arregui Ciarsolo has a degree in technical ragiing from the Higher School of Engineering dbBo, a
diploma in numerical control from Wandsdorf (Geriyjaand a master’s degree in micro-mechanical eleging from
Besancon (France). He began his professional card®75 by founding Gamesa, a company that watlel become
the Gamesa group, specializing in aeronautics timfa@composites and wind turbines. He was Chairafdbamesa
until 1995 and is currently Vice Chairman and a rmbenof both the appointments and remuneration cat®eenand the
executive committee of Gamesa. In 1994, followimg integration of Gamesa with Iberdrola, he becarbeard
member of Iberdrola, serving until 2009 as Senieplity Chairman and a member of its executive cotemitn 1995,
he took charge of the Guascor company, a manugrotfiinternal combustion engines, complementirgehgines with
co-generation installations. In 1998, he create@&Ea corporation dedicated solely to the productibwind energy.
In 2001, he founded Foresta Capital, S.L. for tfwelpction of hardwood trees. In 2002, he createedta Biomasa,
which became the world leader in the productioplahts within vitro technology. In 2006, he became our Chairman
and has led the diversification of our activitieshwhe production of renewable energy throughsbteomass. He has
also been Senior Deputy Chairman of Cartera Indlfea, S.A. since 2008 and is a board membeabus funds
that invest in energy and activities related to eradechnology.

Ignacio de Colmenares y Bruné$ a member of our Board of Directors, our Exe@tCommittee and our
Advisory Committee for Forestry and Regulatory Eiek. He is also our Chief Executive Officer andgilent of
ASPAPEL (Spanish Association of Pulp and Paper N&nturers). He joined us in December 2010.

Mr. de Colmenares y Brunet has an undergraduatedég law from the Central University of Barcelanad a
master’s degree in Economics and Business Managdrmen|ESE. He has extensive experience in thel sted
renewable energy industries, having helped to dgvielternational business projects with a focusemenue growth,
investment optimization, process improvements arstl control as a way of increasing competitiveness.
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Javier Arregui Abendivaiis the legal representative of Retos Operativos, &X., which is a member of our
Board of Directors and our Appointments and Rematiem Committee. He joined us in February 2006.

Mr. Arregui Abendivar has a degree in business adtnation from Saint Louis University (Missourinited
States). He began his professional career in 19¥#isales department of the Guascor group, otugpyvariety of
positions until he was ultimately named managimgator in Argentina in 1996. In 2002, he returne&pain, where
until 2005 he held management positions in the &écbup. He also was a member of the boards oftdireof CESA,
the Guascor group and Foresta Capital and wasteotlenand chief procurement officer for Campo Nols.A. He
currently holds the position of sole administraibthe Foresta group.

Pascual Fernandez Martineis currently a member of our Board of Directossy&ll as a member and the
secretary of our Appointments and Remuneration Citteenand a member of the Advisory Committee fareStry and
Regulatory Policies. He joined us in May 2005.

Mr. Fernandez Martinez has a doctorate in econoamdsbusiness and has carried out his professiamnekr
primarily in public administration, both as a preger and researcher, at the Autbnoma Universiaxirid, Rey Juan
Carlos University and the University of Valladolahd in management for the autonomous communiti€astilla y
Ledn and Madrid as well as for the Spanish Ministirthe Economy and Treasury and the Ministry ofiEonment. He
is a lecturer of applied economics at Rey JuanoSadhiversity, a lecturer in the Executive MastePublic
Administration (EMPA) program at the Instituto dmpresa Business School, a lecturer in the Magpeogram in
Infrastructure and Public Service Management oftieool of Civil Engineering at the Universidad iEémnica de
Madrid; director of the “Economy of Madrid” Centiar Studies at the Rey Juan Carlos University, @han of the
Economics and Environment Commission of the Assioriaof Economists of Madrid, and a member of thesd@ciation
of European Conjuncture Institutd®\6sociation D’Instituts Européens de Conjonct&®onomique (AIECE)He has
served on the boards of directors of a number ofpamies, including Sodical, Renfe (serving as Ghair from 1997 to
2001), Instituto de Crédito Oficial (ICO), Gran &stopio de Canarias, Sociedad Gestora de Plargsnd®nes de Caja
Madrid and Gamesa (serving as chairman of the appents and remuneration committee from 2006 t®p01

Javier Echenique Landiribaris an external proprietary member of our Boar®éctors and a member of our
Executive Committee and Audit Committee. He joinsdn December 2005.

Mr. Echenique Landiribar has a degree in econoamckactuarial sciences and has been a board mamiber
managing director of Allianz-Ercos and managing@dior of the BBVA group. He is currently Vice-Chaan of Banco
Sabadell, S.A., Chairman of Banco Guipuzcoano, 8&m.a board member of Repsol S.A., ACS Actividatkes
Construccion y Servicios, S.A., ACS Servicios, Comaciones y Energia, S.L., Telefonica Moviles Méxy Celistics
S.L. and Calcinor, S.A. He is also a member ofatigisory council of Telefonica Europa and a delegdithe board of
Telefonica, S.A. in the Basque country and trusfeée Novia Salcedo Foundation and the Altuna Eation.

Jeslus Ruano Mochales a member of our Board of Directors and our A@immittee. He joined us in June
2002.

Mr. Ruano Mochales has a degree in economics asiddas from CUNEF and a specialization in finamoenf
the University of Deusto. He held the position s$iatant manager at Chase Manhattan Bank from tt920300 and the
position of deputy director of mergers and acqigisg at N M Rothschild & Sons from 2000 to 2005.isleurrently
director of the Investees division of Cajastur amidember of the management and financial managetoemittees.
He is also the representative of Caja de Ahorro&ddarias (currently Liberbank, S.A.) on the boafdlirectors of
various companies, such as Itinere, Telecable, @ARE®neral de Alquiler de Maquinaria, S.A. and Sede

José Carlos del Alamo Jiménég an independent external member of our Boaiifctors and a member of
the Advisory Committee for Forestry and Regulat@ojicies. He joined us in June 2009.

Mr. del Alamo Jiménez has a degree in forestry fMadrid Polytechnic University and a diploma from
ESADE. He is also a lecturer in the Energy Efficigand Climate Change Master Degree at the Envieortah Sciences
University Institute, part of Madrid’s Complutendaiversity, a lecturer in the Environmental ProjEcigineering
Master degree at the Universidad Politécnica of fidiagind a lecturer in Carolina Foundation’s HigBeurse on
Forestry Management Policies and Instruments asasel professor at the San Pablo CEU Universityadher
academic institutions.

He has held positions of responsibility both in teatral government, for which he served as DireGeneral
of Nature Conservation (Ministry of Environmenthdsat the autonomous community level, where hededrthe
Regional Ministry of Environment of Galicia and wasard member from 1997 to 2003 and Director Geméraorest
and the Natural Environment from 1990 to 1996. K& aiso Vice-Chairman of the Autonomous Nationak®a
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Authority, president of the trusteeship of the ¢$shdlanticas National Park, member of the EnvirontabAdvisory
Board of the Ministry of Environment and Chairmdrite Galician Environmental Council. He is alsegdent of the
Professional Union of Engineering Associations (JP@resident and dean of the College and Assariaif Forestry
Engineers, secretary of the “Forests and Climatnga” forum, president of the “Environmental ForfamEconomic
and Social Progress” and a board member of theoRagHunting Council of the regional governmentaistilla y
Ledn. He is currently Chairman and CEO of Tecno®A,, an environmental consulting and engineerimg, f
Chairman of Tecnoma Energia Sostenible, S.A., @fairof Tecnoma Aprovechamientos Energéticos, 3d.. a
Chairman of Estadistica y Servicios, S.A., all dfieh belong to the TYPSA group, of which he is adsoard member.

Fernando Abril-Martorell Hernandezs an external member of our Board of Directottsai@man of our
Appointments and Remuneration Committee and a meoftmur Executive Committee. He joined us in Ma2€97.

With a degree in law and economics and business fhe Pontifical Comillas University, Mr. Abril-M#rell
Hernandez began his professional career at JP Mavhare he held various positions in the compafigancial
markets division from 1986 to 1996. In 1996, ha¢ai the Telefénica group as its CFO. In 1998, he meaned
president of TPl Paginas Amarillas, and in 200@0ves made managing director of the group, a posit®held through
the end of 2003. In 2002 he was named managingtdiref the Credit Suisse group in Spain and Paitude currently
holds the position of Chief Executive Officer t@timanaging director of the Prisa group and is a neerof the board of
directors of Telecomunicaciones de S&o Paulo. ldés@sa trustee of the Comillas University Fourmfatthe Familia
Foundation and the Fernando Abril-Martorell Fouratat

Gustavo Matias Clavere an independent external member of our Boafdi@fctors and a member of our
Appointments and Remuneration committee. He joueth March 2007.

Mr. Matias Clavero has a doctorate in economicstkarsihess from the Universidad Auténoma of Madrid a
degree in information sciences from the Compluteshsieersity of Madrid. He is a lecturer on interioatl economic
organization at the Universidad Auténoma of Madwtiere he has been teaching since 1986, and f@dlamce Sheet
Analysis Master Degree of the Instituto de Empissiness School (1982). He is a member of variagpsr panels on
economic client and economic consensus, an evalaatbree scientific publications and a regulantecitbutor to the
magazineConsejero@nd the digital publicatiomtercampusAs a consultant and researcher, he is primaahcerned
with the new economy of information and knowledglkdut which he taught doctoral courses for tensyatithe
Universidad Autonoma of Madrid and has publishebzen books and pamphlets), healthcare, educatibn a
sustainable development.

He was a visiting professor at CUNEF for three geat Universidad de Nebrija for another three geatrthe
European Business School, at the School of IndishiiganizationEscuela de Organizacién Industriand at the
School of Telecommunications EngineeEs¢uela de Ingenieros de Telecomunicakiéte has co-directed or taught
summer courses at Universidad Autdbnoma of Madhiel Gomplutense University, the Universidad del Raisco,
Valladolid University, and UIMP and Segovia univides. A managing advisor to the Telematics mastprogram
(Caixa Galicia), and he has also directed a domarses for the European Social Fund and othersistaisable
development and its indicators. He has been a medfiltee group for Regulation of Telecommunicati¢@RETEL),
vice-president of the Spanish Telecommuting Assmeiadirector of the Spanish Association of Telaoounications
and Information Technology Law, an economics jolishfor Europa Press, El PaisndGaceta de los Negocias well
as a columnist foEl Mundo-Nueva Economiaedia for which he has published more than 3@ €i6les.

In 1978, he was awarded the Order of Agriculturariand has received a number of national awamis the
National Institute of Statistics and for econongarjnalism.

José Guillermo Zubia Guineas an independent external member of our Boafdifctors and is a member of
our Executive Committee and Chairman of our Auditr@nittee. He joined us in March 2007.

Mr. Zubia Guinea has a degree in law from the Caoieplse University in Madrid. He also studied ecoiosm
at the Complutense University and taxation at that& for Economics and Tax Studi€e(tro de Estudios
Econdmicos y TributarigsHe has been a business owner and consultaricgard member for various public and
private firms. He was secretary general of the AlBusiness Union (SEA) from 1979 to 1995. He wasegd secretary
of the Basque business confederation (Confebasgk) @ctober 1995 to March 2011. He also regularii@pates in
various courses and conferences at the Universidachacional Menéndez Pelayo University, the suneoearses of El
Escorial and the summer university of the Pais Wasuiversity. He is also a member of the standimigmittee at the
Andalusia School of Economics, a member of the Booa and Social Council of Spain and of its ecormarid labor
relations committees.
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José Manuel Serra Perig an independent external member of our Boal@i@fctors and a member of our
Audit Committee. He joined us in October 2000.

Mr. Serra Peris received a degree in law from \V@ket/niversity in 1981 and has been a state atyosimee
1984. He was active in the administration, firsaasate attorney in the regional office of therSglatreasury in
Valencia and in the courts of the regional govenninad VValencia (1986 to 1996), and later held vasipositions in the
state administration, primarily in the Ministry lofdustry, Trade and Tourism, where he served asrgetechnical
secretary (1996-1998), undersecretary (1998) avadl\fiSecretary of State for Industry and Energ39@-2000), a
position he left at his own behest. He has also Ipeesident of the Spanish Patent and TrademaikeOffresident of
the Center for Energy, Environment and Technologgddrch (CIEMAT) and president of the Spanish Cdate
Industrial and Technological Development (CDTI).

He has sat on the boards of directors of Socied#at&l de Participaciones Industriales (SEPI) asaleslad
Estatal de Participaciones Patrimoniales (SEPRApanies responsible for the privatization of prbbmpanies such
as lberia Lineas Aéreas de Espafia, S.A., Endeda;Retrica de Espafa, S.A., Uralita, S.A. and Egblelevision de
Cataluia, S.A. (MENTA) of the Auna group. He haadat on the boards of Lineas Aéreas de Espafiaai®l Bankia,
S.A.

Pedro Barato Triguerds an independent external member of our Boafdiiefctors and a member of the
Advisory Committee for Forestry and Regulatory Eiek. He joined us in June 2008.

Mr. Barato Triguero has a degree in law and has bemember of the National Confederation of Farraads
Livestock Owners since 1978 and the national pesgidf the Agricultural Association of Young FarméASAJA)
since 1990. He is also a board member of the Sp&vsfederation of Business Organizations (CEOE)ember of the
presidium of the Committee of Agricultural Orgartinas (COPA) of the European Union, a member ofGihé¢
advisory committee of the European Commission,igees of the Inter-trade Organization of Spanistv©0il,
president of the Occupational Accident Insurancso8ition (AMAT), president of the National Confealiton of Beet
and Sugar Cane Growers and president of the Spaairation of Self-employed Persons (CEAT). He avaember
of the European Economic and Social Committee 8817 to 2007 and a member of the Spanish EconamdiGSacial
Council from 1991 to 2007.

Isabel Tocino Biscarolasag# an independent external member of our Boardifdibrs and a member of the
Advisory Committee for Forestry and Regulatory Biek. She joined us in March 2013.

Ms. Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga is Doctor in Law as undertaken graduate studies in business
administration at IESE and the Harvard Busines®8icishe has been Spanish Minister for the Enviremm
chairwoman of the European Affairs Committee anthefForeign Affairs Committee of the Spanish Cesgrand
chairwoman for Spain and Portugal and vice-chairanfior Europe of Siebel Systems. She is currently gprofessor
at Universidad Complutense de Madrid, an electeahinee of the Spanish State Council, non-executivecthr of
Grupo Santander, member of the Advisory Board afefdture a member of the Royal Academy of Doctors.

The Senior Management of the Issuer

Our senior management team is led by Juan Luisg@ir€iarsolo. The following table sets forth ourreunt
senior management team and their respective agesagitions.

Name Age Position

Juan Luis Arregui Ciarsol .............ceoei e eeeeeeiieiiaaaeeeaeeee 69 Chairman

Ignacio de Colmenares y Brunet..........coeeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiannnnnnnn, 51 Chief Executive Officer

Diego Maus LiZariturry .......cccuevveeiieeeecmrcneeee e e e eeessesesinnenns 43 Chief Financial Officer

José Manuel Zarandona de la Torre.......cccceeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeenen, 49 Director General of the Pulp Business

N F- Tt 1] (o ] o o 3N 1Yo T o S 61 Director General of the Energy Business
Alvaro Eza BErNAOIE............ccooveuveeieeeeeeee e, 38 Director of the Forestry Business

Maria JOosé Zueras Saludas..........oocvvveeeiiiiviieeeee s 52 Director General of Human Resources
Guillermo Medina OrS ......ccccuviiiiiiiiiii e e 45 Vice Secretary and General Counsel
Luis Carlos MartiNeZz ..........cocvvveeees i veee e e e ssiiena e e e 53 Director General of Communications

The following is the biographical information foaeh of the members of our senior management teaosrdeh
not also serve on our Board of Directors:

Diego Maus Lizariturryis our Chief Financial Officer. He joined us im@&2007 as advisor to the Chairman
and Head of Corporate Development.
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Mr. Maus Lizariturry holds a business degree from €olegio Universitario de Estudios Financierod NEF)
in Madrid and is a Certified European Financial kea(CEFA). Prior to joining us, he occupied saleples at
Telefénica, including Sub-director for Investmemtr@ol and Analysis of Telefénica Internacionalrézitor of Investor
Relations of Telefénica and controller of Telefénic

José Manuel Zarandona de la Torns the Director General of our pulp business. dlegd us in April 2010.

Mr. Zarandona de la Torre holds a degree in indlgngineering from the Escuela Superior de Ingrers
Industriales in Bilbao as well as a postgraduaggetein Business from the Universidad de los Andé3ogota,
Colombia. Prior to joining us, he worked from 2@6®010 at Grupo SCA in Spain, where he was mastgy
Director of Energy for Europe, and from 1996 to Q@@ Papeles Nacionales in Colombia, where he Vaas gdirector
and engineering director. Mr. Zarandona has alsloelxperience working as an engineer for ENERTE®, Jaomes
Espafia and Sidenor.

Jacinto Lobo Moranis the Director General of our Energy businessjditeed us in May 2011.

Mr. Lobo Moran holds a degree in energy engineefriogn ETSII Bilbao. Prior to joining us, he was Bétor
of Business Development for the Iberian Market @BHnternacional from 2000 to 2011, Executive ViResident of
Ente Vasco de Energia (EVE) from 1994 to 1998 asmdd® Manager for Utilities at Andersen Consultirtg was also
Director of Energy and Environment at SENER fron74 % 1980, 1991 to 1994 and 1998 to 2000.

Maria José Zueras Saludais the Director General of our Human Resourcesdegnt. She joined us in
November 2007.

Ms. Zueras Saludas holds law degrees from the teatde Derecho de Zaragoza and the Universidad
Complutense in Madrid and a Masters degree in HURemources Management from CESEM. She has alsolemu@
general management course at ESADE in Barceloina. 8rjoining us, over the course of her career Isbld senior
human resource management and labor relationsableXA Winterthur, Telefénica de Espafia, Arceladaceralia.
She has also held roles at TENEO and the StatestialuAgency in Spain.

Alvaro Eza Bernaolds the Director of our Forestry Business. He jdins in November 2011.

Mr. Eza holds a BSc in Electrical Engineering, andVIBA in the IESE Business School in Navarra. iPigo
joining us, he was the Managing Director of Cosid@zart of the Celsa group) between 2004 and 2B68: to that, he
was the Procurement Director at Celsa.

Guillermo Medina Orsis our General Counsel and Vice Secretary. Heepbims in June 2009.

Mr. Medina Ors holds degrees in law and in busisessinistration from ICADE-Pontificial Universityfo
Comillas (Madrid, 1990) as well as master’s degiedsnancial Economy (ICADE—Madrid) and Politicaid
Institutional Communication (Carlos Il Universitiytadrid). He has also undertaken doctoral studidavinat
Universidad Complutense and Universidad San PaBlo-(Madrid) and participated in postgraduate casisevarious
legal matters (competition, corporate law, mergam acquisitions, communications and media) iredffit universities
(including Harvard University and the University dfinsterdam). He worked as an associate at theitawltberforo—
Alzaga, Caro, Marafién, Sanchez-Teran & Asociaddsagpartner at the law firm Cremades & Calvo-SotBleviously,
he served as in-house legal counsel at the Sphrasich of Commerzbank and at Telefénica, wherecta the
positions of Deputy Director of Legal and Regulstéffairs at Telefénica Internacional (Madrid, Spaand Deputy
General Counsel at Unisource (Zurich, Switzerland).

Luis Carlos Martinezs our Director General of Communications and Ruksffairs. He joined us in January
2012.

Mr. Martinez holds a degree in economics and bssifrem the Universidad Complutense de Madrid and a
Executive MBA from the Instituto de Empresa in MddPrior to joining us, from 1986 to 2011, he haldumber of
positions at Iberdrola (formerly Hidroeléctrica Bfipla), including Director of the Iberdrola Fouridatand Director of
Communications Strategy.

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors comprises executive direcfoonsejeros executivhgepresentative external directors
(consejeros dominicalesnd independent external directarsr{sejeros independienje&xecutive board members are
the managing directors and those others who cartrgxecutive functions or maintain a stable contralarelationship
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with us or our subsidiaries other than as a dire®epresentative external directors are thoseqsexg by shareholders
by reason of a stable holding in our capital. Finahdependent external directors are professmaofbhcknowledged
prestige who can contribute their experience armkedge to corporate governance and who fulfill ids@aining
conditions required by the regulations, includimg being connected to the executive team or tafgignt shareholders.

Our Board of Directors believes that its actiomamposition, organization, remuneration and resyilitges
comply with existing corporate governance recomraéinds in accordance with the specific indicatisasforth in our
annual corporate governance report.

We include all documentation relating to our anra@porate governance report on our webgitew.ence.es
in accordance with the provisions of the Transpeyekct (Order ECO/3722/2003), Circular 1/2004 ofretal?, of the
Spanish Securities and Exchange Commission, Aiggof the Spanish Companies Law on annual reparts
corporate governance and the Unified Code of Goode@ance approved by the board of the Spanishriiesu
Commission.

Board Practices

According to our by-laws, our Board of Directorsiststs of a minimum of eight and a maximum of sxte
directors. The term of office of directors is thygmrs. The annual General Shareholders’ Meetisghepower to
appoint and remove directors. The Board of Directoay fill any vacancies that may arise from amihregshareholders
using the co-option procedure on an interim basis the next annual General Shareholders’ Meeisrigeld.

In any event, the proposals for the appointmenliregfctors submitted by the Board of Directors te #imnual
General Shareholders’ Meeting and the appointmecisibns adopted by the Board of Directors in atdance with its
powers of co-option legally attributed to the sashell be preceded by the relevant proposal to fiygoAktments and
Remuneration Committee. Where the Board of Directqts not to follow the recommendations of the @éippnents
and Remuneration Committee, it shall explain tleso@s for its actions and shall include the santkamminutes.

The Board of Directors and the Appointments and Rsmation Committee shall seek to ensure the catetd
selected are persons of recognized solvency, cempetand experience, and shall proceed with du#oan relation
to procedures to cover vacancies for independeattdis.

In accordance with applicable board regulations,Bbard of Directors shall seek to ensure thatpeddent
and non-executive directors represent an amplerityafomong the members of the Board of Directord, &am general,
that the different categories of directors ardrie with best corporate governance practice in $esfrproportionality
and characteristics. In order to establish a restserbalance between proprietary and independesttdis, the Board
of Directors shall consider our ownership structoehat the ratio of each class of directors thedher shall reflect
the relationship between stable and floating capita

In addition, in accordance with applicable boargliations, the Board of Directors is required talauate its
own functioning and the quality and effectivenesisowork at least once per year, as well as #régpmance of the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and our Chieéé&ixive Officer, as well as the functioning of theard committees
based on the reports submitted by the same. Ouéghb28, 2012 the Board of Directors proceeded thithself-
assessment procedure in accordance with the terthe applicable board regulations.

Board Committees

The Board of Directors has established four coneméttto conduct our operations: the Executive oefxe
Committee; the Audit Committee; the Appointmentd & muneration Committee; and the Advisory Commifte
Forestry Regulatory Policies.

Executive or Delegate Committee

The Executive Committee is in charge of all of theks delegated by the Board of Directors, whigh ca
delegate all the responsibilities allowed to beedated by it according to Spanish law, our by-land board
regulations.

In accordance with our by-laws, the Executive Cottarishall be composed of a minimum of four direxto
and a maximum of eight, including the Chairman.hiithese limits, the number of committee membkadl be
decided by our Board of Directors in view of charggtircumstances, seeking at all times to ensutetie Executive
Committee reproduces a reasonable balance beteadtlifterent types of directors.
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The Executive Committee is currently compriseduzriLuis Arregui Ciarsolo (Chairman), Ignacio de
Colmenares y Brunet, Javier Echenique Landiribam&ndo Abril-Martorell Hernandez, and José GuitieiZubia
Guinea.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directorthe functions of oversight and control, supengshe
effectiveness of our internal controls, internaditgsiand the processes involved in the preparatimhpresentation of
financial information.

In accordance with our by-laws, the Audit Commitsball be composed of a minimum of three and a maxi
of seven directors, the majority of whom must ba-egecutive directors. In addition, at least onéhefmembers of the
Audit Committee shall be an independent directat stmall have competence in accounting and/or augditWithin these
limits, the number of committee members shall baddal by the Board of Directors, which shall ensthia
independent directors are appropriately represented

The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Jdnuel Serra Peris (Chairman), Jesls Ruano Moghales
Javier Echenique Landiribar and José Guillermo Z@iinea.

Appointments and Remuneration Committee

The Appointments and Remuneration Committee’s isote propose a system and an amount of annual
remuneration for directors to the Board of Direstaversee compliance with our remuneration pokey] propose
measures to safeguard the transparency of remioresatd compliance therewith.

In accordance with the board regulations, the Apipoént and Remuneration Committee shall be fornyed b
non-executive directors and shall have the numberembers decided by the Board of Directors, withinimum of
three members. The committee’s membership shadildecappropriate representation of independenttdirs.

The Appointments and Remuneration Committee isectlly comprised of Fernando Abril-Martorell Hernéard
(Chairman), Javier Arregui Abendivar, Gustavo Mafidavero, and Pascual Fernandez Martinez.

Advisory Committee for Forestry and Regulatory €iel

The Advisory Committee for Forestry and Regulat@oficies’ role is to advise on the policies andutatjons
related to our activities, to establish the strggelating to such policies and regulations, @ngfomote and develop
relationships with policymakers and regulators a#i &s the related administrations and institutions

The Advisory Committee for Forestry and Regulateoficies is currently comprised of Juan Luis Arriegu
Ciarsolo, Ignacio de Colmenares y Brunet, Pedr@a®afriguero, José Carlos del Alamo Jiménez, JRsaso
Mochales, and Pascual Fernandez Martinez.

Director and Executive Compensation
Director Compensation

The office of director is remunerated by way oégular allocation of fixed remuneration and alloeasfor
attendance at meetings of the Board of Directodscdrthe board committees. The amount of remurargtayable by
the Company on an annual basis to its directorespect of these items may not exceed the sum dachéor such
purposes by the annual General Shareholders’ Mgetiithout prejudice to conditions related to tlgstem for pensions
payable in the case of death, superannuation,idityalincapacity to hold office or retirement atwlthe share options or
other financial instruments which may be approvedhle General Shareholders’ Meeting. The amouniesermined
shall be maintained until such time as it may belifred by a new resolution of the annual GeneralrSholders’
Meeting.

The exact amount payable within that limit, thetritisition thereof among the directors and the tomirf
payments shall be decided by the Board of Direcitie annual General Shareholders’ Meeting heldume 29, 2006
established a maximum annual limit on directorsiu@eration of €1,500,000, and this limit curremdynains in force
because it has not been changed by any subsequer#l &General Shareholders’ Meeting.

In accordance with applicable board regulatiordirector shall be entitled to receive the remunenaset by
the applicable board regulations in accordance thighprovisions of the by-laws and subject to ampméport of the
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Appointments and Remuneration Committee. The Bo&mRirectors shall ensure that the director’s reeration is
moderate in view of market circumstances and thatin line with such circumstances. Where the®az Directors
understands in any given year that strict appbeatif the statutory rules would result in remunierathat might not be
in line with moderate criteria, it shall resolvevtaive the payment of the amount considered exeesSuch waiver
shall be submitted to the annual general meetisigamsible for deciding on remuneration.

The remuneration of each director shall be traresgafor this purpose, the Board of Directors ghadpare an
annual report on the remuneration of directordiditéon to the annual corporate governance repleetcontents and
structure of which shall be as established by THhis report shall inform the shareholders at tha€eal Shareholders’
Meeting and it shall be subjected to a vote asHrae on a consultative basis as a separate it¢he @genda. In
accordance with this requirement, the Board of @oes prepared and approved the annual reportrentdrs’
remuneration policy for 2011 at its meeting of kelry 28, 2012.

With regard to the remuneration of independentatiines, the board regulations require the Boardicéddors to
adopt all available measures, with the advice efAppointments and Remuneration Committee, to enthat the
remuneration of independent directors is approp@aid offers incentives for their dedication butheut impairing their
independence.

Finally, in accordance with the by-laws, the diogstmay be compensated, in addition to and indegefydof
the remuneration referred to above, by way of &levery of shares or share options, or using ahgmotemuneration
system that is based on the value of our sharesajplication of such remuneration systems shadigneed by the
General Shareholders’ Meeting in accordance wigh3panish Companies Lalwely de Sociedades de Capjtathich
was approved by the Legislative Royal Decree 1/2€Ht8d July 2, 2010 (the “Spanish Companies La$tgtutory
limits on remuneration of this kind payable in gethéo executive directors are regulated in theiapbple board
regulations. Exceptionally, our shares may be detdig to non-executive directors by way of remum@naproviding the
same are held until these directors cease to et 0

Management Incentive Plan

On March 30, 2007, our Board of Directors approgeédanagement Incentive Plan (the “First Plan”),chhi
was modified and restated during the shareholdeeting held on November 30, 2010.

The purpose of the First Plan is to incentivize agament for the achievement of objectives that wet®ut
for the financial years 2010, 2011 and 2012, aradl ble in force until June 30, 2015, the date oictviall the granted
options shall be exercised (and all non-exercigeubios will expire). For such purposes, each ykaBeneficiaries (as
defined below) will receive a number of options oskares of the Company, subject to certain lifisiteeach member of
management. The Beneficiaries of the First Plaludeour Chief Executive Officer, members of ourfdgement
Committee, managers within the so-called “secont management level'Sgegundo Nivel Directiypas well as any
other manager that the Board of Directors may aedeyfrom time to time (the “Beneficiaries”).

The maximum number of shares granted to the Baagés of this First Plan is limited to 3,850,00Gees,
which represent approximately 1.5% of our totakst@pital. The maximum number of options over ehidn be
granted in favor of our Chief Executive Officeliimited to 1,000,000 shares. The strike price far dptions
corresponding to the 2010 financial year will be #verage price of the stock of the Issuer withan20 business days
prior to June 22, 2010. For the options correspanth financial years 2011 and 2012, the strikegowill be the
average price of the stock of the Issuer withinfitgt 20 days of March 2011 and the first 20 daf/March 2012,
respectively. The options shall be cumulative far Beneficiaries, and may be exercised after tbergbanniversary
from the date in which such options were grantedly i (i) the Beneficiary maintains a work or s relationship
with the Issuer, from the time of joining the FiRdan to the date on which the options are exatdise., two years after
the granting of such options), and (ii) at the tiofi@xercising the option, the Issuer has reestét a regular dividend

policy.

Additionally, the approval of the was approved ien@ral Shareholders' Meeting held on March 21, 2013
approved a new Management Incentive Plan (the 18&8tan”).The purpose of the Second Plan is tontizize
management for the achievement of objectives tleat wet out for the financial years 2013, 2014201b, and shall be
in force until December 31, 2015. The amount ofitingy term incentive shall be as determined bybtberd of directors
according to the level of goal achievement by tbenany and the level of management occupied bipeheficiary. In
any case, the maximum amount of incentive that fiages may receive shall never exceed 120%ydaly payment
of average compensation over years 2013, 2014 @hsl 2r each level of management. The Beneficiarféhe Second
Plan include our Chief Executive Officer and thé&€lirectors of the Company to be determined leylibard of
directors at the proposal of the appointments antlineration committee, according to their abilitgirectly influence
the success of the strategic plans (the “Benefeséy.
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The criteria for awarding of the incentive, whosasideration will fall to the board of directorbadl be as
follows: a) The increase in the value of Ence stodke periods, percentages and other terms tetmrmined by the
board of directors (the baseline of the Ence sfockurposes of calculating the incentive shaltheaverage value of
Ence shares in the last quarter of 2012 in terrmarket capitalization); b) The increase in thaugadf Ence stock
(calculated to the baseline mentioned in the prieageskction) in comparison to the increase in stadke of the
companies in the sector on the terms and conditisrestablished by the board of directors; anche)ificrease in the
value of the Company as to 31 December 2015 caézlilan the terms agreed to by the board of dired¢tking into
account the EBITDA achieved and the outstanding dedpect to market value of the Company at 31 Béee 2012.

The board of directors of the Company is givenabthority, with express powers by proxy in the Exae
Committee, to adopt any agreements and sign anynaets, public or private, as may be necessarpmrenient to
develop, execute and formalize the Incentive Rdaimg particularly able, though not limited to: laplement the
Incentive Plan as it sees fit and in the specifamner it deems appropriate; b) identify what pessartheir role as
directors of the company will be designated as figiaeies of the Incentive Plan, and specify wheatdls to which each
one will be added; c) develop and set the speigfims of the Incentive Plan where the agreemerg doespecify,
including particularly but not limited to, the déopment of the criteria for awarding the incentitlee specific terms of
payment of the incentive beneficiaries, the poBgilnf establishing events that lead to early paytrof the Incentive
Plan and the power to set the requirements thadflogaries must meet in order to receive the inieent

Employment Agreements
Several of the members of our senior managememt teae employment agreements that include progsion

for special severance payments in addition to tihegaired under applicable law. The aggregate valuke severance
payments under these agreements was €1.6 millioh$sptember 30, 2012.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Our major shareholders as of the date of this Reparain fully committed to the business. They iparated in
our €130 million capital increase implemented inrtth62010, which underscored their continued coioscand
confidence in our business. Our two largest shddelns, Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. and Alcor HoldilggA., have
each held a shareholding interest in excess of @08ar shares since 2007. In addition, Juan Luigdui, who
represents the interests of our largest sharehdRégos Operativos XXI, S.L., which owns 24.5% of ehares, is
currently the Chairman of our Board of Directors.

As of December 31, 2012 the authorized share dagitBNCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. was €225,245,250
consisting of 250,272,500 fully paid-up sharesmiioig part of the same series, each with a par val@®.9. The
following table sets forth information regarding theneficial ownership of ENCE Energia y Celul&a,. as of
September 30, 2012.

As of December 30, 2012

Number of

Owner Shares held Percent
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. (Juan Luis Arregui CEOJ ..............ccoeeeeivviiiiiiiiieee e eeeeeeeieeeeee 61,360,032 24.5%
Alcor Holding, S.A. (Alberto Alcocer and Alberto @mMa)? ...........c.ccoovvevveeeeeeeeeeieee e 57,009,740 22.8%
LIDEIDANK, S, (...t 17,217,140  6.9%
PUBIIC FIOAL. ... e e e e et e e e et e e e e e et b e e e e e e nnnnaeas 95,881,616 38.3%
TrEASUNY SEOCR ...ttt e ettt n s sttt n e 18,803,972 7.5%
10 €= | PSRRI 250,272,500 100.0%
(a) Alcor Holding, S.A. and Liberbank, S.A. are endo legal obligation to disclose their sharehaidi unless they cross a certain threshold;

figures are based on the information provided éahnual accounts
(b) Treasury Stock as disclosed in the most regetification to the Spanish Securities and Excha@gamission Comision Nacional del

Mercado de Valorgson December 11, 2012.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION S

In the ordinary course of our business, we cartytramsactions with related parties in accordanitie w
established market practice and specific legalirements.

We carried out the following transactions with tethparties in the nine months ended Septembe&®® and
the years ended December 31, 2011, December 3Q,&@llDecember 31, 2009:

Acquisition of the Foresta Group’s Energy Crops Trewlogy

On December 20, 2012, we entered into an agreeimactuire the energy crops-related technologhef t
Foresta Group, including certain technology reldteresearch and developmentyitro technology and a poplar clone
for an initial payment of approximately €3.4 mitlido be paid at signing, with up to €3.1 millionadditional

consideration to be paid subject to certain agteeds and conditions.

We will also be required to make a payment of €0rilion per year under the services agreementfemext
two years.

Share Repurchase from Fidalser, S.L.

On December 7, 2012, we acquired a total of 123EEBshares, representing 5.12% of our share cafpdat
our former shareholder Fidalser, S.L. These shareish were purchased for a total consideratiofi2®.3 million, will
be kept as treasury shares pending further actimubBoard of Directors.

Transaction with Atalaya de Inversiones, S.L.

In July 2011, we acquired a total of 9,701,770 ebarepresenting 3.76% of our share capital, franfarmer
shareholder Atalaya de Inversiones, S.L. for d taasideration of €26.4 million at a price of €2 Fer share.
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DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS
The following summary of the material terms of @@rfinancing arrangements to which the Issuer aadain of its
subsidiaries are a party does not purport to be plate and is subject to, and qualified in its estijrby reference to, the
underlying documents. For further information rediug our existing indebtedness, please see “Managés
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d@elsults of Operations.”
Senior Notes due 2020
€250.0 million 7.25% senior secured notes due 2020.

In February 2013, Ence Energia y Celulosa SA is€12&@ million Senior Notes due 2020, maturing in
February 15, 2020 and priced at 100%. The notespagterest rate of 7.25% per annum with paymatesibeing
Semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and Augjbsif each year, commencing August 15, 2013.

Ranking of the Notes

The Notes will:

» be general, senior obligations of the Issuer, stby first-ranking security interests in the Cwltal
as set forth below under “—Security”;

« rank pari passu in right of payment with any erigtand future indebtedness of the Issuer thattis no
subordinated to the Notes (including the Revolviitgdit Facility);

» rank senior in right of payment to any existing &miaire obligations of the Issuer that are expsessl|
subordinated to the Notes;

* Dbe effectively subordinated to any existing andifetsecured indebtedness of the Issuer and its
subsidiaries that is secured by property or askatslo not secure the Notes, to the extent oféthee
of the property or assets securing such indebtsdmegduding our project finance debt; and

» be structurally subordinated to any existing artdrieiindebtedness of the subsidiaries of the Isthagr
do not guarantee the Notes.

Please see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the Natel Our Structure—Local insolvency laws may reoab
favorable to you as U.S. bankruptcy laws or thaselvency laws of another jurisdiction with whicbiuymay be more
familiar.”

Guarantees

The Notes will be guaranteed on a senior secursid [the “Guarantees”) by the following subsidiaraé the
Issuer (the “Guarantors”) on the Issue Date:

» Celulosa Energia, S.A.U.;

* Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U.;
* Norte Forestal, S.A.U.; and

e Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.U.

On an aggregated basis for the twelve months ebdedmber 31, 2012, the Issuer and the Guarantues ha
generated 95.4% of our EBITDA and 88.3% of our nemeand would have held 80.0% of our total assets.

Any other subsidiary (other than a subsidiary eedag biomass renewable energy generation) the BRI®f
which in any completed fiscal year after the IsBage represents the greater of (i) 5% or more @ttnsolidated
EBITDA of the Issuer and its restricted subsidisyier (ii) €5.0 million, will also be required taqvide an additional
Guarantee.
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The obligations of each Guarantor under its Guagantll be limited to an amount that can be guaadtunder
applicable laws, and will not apply to the extei@w@arantee would be illegal or unenforceable uaghticable local and
bankruptcy laws. Please see “Risk Factors—RiskatRegl to the Notes and Our Structure—Local insotyelaws may
not be as favorable to you as U.S. bankruptcy mwhose insolvency laws of another jurisdictionhaivhich you may
be more familiar” and Annex A of this Offering Menamdum.

Ranking of the Guarantees
Each Guarantee will:

* be a general senior obligation of the relevant @uoiar, secured by first ranking security interésts
the Collateral as set forth under “—Security”;

« rank pari passu in right of payment with any erigtand future indebtedness of that Guarantor ¢hat i
not subordinated to such Guarantor's Guarantee

« rank senior in right of payment to any existing &mire obligations of that Guarantor that are
expressly subordinated to such Guarantee; and

» be effectively subordinated to any existing andifetindebtedness of that Guarantor that is seduwyed
property or assets that do not secure that Guatsi@oiarantee, to the extent of the value of the
property or assets securing such indebtedness

Please see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the s\atel Our Structure—Local insolvency laws may reab
favorable to you as U.S. bankruptcy laws or thaselivency laws of another jurisdiction with whicbuymay be more
familiar.”

The Guarantees will be subject to the terms ofnitercreditor Agreement. Please see “Descriptio@tbfer
Indebtedness—Intercreditor Agreement.”

The Guarantees will be subject to release undésinarircumstances. Please see “Risk Factors—Miskating
to the Notes and Our Structure—The Collateral maydbeased without the consent of the holderseof\ites” and
“Description of the Notes—Credit Enhancement—RaeasGuarantees.”

Security

The Notes and Guarantees will be secured by arirdting security interest in the collateral (tl@&otlateral”),
which will include:

» all present and future shares of capital stockacheof the Guarantors;

» all present and future debt of the Issuer or aiotstl subsidiary owing to and held by the Issuesry
of the Guarantors (other than debt owed by ourididvies engaged in independent biomass renewable
energy generation);

e subject to certain exceptions, all present andéuteceivables (excluding receivables subjecto dret
subject, to factoring) owed to the Issuer or anthefGuarantors; and

« all present and future cash and cash equivaletdsmbank or investment accounts of the Issuer or
any of the Guarantors.

Any additional security interests that may in thufe be pledged to the Security Agent (or anaskeurity
agent to be appointed for this purpose), to sechligations under the Indenture would also conitollateral.

The obligations of the Issuer and of each subsidiithe Issuer providing a first-ranking secuiityerest in the
Collateral (or to perfect any liens on such Colatlemay be limited under applicable laws or in@dance with the
terms of the security documents relating to thda@edal and may be released under certain circurosta Please see
“Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the Notes and ducure—The enforcement of the Collateral maydsgricted by
Spanish law,” “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to thet® and our Structure—The Collateral may be rekkasthout the
consent of the holders of the Notes,” “Descriptidi©ther Indebtedness—Intercreditor Agreement,” s&etion of the
Notes—Credit Enhancement—Release of Collateral’Amuex A to this Offering Memorandum.
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Intercreditor Agreement

The first-ranking security interest in the Collatewill also be granted to secure indebtednessnhee
Revolving Credit Facility and certain hedging ohligns. In addition, the Indenture will permit assecure additional
indebtedness with liens on the Collateral undetagecircumstances. These intercreditor relatigyskill be governed
by an intercreditor agreement (the “Intercreditgréement”). Pursuant to the terms of the Intertoedigreement, any
liabilities in respect of obligations under the BReing Credit Facility and certain hedging arrangens will receive
priority with respect to any recoveries receivedmupnforcement over any such Collateral, as destiito more detail
under “Description of Other Indebtedness—Interdmrdhgreement.”

Optional Redemption

At any time prior to February 15, 2016, the Issuirbe entitled, at its option, on one or more asions to
redeem the Notes in an aggregate principal amaitribrexceed 35% of the aggregate principal amofitite Notes
with the net proceeds of certain equity offeringa aedemption price equal to 107.25% of the ppakcamount of the
Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest and addltamounts, if any, to the date of redemption; jated that at least
65% of the original principal amount of each of thetes remains outstanding after the redemption.

In addition, at any time prior to February 15, 20tt& Issuer may redeem all or part of the Notes at
redemption price equal to 100% of their principaloaint plus accrued and unpaid interest, and additiamounts, if
any, to the date of redemption, plus the Applicdtriemium (as defined under “Description of the det®ptional
Redemption”).

At any time prior to February 15, 2016, the Isswary also redeem up to 10% of the principal amo@ithe
Notes in each 12-month period commencing on Febrifar 2013 at a redemption price equal to 103%efarincipal
amount of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid irtteard additional amounts, if any.

At any time on or after February 15, 2016, the éssuay also redeem all or part of the Notes atedemption
prices listed under “Description of the Notes—Opé&bRedemption” plus accrued and unpaid intereany, to the date
of redemption.

Additional Amounts

Any payments made by the Issuer with respect tdNthtes or a Guarantor in respect of any Guaranitéev
made without withholding or deduction for taxesiny relevant taxing jurisdiction unless requireddy. If Spanish
withholding or deduction is required by law, sulbjeccertain exceptions (including those referr@dnder “—Spanish
Tax Law Requirements” below), the Issuer or thevaht Guarantor, as applicable, will pay additicarabunts so that
the net amount you receive is no less than the atnahich you would have received in the absencguoh withholding
or deduction. Please see “Description of the Not&dditional Amounts.”

Spanish Tax Law Requirements

Under regulations established by Royal Decree BER/, as amended by Royal Decree 1145/2011, income
obtained in respect of the Notes will not be sutijeavithholding tax in Spain, provided certain uggments are met,
including that the Paying Agent provides the Issirea timely manner, with a duly executed and cletegl Payment
Statement. Please see “Certain Tax Consideratiopsri§h Tax Considerations—Compliance with Certain
Requirements in Connection with Income Payments.”

The Payment Statement shall contain certain detgdsing to the Notes, including the relevant paptrdate,
the total amount of income to be paid on such paymate and a breakdown of the total amount ofrimeo
corresponding to Notes held through each clearg@mey located outside Spain.

The Issuer and the Paying Agent have entered mageeement whereby the Paying Agent undertakes to
implement certain procedures for the timely prauisby the Paying Agent to the Issuer of a duly esest and
completed Payment Statement in connection with pagiment of income under the Notes. Please se¢di@é&rax
Considerations—Spanish Tax Considerations—Compdiavith Certain Requirements in Connection with imeo
Payments.”

If a payment of income in respect of the Notesosexempt from Spanish withholding tax, includingedo any
failure by the Paying Agent to deliver a duly extecliand completed Payment Statement, such payniébevwnade net
of Spanish withholding tax, currently at the rat@d%. If this were to occur due to any failurethg Paying Agent to
deliver a duly executed and completed Payment 18&ig affected beneficial owners will receive airef of the
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amount withheld, with no need for action on theirtpif the Paying Agent submits a duly executed emmpleted
Payment Statement to the Issuer no later thanGtiechlendar day of the month immediately followthg relevant
payment date. In addition, following the 20th calanday of the month immediately following the kelat payment
date, beneficial owners may apply directly to tipardsh tax authorities for any refund to which thegy be entitled
pursuant to the “Procedures for Direct Refund ftbmSpanish Tax Authorities” set forth in Annex Blas Offering
Memorandum. The Issuer will not pay Additional Amésiin respect of any such withholding tax.

Beneficial owners should note that none of the Issu or the Initial Purchasers assume any responsibiy
relating to the procedures established for the timg provision by the Paying Agent of a duly executednd
completed Payment Statement in connection with eagiayment of income under the Notes. Accordingly, me of
the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers will be liablefor any damage or loss suffered by any beneficialwner who
would otherwise be entitled to an exemption from Sgnish withholding tax but whose income payments are
nonetheless paid net of Spanish withholding tax baase these procedures prove ineffective.

Optional Tax Redemption

The Issuer may also redeem the Notes in wholendiuin part, at any time, upon giving proper nati€eertain

changes in law impose certain withholding taxesumounts payable on the Notes. If the Issuer detalds this, the

Issuer must pay you a price equal to the prinapabunt of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid irtarescertain
additional amounts, if any, to the date of redeociptPlease see “Description of the Notes—Optiorad Redemption.”

Change of Control

If a Change of Control occurs, the Issuer will bguired to offer to repurchase the Notes at 101 #aedf
aggregate principal amount, plus accrued and unptddest and certain additional amounts, if anythe date of
repurchase. Please see “Description of the Notessr@hof Control.”

Certain Covenants

The Issuer will issue the Notes under the Indentlibe Indenture will limit, among other things, thiaility of
the Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries to:

* incur more debt;

e pay dividends, repurchase stock, and make distoibsiand certain other payments and investments;

e create or permit to exist certain liens;

e enter into transactions with affiliates;

» transfer or sell assets other than in the ordicaryse of business;

» impair security interests for the Notes;

» provide guarantees of other debt;

e agree to restrictions on dividends or other paymbgtcertain subsidiaries to the Issuer; and

* merge or consolidate.
Transfer Restrictions

The Notes have not been, and will not be, regidtareler the U.S. Securities Act or any state stesdaw or

regulation and may not be offered or sold, excepsyant to an exemption from, or in a transactioinsaibject to the
registration requirements of, the U.S. Securities Ahe Issuer has not agreed, or otherwise urldmrido register the
Notes under the U.S. Securities Act or any statarg@s law or regulation.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Issuer, as original borrower and guarantoeredtinto a Revolving Credit Facility agreemene(tRCF
Agreement”) between, among others certain subgdiaf the Issuer listed in Schedule 1 thereto tfide Bank AG,
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London Branch, Banco Espafiol de Crédito, S.A., Bar A., Banco de Sabadell, S.A., Barclays BankPL
CaixaBank, S.A., Citibank International PLC, Londmd Bankinter, S.A. as arrangers, and certaiméiad institutions
listed in Schedule 1 thereto as original lenders &gutsche Bank AG, London Branch, as facilityrageriginal issuing
bank and security agent. The RCF Agreement provates €90.0 million committed revolving credit fity (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”). In the event that tk90.0 million committed revolving credit facilitg reduced by reason
of a lender defaulting or it becomes unlawful fdeader to provide or continue to provide funditigg borrower is
entitled to request that the aggregate commitmengtéincreased to permit another lender or lenaepsdvide a
commitment equal to the commitment of the defagltander. The Issuer may, with 15 business dayst piritten
notice, request that the amount of the Revolvingd@r~acility be increased by up to an additiorabémillion to up to
€95.0 million in total. Such increased commitmehe (“Increased Revolving Credit Facility AmountsVijl be provided
by one or more existing or new lenders of the Raugl Credit Facility and/or by another appropriatgity selected by
the Issuer. Debt incurred under the Revolving Grédcility, including any Increased Revolving Crdeiacility
Amounts, will rankpari passuwith the Notes.

Interest and Maturity

The loans under the RCF Agreement will bear inteaekIBOR or, in relation to any loan in euro, EIBOR,
plus a margin of 4.00% per annum (plus the mangatost, if any) payable on the last day of eacHieglple interest
period (as determined in accordance with the teritise RCF Agreement); provided that at the entheffirst quarter,
following the anniversary of the date of completafrthe Offering and at the end of each quarterethiger, the margin
will fluctuate with and be tied to our ratio of rigtbt to EBITDA (as both terms are defined in tii@gFRAgreement) at a
rate per annum of between 4.00% and 3.00%. Therlmaegin will be applicable if our ratio of net deéb EBITDA is
less than 1.50:1, while the higher margin will Ipplicable if our ratio of net debt to EBITDA is gtter than or equal to
2.00:1.

The termination date of the Revolving Credit Fagiis the fifth anniversary of the date the RCF dgment is
signed.

Covenants and Events of Default

The RCF Agreement contains certain restrictive namés and events of default which, subject to aoniiog
amendments, reflect the covenants and events atiliebntained in the Indenture. The RCF Agreeraésd contains
certain customary representations and warrantiefaddities of this type. In addition, the Issisdrall not, and shall
procure that none of its subsidiaries shall, repagpay, purchase, defease (or otherwise retiredioie) or directly or
indirectly acquire any of the Notes or offer tostbunless (to the extent such Notes purchases siackethe date of the
RCF Agreement have resulted in the aggregate pahaimount outstanding under the Notes being 40Bsarthan the
aggregate principal amount outstanding under tloer@d Notes on the Issue Date) the commitmentsruhdeRCF
Agreement are also cancelled in a pro rata amount.

Security and Guarantees

Our obligations under the RCF Agreement will beused by first-priority security interests over theme
assets as those securing the Notes. Guarantegs;tdolcertain limitations in relation to unlawfiihancial assistance,
will be jointly and severally provided by the sambsidiaries guaranteeing the Notes.

In particular, the obligations and liabilities afyaSpanish Guarantor shall not include any obligatihich if
incurred would constitute financial assistance imithe meaning of article 150 of the Spanish Corggmbhaw (ey de
Socidades de Capifal

Voluntary Prepayments

The Issuer and the other borrowers of the Revol@regdit Facility (the “Borrowers”) have the optitm
voluntarily prepay or cancel all or part of the Be¥ng Credit Facility in tranches of at least €XHID (and in multiples
of €250,000 if more) with five business days’ netfor each of cancellation and prepayments. Theetsand the
Borrowers have the option to voluntarily prepayiradividual lender or issuing bank in the event thay sum payable to
that lender or issuing bank is required to be iase€l due to a tax gross-up or indemnification cgrefincreased costs
are payable in certain circumstances.

Mandatory Prepayments

Mandatory prepayment and cancellation of the RemglCredit Facility will, reflecting the covenants
contained in the Indenture, occur upon (i) certdiange of control events and a sale of substant#libf our assets or
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(i) it being illegal for a lender to provide ormiinue to provide funding (such prepayment willlingited to such
lender’s share). In the case of any prepaymentstheer and the other Borrowers would be requingubly accrued
interest on the amount prepaid and break costs.

Project Financings
Project Financing for the Huelva Facility

On June 21, 2011, ENCE Energia Huelva, S.L.U.ndiméctly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuertezad
into a €101.3 million credit facility agreementéttHuelva Senior Credit Agreement”) with Banco Bsplade
Crédito, S.A., Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones de Bameg(currently, CaixaBank, S.A.), Banco Bilbao t4ga
Argentaria, S.A., Banco Santander, S.A., Bankia,,Snstituto de Crédito Oficial and Banco Sabad8lA. to finance
the development, construction and commissioninigsdfiuelva biomass energy facility. The availagilinder the
Huelva Senior Credit Agreement is expected to Haaed to €99.1 million.

Construction of this facility, which has a capa@f560 MW and a forecast annual production of agipnately
340 million kwh, was completed in September 201ifh & test phase completed in December 2012 andoke
possession of the facility in the February 7, 200f% Huelva Senior Credit Agreement provides ferfthancing of
75% of the project costs (excluding applicable VAiith the remainder financed through equity andosdimated debt.

The financing period is twelve years, including tyears for the construction period and a ten-yeartization
period over the facility’s commercial operation.eTHuelva Senior Credit Agreement bears an inteadstequal to
EURIBOR plus a margin of 3.25% during years 1 tigtod, 3.50% during years 5 through 8 and 3.75% fyear 9
onwards, and its maturity date is December 22, 2022

The Huelva Senior Credit Agreement contains cextastomary events of default, including, among athand
subject to certain exceptions and grace periodaptle in the payment or prepayment of any amopag@ble, breach of
obligations or undertakings provided for in thejpod finance documentation, misrepresentation, reefoent of
security, failure to comply with certain financ@venants, cross-default under other indebtedmedsi®d to project
finance and occurrence of certain bankruptcy asdlugncy events.

In connection with the Huelva Senior Credit Agreeme&ve granted security over certain assets ofquéar
companies of our Group, including, among othepdedge over the shares of the project special parpehicle (ENCE
Energia Huelva, S.L.U.) granted by ENCE Energig,L5, a pledge over the credit rights arising froemtain project
agreements related to the processing plant ani@¢hiy, a chattel mortgage commitment over thegassing plant and
the facility, a pledge over biomass stock and dgeeon certain bank accounts related to the project

In addition, we entered into a commitment and gu@&agreement@ntrato de compromisos y garanfias
pursuant to which we granted the following guarasteithin the framework of the Huelva Senior Crédjteement and
also undertook to comply with certain obligationstomary for this kind of project, many of whicledracked by the
terms of the EPC contract:

e Limited Recourse in Force Until the Completion Daténder the Huelva Senior Credit Agreement, the
Issuer may be required to pay any cost overruneeho the project without any limitation with resp to
the amount of liability.

The Issuer may be required to prepay certain ansalnatvn under the Huelva Senior Credit Agreement
(including related breakage costs) in the eveli)dhe non-completion of the project by June 1@12,

(ii) acceleration by the lenders under the Hueleai& Credit Agreement before the Completion Datel
(iii) changes in the tariff applicable to the fégilor the approval of amendments to Royal Dec&E 07
that would have an impact on the economic feasjlili the facility and/or the ability of the profespecial
purpose vehicle to comply with its obligations unttee Huelva Senior Credit Agreement.

* Limited Recourse in Force After Completion but 8abjo Expiration Date:The Issuer may be required to
prepay certain amounts drawn under the Huelva $é&niedit Agreement (including related breakage ost
in the event of (i) failure to meet certain reqoients under the EPC contract, and (ii) shortfallthe
electricity production of the facility.

In addition, the Issuer may be required to pref 4f the amounts drawn under the Huelva SeniodiCre
Agreement in the event that the plan for growingpsragreed between us and the lenders in conneditiothe the
Huelva Senior Credit Agreement is not complied withich requirement will expire on January 1, 20f4ertain other
technical conditions are met, the guarantee (i) m@lreduced to 20% of the amounts drawn undeHtiedva Senior
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Credit Agreement if 80% of the plan for growing pschas been complied with and (ii) will expire ugmmmpletion of
90% or more of the plan for growing crops. As otBber 31, 2012, we had complied with approximaiéBs of such
plan.

» Limited Recourse Without Applicable Expiration Daléhe Issuer may be required to prepay certain
amounts drawn under the Huelva Senior Credit Agezgrtincluding related breakage costs) in the event
that the biomass supply plan agreed between utharidnders in connection with the Huelva Senigrdar
Agreement is not complied with, with a maximum amioef liability limited to € 25 million. In additio,
the Issuer may be required to increase the amdunibmass supplied to the project special purpeatecle
on an ongoing basis if a regulatory amendment ajapgca reduction in permitted fossil fuel uses for
electricity generation through biomass transforarats enacted.

The Issuer may be required to guarantee any danaagkl®ss of profits during the whole operationiqubr
of the facility arising from a breach of the avhildy parameters required in connection with tipei@tion
and maintenance contract, with a maximum amouhélbifity equal to the price applicable under the
operation and maintenance contract.

The Issuer may be required to cover the tax corsemps of improved profits and/or extra lossesrasalt
of the inclusion of the project special purposeidehinto the tax group of the Issuer for corporate
purposes, provided that certain circumstances odduis guarantee is not subject to any cap omitsiat.
In addition, the Issuer may be required to paygsatergeable to the project special purpose veagke
result of the creation of the chattel mortgage dlerfacility.

Project Financing for the Mérida Facility

On June 15, 2012, ENCE Energia Extremadura, S.ariindirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Issue
entered into a €60.7 million credit facility agresmh (the “Mérida Senior Credit Agreement”) with BarEspafiol de
Crédito, S.A., Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, Safid CaixaBank, S.A. to finance the developmenistruction and
commissioning of its Mérida biomass energy facilthe availability under the Mérida Senior Credgréement is
expected to be reduced to €50.7 million.

The facility, which has a capacity of 20 MW andexpected annual production of 158 GWh, is expetded
become operational during the last quarter of 20hé. Mérida Senior Credit Agreement provides fer fihancing of
75% of the project costs (excluding VAT), with tleenainder financed through equity and subordindtat.

The financing period is 15 years, including tworgefr the construction period and a 13-year amatitin
period over the facility’s commercial operation.€eTMérida Senior Credit Agreement bears an inteegstequal to
EURIBOR plus a margin of 3.5% during years 1 thtoGgand 4.0% from year 6 onwards, and its matuaiatle is
June 15, 2027.

The Mérida Senior Credit Agreement contains certastomary events of default, including, among athand
subject to certain exceptions and grace periodautie in the payment or prepayment of any amopatable, breach of
obligations or undertakings provided for in thejpob finance documentation, misrepresentation, reefoent of
security, failure to comply with certain financ@venants, cross-default under other indebtedmedsi®d to project
finance and occurrence of certain bankruptcy aedlu@ncy events.

In connection with the Mérida Senior Credit Agre@meve granted security over certain assets ofquéar
companies of the Group, including, among othepedge over the shares of the project special mgrpehicle
(ENCE Energia Extremadura, S.L.U.) granted by ENEDErgia, S.L.U., a pledge over the credit righisirag from
certain project agreements, a pledge over bankuatsoelated to the project, a promissory pledgamitment without
transfer of possession over biomass stock, a psomipledge over certain credit rights derived friim sale of energy
and a mortgage commitment over the facility’s site.

In addition, we entered into a shareholders’ supagreementdontrato de apoyo de socjgsursuant to which
we granted the following guarantees within the fearark of the Mérida Senior Credit Agreement and alisdertook to
comply with certain obligations customary for thiad of project, many of which are backed by thenie of the EPC
contract.

e Limited Recourse in Force Until the Completion Daténder the Mérida Senior Credit Agreement, the
Issuer may be required to contribute equity toptmect special purpose vehicle in such amouns as i
required to ensure that the maximum gearing rggmieable under the Mérida Senior Credit Facilibed
not exceed 75/25.
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The Issuer may be required to pay any cost ovagiated to the project without any limitation witspect
to the amount of liability.

The Issuer may be required to prepay certain arsalnatwn under the Mérida Senior Credit Agreement
(including related breakage costs) in the everi)dhe non-completion of the project by March 2015,
(ii) non-registration of the facility with the Spah Registry of Electricity Production Installat®onder
Special RegimeRegistro de Instalaciones de Produccion en Régiasgrecia) (RIPRE) by October 31,
2014, (iii) acceleration by the lenders under théritte Senior Credit Agreement before the completion
date, and (iv) approval of any changes in the apple regulatory regime or enactment of any reguiat
that creates an increase in the project costau@intd, inter alia, the creation of any tax on revenues from
electricity generation) and/or a decrease in thesteetricity remuneration. In addition, the Issosay be

required to service any amount owed under the Mé&Bignior Credit Agreement until September 30, 2014.

The Issuer may be required to prepay 45% of theuatsadrawn under the Mérida Senior Credit
Agreement in the event that the plan for growingpsragreed between us and the lenders in connection
with the Mérida Senior Credit Agreement is not ctieghwith. If certain other technical condition®anet,
this guarantee (i) will be reduced to 20% of thevants drawn under the Mérida Senior Credit Agreégmen
where 80% of the plan for growing crops has beenpdied with and (ii) will expire upon completion of
90% or more of the plan for growing crops. As otBeber 31, 2012, we had complied with
approximately 77% of such plan.

» Limited Recourse in Force After Completion but 8abjo Expiration Date:The Issuer may be required to
prepay certain amounts drawn under the Mérida $&mnedit Agreement (including related breakage sjost
in the event of shortfalls in the facility’s eldcity production. The guarantee will expire 24 nfonafter
the completion date.

» Limited Recourse Without Applicable Expiration Daléhe Issuer may be required to prepay certain
amounts drawn under the Mérida Senior Credit Agedr(including related breakage costs) in the event
that the biomass supply plan agreed between ugharidnders in connection with the Mérida Seniceditr
Agreement is not complied with, with the maximumacamt of liability being limited to €4.3 million.

The Issuer may be required to cover the taseguences of improved profits and/or extra lossesrasult of the
inclusion of the project special purpose vehicte ithe tax group of the Issuer for corporate tasppses. In addition, the
Issuer may be required to make payments in ordeoter a more-adverse tax treatment and/or poditianmay result
under the interest barrier rules applicable in §fas a consequence of including the project spparpose vehicle
within the tax group of the Issuer for corporate parposes). None of these guarantees have arafiiom with respect
to amount of liability.

Intercreditor Agreement

In connection with entering into the RCF Agreemamd the Indenture, the Issuer and the Guarantéesesh
into the Intercreditor Agreement to govern thetieteships and relative priorities among: (i) theders under the
Revolving Credit Facility (the “RCF Lenders”); (&ny persons that accede to the Intercreditor Ages¢ as providers
of hedging which is permitted to be secupedi passuwith the Revolving Credit Facility (the “Hedge Guarparties”)
pursuant to certain hedging agreements, as pednitténe relevant finance documents (collectivétg “Hedging
Agreements”); (iii) the Trustee, for itself and behalf of the holders of the Notes (the “Notehatdgrand
(iv) subsidiaries of the Issuer which are borrowmrguarantors of the Revolving Credit Facilitydkean “Obligor” and
together the “Obligors”).

The Issuer and each of its restricted subsidighigsprovides a guarantee under the RCF Agreemeheo
Indenture is referred to in this description a&aérantor” and are referred to collectively as“thaarantors.” In this
description “Group” refers to the Issuer and itstReted Subsidiaries.

The Intercreditor Agreement sets forth:

» the relative ranking of certain indebtednesshef®bligors;

» the relative ranking of certain security granbgcthe Obligors;

* when payments can be made in respect of centdebtedness of the Obligors;

« when enforcement actions can be taken in resgahat indebtedness;
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» the terms pursuant to which certain indebtedmélé®e subordinated upon the incurrence of certain
insolvency events;

e turnover provisions; and

» when security and guarantees will be releasgetmit a sale of any assets subject to securigy (th
“Collateral”).

The Intercreditor Agreement contains provisionewihg future indebtedness that may be incurrechby t
Obligors or another group company and that is psechby the RCF Agreement and the Indenture tk pami passu
with the Revolving Credit Facility and the Notegldre secured by the Collateral, subject to thegerfithe Intercreditor
Agreement (such debt beinBdri PassuLiabilities” and the creditors of such debt befiRari Passu Creditory.

The Intercreditor Agreement also allows, underaiertonditions, additional advances under the Réngl
Credit Facility and additional Notes to rapéri passuwith the Revolving Credit Facility and the Notewlebe secured
by the Collateral. The Intercreditor Agreementwaldor a refinancing in full or in part of the Nster the Revolving
Credit Facility or anyPari PassuLiabilities.

The following description is a summary of certaroyisions, among others, contained in the Interitoed
Agreement. It does not describe the Intercreditpre&ment in its entirety, and we urge you to réad document
because it, and not the description that follovedings your rights as holders of the Notes.

Ranking and Priority

The Intercreditor Agreement provides that the liies of the Obligors with respect to the RevolyiGredit
Facility (the “RCF Liabilities”) and certain hedgjragreements (to the extent secured, the “Hedgialgillties” and,
together with the RCF Liabilities, the “Super Seni@bilities”), the liabilities of the Obligors irespect of the Notes
(the “Notes Liabilities”), thd?ari PassuLiabilities and the liabilities of the Obligors der certain intercompany loans,
including those relating to the on-lending of tlieqeeds of the Notes, the repayment of which isieé¢o enable an
Obligor to repay any of the Notes Liabilities (“&ttural Intercompany Liabilities”), will rank inght and priority of
payment in the following order:

« first, the Super Senior Liabilities, the Noteslhilities, thePari PassuLiabilities (together with the Super
Senior Liabilities and the Notes Liabilities, theecured Liabilities”) and the Structural Intercompa
Liabilities pari passuand without any preference between them; and

* second, certain intercompany liabilities of thisli@ors under intercompany loans that are not Sirat
Intercompany Liabilities (the “Non-Structural Intempany Liabilities”).

Under the Intercreditor Agreement, all proceedmfenforcement of the Collateral will be appliedbasvided
under “—Application of Proceeds.”

Permitted Payments of Subordinated Debt

The Intercreditor Agreement permits, among othirgy payments to be made by the Obligors in reésgfabe
RCF Liabilities, the Notes Liabilities, tHeari PassuLiabilities and Structural Intercompany LiabilsieThe
Intercreditor Agreement also permits payment of fdructural Intercompany Liabilities from time e when due to
members of the Group owed Non-Structural Intercamgdaabilities (“Non-Structural Intercompany Lialties
Payments”) if at the time of payment no acceleraéwent has occurred in respect of any RCF LiaslitNotes
Liabilities orPari PassuLiabilities (an “Acceleration Event”). The Inteetlitor Agreement permits Non-Structural
Intercompany Liabilities Payments if such an Accatien Event occurs (i) prior to the date on whidhSuper Senior
Liabilities are discharged in full and the RCF Lerglhave no further obligations under the Revol@nedit Facility
documents and the hedge counterparties have refusbligations under the agreements governingteuaging
Liabilities (the “Super Senior Discharge Date”)ttwihe consent of the RCF Agent (as defined bel@)prior to the
date on which all the Notes Liabilities are disgeat (the “Notes Discharge Date”), with the congdrihe Trustee; and
(iii) prior to the date on which theari PassuLiabilities have been discharged in full and Bai Passu Creditorbave
no further obligation in respect of tRari PassuLiabilities (the ‘Pari PassuDischarge Date”), with the consent of the
creditor representative of tiiRari Passu Creditorgthe ‘Pari PassuRepresentative”).
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Creditor Representative

Under the Intercreditor Agreement (or, in respédche RCF Agent, under the RCF Agreement), theigmrt
appoint various creditor representatives (eachegfd Representative”) being:

0] in relation to the RCF Lenders, the Revolvingdit Facility agent (the “RCF Agent”);
(i) in relation to the Noteholders, the Trusteeda
(iii) in relation to thePari Passu CreditorsthePari PassuRepresentative.

Each Hedge Counterparty shall be its own credéprasentative.
Entitlement to Enforce Collateral
The Security Agent may refrain from enforcing thall@eral unless otherwise instructed by:

@ prior to the Super Senior Discharge Date,Rlagi PassuDischarge Date, the Notes Discharge Date andates d
falling six months after the occurrence of anyvatg Acceleration Event which is continuing (thex'$lonths
Date”), the Note$?ari PassuRequired Holders (as defined below) and, if th&=R@ent’s instructions (acting
on instructions from the Majority Super Senior Gred (as defined below)) are consistent with thofsihe
NotesPari PassuRequired Holders, the RCF Agent (acting on instoms from the Majority Super Senior
Creditors);

(i) after the Super Senior Discharge Date butmptaathe Notes Discharge Date and Bagi PassuDischarge Date,
the NotedPari PassuRequired Holders; or

(iii) prior to the Super Senior Discharge Date &ftier the first to occur of (A) the Six Months Dated (B) the first
date on which both theari PassuDischarge Date and the Notes Discharge Date hesari@d, the RCF Agent
(acting on instructions from the Majority Super BerCreditors),

andprovidedthat, so long as neither the Super Senior DisehBage, nor th®ari PassuDebt Discharge Date nor the
Notes Discharge Date has occurred, such instructom consistent with certain principles (the “SigiEnforcement
Principles”). Please see “—Limitation on Enforceiney Super Senior Creditors and Noteholders.” Teeusity Agent
may disregard any instructions from any other petscenforce the Collateral and may disregard asfructions to
enforce any Collateral if those instructions amimsistent with the Intercreditor Agreement. TheuBigy Agent is not
obligated to enforce the Collateral if it is nopappriately indemnified (including by way of prerfding) by the relevant
creditors.

“Pari PassuDebt Required Holders” means, in respect of amgctiobn, approval, consent or waiver, BPari
Passu Creditorgf the principal amount d?ari PassuLiabilities required to vote in favor of such diten, consent or
waiver under the terms of the relev®atri PassuLiabilities documents or, if the required amounhot specified, the
holders holding at least the majority of the ppratiamount of the then outstandiRgri PassuLiabilities. For the
avoidance of doubt, in determining whether Btagi Passu Creditoref the required principal amount Bari Passu
Liabilities have concurred in any direction, waiwgrconsentPari PassuLiabilities owed by any member of the Group,
or by any Person directly or indirectly controllingcontrolled by or under direct or indirect commemntrol with any
Obligor, will be considered as though not outstagdi

“NotesPari PassuRequired Holders” means:
0] the Notes Required Holders (as defined belany

(i) if applicable and if the aggregate amounPafri PassuLiabilities is equal to or more than €50,000,00@,
Pari PassuDebt Required Holders,

provided thatif the instructions are received from only thet&oRequired Holders or (subject to paragraplakigve)
only thePari PassuDebt Required Holders, the instructions of thapmnding class will prevail, and in the event that
there is an inconsistency in instructions receiveth the Notes Required Holders and (subject tagraph (ii) above)
thePari PassuLiabilities Required Holders:

0] if the Notes Liabilities are equal to or graattean thePari PassuLiabilities, the instructions of the Notes
Required Holders will prevail; and
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(i) if the Pari PassuLiabilities are greater than the Notes Liabilifid®e instructions of thBari PassuLiabilities
Required Holders will prevail.

“Notes Required Holders” means, in respect of amgction, approval, consent or waiver, the Notebadcbf
the principal amount of Notes required to voteawdr of such direction, consent or waiver underténms of the Notes
or, if the required amount is not specified, theeétolders holding at least the majority of the pipal amount of the
then outstanding Notes, in accordance with theritde. For the avoidance of doubt, in determinitigetlier the
Noteholders of the required principal amount of@édbhave concurred in any direction, waiver or copdéotes owned
by any member of the Group will be considered asgh not outstanding.

“Majority Super Senior Creditors” means, at anydijrthose RCF Lenders and Hedge Counterparties whose
Super Senior Credit Participations at that timeragate more than 6% of the total Super Senior Credit Participations
at that time.

“RCF Discharge Date” means the first date upon wile RCF Liabilities have been unconditionally
discharged in full and the RCF Lenders are owetlrtber obligations under the Finance Documents.

“Super Senior Credit Participation” means, in fielato an RCF Lender or Hedge Counterparty, theexgge

of:

(a) on or prior to the RCF Discharge Date, each R@fder’s aggregate Commitments (as defined in the
RCF Agreement and, in the event of any Refinanpegnitted in accordance with the RCF Agreement,
“Commitments” as defined in any applicable replaeatdacility agreement);

(b) in respect of any hedging transaction of a e@gunterparty under any Hedging Agreement thatdsasef the

date the calculation is made, been terminatedosed out in accordance with the terms of the Ingglitor
Agreement, the amount, if any, payable to that léedgunterparty under any Hedging Agreement in retspfe
that termination or close-out as of the date ahteation or close-out (and before taking into actany
interest accrued on that amount since the daterafimation or close-out) to the extent that amasininpaid
(that amount to be certified by the relevant He@genterparty and as calculated in accordance With t
relevant Hedging Agreement); and

(c) after the RCF Discharge Date only, in respéeiny hedging transaction of a Hedge Counterpartieuany
Hedging Agreement that has, as of the date thelledion is made, not been terminated or closed out:

() if the relevant Hedging Agreement is based d®82 ISDA Master Agreement or a 2002 ISDA Master
Agreement the amount, if any, which would be pagdblit under that Hedging Agreement in respect
of that hedging transaction, if the date on whlaé ¢alculation is made was deemed to be an Early
Termination Date (as defined in the relevant ISDAstr Agreement) for which the relevant Obligor
is the Defaulting Party (as defined in the releu&DA Master Agreement); or

(i) if the relevant Hedging Agreement is not basedan ISDA Master Agreement, the amount, if any,
which would be payable to it under that Hedginge&gment in respect of that hedging transaction, if
the date on which the calculation is made was dddmbe the date on which an event similar in
meaning and effect (under that Hedging AgreemendntEarly Termination Date (as defined in any
ISDA Master Agreement) occurred under that Heddiggeement for which the relevant Obligor is in
a position similar in meaning and effect (undet thadging Agreement) to that of a Defaulting Party
(under and as defined in the same ISDA Master Ageze),

that amount, in each case, to be certified by ¢levant Hedge Counterparty and as calculated iordaoce
with the relevant Hedging Agreement.

Limitation on Enforcement by Super Senior Creditoasid Noteholders

If the RCF Agent or the Trustee or tRari PassuRepresentative wishes to instruct the SecuritynAge
commence enforcement of any Collateral in the madescribed under “—Entitlement to Enforce Collatgrthe RCF
Agent, the Trustee and tiari PassuRepresentative (the “Secured Representatives™ ammssult with one another and
with the Security Agent in good faith with a vievd¢oordinating these instructions for 30 days @hsather period as
the Secured Representatives may agree.

None of the Secured Representatives shall be abl@eonsult before giving instructions to enfotice
Collateral in the manner described above if:
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0] the relevant Collateral has become enforceabla result of any insolvency proceedings reldtintye Obligor
against which the acceleration action has beemtakéhe debt accelerated; or

(i) a Secured Representative determines in goitid f@and notifies each other Secured Representatidethe
Security Agent) that to enter into such consultegiand thereby delay the commencement of enfordeofigime
Collateral could reasonably be expected to havedarrse effect on:

(A) their ability to enforce any of the Collateral;
(B) the realization proceeds of any enforcemerthefCollateral in any material respect.

Until the Notes Discharge Date, if the Security Agleas received conflicting enforcement instrudifnom the
Secured Representatives then the Security Agehprgimptly notify the Secured Representatives amhSecured
Representatives will consult with each other fpeaod of 15 days or such other period as the ®elcBepresentatives
may agree with a view to resolving the conflicsirch instructions (the “Further Consultation Pebiod

The Further Consultation Period will end immediaiél

0] the relevant Collateral has become enforceabla result of insolvency proceedings relatingnéo@bligor
against whom the enforcement action has been @kt debt has been accelerated; or

(i) a Secured Representative determines in goitid f@and notifies each other Secured Representatidethe
Security Agent) that to enter into such consultegiand thereby delay the commencement of enfordeofigime
Collateral could reasonably be expected to havedarrse effect on:

(A) their ability to enforce any of the Collateral;
(B) the realization proceeds of any enforcemerthefCollateral in any material respect.

The Security Agent will only enforce Collateraldancordance with instructions the Security Agentreasived
from the Noted?ari PassuRequired Holders to enforce or direct the enforeenof the Collateral (regardless of whether
or not the Security Agent has received confliciimgtructions or sole instructions from the RCF Agg@tting on
instructions from the Majority Super Senior Creds)ao enforce or direct the enforcement of thelaietal (save if the
Pari PassuDischarge Date and Notes Discharge Date or thé8inths Date has occurred, whereupon the Security
Agent shall enforce or direct the enforcement ahsQollateral in accordance with the instructidrisais received from
the RCF Agent)).

A Creditor Representative may only give enforceniiestiructions that are consistent with the Security
Enforcement Principles, including that:

0] it shall be the primary and overriding aim afyaenforcement of the Collateral to achieve theisgc
enforcement objective (being to maximize so faisa®nsistent with prompt and expeditious real@atf
value from enforcement of the Collateral, the rexg\by the RCF Lenders, the Hedge Counterparties, t
Noteholders and theari Passu Creditorgtogether the “Secured Creditors”) such objechieag, the “Security
Enforcement Objective”);

(i) the Collateral will be enforced and other encfement action will be taken such that either:

(A) all proceeds of enforcement are received bySkeurity Agent in cash for distribution in accarda
with the Intercreditor Agreement (please see “—Aggilon of Proceeds”); or

(B) sufficient proceeds from enforcement will beeied by the Security Agent in cash to ensure that
when the proceeds are applied in accordance wétintiercreditor Agreement (please see “—
Application of Proceeds”), the Super Senior Lidlg$i are repaid and discharged in full (unless the
RCF Agent agrees otherwise);

(iii) the enforcement actions are prompt and exji@el to the extent reasonably achievable provitiatithey are
consistent with the Security Enforcement Objective;

(iv) to the extent that the Collateral that is Hubject of the proposed enforcement action is:
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(A) over assets other than shares in a membeedbtbup where the aggregate book value of suclisasse
exceeds €10,000,000 (or its equivalent) (“Mate@iallateral”); or

(B) over some or all of the shares in a membehefGroup,

then the Security Agent shall (unless it is unneassin respect of enforcement proceedings inevagit
jurisdiction or the enforcement proceedings arevhy of public auction or through a court supervipeacess) appoint a
“big four” accounting firm, any reputable and inéegdent international investment bank or other rapetand
independent professional services firm with expexein restructuring and enforcement (a “Finanalisor”) to opine
(the “Financial Advisor’s Opinion”) as expert on:

(A) the optimal method of enforcing the Collatesalas to achieve the Security Enforcement Pringiple
and maximize the recovery of any such enforcemetitrg

(B) that the proceeds received from any such eafoent are fair from a financial point of view after
taking account all relevant circumstances; and

© that such sale is otherwise in accordance thighSecurity Enforcement Objective;

(v) the Financial Advisor’s Opinion (or any equi@at opinion obtained by the Security Trustee wélldonclusive
evidence that the Security Enforcement Objectiveldeen met; and

(vi) in the event than an enforcement of the Cetialtis over assets or shares referred to in papagdiiv) above and
such enforcement is conducted by way of publicaurtauction, any equity investors of the Grouplisha
subject to compliance with applicable law, be &dito participate in such auction.

The Trustee will be under no obligation to take angon under the Intercreditor Agreement unless it
indemnified or secured to its satisfaction in ademice with the Indenture in respect of all costpeases and liabilities
which it would in its opinion thereby incur. No mision of the Intercreditor Agreement shall requéither of the
Trustee or the Security Agent to do anything whigght, in its opinion, constitute a breach of aaw lor regulation of
be otherwise actionable at the suit of any person.

Application of Proceeds

The Intercreditor Agreement provides that amoueteived from the realization or enforcement obaldny
part of the Collateral will be applied in the follimg order of priority:

(i first, in payment of the fees, costs, experass liabilities of the RCF Agent, the Security AgahePari Passu
Representative and of any receiver, delegate natyoor agent appointed under any Collateral doctsranthe
Intercreditor Agreement or theari PassuLiabilities documents or the Intercreditor Agreerhand of the
Trusteepari passuand ratably between such parties;

(i) second, in payment of the balance of the casts expenses of the RCF Lenders and the Hedge&parties
(together, the “Super Senior Creditors”) (othemnttlize Security Agent, any receiver or delegatepinnection
with such realization or enforcemegdri passuand ratably between such parties;

(iii) third, in payment to the RCF Agent and thedge Counterparties for application towards theraeaof each of
the RCF Liabilities and the Hedging Liabilitiessanig under:

(A) any interest rate and currency swap hedgingspect of debt;
(B) the Revolving Credit Facility; and
© certain other hedging arrangements providetttieaamount of such hedging arrangements secared (

portion thereof) does not exceed € 95.0 milliors ke principal amount of the Revolving Credit
Facility at the relevant time;

iv ourth, in payment pari passu and pro ratéhefbalance of:

[ fourth, i [ d thefbal f
(A) the costs and expenses of the Trustee on behatdch Noteholder; and
(B) thePari PassuRepresentative on behalf of ededri Passu Creditgrand
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(v) fifth, in payment: pari passu and pro rata to:

(A) the Trustee for application towards the balaofthe Notes Liabilities; and

(B) thePari PassuRepresentative for application towards the balaricbePari PassuLiabilities.
Additional Indebtedness

In the event that any Obligor incurs any additiandebtedness that is permitted under the terntiseoNotes
and the RCF Agreement to be secured by the Cadlatée creditors in respect of such additionddilies will share in
the proceeds of any enforcement of Collateral erbtisis and to the extent permitted under the tefriiee Notes and
the RCF Agreement.

Release of the Guarantees and the Security

Where a disposal of an asset is being effectednthecreditor Agreement provides that the Secukiggnt is
authorized (i) to release the Collateral or guarariand the relevant Obligors shall release anlatéoal given to them)
where such releases are required to give effatietdntercreditor Agreement and the documents gungrthe Secured
Liabilities and/or where such releases are conddota sale, transfer or other disposal of anytassadertaking or
business that is not prohibited or is expresslynitéed under the terms of the Finance Documents$ (i@non
commencement of enforcement action in order faspas$al of assets or shares in the capital of dig@tto be fully
effective to release that Obligor and any subsydidithat Obligor from all or any part of its lidities to a member of the
Group or a Secured Creditor such that no Securaillties remain attached to those assets beinpdéei of or any
Obligor or subsidiary of that Obligor in which skarare being disposed of.

Amendment

The Intercreditor Agreement provides that it malydie amended with the consent of the Security Agae
NotesPari PassuRequired Holders (acting through the Trustee artiePari PassuRepresentative), the RCF Agent,
the Trustee and the Hedge Counterparties savapeceof administrative changes or to correct neabérrors on the
instructions of the RCF Agent, tiRari PassuRepresentative and the Trustee.

Option to Purchase: RCF Liabilities and Hedging Linlities

After enforcement action has been taken again§ildigor, the Trustee and tiRari PassuRepresentative, at
the direction and expense of the Noteholders am&ahi PassuCreditors (as applicable), will, subject to megtaertain
conditions, have the right to acquire or procued thnominee acquires all (but not part only) ef $uper Senior
Liabilities.

Any such purchase will be on terms which will ired) without limitation, payment in full in cash af amount
equal to the Super Senior Liabilities then outsitiagudncluding in respect of any broken fundingtspas well as certain
costs and expenses of the Super Senior Credifitestiae transfer, no Super Senior Creditor willumeler any actual or
contingent liability to any person under the Inteditor Agreement; the purchasing NoteholdersRad Passu
Creditors indemnify each Super Senior Creditorafioy actual or alleged obligation to repay or clagkany amount
received by such Super Senior Creditor; and thevagit transfer shall be without recourse to, orardy from, any
Super Senior Creditor save as to title and theraigsef third-party interests, power and authoritg aompletion of
know-your-customer checks.

CDTI Agreements

As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately €h@iliBon of principal outstanding relating to loagsanted
by CDTI, a public institution attached to the SdnMinistry of Economy and Competitiveness, whaspgpse is to
encourage the innovation and technological devetoprof Spanish companies by providing financingdéhthe terms
of these loans, we undertook to comply with certastrictive covenants, including restrictions ba treation of any
personal guarantees, mortgages or pledges on setisasurthermore, as a result of such loan agmasitbe CDTI was
grantedpari passustatus with respect to any security granted imeotion with any of our existing and/or future
borrowings. The granting of the security over ttadl&eral securing the Notes, the Revolving Créditility and other
secured indebtedness of the Issuer will requirecctinsent of the CDTI, which was obtained in Jan@ar 2013.
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Local Facility

We have a small local facility with an aggregategipal amount outstanding as of December 31, 2012
€1.5 million.

Equity Swap Arrangement

On October 25, 2007, the Issuer arranged an eguiy with Bankia S.A. for a total amount of 5.1lioil
shares of the Issuer, at a base price of €4.46h@ee, in order to comply with certain terms anaditions set forth in
the management incentive plan of our senior managerithe terms of this equity swap were amendéddarch 2010
as a result of our share capital increase, ata ése of €4.11 per share, and in June 2012, t®nding its term until
2015, with partial cancellations of 1.0 million s&gin each of March 2013 and March 2014 and Li®&mihares in
March 2015. In addition, March 15, 2015 was dedigghas the new termination date. As of DecembeR@12, the fair
value of the instrument was negative €9.0 million.
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GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMS

The following terms used in this Offering Memorandbhave the meanings assigned to them below:

“BEKP” oo, Bleached Eucalyptus Kraft Pulp.

BHKP” e, all grades of Bleached Hardwood Kraft Pulp, inchgdBEKP, birch, SMHW and
NMHW.

“DIOMAasS”.....coovviiiiii all materials of biological origin excluding thogdich have been encompassed in

geological formations undergoing a mineralizationgess, which include coal, oll
and gas (in accordance with European Technicalifsgaiion CEN/TS 14588).

“BSKP .o Bleached Softwood Kraft Pulp.

“ECF i Elemental Chlorine Free.

CEDTA s Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid.

CEPC s Engineering, procurement and construction.

“Forestry depletion”..............cceueeld the depreciation of biological assets (plantati@ssjelated to the harvesting of
pulp plantations.

“Kraft process” .....ccccccvvvveeveeennnnnll the process for the conversion of wood into alnpasé cellulose fibers through
the use of sodium sulfate, which breaks the bomatslink lignin to the cellulose.

CKEPA” e, thousands of tonnes per annum.

“Moratorium” ........cccceeeeeeeeeeienneeen..] the elimination of economic incentives for the implentation of special regime

energy production facilities and the suspensiothefproceedings for registration
with the pre-allocation registries, vested by tloy& Degree Law 1/2012.

NMHW? e Northern Mixed Hardwood (kraft) pulp.
SSMHW? Lo, all Mixed Hardwood kraft pulp produced in the Unit8tates.
T CF e Totally Chlorine Free.
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ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A.

Auditor’s report, consolidated annual accounts
and consolidated directors’ report
at 31 December 2012




This version of our report is a free translation from the original, which was prepared in Spanish.

All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the

original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of our report takes precedence over this translation

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
To the shareholders of ENCE Energfa y Celulosa, S.A.:

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), consisting of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012,
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement and related notes to
the consolidated annual accounts for the year then ended. As explained in Note 3.1. the Directors of
the Company are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated annual accounts in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by the European Union, and other
provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts taken as a whole, based on the work
performed in accordance with the legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, which requires the
examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the consolidated annual accounts and an
evaluation of whether their overall presentation, the accounting principles and criteria applied and the
estimates made are in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts for 2012 present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and its subsidiaries at 31
December 2012 and the consolidated resulis of its operations and the consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by
the Furopean Union, and other provisions of the applicable financial reporting framework.

The accompanying consolidated Directors’ Report for 2012 contains the explanations which the
Directors of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. consider appropriate regarding the Group’s situation, the
development of its business and other matters and does not form an integral part of the consolidated
annual accounts. We have verified thai the accounting information contained in the consolidated
Direciors’ Report is in agreement with that of the consolidated annual accounts for 2012. Our work as
auditors is limited to checking the consolidated Directors’ Report in accordance with the scope
mentioned in this paragraph and does not include a review of information other than that obtained
from the accounting records of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and its subsidiaries.

Mar Gallardo
Partner

19 February 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, 8.L., Torre PwC, P° de la Castellana 259 B, 28046 Madrid, Espafia
Tel.: +34 915 684 400 / +34 902 021 111, Fax: +34 913 083 566, wwiw.pwe.com/es

R. M. Madrid, hoja 87.250-1, folio 75, tomo 9,267, libro 8.054, seccion 3°
Inscrita en el R.0.A.C. con el nimero 50242 - CIF: B-79 031290




Translation of financial statements oviginally issued in Spanish and
prepared in accordance with IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the
Spanish-language version prevails.

ENCE Energia y Celulosa,
S.A. and
Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements for
2012 prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting
Standards adopted by the European
Union and consolidated Directors’
Report, together with the Independent
Auditor's Report




Transtation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS
in the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

GRUPO EMPRESARIAL ENCE, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros Note 2012 2011
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Intangible assets 6 21,556 8,127
Property, plant and equipment 7 774,179 770,142
Invastment property 4.0 2,078 2,190
Biological asseis 8 170,958 180,586
Other financial assets 16 4,144 4,065
Deferred tax assels 18 30,580 42 653
1,003,495 1,007,763
CURRENT ASSETS:
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 49,345 16,544
inventories 11 87,575 112,462
Trade and other receivables 12 138,580 122,789
Receivable from Public Authorities 18 28,657 13,005
Current financial assets-
Derivatives 10 10,721 867
Other financial assets 16 7,575 22,824
Cash and cash equivalents 16 40,205 71,629
Other current assets B80S 911
374,554 361,031
TOTAL ASSETS 1,378,049 1,368,704
EQEITY: 13
Share capital 225,245 232,212
Share premium 230,221 254,328
Parent Company reserves 99,916 106,630
Reserves in fully consolidated companies 112,543 102,454
Valuation adjustments 52,992 33,155
Profit for the year attributed to the Parent Company 43,031 41,192
Translation differences {2,011} (591}
Treasury shares {37,213) (49,217)
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company 724,724 720,163
TOTAL EQUITY 724,724 720,183
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 16 13,258 23,185
Financial debt 16 309,632 274,186
Grants 14 20,076 20,244
Derivatives 10 16,627 25,466
Cther financial liabi#ties 17 9,291 9,183
Deferred tax liabilities 18 31,745 28,289
400,629 380,553
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Liabilities associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 - 12,322
Financial debt 16 24,108 20,452
Derivatives 10 14,886 34,610
Other financial liabilities 17 1,562 574
Trade and other payables 12 201,902 181,964
Gorporate Income Tax payable 18 1,313 365
Other accounts payable to Public Authorities 18 8,472 17,855
Other current liabilities 453 136
252,696 268,078
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,378,048 1,368,794

The accompanying Notes 1 e 26 are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012.




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS
in the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS FOR 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros Note 2012 2011
GContinuing operations:
Revenue 19.a 827,578 825,451
Gains or losses on hedging operations 10 {27,567) (10,434)
Changes in inventories of finished goads and work in progress 831 {1,688)
Procurements 19.b {408,048} (390,759)
GROSS MARGIN 392,794 422 570
In-house work on non-current assels 8 24,183 27,236
Other operating income 2,267 5,173
Capitat granis {ransferred to profit and loss 14 4,280 7,431
Staff costs 19.c (82,102) (89,413)
Depreciation and amorlisation charge 6, 7and 8 (63,372} (63,460)
Impairment and gains or losses on disposals of non-current assets 7 6,329 4,392
Cther operating expenses 19.2 (202,113) (233,85Q)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 82,266 80,079
Finance income 747 1,397
Change in fair value of financial instruments 10 6,799 1,554
Finance costs 19.f (24,371} (28,101)
Exchange differences {1,803} 2,085
FIRAKCIAL LLOSS (18,628} {23,065}
Net results from the valuation of non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 {660) -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 62,978 57,014
Income tax 18 (19,947} (15,822}
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROW CONTINUING OPERATIONS 43,031 41,192
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 19.h 43,031 41,192
Earnings per share:
Basic 13 0.16 0.16
Diluted 13 0.16 0.16

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 are an integral past of the consclidated income statement for the year 2012,




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS
In the event of 2 discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevalls.

ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros

Note 2012 201t

PROFIT PER CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT {f) 13 43,031 41,192
Income and expenses recognlsed directly in equity-

Cash flow hadges (2,527) (34,608)

Conversion differences (1,420) {591)

Tax effect 768 10,382
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN CONSOLIDATED EQLITY {If) 13 {3,189} {24,817}
Transfers to consolidated profit or loss

- Arising from cash flow hedges 30,920 14,068

- Other adjustments (54)

- Tax effect {5,260) {4,220)
TOTAL TRANSFERS TQ CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS (lIf) 13 21,606 9,848
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED RECCOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE (L) 651,448 26,223

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 are an iniegral part of the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for 2012,




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS
In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails,
ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TOTAL CONSOLIDATED EQUITY FOR 2012 AND 2011
Recognised Capital Distribution of Treasury Distribution
Balance at ncome / Increases/! Prior Year's  Distribution of Sharaes of Treasury Ralance at 31-

2012 - Thousands of Euros Note 1-1-2012 {Expense} Dacreases Profit Dividends Transacfions Shares 12-2012
Share capital 232,212 - (8,967) - - - - 225,245
Share premium 254,328 - - - (14,484) - (9,623) 230,221
Legal reserve 39,766 - - 3,110 - - - 42,876
Other Parent Company reserves 68,864 - (9,861) 27,993 (23,203) (356} (4,397) 57,040
Reserves in fully conscofidated companias 102,454 - - 10,089 - - - 112,543
Translation differences (591) {1,420} - - - - - {2011)
Treasury shares {49,217) - 16,828 - 21,173 (40,017} 14,020 {37.213)
Valuation adjustments 33,155 19,837 - - - - - 52,992
Profit for the year altributed to the Parent Company 41,182 43,001 - (41,192) - - - 43,031

726,163 61,448 - - {16,514} {40,373) - 724,724

Recognised pistribution ot lreasury  DIstribution
Batance at Incorne / Capltal Prior Year’s  Distribution of Shares of Treasury ~ Balance at

2011 - Thousands of Euros Note 1-1-2011 {Expense) kncrease Profit Dividends Transactions Shares 31-12-2011
Share capital 232,212 - - - - - - 232,212 4
Shars premium 254,328 . - - - - - 254,328 g
Legal reserve 31,482 - - 8,284 - - - 39,766 ‘
Other Parent Company reserves 150,341 - - (83,644} - 167 - 66,864 |
Reserves in fully consolidated companies 120,683 - - (18,129) - - - 102,464 |
Prior years' losses (132,400} B - 132,400 - - - -
Transtation differences B {591) - - - - - {591)
Treasury shares (2,434) - - - - {46,783) - (49,217)
Valuation adjustments 47,533 (14,378) - - - - - 23,155 }
Profit for the year atiribuled to the Parent Company 654,711 41,192 - (64,711) - - - 41,192 |

766,366 26,223 - (25,800) - {46,616) - 720,163 |

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 are an integral part of the statement of changes in consolidated equily for




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS

In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros 2012 2014
GASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Consolidated prefit for the year before tax 62,978 57,014
Adustments for-
Depreciation and amertisation charge 53,284 53,736
Exhausticn of forestry reserve 9,110 8,455
Amorlisation of intangible assets 978 1,268
Changes in provisions and other deferred expenses (net} 3,679 (3,565)
Gains/Losses on disposal of non-current assets {2,975) (4,224}
Finance income (747) (5,298}
Finance costs 18,044 29,291
Grants and subsidies transferred to profit and loss {1,243) (1,124}
80,120 78,542
Changes In working capital-
Trade and ather receivables (24,047) (27,953)
Current financial and other assets 18,184 (10,823}
Trads creditors, other payables and other debls (43,775) (7,974}
inventories 18,314 (8,332)
[4,324) 824
Other cash flows from operating activitfes-
- Interest paid {21,542) (28,036)
- Interest received 747 5,295
- Income 1ax recoverad (paid) (9,418) {2,907)
{20,211} (28,647)
Net cash flows from operating activities (1) 111,573 110,733
GCASH FEOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Investments:
Property, plant and equipment {104,387} {94,895)
Intangible assets (16,052} (447}
Other financial assets (173) -
{120,612) {95,342)
Disposals:
Property, plant and equipment 361 4,338
Other financial assets 161 1,682
522 6,020
Net cash flows frem investing activities ([} {120,080) {89,322)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANGCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds and payments relating to equity instruments:
Purchase of treasury shares (41,693} (53,708)
Disposal of treasury shares 1,309 7,164
(40,384) (46,544}
Progeeds and payments relating to financial Hability instruments:
Increase / (decrease) in bank borrowings, net of loan arrangement costs 37,428 43,057
Grants and subsidies received - 8,523
37,428 51,580
Dividends and returns on other equity instruments paid
Dividends (16,514) (25,801)
Financial instruments {Equity swap) (3.278) -
{19,790) {25,801)
Translation differences {i81) -
Net cash flows from financing activities (Hl) {22,907} {20,765)
NET INCREASE / DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (H+H+l) (31,424} 646
Cash and cash equivalents at begining of year 71,629 70,983
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 40,205 71,629

The accompanying Notes 1 lo 26 are an inlegral part of the consolidated statement of cash fiows for 2012,




Transiation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and Subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated

financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2012

Activity of the Group and Strategic Plan

Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. (hereinafter "ENCE” or the "Parent Company™} was incarporated in 1968 under the
name Empresa Nacional de Celulosas, S.A. It has its registered offices at Paseo de la Castellana 35, Madrid. On
26 April 2012 the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Parent Company, formerly known as Grupo
Empresarial ENCE, S.A., resolved to change its name to the current name.

The corporate purpose established in the by-laws consists of:

a) Manufacture of cellulose pulp and related by-products, obtaining necessary preducis and items, and
exploitation of any sub-products arising from the aforementioned activities.

b) Generation by any means, sale and usage of electricity and of other energy sources, and of the raw
materials and primary energy sources required for generating, in accordance with the provisions of
prevailing legislation; and marketing, sale and supply of power in any way permitted by law.

¢} Cultivation, exploitation and use of forests and timbertand, forest plantation work and specialist forestry
work and services. Preparation and transformation of forestry products. Commercial use, exploitation and
marketing of forest products of all kinds (including biomass and forest energy crops), and their derivatives
and by-products. Forestry studies and projecls.

d) Design, promotion, development, construction, operation and maintenance of the installations referred to in
paragraphs a), b) and c) above,

The Group's principal activily is the production of cellulose pulp BEKP (Bleached Eucalyptus Kraft Pulp) with ECF
{elementat chlorine free) and TCF (totally chlorine free} bleaching based on eucalyptus. In order to carry out its
activities, the Group operates three mills in Spain, located in the provinces of Asturias, Pontevedra and Huelva,
which have combined production capacity of approximately 1.3 million metric tons per year.

In addition fo its cellulose pulp production, the Group also generates electricity from biomass and bio-fuels
obfained from the pulp production process (mainly lignin), and to a lesser extent using gas and fuel oil. The
integrated generating capacity currently in use in the three plants totals approximately 230 megawatis per year
from 6 power installation.

The Group likewise using the experience acquired in the forestry sector and in the development of shoit cycle
energy crops is linking its expansion strategy through the elecirical generation business with biomass from forest
waste and energy crops. The company in January 2013 started up operation of a plant in Huelva with installed
power of 50 megawaltts, and an instaliation is currently under construction in Merida which is scheduled for start
up in the last quarter 2014 with 20 megawatts power.

In order to assure supplies of timber for the paper pulp manufacturing process and meet the power plants’
demand for biomass fo generate energy, the Group has 87,924 hectares of managed forest land in the Peninsula,
of which it owns 51,918 hectares are its own property (this does not include the forest assets of the Group in
Uruguay after its sale was agreed - see Note 20).

The Parent Company’s shares are listed on the Madrid Stock Exchange.
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Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-longuage version prevails.

Group companies

The following subsidiaries in which the Parent Company directly or indirectly owns 100% of share capital were
fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements for 2012:
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Tramslation of financial statements oviginally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

The Group also includes the following dormant companies, all of which are 100% owned by the Parent Company:
Electricidad de Navia, S.L.U, Ibercel Celulosa, S.L.U., Celulosas de M Bopicua, S.A., Las Pleyades Argentina,
S.A., Las Pléyades Uruguay, S.A., and Zena Franca M Bopicud, S.A.

The Group holds minority shareholdings in certain other companies which were not consolidated because the
effect would not have been material. These are: 50% of the corporate capital of Imacel, A.E.LE., an inactive
corporation; 6% of the capital of Sociedad Andaluza de Valorizacion de la Biomasa, S.l.; and 5% of
Electroquimica de Hernani, S.A.

Basis of presenfation of the consolidated annual statements and consolidation

principles
3.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2012 were obtained from the books and records and annual
statements of the Parent Company and companies members of the Group, and were prepared in accordance with
the applicable regulatory framework for financial reporting and, in particular, in accordance with the international
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union pursuant to Regulation (EU) 1606/2002 of
the European Parliament and Law 62/2003, of 30 December establishing tax; administrative and social measures
and, accordingly, they present fairly the Group's equity and financial position at 31 December 2012 and the
results of its operations, changes in equity and consolidated cash flows for the Group for the year then ended.

Note 4 presents a summary of the mast significant accounting principles and assessment criteria used, the
alternatives allowed by the code for these purposes as well as standards and interpretations issued that were not
in effect as of the date of preparation of these annual stalements.

These consclidated financial statements for the Group for 2012, which were formally prepared by the Parent
Company's directors, will be submitted for approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. It is
considered that they will be approved without any changes. The Group’s consolidated financial statements for
2011 were approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the Parent Company held on 26 April
2012,

The euro is the Group’s functional currency, and the consolidated financial statements are therefore expressed in
euros.

3.2 Key decisions in relation to IFRS

The Group adopted the following key decisions in relation to the presentation of the consclidated financial
statements and the additional information disclosed in the notes thereto:

a. The assets and liabilities recognised in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are classified as
current (short term) and non-current {long term). The items in the accompanying consolidated income
statement are presented according to their nature.

b. The Group has opted to present the consolidated cash flow statement using the indirect method.

3.3 Principles of consolidation-
3.3.1 Subsidiaries

“Subsidiaties” are defined as companies over which the Parent Company has the capacity to exercise
effective control; control is, in general but not exclusively, presumed to exist when the Parent owns directly
or indirectly half or more of the voting power of the investee or, even if this percentage is lower or zero,
when, for example, there are agreements with other shareholders of the investee that give the Parent
control. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of a company so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.
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The financial statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the Parent Company.
Accordingly, all material balances and effecis of the transactions between consolidated companies are
eliminated on consolidation.

The assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are calculated at reasonable values on its
date of acquisition that led to the form of control indicated in the IFRS 3- business mergers. Any acquisition
cost in excess of reasonable values of net assets identified is recognised as goodwill. If the acquisition cost
is less than the reasonable value of identifiable net assets, the difference is charged to resulis on the
acquisition date.

The results generated by companies acquired during a year are consolidated considering cnly those related
fo the period between the acquisition and closing dates of that year. At the same time the results generated
by companies sold during a year are consolidated considering only those related to the period between the
beginning and closing dates of that year.

3.3.2 Associates

Associates are companies over which the Parent Company is in a position to exercise significant influence,
but not control or joint control. The capacity to exercise significant influence usually exists because the
Parent Company directly or indirectly holds 20% or more of the voting power of the investee.

Associates are valued in the consolidated annuat accounts using the parlicipation method, that is by the
fraction of their net capital that represents their share of capital in the Group, after considering the dividends
received for same and other capital write-offs.

3.3.3 Homogenisation

The entities comprising the framework of the consolidation were consolidated from their individual financial
statements, which are prepared under the Spanish National Chart of Accounts for companies resident in
Spain and according to their own local code for foreign companies. All significant adjustments that were
necessary to adapt them to International Financial Reporting Standards andfor to homogenise them with
Group accounting ctiteria were considered in the consolidation process,

3.3.4 Changes in the scope of consolidation and percenfage ownership inferests

Fiscal Year 2012

Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U. was incorporated to the consolidation framework during fiscal year 2012.
This company was constituted in 2009, and construction of an electrical generation plant with 20 megawatts
installed power was begun in 2012.
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Fiscal Year 2011

Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. was incorporated to the consolidation framework during fiscal year 2011. This
company was constituted in 2009, and construction project of an electrical generation plant with 50

megawatts installed power was acquired in 2011 (see Note 7).

3.4, Comparative information

The information contained in these notes to the 2012 financial statements is presented together with
comparative figures for 2011.
The amount of EUR 3,899 thousand was presented in the section "Other financial costs" in the consolidated

profit and loss statement for fiscal year 2011, corresponding to capitalised financial costs; in the consolidated
financial statements for fiscal year 2011 these were included under the heading “Financial income” in the

consolidated profit and loss statement.

3.5. Seasonality of Group transactions

Given the activities of the Group Companies, Group fransactions are not cyclical or seasonal. Consequently
specific breakdowns are not included in these annual reports.

Nevertheless the production of wood pulp and energy requires stoppages for periods of between 10 and 15
days to undertake maintenance work. Group installations had their general annual shut down in the first half

of 2012.

4.  Accounting principles and assessment standards

Adoption of new standards and interpretations issued

a) Standards and interpretations taking effect in the current year

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations entered into force on 1 January 2012:

Standard

Contents

Mandatory application
in years commencing
as of

IFRS 7 Financial instruments:

Breakdown

transferred

Expands the financial instrument
breakdown regarding financial assets
transfers when some type of continue
involvement remains in the asset

Annual periods commencing as of
1 July-2011

b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force

At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the main standards and interpretations

published by the IASB but not yet adopted by the European Union and, therefore, not in force were:

]
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Standard

Contents

Mandatory application
in years commencing
as of

IAS 12 — “Profit tax”

IFRS 9 Financial imstruments:
Classification and measurement

IFRS I (Amendment) “Elevated
hyperinflation and elimination of
fixed dates applicable to first
adopters”

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial
statements (published in May
2011)

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements
(published in May 2011)

IFRS 12 Breakdown of
shareholdings

1n other entities (published in
May 2011)

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement
(published in May 2011)

IAS 27 (Revised) Separate
financial statements (published in
May 2011)

IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in
associates and joint ventures
{(published in May 2011)

Amendment of IAS 1 -
Presentation of Other

Comprehensive Income
{published in June 2011)

Change affects deferred taxes related
to real properties according to the
reasonable value model of IAS 40
“Real Estate Investments”

Replaces the classification and
measurement requirements
established by 1AS 39 for financial
assets and liabilities

Changes related to the high level of
hyperinflation provide a goide on first
time presentation, or how to
summarise with the presentation of
financial statements prepared under
the IFRS, after a period when the
entity could not comply with IFRS
requirements because their functional
currency was subject to high levels of
hyperinflation

Replaces the current consolidation
requirements established in TAS 27

Replaces the current IAS 31 on
interests in joint ventures

Separate standard establishing
disclosure requirements for ownership
interests in subsidiaries, associates,
jointly controlled entities and non-
consolidated entities

Establishes the framework for fair
value measurement

Revision of the standard, as only an
entity’s separate financial statements
following the issuance of IFRS 10

Parallel review in relation to the issue
of IFRS 11- Joint ventures

Minor amendment in relation to the
presentation of Other Comprehensive
Income

Annual periods commencing as of
1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing as of
1 January 2015

Annual periods commencing as of
1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of T January 2014

Anmual periods commencing
as of 1 Janvary 2013

Annual periods commeneing

as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 July 2012
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Mandatory application
Standard Contents in years commencing as of
Amendment of TAS 32 — Annual periods commencing

Financial instruments:
Presentation-Compensation of
assets with financial liabilities
(published in December 2011)

Amendment of IFRS 7 —
Financial instruments:
Presentation-Compensation of
assets with financial liabilities
{published in December 2011)

Intepretation IFRIC 20:
Extraction costs during the
production phase of an open-pit
nline

(published in October 2011)

Improvements to IFRS Cycle
2009-2011 (published in May
2012)

Amendment of IAS 19 Employee
benefits (published in June 2011)

Amendment, 1FRS 10, IFRS 11
and IFRS 12 (Amendment)
“Consolidated financial
statements, joint agreements and
breakdowns of shareholdings in
other companies: Transitory
provisions”

Addition clarifications to the IAS 32
rules for compensation of financial
assets and liabilities, and introduction
of new IFRS 7 breakdowns

The International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee addresses
the accounting treatment of the cost of
eliminating waste materials in surface
mines

Exception in consolidation for parent
companies that comply with the
definition of investment company

Amendments basically affect defined
benefits plans, as one of the key
changes is the elimination of the
“flactuation corridor”

Amendments to clarify that the first
date of application is the first day of
the first fiscal year when IFRS 10 is
applied for the first time.

as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 Janumary 2013

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing
January 2013

Annual periods commencing

as of 1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2013
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Mandatory application
in years commencing
Standard Contents as of

Amendment IFRS 10, IFRS 12 | The amendment to IFRS 10 under Annual periods commencing
and TAS 27 “Investment entities” | determined circumstances implies that{as of 1 January 2014

similar entities and funds will be
exempt from consolidation of the
parent entities. Instead, they will be
assessed at a reasonable value with
changes in results. Amendments to
IFRS 12 to introduce reporting
requirements that a company of this
type must include in its consolidated
annual accounts,

IFRS | {Amendment) “Public Amendment intended to allow entities | Annual periods commencing
loans™ adopting the 1FRS for the first time, to|as of | January 2013

apply the provisions of IAS 20
“Accounting for official subsidies and
information on public entities to be
reported”, applicable to entities that
already use IFRS, with respect to
public loans at interest rates below
market.

Accounting policies

Following are the principal assessment standards used in preparing the consolidated annual financial statements
of the Group according to Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union:

a) Infangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost of acquisition or production. Afier initial recognition, these
assets are carried at cost less the amount of accumulated amortisation and any impairment lesses incurred.

The Group's intangible assets are considered to have finite useful lives and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over the petiod representing the best estimate of the said useful lives.

Development costs-

Development costs are capitalised annually providing the amounts concerned are separately identified for
each project, and there are sound reasons fo expect projects to succeed technically and generate financial
returns. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over 5 years.

Computer software -

The Group recognises the costs incurred in the acquisition of computer software and software licences under
this caption. Computer software maintenance costs are recognised with a charge to the consolidated income
statement for the year in which they are incurred.

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

10
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Greenhouse gas emission righis-

Untit the year 2012 the Group every year obtained CO2 emission rights, without charge, by virtue of the
Spanish National Assignment Plan that was developed under Law 1/2005, which regulates the sale of these
rights.

Emission rights equivalent to emissions occurred during the year are delivered during the first months of the
following year. If emissions are over the volume of rights assigned, then emission rights must be acquired on
the market. And along the same lines if emissions are below the rights assigned, then these can be sold on
the market.

Emission rights are registered when assigned at their fair market value under "Intangible assets - Greenhouse
gas emission rights", and a non-refundable capital subsidy is recorded at the same time in the same amount.

After initial recognition, emission rights are carried at cost less the amount of any cumulative impairment
losses recognised, but they are not amortised.

The costs associated with the greenhouse gases consumed in the period are recognised with a charge to
“Other operating expenses” under "Non-current provisions” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
at the amount for which any available emission rights were granted, or as meastired based on best estlmates
of the possible cost it would be necessary to incur to cover any shortfall in the said rights.

The provision made and the intangible asset recognised when the emission rights were received will be
cancelled upon redemption of the righis.

Non-repayable grants associated with the emission rights acquired free of charge are recognised under
“Capital grants transferred to profit and loss” in the accompanying consolidated income statement as CO2
emissions are related with the subsidised emission rights.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition or production cost, and are subsequently
presented net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses incurred, where appropriate, in
accordance with the criteria described in this Note 4.b.

The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity or
efficiency, or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are capitalised.

Upkeep and maintenance expenses are recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year in
which they are incurred.

For non-current assets that necessarily take a petiod of more than one year to get ready for their intended
use, the capitalised costs include such borrowing costs as might have been incurred before the assetls are
ready to enter service and were charged by the supplier or relate to loans or other specific-purpose or general-
purpose borrowings directly attributable to the acquisition or production of the assets. The interest rate used
corresponds to the rate for specific financing or, if none, the mean financing rate for the Group.

Group work on non-current assets is measured at accumulated cost, which is calculated as external costs plus
in-house costs, determined on the basis of in-house warehouse materials consumption, and manufacturing
costs allocated using hourly absorption rates simifar to those used for the measurement of inventories.

The Group companies depreciated their property, plant and equipment by the straight-line basis method at
ahnual rates based on the years of estimated useful life of the assets (land is understood to have an indefinite
useful life and is therefore not depreciated}, as follows:

11
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Estimated Years
of Useful Life
Buildings 20-40
Plant and machinery 11-16
Other fixtures, tools and furniture 11
Other items of property, plant and il

equipment

Investments made in buildings constructed on land granted under administrative concessions are recognised
under “Buildings”. This cost, and the cost of any other permanent fixtures located on concession land, is
depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life or the term of the concession.

Assets financed with financing applied to projects

Grupo Ence has invested in infrastructure for biomass production of electricity, financed through "Project
finance".

These financing structures are applied fo projects that in themselves sufficiently guarantee the participating
financial entifies the reimbursement of the debts undertaken to carry them out. Each of these are therefore
normally carried out through specific companies in which the project assets are financed on the one hand by
funds contributed by the promoters, which is limited to a determined amount, and on the other by third party
funds, generally a larger amount, which comprise long term debt. The service of these credits or loans is
backed mainly by the future flows generated by each project, as well as by real guarantees over the project
assets,

These assets are valued by costs incurred, net of revenue generated, that are charged directly to its
construction until start up in operating condition and include such items as studies and plans, expropriations,
replacement of services, project performance, construction administration costs and management,
installations, buildings and other similar costs, as well as the part corresponding to other indirect costs
incurred during the construction period. Financing costs accrued prior to start up in operating conditions are
also included, deriving from the third party financing used to finance construction of the building. Capitalised
financial costs are from specific financing used expressly as acquisition of the asset.

Impairment of intangible and tangible assets

On the closing date of each balance sheet the Group reviews the book amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, biological assets, real properties and intangible assets to determine if these have suffered any loss
or impairment.

Whenever there are indications of impairment, the Group tests tangible and intangible assets for impairment to
determine whether the recoverable amount of the assets has been reduced to below their carrying amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cosis {o sell and value in use.

The directors of the Parent Company perform impairment tests as follows:
Recoverable values are calculated for each cash generating unit, which are the cellulose production and
electricity generation plants operated by the Group, and include the forest capital planned to supply those

units.

Each year, the Group prepares a business plan for each cash-generating unit, generally covering a period of
three years. The business plans consists of financial projects prepared by the Group Administration on the
basis of past experience and the best available estimates of earnings, investments and working capital.

12
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A residual value is also calculated from the normalised cash flow from the last year projected, and a growth
rate applied fo perpetuity (generally between 0% and 3%). The cash flow used to calculate residual value
includes investments in replacement that are necessary for the business to continue in the future at the
estimated growth rate.

For assets that are related to projects with an independent financial structure whose flows can be seen with a
certain degree of precision during the construction as well as during the operating phases, expected cash
flows are projected to the end of the expected life of the asset. Consequently no terminal value is considered.
Projections include both known information (based on project contracts) as well as fundamental hypotheses
supported by specific expert studies (for production, etc.). Macroeconomic data (inflation, interest rates, etc.)
are also projected and a sensitivity analysis is made around all the variables whose changes could
significantly affect the value of the asset.

In order to calculate value in use, the cash flows so estimated are discounted applying a discount rate
representing the mean weighted cost of capital, taking into account the cost of borrowing and business risks
deriving from the type of asset and market in which it is developed. These discount rates in their minimum
range consider the cost of the debt incurred by the Group.

if the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated as below its book value, then the latter is reduced to its
recoverable rate, recognising the corresponding discount through in the consolidated profit and loss accounts;
except when the refevant asset may have been registered at a revalued amount, in which case the loss due to
impairment is considered a reduction in the existing revaluation reserve.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount, but so that the increased camying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. A reversal for an impairment loss is recognised as income.

The directors of the Parent Company find that there is no significant indication of impairment of the Group's
non-current assets.

Investment property

The section in the attached balance sheet entitled “Real Estate Investments” uses values, net of accumulated
amortization, for the land, buildings and other constructions that are kept either for operation under lsass, or
for a gain upon their sale.

Real estate investments are presented appraised at their acquisition cost, following the same criteria as
elements of the same class included in the section “Property, plant and equipment”.

Biological assets

A part of the Group’s activity involves the cultivation of various species of trees, mainly eucalyptus, for use as
raw material in the production of wood pulp and energy. Standing timber is treated as a biological asset.
Forest land is measured in accordance with |IAS 16 "Property, plant and equipment” and is recognised under
“Broperty, plant and equipment” in the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 7).

Currently there are no markets for these tree species in Spain, nor valid information that would aflow us to
estimate their reasonable value. Also, standing timber matures in an average period of up to 40 years
including between 2 and 4 cycles, and a range of other variables may affect valuation using the discounted
cash flows measurement, so that it is not possible to calculate fair value reliably using this method. As a
conseqguence of the foregoing, the Group has opted to recognise standing timber at historic cost {i.e. cost less
accumulated depreciation, less any accumulated impairment losses). Also, sensitivity analyses are performed
o test the value of these assets based on cerfain indicators. The results of these analyses confirm the
measurement criteria currently applied.

13
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Therefore, investments in forestry assets are measured by allocating all costs directly incurred in the
acguisition and development of the assets, including leases, clearing and preparation of land, planting,
fertilisers, care and upkeep.

Furthermore, a variable and individualised percentage of the carrying amount of standing timber is capitalised
as interest up to the limit of its estimated realizable value. The interest rate used is the mean financing rate for
the Group.

The cost allocation method applied to harvest is based on the total costs incurred to the date of felling and the
residual value of the plantation. Divestments of the lumber of the Group came fo EUR 9.107 million during
2012, and EUR 8.635 million during 2011. These amounts are included in the account "Forestry reserves
depletion” in the section "Provision for Amortisation” in the consolidated profit and loss statement (see Note 8).

Leases

The Group leases certain assets. All of the leases concluded by the Group have been classified as operating
leases based on the substance of the contracts, which under no circumstances transfer ownership of the
leased assets or any of the rights and risks inherent therein.

Expenses from operating leases are recognised in the consclidated income statement in the year in which
they are accrued.

Financial instruments

f.1) Financial assets
The financial assets held by the Group are classified into the following categories:

- Credits and accounts receivable: frade receivables and financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments arising from non-trade operations arising on the sale or goods or the provision of services.

- Financial assets available for sale: Includes mainiy financial shares in other companies as well as the
remaining financial assets that have not been classified in the above categories.

No financial assets were reclassified during fiscal year 2012 and 2011, among the calegories defined in the
above paragraphs.

Initial recognition-

Financial assets are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration given plus any directly attributable
fransaction costs.

Subsequent measurement-

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. The Group also records impairments as charges
against the consolidated profit and loss account, when there is an estimated risk of recoverability of same,
based on the age of the debt.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, and the gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are recognised in consolidated equity until the asset is disposed of or it is determined that it has
become (permanently) impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised are taken
to the net consclidated profit or loss for the year.

Derecognition-
The Group derecognises a financial asset when it expires or when the rights to the cash flows from the

financial asset have been transferred and substantially ali the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred.

However, the Group does not derecognise financial assets, and recognises a financial {iability for an amount

equal to the consideration received, in fransfers of financial assets in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained.
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f.2) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable by the Group that have arisen from the purchase of goods and
services in the normal course of its business, and those which, not having commercial substance, cannot be
classed as derivative financial instruments.

Accounts payable are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, adjusted by the
directly attributable transaction costs. These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. In this
case bank loans are recorded for the amount received, net direct issuance costs. Financial costs including
direct issuance costs are recorded following the accrual criteria in the profits and loss account, using the
effective interest method, and the book amount of the instrument is added to the degree that it was not
liquidated during the period caused.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when the obligations giving rise to them cease to exist.
f.3) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group's activities expose it mainly to financial and market risks arising from changes in the US dollar/euro
exchange rate, which mainly affect its sales because the price of pulp is quoted in US dollars in the
international market, and exchange rate fluctuations affecling sales made in foreign currency, as well as
changes in the prices of the pulp, fuel oil, gas and electricity, as these are necessary inputs for the production
process. The Group is also exposed to the impact of variations in interest rates on its financial liabilities. The
Group uses financial derivative instruments to hedge these exposures.

These financial instruments are initially recognised at their cost of acquisition and the necessary valuation
adjustments are subsequently made to reflect their fair value at any given time. Write-downs are recognised
under “Derivatives” in the consolidated balance sheet, and any eventual write-backs are recognised in
"Financial assets — Derivatives”. The gains or losses on these changes in value are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, unless the derivative has been designated as a hedging instrument, in which
case it is recognised as follows:

1. Hedge value coverage: both the hedged item and the hedging instrument are measured at fair value, and
any changes in the value of either are recognised in the consolidated income statement. Effects are offset
in the same caption of the consolidated income statement.

2. Cash flow hedges Changes in the fair value of financial derivatives are recognised in “Equity — Valuation
adjustments”. The cumulative foss or gain recognised under this heading is transferred to the consolidated
income statement to the extent the underlying has an impact on the consolidated income statement, so
that both effects are offset.

in order for these financial instruments to qualify for hedge accounting, they are initially designated as such
and the hedging relationship is documented. The Group also verifies, both at inception and periodicaily over
the term of the hedge, that the hedging relationship is effective, i.e., that it is prospectively foreseeable that
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item (atiributable to the hedged risk) will be almost fully
offset by those of the hedging instrument, and that, retrospectively, the gain or loss on the hedge was within a
range of 80-125% of the gain or loss on the hedged item. The part of the hedging instrument that is
determined to be ineffective is immediately recognised through the consolidated income statement.

The fair values of the different financial derivative instruments is calculated by discounting expected cash
flows based on conditions in both spot and futures markets at the calcutation date. All of the methods used are
generally accepted by financial instrument analysts.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge is no longer highly effective. In this case, the cumulative
gain or loss arising on the hedging instrument that was recognised directly in equity is maintained until the
expected commitment or transaction materialises, when it is transferred to the consolidated income statement.
Where the commitment or transaction envisaged is not expecied to occur, any accumulated gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is taken to the consolidated income statement.
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Estimation of fair value

Fair value appraisals made of the different financial derivatives are found in level 2 of the hierarchy of fair
values established by IFRS 7, as they are referenced to observable variables other than listed prices. More
specifically, the fair values calculated for each type of financial instrument (see Note 10} are as follows:

- Interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future liquidations between the fixed and variable rate,
according to market conditions, obtained from swap rate curves at fong term. The volatility inherent in the
calculation is used, through formulas for appraising options, to calculate reasonable fair values of caps
and floors.

- Hedge agreements on foreign currency exchange and options hedge agreements are valued using the
contract exchange rate listings and interest rate curves for the currencies involved as well as implicit
volatility until expiration in the case of options.

- Commodities agreements (fuel} are valued in a similar manner, in this case considering future prices for
the underlying asset and the implicit market volatility for options.

- The Group uses the discounted cash flows method in the case of derivatives not negotiable in organised
markets to discount expected cash flows and generally accepted options structures, based on both cash
as well as future market conditions as of the closing date of the period. However at December 31, 2012
and 2011 the Group had no noti-negotiable derivative contracts on organised markets.

f.4) Equity instruments

An equity instrument represents a residual ownership interest in the equity of the Parent Company once all of
its liabilities have been deducted.

The equity instruments issued by the Parent Company are recognised in equity for the amount of the proceeds
received, net of issue costs.

Treasury shares acquired by the Parent Company are recognised at the value of the consideration paid and
are presented as a reduction in equity. The gain or loss arising on the purchase, sale, issue or redemption of
treasury shares are recognised directly in equity. No amounts are recognised in the income statement in this
respect.

f.5) Classification of current and non-current

Assets and liabilities are classified in the attached consolidated balance sheet according to their expiration;
that is, as current with a maturity at or less than twelve months and non-current with maturity greater than
twelve months.

Inventories

Stocks of raw materials, finished products and work in progress are measured at the lower of cost of
acquisition, production cost or market value.

Production costs is determined by including the cost of materials, labour, and direct and indirect manufacturing
expenses.

The Group uses the weighted average cost method to assign value to its inventories,

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. The Group recognises the appropriate write-downs as an
expense in the consolidated income statement when the estimated net realizable value of the inventories is
lower than acquisition (or production) cost thereof. These estimates consider the age and degree of turnover
of inventories.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises both cash and demand bank deposits. Cash equivalents are highly liquid, short-term
investments that are easily converted into cash, have an original maturity of no more than three months and
are not subject to any significant risk of change in value.

Income tax, assets and liabilities for deferred taxes

Income tax expense for the year is calculated by adding the current tax resulting from application of the tax
rate to the adjusted profit for the year, and then applying the tax deductions allowed, plus the variation in
assets and liabilities for deferred taxes.

Assets and liabilities for deferred taxes are taxes payabie or recoverable for differences between the book
value of the assets and liabilities in the financial statements, and their tax value. These are recorded applying
the tax rate which is expected for recovery or liquidation.

Corporate tax and variations in deferred taxes recorded as assets or liabilities that do not arise from business
mergers, are recorded in the consclidated profit and loss account or in the net equity accounts in the
consolidated balance sheet, according to where the profils or losses originated by them were recorded.

Variations from business mergers that are not recognised in the takeover as recovery is not insured, are
reduced, as applicable, from the goodwill value recognised in the accounting for the merger, or using the
above criteria if there is no goodwill.

Assets for deferred taxes identified with temporary differences, negative tax bases and deductions pending
compensation are recognised only if the consolidated entities are considered to probably have sufficient tax
gains in the future against those that may use them.

Deferred taxes recorded (both assets as well as liabilities) are reviewed at the close of each period in order to
prove that they remain current, with the appropriate corrections made according to the results of the analysis
made.

The Parent Company and the rest of its subsidiaries registered in Spain in which the Parent owns interests in
share capital equal fo or exceeding 756% file consolidated tax returns under the regime established in Chapter
V11, Title V1il of the Corporate Income Tax Law.

Income and expenses

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when the
Group is likely to receive the economic benefits of the transaction and the amount thereof can be reliably
measured. Sales are recorded net of VAT and discounts.

Revenues from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and all of the risks and rewards
inherent in ownership have been transferred.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Expenses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when there is a decrease in future economic
henefits relating to a reduction in an asset or an increase in a liability which can be reliably measured. This
implies that an expense is recognised at the same time as an increase in a liability or a reduction in an asset.

Expenses derived from the receipt of goods or services are recognised at the moment in which they are
received.

An expense is recognised immediately when a payment does not generate future economic benefits, or when
it does not meet the requirements for recognition as an asset.
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Provisions and contingencies

The consolidated financial statements include all provisions with respect to which it is considered likely that an
obligation will have to be settled. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements but rather are disclosed in the accompanying notes, unless the possibility of an outflow in
settlement is not considered remote.

Provisions, including variable employee remuneration, are measured based on the present value of the best
estimate possible of the sum necessary to cancel or transfer the obligation, taking into account the information
available on the event and its consequences. Adjustments to provisions are recognised as finance costs as
they are accrued.

At 2012 year end, various legal actions and claims were in progress against the Group. Both the Parent
Company's legal advisers and its directors consider that the conclusion of these proceedings and claims will
not have a materiai effect on these consolidated financial statements.

Termination benefits

Under current legislation, the Group is required to pay termination benefits to employees terminated under
certain condifions. Therefore, termination benefits that can be reasonably guantified are recognised as an
expense in the year in which the decision o terminate the employment relationship is taken.

The Group recognised an allowance of EUR 1,369 thousand for this item under “Trade and other payables —
payable to employees” in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 (EUR 251 thousand at 31
December 2011) in order to cover incentivised terminations at the end of the reporiing period.

m) Environmental assets and liabilities

Environmental activities are operations with the main objective of preventing, reducing or repair environmental
damages.

In this case, investments deriving from environmental activities are valued at their acquisition cost and
included as the greatest fixed asset cost in the year incurred, according fo the assessment rules described in
sections a) and b) of this note.

Expenses deriving from environmental protection and improvement are charged to the resuits for the year in
which they are incurred, regardless of the time when the monetary or financial currents occurred deriving from
them (see Note 25).

Provisions relating to probable or ceriain environmental responsibilities, litigation and compensation or
obligations payable for indeterminate amounts that are not covered by the insurance policies arranged are set
aside, where appropriate, at the fime the responsibility or obligation determining compensation or payment
arises.

Pension obligations

Certain group companies have established the following commitments for retirement, widows, orphans and
ancestors pensions, to supplement the Social Security benefits due to employees and members of their
families:

1. Current employees

Commitment to current employees at year end whereby the Company and the employee concerned
contribute a pre-established percentage of salary for pension purposes to the Ence Group’s “Joint
Promotion Pension Plan” promoted in accordance with article 40.d) of the Pension Plans and Funds
Regulations (defined contributions). This pension plan is included in the SERVIRENTA Il F.P. Pension
Fund.
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2. Retired employees

In December 1997 the Parent Company arranged a single premium insurance policy with an insurance
company to guarantee the contingencies covered by the aforementioned fund.

Payments made by the insurance company constitute a tax deductible expense when they are seltled.
Siock-based payments

The General Meeting of Shareholders of the Parent Company on 30 March 2007 approved a Special
Executive Variable Compensation Pian for the years 2007-2011, which was amended on 22 June 2010 to the
current ENCE Energia y Celulosa S.A. Long Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015" (the Plan).

The objective of the Plan is to incentivise compliance with the goal set by the Board of Directors for the years
2010, 2011 and 2012. A maximum of 3,850,000 stock options are subject to delivery, representing 1.53% of
equity.

Currently 539,072 options have been granted for the year 2010 at a price of EUR 2.44 per share; and 753,225
options for the year 2011 at a price of EUR 1.95 per share.

These options may be exercised two years after they are granted, provided that:
1. the beneficiary continues to serve Ence under an employment or commercial relationship, unless
service was discontinued as a consequence of unfair dismissal; and
2. the Parent Company has specified a regular dividend policy at the time the options are exercised.
At the Annual General Meeting held on 29 April 2011, the shareholders resolved to extend the term of the
aforementioned Grupo Empresarial ENCE, S.A. Long-Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015 for the Chief

Executive Officer, to allow him fo be assigned the unaliocated options under the Plan in 2013 up to the
maximum number of options authorised for the CEO.

The stock options will be settled in cash. Consequently, a liability is recognised in this respect at the date of
each consolidated balance sheet equal to the portion of services received at the current fair value thereof.

The fair value of the Special Variable Executive Compensation Plan has been determined using the Black-
Scholes method, which is generally accepted for financial instruments of this type. Following that method the
accrued cost for 2012 was EUR 160 thousand {null in fiscal year 2011).

Grants

Non-refundable capital grants associated with investment in production assets are valued at the fair market
value of the amount received, and charged to results in proportion to the period depreciation for the elements

- for which the grant was received or, as applicable, upon disposal of the asset or recognition of the impairment

q)

loss.

These are charged to the consolidated income statement when they are awarded, unless the award is made
to finance specific expenses, in which case the grant is recognised in line with the accrual of the subsidised
expenses.

Consolidated cash flow statement

The following terms are used in the consclidated cash flow statements (prepared using the indirect method)
with the meanings specified:

1. Cash fiows; inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, the latter being understood as highly
liquid current financial instruments with a low risk of fluctuations in value.
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2. Operating activities: the principal revenue-producing activities of the entities forming the consolidated
Group and other activities that are not investing or financing activities.

3. Investment activities: activities involving the acquisition, sale or disposal in any other way of non-current
assets or other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.

4. Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity and
borrowings of the Group companies that are not operating activities.

r}) Related party transactions

The Group performs all transactions with related parties on an arm’s length basis.

s) Balances and transactions in currencies other than the euro

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which the Group's functional and presentation
currency.

Transiation of transactions and balances-

The Group converts balances receivable and payable expressed in currencies other than the eurc applying
the exchange rates ruling at the transaction date. Receivables and balances are measured at this exchange
rate until they are seitled. Exchange gains or losses arising on the collection of receivables and payment of
liabilities in currencies other than the euro, and differences arising from year-end measurement of non-euro
receivables and payables at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period, are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in which they arise.

Translation of the financial statements of Group companies-

The earnings and financial position of all Group companies using a presentation currency other than the euro
{none of which is the currency of a hyperinfiationary economy) are translated to euros as follows: assets and
liabilities are converted at the year-end rate ruling at the reporting date; equity is translated at historic rates of
exchange; and revenues and expenses are converted at the average rate for the period. The resulting
differences on exchange are recognised in equity, and will be charged tfo the consolidated profit and loss
account for the period in which the investment was transferred.

Long-term loans granted by the Parent Company to consolidated establishments and companies using a
functional currency other than that of the Group are treated as net financial assets held abroad. All resulting
exchange differences arising are recognised in equity.

f) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a group of assets earmarked for disposal is classified as a held-for-sale asset where its
vatue will be recovered basically as a result of sale, providing the sale is considered highly likely.

These assets or groups of assets are valued at book value or at estimated sales value, whichever is lower,
deducting the costs necessary for this and are no longer amortised after they are classified as non-current
assets held for sale; however the corresponding corrections are made at the date of each balance sheet so \
the book value does not exceed reasonable value plus sales costs. These corrections are listed in the section !
“Net result of non-current classified as held for sale" in the consolidated balance sheet.

Non-current assets held for sale and elements of groups classified as held for sale are presented in the \\
consolidated balance sheet, as follows: Assets in a single line denominated “non-current assets held for sale”
and liabilities, also in a single line, denominated “liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale”.

A discontinued operafion is any component of the Group which has been scld or otherwise disposed of, or
which has been classified as held for sale and, among other conditions, represents a line of business or a
significant area which may be regarded as separate from the rest.
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After tax profit or loss on discontinued operations appear in a single line in the consolidated profit and loss
statement, denominated "Net result of appraisal of non-current assets held for sale".

u} Earnings per share:

Base eamning per shares is calculated as the guotient between net profit for the period attributable to the
Parent Company and the mean weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period, not
including the mean number of Parent Company freasury shares in Group companies.

Diluted share earnings are calculated as the quotient between the net profit/loss of the period attributable to
ordinary shareholders and adjusted for the effect to potential ordinary shares with a dilutive effect and the
mean weight number of ordinary shares that would be issued if all potential ordinary shares were converted
into ordinary shares of the company. The conversion in this case is considered as occurring at the beginning
of the period or at the time of issue of the potential ordinary shares, if these would be placed in circulation
during the same period. Since there are no potential ordinary shares with a dilutive effect with the Group, the
base earning and diluted by share for the years 2012 and 2011 are the same.

Responsibility for information and estimates made-

Certain estimates were made in preparing the consolidated financial statements for 2012, in order to measure
certain of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported herein. These estimates relate
basically to the following:

® The assessment of possible impairment losses on certain assets.

e The useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

® The fair values of certain assets, basically comprising financial instruments.

° The assumptions employed in the calculation of certain commitments with employees.

o Calculation of the provisions necessary to cover the risks related with ongoing litigation and insolvencies.
° The recoverability of deferred tax assets.

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31 December 2012 and 2011.
However, events that take place in the future might make it necessary to change them. Any such changes in
accounting estimates would be applied prospectively in accordance with IAS 8.

Changes in estimates and accounting policies and fundamental error corrections

The effect of any change in accounting estimates is recorded prospectively, in the same section of the profit and
loss account in which the cost or revenue is recorded with the previous estimate.

Changes in accounting policies and correction of fundamental errors are registered as follows, if they have an
important impact; the accumulated effect at the beginning of the period is adjusted under reserves and the effect
in the petiod is recorded in the profit and loss account for the period. In these cases the financial information for
the comparative period is re-stated together with the period in course.

There were no significant changes in accounting estimates, or in accounting policies, or in error corrections at 31
December 2012 or 2011.

Exposure to risk

Assisted by senior management, the Board of Directors defines the Group's risk management criteria for risks to
which the Group is exposed, and establishes internal control systems that allow the Group to maintain the
probability and impact of any such event within established levels of tolerance.
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The internal auditing department assures appropriate implementation of the risk management criteria and policies
defined by the Board of Directors and oversees compliance with the internal control systems implemented.

The main financial risks affecting the Group and the policies and controls adopted to mitigate them are as follows:
Market risk-
Pulp and energy prices-

The price of BEKP cellulose pulp is established in an active market, the evolution of which significantly conditions
the volume of the Group’s revenues and its earings. Changes in cellulose pulp prices modify the cash flows
obtained from sales.

Cellulose pulp price display a marked cyclical nature, and there has been considerable price volatility in recent
years, The behaviour of the price is associated basically with changes in volumes or the conditions dictating
supply and demand, as well as the financial situation of firms operating in the market.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has made significant investments in recent years to raise productivity and
improve the quality of the product it markets. It also continually assesses the possibility of hedging pulp prices for
future sales (see Note 10).

A 5% increase in the international pulp price in euros would increase the Group’s revenues by approximately
3.6%.

Timber supplies-

Eucalyptus timber is the main input for the production of cellulose pulp, and its price is subject to fluctuations due
to regional changes in the balance of supply and demand and the need fo access markets in other regions,
resulting in the consequent logistics overheads, when more local supplies are insufficient to meet demand.

The risk arises from an insufficient offering in the areas where our plants are located, and is managed mainly
through access to alternate markets that normally include a higher logistical cost.

Furthermore, the Group maximises the value added in its products among others by increasing its use of certified
timber, which is more costly.

A 5% increase in the price per cubic metre of eucalyptus timber used in the production process would reduce the
operating margin by approximately 15%.

Regulation-

European Union environmental regulation has in recent years increased restrictions on the emission of effluents;
GO2, etc. Future regulatory changes could cause increases in the expenses incurred to comply with those
reguirements.

Renewable energy generation is also a regulated activity. Future regulatory changes could therefore affect
revenues. A 5% increase in the prices determining revenues from electricity generating operations would raise the
Group's total revenues by approximately 1%.

On 27 January 2012, the Spanish Council of Ministers approved Royal Decree Law 1/2012, temporarily
suspending the procedures for pre-allocation of remuneration and removing finangial incentives for new power
plants using cogeneration, renewable energy sources and waste. This legislation also allows the Government to
regulate specific financial regimes covering certain special regime power plants, and it also establishes the right
of cogeneration plants and other power plants using primary energy sources, non-consumable and non-hydraulic
renewable energy, biomass, bio-fuels and agriculiural waste to receive remuneration under a specific financial
regime.
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Law 15/2012 of 27 December with tax measures for sustainable energy effective 1 January 2013 includes tax
changes that affect the Group’s activities. A tax is created on the value of the energy produced with an impact on
the entire energy sector, equivalent to 7% of revenue from generation. Tax rales established for natural gas are
changed, and exemptions provided for energy products used in the production and cogeneration of electricity and
useful heat, are eliminated.

Royal Decree Law 2/2013 of 1 February with emergency measures for the electrical sector and the financial
system establishes that for all methodologies for revenue changes that are tied to the general CPI, the latter is
replaced by the Consumer Price Index at constant taxes without unprocessed foods or energy products; and the
prime economic regimen can be based only on the option of a regulated tariff (with the pool+premium option
eliminated).

This regulation enter uncertainties with regard to the development of new plants in Spain as the suspension
period is undetermined, and the impact on earnings by the tax measures adopted in this year.

Exchange rafe-

While the majority of the Group’s sales are made in the European market, revenues from sales of cellulose pulp
are affected by the USD/EUR exchange rate, because the benchmark sale price on the international market is in
USD per ton. Insofar as the Group’s cost structure is mainly in euros, changes in the dollar exchange rate can
have a significant impact ocn eamings volatility.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group’s policy is to lock in the exchange rate in parallel with its management of
the risks inherent in the evolution of cellulose pulp prices. Accordingly, it continuously assesses the possibility of
using exchange rate hedges for foreseeable future sales (see Note 10).

A 5% apprediation in the dollar would increase the Group's revenues befare hedges, by approximately 3.6%.
Credit risk-

The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of outstanding balances receivable from customers. This risk is
mitigated mainly by arranging credit insurance policies, which assign credit limits based on credit quality as
determined by the insurer and provide cover for between 75% and 90% of trade receivables associated with sales
of celluiose pulp.

Provision is made for overdue balances where there is evidence of impairment, and for al receivables overdue by
more than 6-12 months that are not covered by credit insurance policies.

Revenues associated with the electricity generating business are obtained from the electricity system, which is
backed by the Spanish state.

Liguidity - Asset Management Risk

Exposure to adverse situations in the debt and capital markets can hinder or prevent the Group from covering
financial needs related with operations and the future Business Plan.

This is one of the risks that is most closely tracked by the Ence Group, and a series of key financial objectives has
been established by the Group: 1) to assure the continuity of operations in any celiulose price environment, 2) to
support the capacity for growth of the businesses conducted by maintaining a sound capital structure and an
appropriate level of liquidity; and 3) to keep net indebtedness at levels that do not exceed the gross operating
profit generated by more than 2.5 times, based on the average cellulose pulp price for the cycle.

This risk is managed by following the schedule of financial debt, proactive management and maintenance of lines
of credit and other forms of financing that hedge projected treasury needs.

As part of this financial policy, Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. has projected refinancing its corporate debt with
maturity in 2014. Therefore on 1 February 2013 the Parent Company completed the process of offering to
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qualified instifutional investors, a bonds issue in the amount of EUR 250 million maturing in 2020 (see Note 26), to
be used mainly to repay the current syndicated loan.

The information necessary for the analysis of the maturities of the financial liabilities referred fo in IFRS 7 is
provided in Notes 10 and 16 below.

Interest rate risk-

This risk arises from exposure to changes in the interest rates of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities,
which can have an adverse impact on the income statement and on cash flows.

The objective of interest rate risk management is to achieve a balance in the debt structure to minimise the cost of
debt over a time horizon of several years with low volatility in the consolidated income statement. The hedging
instruments contracted are assigned to specific financial operations, and the derivatives are appropriately aligned
with the timing and amount of the financing concerned.

At 31 December 2012 the Group held hedging instruments covering most financial debt contracted at floating
rates of interest. The corporate debt refinancing indicated above contracted at a fixed rate of 7.25% minimised
interest rate risk.

6. Intangible assets

Changes in intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Fiscaf Year 2012
Transfer to
Held

Balance at  Additions or Retiretnents  Exchange FEZSS::;G Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Cglf %‘;ffr ordisposals  Differences  (Note 20)  31/12/2012
Computer software 14,361 - (110} 3) 110 14,358
Emission rights 5,253 16,598 (5,830) - - 16,021
Other intangible assets (¥) 10,405 3,570 (1,192) 1 1,420 14,204
Total cost 30,019 20,168 (7,132) 2) 1,530 44,583
Computer software (13,744) (221) 110 1 (110) (13,9064)
Other intangible assets (¥) (8,148) (756) 1,192 - (1,351) (9,063)
Total amortisation (21,892) ©77) 1,302 1 (LA61)  (23,027)
Total 8,127 21,556

(*} Mainly comprising development costs
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Fiscal Year 2011

Transfer to

Held

Balance at  Additions or Retirements Transfers — Exchange FXZSS;?;C Balance at

Thousands of Buros 01/01/201 1 Ct};ff;affr ordisposals (Note7) Differences  (Note20)  31/12/2011
Computer software 14,329 144 - - (2} (110) 14,361
Emission rights 2,544 9,099 (6,390) - - - 5,253
Other intangible assets () 11,867 291 (16) (317) - (1,420) 10,405
Total cost 28,740 9,534 (6,406) (3t7) ) (1,530) 30,019
Computer software (13,532) (319) - - 3) 110 (13,744)
Other intangible assets (¥) (8,674) (941) 15 101 - 1,351 (8,148)
Total amortiisation (22,206) (£,260) 15 101 3) 1,461 (21,892)
Total 6,534 8,127

(*) Mainly comprising development costs
Additions and disposals-

The Group in fiscal year 2012 acquired Foresta Capital, S.L. and Foresta Mantenimiento Plantaciones, S.L.,
companies linked by common shareholders (see Note 24), as well as intangible knowledge, experiences and
techniques that optimise energy crops and the in vitro reproduction of eucalyptus, and also a clone of the Populus
Deltoides species. The companies were acquired for an initial payment of approximately EUR 3.5 million, and
deferred payments for an additional EUR 3 million, if and when a series of conditions were met, including raising
the moratorium on the special economic regimen for biomass electricity generation, established in Royal Decree
Law 17/2012 of 27 January, or investment in energy generation plants outside of Spain with a minimum power of
70 MW. This agreement includes a purchaser's right for an option, exercisable within six months after the lifting of
the moratorim and for the market value of such assets at the time of its acquisition, to buy determined electricity
production projects currently being promoted by the sellers.

The Group has also annually received, free of charge, greenhouse gas emissions rights under the National
Assignment Plan 2008-2012, for 657,970 tons of COZ per year. in 2012 the Group used 92,368 tons of CO2
assighed fo it as well as remainders from previous years, to redeem the rights consumed in the previous year
(278,121 tons in fiscal year 2011). The 565,602 tons of CO2 remaining for 2012 (379,849 tons in 2011) are
registered in the section “Emission Rights”, in the amount of EUR 3.535 million (EUR 5.253 million at 31
[ecember 2011).

On 3 June 2008 the Group executed a contract selling greenhouse gas emission rights received free of charge in
2008, equivalent to 657,970 tons of CO2, and also executed an agreement to purchase emission rights for
506,202 tons of CO2 at a mean price of EUR 24.6. This purchase that took place in December 2012, represented
an investment of EUR 12.486 million.

In fiscal year 2011 the Group also executed various emission rights purchase commitments for a total of 601,000
tons of CO2 at an average price of EUR 14.85 maturing in 2012. These agreements were later amended to
mature in 2013, at a price of EUR 15.37 per ton. The purpose is to hedge future consumption of emission rights
by the Group.

The “Provisions” section of the long term liabilities balance sheet at 31 December 2013 shows EUR 3.015 million
(EUR 5.845 million at 31 December 2011} corresponding to liabilities from 2012 and 2011 consumption of
481,609 tons of CO2 and 472,217 tons of CO2, respectively (see Note 15).

Fully amortised intangible assets-
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At 31 December 2012 and 2011, fully amortised intangible assets, mainly consisting of development costs and
computer software, totalled EUR 16,711 thousand and EUR 15,659 thousand, respectively.

7. Property, plant and equipment

Changes in the property, plant and equipment carried in the consolidated balance sheet and the related
accumulated depreciation in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012

Transfer
to/from
Held
Balance at  Additionsor  Retirements Exchange Fzzsi?le Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Ctl;ﬁ:.‘i(;jfr or disposals  Transfers  Differences (Note 20) 31/12/2012
Forest fand 154,317 4 (69) - {560) (28,422) 123,270
Other land 6,377 250 - - G (251) 6,372
Buildings 138,977 51 (2) 2,300 {60) (3,080) 138,186
Plant and machinery 1,020,297 592 (3,422) 14,602 {70) 988 1,032,987
Other items of property, plant and 30,652 600 {1,186) 1,494 21 1,068 32,607
equipment
Advances and non-current assets 123,380 85,401 (433) {18,396) (3) (132) 189,817
under construction
Cost 1,474,000 86,898 (5,112) - {718) (29,829) 1,525,239

Buildings (77.854) (4,041) 2 13 14 880 (80,986)
Plant and machinery (596,277) (47,496) 657 37 50 (1,098) (644,201)
Other items of property, plant and (18,570) (1,627) 1,167 24 3 (81%8) (19,821)
equipment

Amortisation (692,701) (53,164) 1,826 - 67 (1,036) (745,008)
Land and buildings (4,984) (21) 3,000 . - - (2,005)
Plant and machinery (6,173) (164) 4,005 - - (1.532) (3.864)
Other items of property, plant and - (183) - - - - (183)
equipment

Impairments (11,157) (368) 7,005 - - (1,532) {6,052)

Total 770,142 774,179
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Fiscal Year 2011

Transfer to
Held
Balanceat  Additionsor  Retirements Transfers Exchange FX;SSC?;C Balance at

Thousands of Buros 01/0%/2011 Ctl;ir%eeaffr or disposals {Note 6) Differences (Note 20} 31/12/2011
Forest land 153,510 477 - - 324 - 154,317
Other land 7,598 - (1,212} - {9 - 6,377
Buildings 145,081 448 (8,283) 1,793 (34} (28) 138,977
Plant and machinery 1,001,898 7,512 {2,363) 18,609 109 (5,468) 1,020,297
Other items of property, plant and 28,989 1,659 (1,498 2,643 2) (1,139) 30,652
cquipment
Advances and non-current assets 80,320 66,059 (263) (22,728) (%) (3) 123,380
under construction

Cost 1,417,402 76,155 (13,619) 317 383 (6,638) 1,474,000
Buildings (74,080} (4,442) 660 1 {11 i8 (77,854)
Plant and machinery (548,988) {48,090) (2,860) (60) (55) 3,776 (596,277}
Other items of property, plant and (22,510) (1,144) 4,236 {41 (2) 891 {18,570)
equipment

Amortisation (645,578) (53,676) 2,036 (100) (68) 4,685 (692,701)

Land and buildings {13,289) - 8,305 - - - (4,984)
Plant and machinery {11,395) (819) 4,509 (1) - 1,533 (6,173)

Total 747,140 770,142

Addifions-

The Group has made investments at all of its facilities to improve the efficiency of the paper pulp production
process, optimise electricity generaling and improve environmental protection. This is broken down as follows:

Thousands of Euros

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Navia 6,212 11,321
Huelva 14,262 8,789
Huelva — 50 Mw plant 38,407 42 600
Pontevedra 4,347 6,224
Merida — 20 Mw plant 20,513 -
Other (*) 3,157 7,221

86,808 76,155

(*} Includes mainly investments in irrigation eguipment for plantations of energy crops and capitalised
costs incurred in the development of energy projects.

On 1 August 2012, the Group, through affiliate Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U. concluded a turnkey
construction contract for a biomass renewable energy generating plant with installed capacity of 20 megawatts.
The plant will be located in Merida (Badajoz), and start up operations in fourth quarter 2014, Projected investment
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in the project is EUR 80.7 million, of which EUR 60.7 million will be financed by a bank syndicate through a
“Project Finance” (See Note 16). Accumulated investment at 31 December 2012 comes to EUR 20.5 milfion.

On 21 June 2011, the Ence Group concluded a turnkey construction contract for a biomass renewable energy
generating plant with install capacity of 50 megawatts via the subsidiary, Ence Energia Huelva, S.A.U. The plant
will be located in Group installations in Huelva, and start up operations in the first quarter of 2013. Projected
investment in the project is EUR 146.6 million, of which EUR 101.3 are financed by a bank syndicate through a
“Project Finance” {See Note 16). The cumulative investment made at 31 December 2012 was EUR 138.1 million,
of which EUR 38.4 million were invested in 2012 and EUR 42.6 million in 2011.

The Group capitalised finance costs totalling EUR 5,670 thousand incurred in 2011, basically in respect of project
finance indebtedness (EUR 2,678 thousand at 31 December 2011).

The Group likewise at 31 December 2012 has investment commitments for material assets for EUR 17,327
thousand, that will mostly be developed in 2013.

Retirements and disposals-

On 11 September 2011 the Group sold certain land in Uruguay owned by Sociedad Zona Franca de M'Bopicta,
S.A. for a total of USD 5 miliion (EUR 3,741 thousand). This transaction generated a profit of EUR 2,680
thousand, which was recognised in the accompanying consolidated income statement under “Impairment and
gains or losses on disposals of non-current assets”.

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment-

At 31 December 2012 and 2011 the Group had fully depreciated items of property, plant and equipment still in
use as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Buildings 42,066 41,945
Machinery 397,860 374,196
Equipment and tools 396 473
Furniture 1,559 2,251
Other 10,935 10,197
452,816 429,062

Grant of public land-

The maritime-terrestrial concession of the land on which the Pontevedra factory is located was awarded to the
Parent Company by Ministerial Order of 13 June 1958. The concession deed did not establish any fixed term, but
Article 66 of the subsequent Coasts Law established a maxmum term of 30 years for mariime-terrestrial
concessions of public domain. In accordance with Transitional Provision 14.3 of the Coasts Regulations,
moteover, the holders of concessions granted prior to the entry into force of the Coasts Law (as in the present
case) should understand that the same “are granted for a maximum period of thirty years as from the entry into
force of the Coasts Law", whatever the term established in the concession deed (the Law came into force on 29
July 1988, and the concession will therefore expire on 29 July 2018). The carrying amount of all assets
associated with fand at 31 December 2012 was EUR 71,865 thousand {(EUR 80,839 thousand at 31 December
2011).

The Bill for the Coastal Protection and Sustainable Use act and Amendment of Law 22/1988 of 28 July on Coasls
was published in the Official Gazette of the General Courts/Chamber of Deputies on 19 Qctober 2012. The
changes to the Coasts Law proposed includes the possibility of extending grants of maritime-terrestral public
domain issued prior to the amendment — as in the case of Ence in Ponfevedra — up to 75 years.
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On 19 May 20112, the Administrative Disputes bench of the Spanish High Court issued a ruling on the appeal
filed by the Association, “Salvemos Pontevedra”. This judgment did not enter into the merits of the case, and it
therefore did not find that ENCE had breached any of the terms of the concession, as the claimant Association
had sought. Rather, the Court confined itself to ordering the Administration to open proceedings in connection
with the expiration of the concession and the adoption of legal measures to haif activity and the use and operation
of the facility. This judgment does not prejudge the outcome of these proceedings which would, where applicable,
be conducted as a full administrative process leading to a final decision that would be open to appeal in the
administrative disputes jurisdiction. Both the Administration and ENCE have appealed against the judgment,
which is not enforceable while the appeal proceedings continue.

Revaluations-

As of 1 January 2004, the date of fransition to EU-IFRS, forest land was revalued at fair value. The fair value was
determined by specialist independent appraisers and is considered fo be a reference historical cost as permitted
by International Accounting Standards. The revaluation surplus of EUR 54,882 thousand, net of deferred tax
liabilities totalling EUR 23,498 thousand, was recognised in net equity under "Valuation adjustments”. This market
value is treated as the historical cost reference at subsequent dates.

Law 16/2012 of 27 December which adopts various tax measures that consolidate public finances and drive
economic activity, contemplates the possibility of voluntarily accepting the restatement of values regulated by that
provision.

Taxpayers subject to the fiscal consolidation regimen under the provisions of Chapter Vii of Title VI of the
Consolidated Corporate Tax Law, approved by Legislative Royal Decree 4/2004 of 5 March, would carry out the
update operations in the individual regimen.

Parent Company Directors are currently evaluating said Law 16/2012 and its potential implications and
accounting and fiscal impacts. As of the date of preparation of those consclidated annual reports no decision had
been made.

Insurance and other matters-

The Group arranges insurance policies {o cover the possible risks to which its property, plant and equipment are
exposed. The Parent Company's directors consider that the insurance cover for these risks is adequate at 31
December 2012,

Assets located outside Spain, mainly in Uruguay, amounted to EUR 39,991 thousand at 31 December 2012 (EUR
37,928 thousand at 31 December 2011). These are mostly classified as held for sale in the seclion "Non-current
assets held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 20).

Biological assets

Biological assets comprise basically the Group's standing timber (forest land owned by the Group is presented in
“Property, plant and equipment — forest [and”), as follows:

Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Standing timber- Iberian Peninsula 125,655 124,154
Standing timber- Urugunay - 19,294
Standing timber — Energy crops 44 622 36,366
Other standing crops- Iberian Peninsula 681 772
170,958 180,586

Changes in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:
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Fiscal Year 2012

Transfer to
Thousands of Euros Balance at Ag}?;:ioeniocr)r Transfers Exchange P}\éillz?ele Balance at
01/01/12 o ;‘fear differences  (Note 20) 31/12/12
For use as cellulose:
Forest [and 236,480 11,264 (111} (483} (26,083) 221,067
Forestry reserve depletion (91,690} (6,268) - 109 5,582 (92,267)
Impairments (570) (533) (1,361) - . (2,464)
144,220 4,463 (1,472) (374) (20,501) 126,336
For use as energy crops:
Forest land 36,907 11,267 {699) - - 47,475
Forestry reserve depletion (14) (2,839 - - - (2,853)
Impairments (327) - 527 - - -
36,366 9,678 (172) - - 44,622
180,586 170,958
Fiscal Year 2011
Thousands of Euros ]5;)2111?51;61 ilt %Sig::n;o?‘r Transfers £§f§?§§§; E;T?lrg ;i ?t
the year
For use as cellulose:
Forest land 243,474 14,407 (20,216) (1,185) 236,480
Forestry reserve depletion {82,937) (8,621) - {(132) (91,690)
Impairments - ' (570) - - (570)
166,537 5,216 (20,210) (1,317) 144,220
For use as energy crops:
Forest land 6,177 10,514 20,216 - 36,907
Forestry reserve depletion - (14) - - (14)
Impairments (527) - - - (527
5,650 10,500 20,216 - 36,366
166,187 180,586 |

The Group planted 4,452 hectares and 6,664 hectares respectively in 2011 and 2012, and carried out i
conservation and forestry work on a further 47,125 ha. And 55,481 hectares, respectively. ‘

Details of standing timber at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:
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Fiscal Year 2012
Iberian Peninsuia
Pulp Energy crops (*)
Hectares T;l; EISEESS Hectares T(l)lfo Eiiggs
Years Productive Carrying Productive Carrying
Age land (Ha.) Amount land (Ha.) Amount
> 17 1,010 1,490 - -
16 28 33 - -
i5 170 841 20 30
14 622 1,569 2 2
13 1,227 4,153 154 485
12 1,399 5,231 1,199 2,284
11 2,516 8,073 173 346
10 2,631 6,729 398 331
5 2,622 6,018 15 13
8 2,919 9,263 145 279
7 6,578 21,843 1,633 5,126
6 5,133 15,686 736 2,746
5 4,209 10,233 1,731 4,290
4 4,915 10,510 827 2,692
3 5,225 11,765 926 3,204
2 4,708 8,170 1,792 5,785
1 3,233 3,794 3,138 9,502
0 2,276 2,396 3,625 6,886
Impairment - (2,464) - -
Deferred costs - 1,003 - 561
51,423 126,336 16,516 44,622

(*) Part of the biological assets to be used as “Energy crops” come from changes in use
of crops to be used for celiulose.
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Fiscal Year 2011

Tberian Peninsula

Puip Energy crops Uruguay (Note 20)

Hectares T(l)llf’ gi?ggs Hectares Tcl?fo Ei?’ggs Hectares Tho}gie;i;ls of

Years Productive Carrying Productive Carrying Productive Carrying

Age land (Ha.) Amount land (Ha.) Amount land (Ha.) Amount
> 17 1,002 1,598 - - 180 288
16 254 336 1 3 - -
15 62 41 21 19 5 9
14 363 1,934 2 - 51 74
13 707 2,125 156 457 98 147
12 1,493 5,311 1,214 2,073 69 105
11 1,926 6,860 183 324 324 456
i0 2,655 9,553 398 262 1,390 1,967
9 2,864 6,397 54 10 537 086
8 2,642 5,808 168 220 201 324
7 3,040 9,195 1,733 4,982 654 1,068
6 6,762 20,910 732 2,395 1,662 1,827
5 5,213 14,979 1,832 5,004 2,410 3,153
4 4,280 8,862 741 1,930 2,027 2,560
3 4,902 10,221 1,025 3,610 344 1,097
2 5,748 11,037 893 1,927 1,353 2,194
] 4,586 6,948 3,247 6,756 1,622 1,551
0 3,253 3,009 4,552 5,154 3,009 1,788
Impairment - (570) - (327 “ -
Deferred costs - 772 - 2,277 - -
51,812 124,926 16,892 36,366 16,436 19,294

The Group capitalised forestry plantation and maintenance costs in fiscal year 2012, corresponding to services
received, in the amount of EUR 21,042 thousand (EUR 22,346 thousand in 2011).

A total of EUR 1,489 thousand for financial costs was capitalised in 2012 (EUR 2,575 thousand in 2011}, and are
discounted from the section "Other financial costs" in the consolidated profit and loss statement.

.  Leases

At 2012 year end the Group had contracted the following lease instalments with certain lessors under leases
currently in force, not including common expenses, fulure increases for inflation or future contractual rent rises:
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Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Less than one year 5,371 3,545
Between one and five years 21,610 8,690
Over five years 29,194 22,301
56,175 34,536

The Group leased 28,256 hectares of forest land in 2012 (28,419 ha. in 2011) for the cultivation of standing
timber. These leases have an average term of 30 years.

10. Derivative financial instruments

In accordance with the risk management policy described in Note 5, the Group contracts derivatives to hedge
risks arising from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, cellulose pulp prices, and the prices of gas, fuel off
and electricity used in the production process.

The most commeoenly used derivatives are interest rate swaps. The exchange rate derivatives and instruments
contracted to hedge fluctuations in the prices of cellllose pulp and energy produicts consist mainly of swaps and
futures.

The Group classifies derivatives in three categories:

1. Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges: these are used mainly to hedge cash flows, interest payments,
collections and payments in foreign currencies, efc.

2. Derivatives designated as fair value hedges: these are used to hedge the fair values of assets and liabilities
carried in the consclidated balance sheet.

3. Other derivatives: these comprise insfruments that are not designated hedges or that do not meet the
requirements established by the appropriate accounting standards to qualify for hedge accounting.

All financial instruments were measured after initial recognition with reference to observable market data, whether
directly (i.e. via prices) or indirectly (i.e. via price derivatives).

Details of the derivatives carried in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Non-Current

Current Assets e i Current Liabilities
Liabilities

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings - - - 18,851 10,164 -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawatts - - 8,134 6,615 2,365 -
TR Swap - Project finance, 20 megawatts - - 1,518 - 330 -
Equity Swap - - 6,975 - 2,027 12,386
Exchange rate hedges 10,721 - - - - 22,224
Pulp price hedges - 867 - - - -

Total 10,721 867 16,627 25,466 14,886 34,610
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Exchange rate hedges-

in order to hedge the risks to which the Group is exposed due io fluctuations in the USD/Euro exchange rate,
which can have a material impact on the sale price of cellulose pulp and on a significant part of purchases, the
Parent Company proceeded to make forward sales of US dollars to hedge future revenues. The notional amount
of these hedges at 31 December 2012 and 2011 was 222 million dollars at a mean exchange rate of 1.24
USD/EUR and 516 million dollars at 1.38 USD/EUR, respectively. These contracts meet the requirements
established in the relevant accounting standards to qualify as effective hedges.

The market value of these instruments at 31 December 2012 was positive by EUR 10,721 thousand, which was
recognised in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet under “Current liabilities — Derivatives” with an
equivalent entry, net of the tax effect, in "Equity — Valuation adjustments”.

“Gains or losses on hedging operations” in the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2012 includes a
toss of EUR 26,381 thousand in respect of hedges settled during the reporting period (EUR 22,224 thousand in
2011).

Considering the contract conditions at 31 December 2012, a 5% gain in the eurc would have a positive impact of
EUR 7,973 thousand on the consolidate profit/loss for 2013. A 5% depreciation of the euro on the other hand
would give a negative impact of EUR 8,801 thousand on the consolidated results for 2013.

Pulp price hedges-

in order to hedge the risks to which the Group is exposed due to fluctuations in BHKP pulp prices, which have a
significant impact on the amount of cellulose sales, the Parent Company arranged BHKP pulp price swaps in
2011 maturing in 2012 in order to hedge sales revenues. Notional amounts of those hedges at 31 December
2011 came to 48 thousand tons of pulp. These contracts meet the requirements established in the relevant
accounting standards fo qualify as effective hedges.

These instruments were recognised at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Group
had no wood price hedge agreement aft 31 December 2012. The fair value of these financial assets at 31
December 2011 was posifive by EUR 867 thousand, which was recognised in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet under "Current assets ~ Derivatives” with an equivalent enfry, net of the tax effect, in “Equity —
Valuation adjustments”.

"Gains or losses on hedging operations” in the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2012 includes a
loss of EUR 1,186 thousand in respect of hedges settled during the reporting period (EUR 10,899 thousand in
2011).

Other hedges-

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the prices of certain energy products consumed in the production
process, which can significantly affect production costs. This risk is partially hedged using commodity swaps,
which comply with hedge accounfing requirements.

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Group had no contracts in force to hedge the price of electricity or fuel oil.

Interest Rate Swap-

The Group hedges the interest rate risk inherent in euro-denominated long-term floating rate financial liabilities
using interest rate swaps.

The purpose of these hedges is to neutralise fluctuations in cash oulflows associated with floating interest rates
(Euribor) on the Group’s borrowings.

The Group uses the discounted cash flows method to determine the fair value of interest rate derivatives,
basically fixed rate swaps, based on implicit values determined by the Euribor interest rate curve according to
market conditions at the measurement date.

34




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

The interest rate derivatives contracted by the Group outstanding at 31 December 2012 and 2011 and their
negative fair values at the reporting dates were as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012
Fair Notional amount at the end of
Thousands of Euros Value 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings 10,164 194,498 - - - - - -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawatts 10,499 75,982 74,874 69,933 63,997 57,502 50,584 43,563
IR Swap - Project finance, 20 megawatts 1,848 15,028 34,334 44,908 42036 38,981 35,928 32,685
Fiscal Year 2011
Fair Notional amount at the end of
Thousands of Euros Value 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings 18,851 232,298 194,498 - - - - - -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawaits 6,615 47,641 75,982 74,874 69,933 63,997 57,502 50,584 43,563 1

An analysis of the Group's liquidity for interest rate derivatives prepared from undiscounted net cash flows is as

follows:
Thousands of Euros
_ 3 Months - 1 1-3 Over 5
Less than 1 Month  1-3 Months Year Years years
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings - 2,734 7,447 - -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawatts - - 2,371 6,992 1,333
IR Swap - Project finance, 20 megawatts - - 330 1,883 (380)

On 29 May 2008 the Parent Company contracted an interest rate swap to hedge approximately 60% of its
corporate financing paid out at that time. This debt changed substantially in 2009, with the result that the interest
rate swap ceased to qualify for hedge accounting on 16 Cctober 2009. Since that date, changes in the value of
this instrument have been recognised through the consolidated income statement for the year. A gain of EUR
8,687 thousand (EUR 8,267 thousand in 2011). was recognised in the consolidated income statement under
“Changes in fair value of financial instruments” in respect of the change in the value of the interest rate swap.

The part of the value of the hedging instrument associated with the hedged item, which was recognised in
consalidated equity for a total of EUR 1,075 thousand hefore the tax effect (EUR 3,120 thousand in 2011), will be
recognised prospectively through the consolidated income statement until 2013, the period in which the hedged
item will affect the Group’s results, as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011 l
I
Fiscal Year 2012 - 2,045 !
Fiscal Year 2013 1,075 1,073 k
1,075 3,120
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The IRSs associated with financing arrangement for the Huelva 50 MW and Merida 20 MW projects meets the
requirements established to quality as an effective hedge.

Based on the contractual terms and conditions prevailing at 31 December 2012, a 10% increase in the Euribor
interest rate curve would have a positive impact of EUR 87 thousand on the consolidated earnings for 2013. in
contrast, a 10% decline in the Euribor interest rate curve would have a negative impact on consolidated earnings
for 2013.

Equity swap-

On 25 October 2007, the Parent Company arranged an equity swap with Bankia, as one of the requirements
established in the terms and conditions of the Special Variable Executive Compensation Plan made on that date.
On 18 June 2008 that confract was terminated a new contract executed with similar terms, although adapting the
annual price to the changes in the Company's listed share prices. The equity swap was renewed for a second
time on 14 October 2010 to bring it into line with the modification made to the Long-Term Incentives Plan (see
Note 4-0). .

The aforementioned equity swap was contracted for a total of 5,100,000 shares of the Parent Company at a base
price of EUR 4.11 per share. The benchmark interest rate for this instrument is Euribor at 12 months plus an
additional spread of 0.05% settled annually. Initial maturity is scheduled for 30 June 2012. There is no share buy-
back agreement, and there is an express mention that the shares will not return to the Group. Any shares
remaining at the end of the 5-year period will be placed directly in the market by Bankia, thereby ensuring that
they do not have to be recognised as treasury shares.

This instrument does not meet the criteria to qualify as a hedging instrument, and changes in fair value must
therefore be recognised in the consolidated income statement as they occur. The fair value of the equity swap is
calculated based on the discounted cash fiows of the share component (present value of dividends plus the final
share price, less EUR 4.11) and the discounted cash flows generated by the accrual of interest.

On 28 June 2012 the Parent Company novated the instrument so that it acts as a hedge for the "Ence Energia y
Celulosa S.A. Long Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015". This modification, based on 3,850,000 shares extends
maturity to 15 December 2012 for 1,025,000 shares, to 15 December 2013 for 1,025,000 shares, and to 15 March
2015 for 1,800,000 shares; and establishes a benchmark interest rate of Euribor 6 months plus 2.30%.
Liguidation of the remaining 1,250,000 shares represented a loss of EUR 3,225 thousand, and is recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet under “Variation on fair value of financial instruments”.

The fair value of the equity swap was negative EUR 9,002 thousand at closing 31 December 2012(EUR 12,386 at
31 December 2011). This amount has been recognised as a current and non-current liability under “Derivatives”
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, according to its maturity.

A 10% rise in the Parent Company’s share price would have a positive impact of EUR 785 thousand on
consolidated earnings for 2013. In contrast, a 10% fall in the Parent Company’s share price would have a
negative impact for the same amount on the consolidated earnings for 2013.

. Inventories

The detail of the Group's inventories at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
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There no restrictions on the disposability of inventories. The Group arranges insurance policies to cover the
possible risks to which its inventories are exposed. The directors consider that the cover arranged for these risks

Thousands of Euros

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Wood 48,555 70,759
Other raw materials 3,995 4,921
Spare parts 23,878 22,889
Work in progress 1,383 -
Products in progress 441 441
Finished goods 17,597 17,601
Advances to suppliers 1,069 3,396
Impairments (*) (9,343) (7,545)
87.575 112,462

(*) Mainly related to spare parts.

is adequate at 31 December 2012 and 2011.

The Group has contracts executed with suppliers and agreements with producer associations for the acquisition
of 174 thousand tons of eucalyptus fo be used in paste production and 698 thousand tons of forestry waste for

energy generation.

12. Trade and other accounts receivable [ payable

“Trade and other receivables” carried in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as

foliows:

“Trade receivables for sales” includes delinguent balances unimpaired and not covered by credit insurance (see
Note 5) in the amount of EUR 2,710 thousand, mostly with a maturity of less than 180 days.

Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Trade receivables for sales 138,339 120,471
Sundry accounts receivable 4,854 5,392
Employee receivables 16 256
Impairmenis {4,629) (3,330)
138,580 122,789

The average collection period on sales of cellulose pulp is between 55 and 85 days.

“Trade and other payables” carried in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as

follows:

Thousands of Euros 31/12/2612  31/12/2011
Trade payables 177479 162,144
Suppliers of non-current assets 16,088 12,408
Remuneration payable 8,335 7,412

201,902 181,964
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The average payment period for purchases of goods and services is beiween 65 and 75 days. The fair value of

accounts receivable and payable does not differ materially from their carrying amounts.

At 31 December 2012 the Group had receivables and payables in dollars for EUR 27,549 thousand and EUR

6,512 thousand respectively.

The Group has entered info various no-recourse confirming arrangements with an available limit and amount paid
out of EUR 83,500 thousand and EUR 62,806 thousand respectively at 31 December 2012 (EUR 73,700

thousand limit and EUR 54,239 thousand had been utilised at 31 December 2011).

Law 15/2010, of 5 July, on measures to combat default in commercial transactions, establishes certain disclosure
requiremerts with regard to the operations carried out by companies. The breakdown of payments for trade
operations in 2012 and 2011 pending payment at closing, excluding operations between Group companies and

those corresponding to payments to suppliers of non-current assets, is as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012

Fiscal Year 2011

Thousands of Thousands of
% %
Euros Euros
Pay_ments m.ade within the maximum 469,013 30 559,315 04%
period permitted by law
Other 56,274 11% 32,841 6%
Total payments made in the year 525,287 100% 592,156 100%
Weighted average past due payments 3275 i 23 98 )
(days)
Deferrals which at the closing date
extended beyond the maximum legal 6,179 - 7,298 -

period at the year-end (*)

13. Equity

Share capital

The share capital of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. at 31 December 2012 was represented by 250,272,500 fully
subscribed and paid bearer shares with a par value of EUR 0.9 each. The shareholders at 31 December 2012

and 2011 were as follows:
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Percentage 31/12/2012 31/12/2011
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. 24.5 222
Alcor Holding, S.A. 21.9 20.4
Liberbank, S.A. 6.9 6.3
Fidalser, S.L. - 5.0
Treasury shares 1.5 7.8
Free Float 392 383
TFotal 100.0 100.0

The Parent Company's shares are listed on the Madrid Stock Exchange. All shares have the same voting and
profit-sharing rights.

Legal reserve-

In accordance with the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporations Law, 10% of net profit for each year must
be transferred to the legal reserve until the balance thereon reaches at least 20% of share capital.

The legal reserve can be used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve balance does not fali below
10% of the increased share capital amount. Otherwise, until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it can
only be used to offset losses, provided that sufficient other reserves are not available for this purpose.

Share premium-

The Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporations expressly allows use of the balance on the share premium
account to increase share capital, and it does not establish any specific restrictions on disposal.

Reserves in fully consolidated companies-

A breakdown of “Equity — Reserves in fully consolidated companies” by companies at 31 December 2012 and
2011 is as follows:
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Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U. 45,426 45,079
Celulosa Energia, S.L.U. 43,879 36,560
Norte Forestal, S.A.U. 17,054 13,314
Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.U. 8,516 7,809
Iberflorestal , S.A.U., 2,204 1,941
Thersilva, S.A.U. (18,059) (7,028)
Norfor Maderas, S.A.U. 480 450
Eucalipto de Pontevedra, S.A.U. (1,987) (1,976)
Flectricidad de Navia Asturias, S.L.U. 2,839 2,845
Maderas Aserradas del Litoral, S.A. (2,721) (927)
Celulosas de M’Bopicud, S.A. (129) (73)
Zona Franca M’Bopicus, 5.A. 2,895 72
Las Pléyades de Urugnay, S.A. (59 (83)
Las Pléyades, S.A. (SAFI) 2,026 1,742
Las Pléyades Argentina (176) (93)
Sierras Calmas, S.A. 5,627 1,428
Ence Energia, S.1.U. (803) (420)
Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. {658) -
Consolidation adjustments 6,186 1,814
112,543 102,454

Restricted reserves in consolidated companies totalted EUR 14,979 thousand at 31 December 2012 (EUR 14,599
thousand at 31 December 2011), basically comprising the legal reserves of the Group companies.

Dividends

At the Annual General Meeting of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. held on 26 April 2012 the shareholders
approved the distribution of dividends totalling EUR 16,514,432, representing a gross EUR 0.07 per share, out of
the profit for 2011. The dividend was paid on 8 May 2012.

That Meeting of Shareholders likewise ordered a distribution in kind of part of the share issue premium through
the delivery of Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. treasury shares at 1 share for each 26 shares in circulation. Almost
9,052,679 shares of the Parent Company were delivered, with a market value at the time of the resolution of EUR
14,484 thousand and an average acquisition cost of EUR 21,173 thousand.

The Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders of the Parent Company on 24 July 2012 approved a capital reduction
of EUR 6,966,351 through the amortization of 7,740,390 treasury shares, as well as the distribution in kind of the
share issue premium with the delivery of Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. treasury shares to sharcholders at the
rate of 1 share for every 37 shares in circulation. A total of 6,502,173 treasury shares of the Parent Company
were distributed, with a market value at the time of the resolution of EUR 9,623 thousand and an average
acquisition cost of EUR 14,020 thousand. The Board of Directors with the authorization of the Extraordinary
General Meeting held 24 July 2012, approved a Share Buyback Program designed to remunerate shareholders
through the iater reduction in corporate capital. Buyback Program have the following characteristics: 1) the Share
Buyback Program will continue until 30 June 2013; 2} shares will be purchased at market price according to price
and volume conditions established in Article 5 of EC Regulation 2273/2003 and the Company's Internal Code of
conduct for Securities Markets; and 3) the maximum number of treasury shares that can be acquired under the
Buyback Program is equivalent to 5% of corporate capital. The share buyback program is simultaneous with other
Company treasury stock operations.
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Earnings per share:

The calculation of basic and diluted consolidated earnings per share at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as
follows:

Net Earnings per Share Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2011
Consolidated net profit for the year attributed to
ordinary shares (thousands of euros) 43,031 41,192
Ordinary shares in circulation at T January 258,012,890 258,012,890
Number of ordinary shares at 31 December 250,272,500 258,012,890
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 254,629,113 258,012,890
Basic earnings per share {euros) 0.16 0.16
Diluted earnings per share (euros) 0.16 0,16

Parent Company shares

Changes in "Treasury Shares — Parent Company” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in 2012 and
2011 were as follows:

Tiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2011
Number of  Thousands of Number of Thousands of
Shares Euros Shares Euros
At beginning of year 20,211,000 49,217 995,000 2,434
Purchases 22,538,848 41,596 22,067,678 53,777
Distribution in kind of treasury stock (15,554,852) (35,193) - -
Amortization (7,740,390) (16,828) - -
Sales (711,223) (1,579) (2,851,678) (6,994)
At end of year 18,743,383 37,213 20,211,000 49,217

The Parent Company at 7 December 2012 had acquired a total of 12,815,353 shares from shareholder Fidalser,
S.L., representing 5.12% of its capital, for EUR 25,246 thousand.

The Parent Company shares held as treasury stock at 31 December 2012 represented 7.5 % of share capital
(7.8% at 31 December 2011) with a total par value of EUR 16,869 thousand (EUR 18,190 thousand at 31
Becember 2011). The average purchase price was EUR 1.8455 per share. The company will keep the shares as
treasury shares untif the Board of Directors decides on a better alternative for their use in order to maximise the
creation of value for shareholders.

Valuation adjustments-

“Valuation adjustments” carried in consolidated equity comprise changes in the fair value of hedging operations
{see Note 10} and the reserve generated on the recognition of forest fand at fair value at 1 January 2004 (see
Note 7). This reserve is unrestricted.

Changes in the fair value of derivative hedging instruments in 2012 and 2011 are as follows {see Note 10):
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Fiscal Year 2012

Fiscal Year 2011

Fair Tax Valuation Fair Tax Valuation
Thousands of Euros Value Effect Adjustment Value Effect  Adjustment
IRSwap-corporate borrowing-
Beg. balance (3,120} ©37) (2,183) (6,748) (2,024) (4,724)
Transfer to income statement 2,045 614 1,431 3,628 1,087 2,541
Other changes in value - - - - - -
End balance (1,075) (323) (752) (3,120) (937) (2,183)
IRSwap-Project 50 Megawatts -
Beg. balance (6,615) (1,985) (4,630) - - -
Transfer to income statement 1,291 387 904 307 92 215
Other changes in value (5,175) (1,552) {3,623) (6,922) (2,077) (4,845)
End balance {10,499) (3,150) (7,349) (6,615) (1,985) (4,630)
IRSwap-Project 20 Megawatts - i
Beg. balance - - - - - -
Teansfer to income statement 16 4 12 - - -
Other changes in value {1,864) (559) (1,305) - - -
End balance {1,848) (555} (1,29%) - - -
Exchange rate-
Beg. balance (22,226) (6,667) (15,559) (2,014) (604) (1,410)
Transfer to income statement 26,381 7,914 18,467 (465) (139) (326)
Other changes in value 6,566 1,970 4,596 {19,747) (3,924) (13,823)
End balance 10,721 3,217 7,504 (22,226) (6,667) (15,559)
Pulp price-
Beg, balance 867 260 607 (2,577) {(7173) (1,804)
Transfer to income statement 1,187 356 831 11,071 3,321 7,750
Other changes in value (2,054) {616) (1,438) (7,627) (2,288) (5,339)
End balance - - - 867 260 607
Energy products
Beg. balance - - - 786 235 551
Transfer to income statement - - - 473) (142) (331)
Other changes in value - - - (313) (93) (220)
End balance - - - 0 0 0
{2,781) (811) (1,890) (31,094 (9,329) (21,765)
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14. Grants

15.

Changes in this section of the balance sheet in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Emissions

Thousands of Euros Grants Rights Total

Balance at 1/1/2011 5,958 4,002 9,960
Increase due to new grants (¥} 8615 - 8615
Emission rights granted for 2011 . 9.100 9.100
Transfer to consolidated profit and loss (1,124) (6,307) (7,431)
Balance at 31.12.11 13,449 6,795 20,244
Emission rights granted for 2012 - 4112 4.112
Transfer to consolidated profit and loss (1,243) (3,037) (4,280)
Balance at 31.12.12 12,206 7,870 20,076

(*) Net costs incurred to obtain grants

During fiscal year 2011 the Group was awarded two non-refundable grants associated with the modernization
pian for its mill in Navia (Asturias) under the measures established to correct regional economic imbalances
established by the Regional Incentives Law (Law 50/1985, of 27 December). The total obtained net of expenses
incurred to apply for the grants was EUR 8,882 thousand.

The Group has also obtained soft loans from various public entities. These loans bear interest at below-market
rates and mature in periods of up to ten years. The outstanding principal at 31 December 2012 was EUR 12,165
thousand (EUR 11,405 thousand at 31 December 2011) (see Note 17). The differential between market interest
rate and rate applied in these credits is considered as a capital grant. These loans were granted subject to certain
undertakings in relation to jobs and investment.

Non-current provisions

Changes in non-current provisions in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Emission
Thousands of Euros Liabilities Rights (Note Other Total
6)

Balance at 1/1/2011 16,069 6,619 1,145 23,833
Charge for the year 1,517 5,614 - 7.131
Amounts used (1,251) (6,388) (140) (7,779)
Balance at 31/12/201% 16,335 5,845 1,005 23,185
Charge for the year 874 3,029 - 3,903
Amounts used (7.971) (5,839) - (13,830)
Balance at 31/12/12 ' 9,238 3,015 1,005 13,258

A detail of the provision for liabilities at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as {ollows:
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Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011

Provision for liabilities:

Sewage Agreement, Galicia 5,357 5,357

Ria de Pontevedra Discharge Royalty 3,140 6,365

VAT inspection, Germany, 2002-2008 67 2,858

Other 674 1,515
9,238 16,335

EUR 4,053 thousand were [quidated in 2012 for spill duties pending payment to "Aguas de Galicia” for the years
2004 to 2007.

The German Tax Administration in 2011 concluded an inspection of Grupo Ence’s handling of Value Added Tax
(VAT) in its operations in Germany for the years 2002 fo 2008. The Tax Administration as a result of that
inspection claimed quotas for EUR 12,692 thousand and interest of EUR 2,829 thousand, which were paid in
2012. Over 90% of the amounts of VAT were recovered from clients at the close of fiscal year 2012.

Emission rights comprise the expenses associated with greenhouse gas emissions during the reporting period,
which are charged to “Other operating expenses” (see Note 19.e).

Bank borrowings, cash and cash equivalents

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2011
Short Long Short Long
Term Term Term Term
Loans and credit facilities 24,588 214,579 19,346 224,169
Project finance, 50 megawatis- 1,477 83,779 - 57,256
Project finance, 20 megawatis- - 15,000 - -
Opening fee (*) 2477 (3,726) - (7.239)
Interest and other payables 520 - 1,106 -
24,108 309,632 20,452 274,186

(*).Corporate financing: EUR 1,987 thousand and EUR 4,354 thousand at 31 December 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Project finance, 50 megawatts: EUR 2,560 thousand and EUR 2,885 thousand at 31 December
2012 and 2011, respectively. Project finance, 20 megawatts: EUR 1,656 thousand at 31 December 2012.

Bank borrowings at 31 December 2012 and 2011 comprise loans, overdraft facilities and discounting facilities. A
hreakdown classified by maturity is as follows:
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Maturities
Fiscal Year 2012 - Thousands of Euros Eimit  Principal 2013 2014 2015 2016 Next
Loans and credit facilities 302,011 239,167 24,588 212,391 615 524 1,049
Project finance, 50 megawatts 101,309 85,256 1,477 5,310 6,660 7,288 64,521
Project finance 20 megawatts 60,692 15,000 - 125 952 1,012 12,911
Interest and other payables - 520 520 - - - -
Opening fee - (6203) (2477 (503)  (495) (471) (2,257)
464,012 333740 24,108 217,323 7,732 8353 76,224
Principal Maturities
Fiscal Year 2011 - Thousands of Euros Limit  Principal 2012 2013 2014 2015 Next
Loans and credit facilities 304,314 243,515 19,346 24,520 197451 624 1,574
Project finance, 50 megawatts- 101,309 57,256 - 1,477 6,588 7,914 41,277
Interest and other payables - 1,106 1,106 - - - -
Opening fee - (7,239) - (3,513) (503) (493) (2,728)

405,623 294,638 20,452 25997 204,039 8,538 42,851

The average interest charged on credit facilities and loans {except the syndicated loan and non recourse debf) in
2012 was 4.20% (4.78% in 2011).

Syndicated loan-

The Company arranged a syndicaked loan for a maximum total of EUR 176,393 thousand after the cancellation of
bilateral financing on 14 Qctober 2010, and at the same time it renewed and amended the terms of the existing
syndicated loan to establish a limit for drawings of EUR 121,229 thousand.

The syndicated loan is structured in three tranches: tranche A, which had an initial limit of EUR 112,255 thousand
{the current limit is EUR 61,817 thousand), to finance the repayment and cancellation of the bilateral loans
arranged by the Group with various financia! institutions; tranche B, which has a limit of EUR 56,928 thousand, to
cover the Group’'s working capital requirements in addition to the amount granted under tranche A; and tranche C,
which is in turn structured in two parts, the first with a limit of EUR 28,464 thousand to cover the Group's working
capital needs, and the second with a limit of EUR 29,183 thousand that will become available for utilization to
finance biomass generating projects only where the first part is fully drawn down.

This financing which accrues annual interest at Euribor with a margin of 300 basis points, has a grace period of
eighteen months, equivalent to a mean rate of 3.72% in 2012 (4.40% in 2011) and matures on 14 January 2014.

The main collateral for the syndicated loan agreement renewed in 2010 is a pledge over the shares of Silvasur
Agroforestal, S.A.U., Norte Forestal, S.A.U., and Iberflorestal Comercio e Servigos Florestais, S.A.U. The main
guarantees for the new syndicated foan consist of a second order pledge over the shares of the aforementioned
companies, the personal guarantee of the subsidiary Celulosas de Asturias, S.A. and a morigage on the
Celulosas de Asturias, S.A. production plant sited in Navia (Asturias), subject to the condition that the “Financial
Debt / EBITDA” ratio exceeds a specified limit. This guarantee is subordinate to the others.
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Both syndicated loans include cerfain covenants relating basically to compliance with certain economic and
financial ratios associated with the consolidated financial statements of the Ence Group, and prepayment of 25%
of the free cash flow generated each year in which net indebtedness with financial institutions is more than EUR
265 million. The loan agreements also establish certain restrictions, mainly related with guarantees granted to
third parties, acquisition of treasury shares, realization of recurring investments, financing of future biomass
generating projects and asset disposals.

The Group on 1 February 2013 terminated this financing in advance, as well as the guarantees granted (see Note
26).

Huelva Project finance, 50 megawatls-

On 21 June 2011 the Group arranged syndicated “Project Finance” with seven financial entities to fund a biomass
electricity generating plant {see Note 7}. That financing is total EUR101,309 thousand, amortization will begin 22
June 2013 and maturity date is 22 December 2022, This loan accrues annual inierest at Euribor with a variable
margin in the range of 3.25% - 3.75%, based on the amortization rate. The fees paid on to arrange this financing
in 2011 fotalled EUR 3,483 thousand.

This loan is backed principally by a pledge on the shares of Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. and current and future
receivables. Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. has also given undertakings in relation {o crops and stocks for the
future supply of the plant, the date it will enter service and the price applicable to the power produced when
generating operations commence, as well as the functioning and availability of the plant. These undertakings are
partially covered by warranties given to Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. by the builder of the plant.

This loan also includes certain covenants related basically with the provision of certain operational and financial
information, compliance with economic and financial rations associated with the financial statements of Ence
Energia Huelva, S.L.U., holding of a given volume of standing and cut biomass, prepayment of 50% of surplus
cash until 50% of the principal is repaid, and early payment of 25% of surplus cash until 65% of the principal is
repaid. The loan agreement also establishes certain restrictions, mainly in relation to the distribution of dividends
and the arrangement of new borrowings.

In order to hedge the risk arising as a result of the arrangement of this loan at a floating rate of interest, the Group
has entered info interest rate hedges with six of the lenders financing the project, the notional amount on which is
equal to 75% of the estimated drawings over the term of the [oan and a fixed rate of 3.47% (Note 10).

Merida Project finance, 20 megawalis-

On 1 Augusit 2012 the Group arranged syndicated "Project Finance” with three financial entities to fund a biomass
electricity generating plant (see Note 7). That financing is total EURG0,692 thousand, amortization will begin 15
December 2014 and maturity date is 15 June 2027. This loan accrues annual interest at Euribor with a variable
margin in the range of 3.5% - 4.0%, based on the amortization rate. The fees paid on to arrange this financing in
2012 totalled EUR 1,656 thousand.

This loan is backed principally by a pledge on the shares of Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U. and current and
future receivables, as well as a pledge on the Biomass Plant. Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. has also given
undertakings for different concepts; inscription in the Special Regimen Installations Registry in relation to crops
and stocks for the future supply of the plant, the date it will enter service and the price applicable to the power
produced when generating operations commence, as well as project overcosts, functioning and availability of the
plant. These undertakings are partially covered by warranties given to Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. by the
builder of the plant. '

This loan also includes certain obligations, basically supply of determined operating and financial information,
compliance with determined economic and financial ratios associated with Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U.
annual accounts, maintenance of a determined volume of biomass stock either standing or cut, early payment at
a floating percentage of cash ranging between 30% and 50% according to the years of financing transpired. The
loan agreement also establishes certain restrictions, mainly in relation to the distribution of dividends and the
arrangement of new borrowings.
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In order to hedge the risk arising as a result of the arrangement of this loan at a floaling rate of interest, the Group
has entered into interest rate hedges with six of the lenders financing the project, the notional amount on which is
equal to 75% of the estimated drawings over the term of the loan and a fixed rate of 2% (Note 10).

Cash and cash equivalenis-

“Cash and cash equivalents” includes cash balances held by the Group and short-term deposits at banks with
initial maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to their fair value, and
the average return in 2012 has been 1.42% (2.35% in 2011).

Other financial assefs-

Other financial assets basically comprise deposits made to guarantee the obligations assumed under certain
financial derivative contracts (see Note 10) and in the commitments entered into for future purchases of CO2 (see
Note 6).

MNo-recourse factoring-

The Group has entered into various no-recourse confirming arrangements, under which all risks are fransferred to
the factor, with an available limit of EUR 85,000 thousand and EUR 33,520 thousand, respectively (EUR51,000
thousand and EUR35,072 thousand at 31 December 2011). The financial cost associated with the receivables
transferred is Euribor at 3 months plus a spread of 1-1.65%.

17. Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities recognised in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet consist basically of
repayable advances received from the Spanish Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Trade, normally at below-market
interest rates or even interest free, by way of aid for projects undertaken by the Group to extend and increase the
production capacity of its Huelva, Pontevedra and Navia plants, optimise its technologies and make
environmental improvements.

Maturities at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
2012 - 574
2013 1,562 1,536
2014 1,423 1,423
2015 1,403 1,169
2016 ‘ 1,149 974
2017 and thereafter 6,628 5,729
Financial discount (Note 14) (1,312)  (1,648)

10,853 9,757

These loans were measured at fair value at the time they were awarded, and the difference between the amount
of the award and fair value was recognised as a grant and is transferred to the consolidated income statement in
line with ithe depreciation of the fixed assets for which the financial aid was granted. The amount of the grant
pending recognition through the consolidated income statement at 31 December 2012 was EUR 1,312 thousand
{EUR 1,648 thousand at 31 December 2011).
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18. Tax matters

Current tax receivables and payables

Tax receivables and balances at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Thousands of Euros
31/12/12 31/12/11
Receivables Payables  Receivables Payables

Non-current items-

Deferred tax assets 30,580 - 42,653 -
Deferred tax liabilities - 31745 - 28,289
Total 30,580 31,745 42,653 28,289

Current items-

VAT balances receivable and payable 27,262 2,576 9,840 14,796
Current income tax 1,031 1,313 1,687 365
Other tax receivables and payables 1364 5.896 1,478 2,859

Total 29,657 9,785 13,005 18,020

Reconciliation of accounting profit to the taxable profit
Group companies resident in Spain for tax purposes-

Ence Energia y Celulosa S.A. is subject to the Consolidated lncome Tax Regime set forth in Chapter VI of Title
Vill of the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporations Law as the Parent Company of Group No. 149/02 which
was constituted in 2002. This special regimen is effective indefinitely except when expressly waived, and implies
the absence of preparing individual corporate income tax returns for the entities that comprise the group, which

are;

- Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U. - Ence Investigacion y Desarrolio, S.A.U.
- Celulosa Energia, S.L.U. - Electricidad de Navia Asturias, S.L.U.

- Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A. - Ibercel Celulosa, S.L.U.

- Norte Foresfal, S.A. - Enersilva, S.L.U.

- |bersilva, 5.A.U. - Ence Energia, S.L.U. and subsidiaries
- Norfor Maderas S.A.U.

The nominal rate of cosporate income tax is 30%.

Group companies resident in Uruguay for tax pirposes-

1
|
!
;

Group companies in Uruguay are subject to the Uruguayan general tax regimen, Income Tax on Economic
Activities (IRAE), at a nominal rate of 25% of book incomefloss corrected with tax adjustments established by |,
applicable norms. This does not include "Las Pleyades, S.A." which is subject to the special regimen of Financial \\{
Investment Corporations (SAF1), at a tax rate of 0.3% of its equity. :
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Group comparies resident in Portugal for tax purposes-

Iberflorestal, S.A. files corporate tax returns in Portugal under the general corporate tax regime. The nominal rate
of the Imposto sobre o Rendimiento das Pessoas Colectias is 25%.

Taxable income is not determined on the basis of consolidated book earnings but of the separate taxable income
generated by the companies forming the Group, determined in accordance with the applicable individual tax
regimes. For these purposes, the individual tax bases of the companies resident in Spain for tax purpose are
included in the taxable income of Consolidated Tax Group No. 149/02, which cannot be offset by tax losses
incurred by non-resident companies.

Regulatory changes-

Tax regulations underwent various changes in fiscal year 2012, pursuant to Royal Decree-Law 12/2012 and
20/2012. Among the changes made the capacity to use negatlive tax bases accredited in previous years was
termporarily reduced to 25% of the tax base; the possibility of freely amortising investments in new assets was
eliminated; and limits were established on the deductibility of financial costs.

Reconciliation-

A reconciliation of accounting profit and taxable income at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Accounting profit before tax (¥) 62,978 57,014
Permenent differences-

Arising in profit and loss 516 1,215
Temporary differences-

Arising in the year 2,395 8,818

Arising in prior years (11,545) (37,099)

Arising in transfers ftom equity (41) (161)
Consolidation adjustments 1,225 (6,027)
Tax losses offset (13,826} (12,742)
Taxable income 41,702 11,018
Gross tax charge 12,511 3,233
Credits, withholdings andother amounts . {11,198) (4,555)
Tax payable / (recoverable) 1,313 (1,322}

(*) Generated from continuing operations in its entirety.
Permanent differences arising in profit and loss

Permanent differences arising in profit and loss consist of expenses incurred that are not allowable for tax j
purposes. This section includes mainly administrative sanctions and fines. !

Temporary differences ]

Temporary differences arise from differences in charges for temporary income tax and expenses between
accounting and tax norms. These are broken down by nature in another part of this note.
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Reconciliation of accounting profit to the income tax expense

A reconciliation of accounting profit and taxable income at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Accounting profit before tax 62,978 57,015
Permanent differences arising in profit and loss 516 1,215
Elimination of accounting profit / loss of non-resident 730 (4,646)
companies
Eliminations / inclusions on consolidation 272 (6,025)
Taxable income 64,496 47,559
Tax charge 19,349 14,268
Deductions and adjustment for prior years’ {ax effect (1.399) 897
Adjustment for tax effect of non-resident companies 1,997 657
Corporate income tax expense / (rebate) 19,947 15,822
A breakdown of the corporate income tax expense for 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Current tax expense and other movements 29,435 18,659
Deferred tax expense (9,488) {2,837)
19,947 15,822

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:
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Deferred tax assets

Fiscal Year 2012
Balance at Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Increases Decreases Transfers 31/12/2012
Deferred tax assets recognised in income-
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current 461 - 230) - 231
assets
Impairment of non-current assets 323 404 (279) - 448
Provisions 4,459 400 (212) (2,467) 2,180
Impairment of current assets 1,375 424 (2,335) 077 441
Employee benefits - 90 {407 1,491 1,174
Non-resident companies 2,214 415 (2,462) 1 168
Consolidation adjustments 58 - (106) (2) {(50)
Tax loss carryforwards 27,371 - (5.,408) - 21,963
Tax credits - 415 415 - -
36,261 2,148 (£1,854) - 26,555
Deferred tax assets recognised in equity-
Hedging instruments 9,328 2,372 (7,675) - 4,025
Total 45,589 4,520 (19,529) - 30,580
Fiscal Year 2011
Balance at Balance at
Thousands of Furos 01/01/2011 Increases Decreases 31/12/2011
Deferred tax assets recognised in income-
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 782 - (321) 461
Impairment of non-current assets 4,236 714 (4,627) 323
Provisions 0,935 2,064 (4,540) 4,459
Impairment of current assets 2,480 1,375 (2,480) 1,375
Non-resident companies 2,489 379 {654) 2,214
Consolidation adjustments 1,031 18 {991) 58
Tax loss carryforwards 27,761 2,478 (2,868) 27,371
Tax credifs 1,601 547 (1,548) -
46,715 7,575 (18,029) 36,261
Deferred tax assets recognised in equity-
Hedging instruments 3,166 6,162 - 9,328
\
Total (*) 49,881 13,737 (18.629) 45,5"?89

(*) Includes EUR 2,935 thousand classified as available-for-sale assets (see Note 20).

The deferred fax assets were recognised in the consolidated balance sheet because the directors of the Group {
companies understand, on the basis of best estimates of the future earnings of the entities forming the

¢
i

A
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consolidated Tax Group, that it is highly likely that the assets will be recovered within the period established by

prevailing tax legislation.

The tax loss carryforwards recognised were generated in 2008. In accordance with Spanish legislation, the tax
losses generated in a given year may be carried forward {o be offset against the future profits obtained by
consofidated Tax Group No. 149/02 in the eighteen annual tax pericds immediately succeeding the year in which

ithe loss was incurred.
Deferred tax liabilities recognised

Fiscal Year 2012

Balance at Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Increases Decreases Transfers 31/1272012
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in income-
Accelerated depreciation 3,106 32 (254) - 2,884
Other 2,100 67 (63) 33 2,137
5,206 99 (317) 33 5,021
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in equity-
Revaluation of forest land (Note 13) 23,509 - (1 - 23,498
Hedging instruments - 3,216 - - 3,216
Consolidation adjustments and other items {426) 499 30 (33) 10
23,083 3,715 40 (33) 26,724
28,289 3,814 (358) - 31,745
Fiscal Year 2011
Thousands of Euros
Balance at Balance at
01/01/2011 Increases Decreases 31/12/2011
Deferred tax liabilities reecognised in income-
Accelerated depreciation - 3,106 - 3,106
Other - 2,100 - 2,100
- 5,206 - 5,206
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in equity-
Revaluation of forest land (Note 13) 23,515 - %) 23,509
Consolidation adjustments and other items 134 - (560) {426)
Total 23,649 5,206 (5606) 28,289

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

The Group has not recognised certain deferred tax assets in the accompanying consolidated batance sheet.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows:
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Thousands of Euros 2012 2011

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets - 2,921
Tax loss carryforwards 2,412 2,880
Total at end of reporting period 2,412 5,801

All of the tax loss carryforwards relate to Group companies resident for tax purposes in Uruguay. In accordance
with Uruguayan corporate income tax {IRAE) regulations, tax loss carryforwards generated after 31 December
2007 expire in five years. The amount of tax loss camryforwards is revised each year based on the change in the
Uruguayan National Products Price Index (IPPN).

Years open for review and tax audits

The Tax Agency is currently performing inspections of the Parent Company and various companies of Grupo
Ence; Income Tax for 2007 to 2009, Value Added Tax and Withholdings 2008 and 2009, Special Tax on
Electricity 2008 to 2010, and Tax on Economic Activities 2009-2012. Tax payments according to current tax law
cannot be considered as final until it has been inspected by the tax authorities or until the conclusion of the statute
of limitations established in each tax jurisdiction: Four years in Spain and Portugal, five years in Uruguay. In the
opinion of the Directors contingencies thal could arise from the inspections in process as well as the review of
years open to inspection will have no important impact on the Group financial statements.

Income and expenses

a) Sales

The Group's net ordinary sales for 2012 and 2011 were distributed as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Pulp sales 596,954 596,895
Electricity sales 208,371 184,304
Wood and forestry services 22,253 44,252
827,578 825,451

The Group sold 1,248,805 tons of wood pulp in fiscal year 2012 and 1,542,773 megawait hours of electricity
(1,232,501 tons of pulp and 1,490,260 megawatt hours in fiscal year 2011),

Practically all sales of electricity were made in Spain. The distribution by geographical market of revenues
from pulp sales was as follows:
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Percentage/ Pulp sales 2012 2011
Germany 21.6 23.1
Ttaly 171 16.4
Spain 13.0 14.6
France 9.4 10.1
Austria 6.9 4.8
China 472 6.5
Turkey 3.7 2.8
Poland 3.6 4.5
Sweden 3.5 2.1
Netherlands 2.5 1.9
Slovenia 2.5 2.8
United Kingdom 23 2.0
Israel 2.0 1.3
Switzerland 1.9 2.5
Other 5.8 4.6
100 100

One customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group’s revenues.

b) Procurements-

The detail of raw and other materials consumed in 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

TFiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Euros

Purchases

Changes in inventories of raw materials,
other materials and merchandise

Other external expenses

2011
336,182 358,274
16,666 (10,914)
55,200 43,399
408,048 390,759

Procurements basically comprise the cost of timber, chemicals, fuel and other variable costs incurred in the

cellulose pulp manufacturing process.

c) Employee receivables

The detail of “Staff costs” incurred in 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
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Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Wages and salaries 59,999 63,638
Social security taxes 13,936 15,211
Pension contributions and other employee 3,472 3,755
benefit costs

77,407 82,604
Termination benefits 4,695 6,809

82,102 89,413

The average headcounts for 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Average Number of Employees in the Year

2012 2011

Professional Category Men Women Total Men Women Total
Executives 6 i 7 6 | 7
Employees with individual contracts 220 56 276 187 52 239
Employees subject to collective labour 654 103 757 792 134 926
agreement

Temporary employees 202 28 230 371 32 403

1,682 188 1,270 1,356 219 1,575

At 31 December 2012 the Group had 16 disabled employees (19 disabled employees at 31 December

2011).

The distribution of employees by gender at 31 December 2012 and 2011, classified by professional

category, was as follows:

Number of Employees at the close of the period

2012 2011

Professional Category Men Women Total Men Women Total
Executives 6 1 7 6 I 7
Employees with individual contracts 236 65 301 181 47 228
Employees subject to collective 590 92 682 738 118 856
labour agreement

Temporary employees 67 16 83 211 21 232

899 174 1,073 1,136 87 1,323

At 31 December 2012, the Board of Directors was composed of twelve directors, all of whom were men (13

directors at 31 December 2011).

d} Transactions in currencies other than the euro

The Group companies made sales totalling EUR 186,430 thousand in non-euro currencies, principally US

dollars (EUR 187,027 thousand in 2011).

55

et i




Tramslation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with

IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

e) Other operating expenses

Details of other operating expenses in 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Thousands of Euros
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Eures 2012 2011
Other expenses 187,277 214,732
Emission rights used (Note 15) 3,029 5,614
Other taxes and operating expenses 6,722 4,969
Change in operating provisions 5,083 8,535
Total 202,113 233,850

Details of “Other expenses” in the consolidated income statements for 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Transport, freight and marketing costs 60,399 87.844
Utilities 60,750 64,392
Repairs and maintenance 16,476 18,734
Leases and royalties 7,714 8,577
Insurance premiums 5,293 6,131
Independent professional services 6,942 5,769
Banking and similar services 2,537 2,475
Advertising, publicity and public relations 1,008 817
Research and development expenses (*) 100 98
Other services 26,058 19,895
187,277 214,372
(*) In addition approximately 10 people work full time in R&D for the Group.
f) Finance cosis
Details of other operating expenses in 2012 and 2011 are as follows:
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Thousands of Euros 2012 20F1
Syndicated loan 8,657 10,478
Project Finance 3,044 1,426
Overdrafl, factoring and confirming facilities 1,936 2,255
Commissions charged to income 4,886 5,035
Settlement of IR Swap — Corporate borrowings 11,107 11,708
Settlement of IR Swap — Project finance 1,307 307
Settlement of Equity Swap 485 332
Activation of financial costs (7,159) (3,899)
Other 108 459
24,371 28,101
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g} Other disclosures

The fees for financial audit and other services provided by the Group’s auditor or by a firm related to the
auditors by control, common ownership or management in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Thousands of Euros

Fiscal Year  Fiscal Year

2012 2011
Audit services 197 197
Total audit and related services 197 197
Other services 120 30
Total professional services 126 30

h) Profit or loss by company

The contributions made by each of the consolidated companies to Group profit for 2012 and 2011 were as
follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
ENCE Energfa y Celulosa, S.A. 37,279 35,472
Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U. (*) 22,360 348
Celulosa Energla, S.L. (¥) (9,775) 7,319
Norte Forestal, S.A.U. (784) 3,741
Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.U. 1,459 707
Iberflorestal , S.A.U. 174 262
Ibersilva, S.AU. 068 (11,031)
Norfor Maderas, S.A.U. - 30
Eucalipto de Pontevedra, S.A.U. (52) (1D
Electricidad de Navia Asturias, S.L. (46) (5)
Maderas Aserradas del Litoral, S.A. (2,570} (1,794)
Celulosas de M'Bopicu4, S.A. 11 (55)
Zona Franca M’Bopicud, S.A. ) 2,823
Las Pléyades Urugoay, S.A. (79) 24
Las Pléyades S.A.F.L (57) 285
Las Pléyades Argentina (5) (82)
Sierras Calmas, S.A. (590) 4,199
Ence Energla, S.L.U (536) (383)
Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. (1,541) (657}
Ence Energfa Extremadura, S.L.U (119) -
Consoelidation adjusiments (2,704) -
Total 43,031 41,192

(*) Affiliates Celulosa Energia S.L. and Celulosa de Asturias S.A.U. distributed
dividends in fiscal year 2012 to the Parent Company in the amount of EUR
15 miltion and 25 million, respectively.
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Non-current assets held for sale

The Group classifies a non-current asset or transferrable asset as held for sale when it has decided to sell the
asset or it considers that it will be sold within the next twelve months. These assets are valued at their book value
or fair value, whichever is lower after deducting costs necessary for sale.

The Parent Company on 15 December 2102 decided to sell its forest assets in Uruguay. These assets are 27,780
hectares of eucalyptus forest in southeast Uruguay, as well as a lumber milling installation. Sale of the lands and
related assets will provide 77.3 million dollars to the Group. The transaction requires authorization of the
Uruguayan forest authorities. The section on “Non-current assets held for sale” includes assets soid in the
operation.

The assets listed in this section are valued at fair value. The impact from valuing these assets at fair value as
well as other costs deriving from the operation give a loss of EUR 660 thousand, registered in the section “Net
profitfioss from the value of non-current assets held for sale”, in the 2012 consolidated profit and loss statement.

“Non-current assets held for sale” at 31 December 2012, at fair value, is as follows:

Thousands
of
Euros

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 58,360
Property, plant and equipment 36,364
Biological assets 21,996
CURRENT ASSETS 985
Inventories 985
TOTAL ASSETS 59,345

Assets held for sale are included in the operating segments “Forest management” and “Forest and other seirvices”

it was decided in June 2011 to sell the share held by the Group in Ibersilva, S.A., from the assets and liabilities
“held for sale”.

One year from that decision, market conditions have had a significant change, with a significant reduction in sale
opportunities. As a result the assets and liabilities held by this affiliate were no longer be classified as “held for
sale” at 31 December 2012. This has also significantly reduced the activity of this affiliate, which at the close of
2012 was practically inactive. Following is the breakdown of assets and liabilifies for this Group company at 31
December 2011 and 30 June 2012: .
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Thousands of Euros 30/06/2012  31/12/2011 30/06/2012  31/12/2011
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3,330 3,468 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 90 90
CURRENT ASSETS 11,433 13,076 CURRENT LIABILITIES 13,391 12,232
Inventories 672 876 Bank borrowings 631 257
Trade and other receivables 8314 9,265 Trade and other payables 11,959 11,104
Current financial asscts 1,056 817 Payable to public authorities and other 801 871
payables

Cash and other cash equivalenls 1,391 2,118

TOTAL ASSETS 14,763 16,544 TOTAL LIABILITIES 14,763 12,322

21.

The effects of the classification of assets and liabilities of Ibersilva, S.A. as “held for sale” in the 2012 balance
sheet were not significant.

Operating segments

The manufacture of cellulose pulp is closely tied to electricity generating operations using waste generated from
the pulp production process as fuel. Furthermore, the Group has plants that are specifically designed to generate
power using biomass and other fuels, and it also owns forests and timber land providing the raw material for the
production of paper pulp.

in this context, the results of the acfivities conducted by the cellulose pulp manufacturing and electricity
generating business units are analysed jointly by the Management Committee, and the financial information
produced only distinguishes between the revenues earned.

The Committee also made an independent analysis of forest management on the plantations held or owned by it
and used for pulp. Investments currently in process in electricity generation plants located outside of the pulp
plants that use their forest assets as supply, and other minor activities.

Segment information for 2012 and 2011 based on the regular management information produced by the Group is
as follows:
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Fiscal Year 2012

Thousands of Euros

. New Forestry Consolidation
; : ; T
Income Statement Pulp and Energy Forest and other  Sub-total adjustments otal
Power . management . between
Projects services g
egiments
Revenue:
External 794,511 10,814 8,709 13,544 827,578 - 827,578
Inter-segment 1,890 7,318 113,828 6,978 130,014 (130,014) -
Total revenue: 796,401 18,132 122,537 20,522 957,592 (136,014) 827,578
Profit / Loss '
Profit / (loss) from operations 81,296 (657) 2,862 1,528 85,029 (2,763) 82,266
Finance income 8,971 93 18 63 9,145 (8,398) 747
Finance costs (18,492) (2,572) {4,085) 821 (25,970) 8,398 (17,572
Exchange differences (2,273) - 531 (61) (1,803) - (1,803)
Net profit/loss from assets held
for sale (251) - 1,953 (2,362) {660) {660)
Taxes (19,429) 942 (1,164) (296) {19,947) - (19,947)
Profit / (Loss) for the year 49,822 (2,194) 115 (1,949) 45,794 - 43,031
Investment (*) 26,870 72,035 0,524 4,044 112,473 112,473
3‘2;66013t‘°n and amorfization sy 351y (2,026)  (7,526) (569)  (63,372) - (63,372)
Accumulated depreciation and 7o geay (3053)  (104347)  (7,315)  (873,468) - (873,468)

provisions

("} Not including emission rights.
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Thousands of Euros

New Forostry Consolidation
- i Total
Balance Sheet Pulp and Energy Forest and other  Sub-total adjustments o
Power . management . between
Projects services
Segments
Assets
Non-current 870,325 207,872 242,842 9,394 1,330,433 (357,518) 972,915
Current 358,217 36,661 111,799 18,141 524,818 (150,264) 374,554
Total assets (a) 1,228,542 244,533 354,641 27,535 1,855,251 (507,782) 1,347,469
Liabilities
Non-current 269,223 194,488 165,939 9,496 639,146 (270,262) 368,884
Current 326,546 28,601 29,568 18,243 402,958 (150,264) 252,694
g;tal consolidated _ liabilities 595769 223,089 195,507 27,739 1,042,104 (420,526) 621,578
(a) Not including equity or deferred tax assets & liabilities
Fiscal Year 2011
Thousands of Euros
] Consolidation
Pulp and Forest Forestry and adjustments Total
management other Sub-total
Power () services between
Income Statement segments
Revenue:
External 781,199 23,865 20,387 825,451 - 825451
Inter-segment - 307,277 9,165 316,442 (316,442) -
Total revenue: 781,199 331,142 29,552 1,141,893 (316,442) 825,451
Profit / Loss
Profit / (loss) from operations 78,073 18,199 (16,193) 80,079 - 80,079
Finance income 20,912 4,134 65 23,111 (19,815) 5,296
Finance costs (38,211) {10,454) (1,596) (50,261) 19,815 (30,446)
Exchange differences 2,798 (774) 61 2,085 - 2,085
Taxes (20,033) (379) 4,590 (15,822) - (15,822)
Profit / (loss) for the year 43,539 10,726 (13,073) 41,192 - 41,192
Other disclosures
Investment (*) 71,369 30,079 62 101,510 - 101,510
Depreciation and amortization charge (52,466) (9,703) (1,291} (63,460) - (63,460)
Accumulated depreciation and (709,969) (104,968) (5,300) (820,237) - (820,237?
provisions .
(* This activity in fiscal year 2011 includes forest management for stands of forest owned or managed for (?\

use for cellufose. This activity also includes the purchase of wood from third parties, to be used in wood

R
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pulp production plants in the amount of EUR 280,124 thousand. These purchases were registered in

2012 in the section "Wood Pulp and Energy”.

(*) Not including emission rights.

Thousands of Euros

Forestry and Consolidation
Pulp and Forest Y adjustments Total
other Sub-toial
Power management . between
services

Balance Sheet segments
Assets
Non-current 934,636 348,050 8,539 1,291,225 (326,115) 965,110
Current 269,022 141,567 25,831 436,420 {75,389) 361,031
Total assets (2) 1,203,658 489,617 34,370 1,727,645 (401,504) 1,326,141
Liabilities
Non-current 387,647 179,866 23,345 590,858 (238,594) 352,264
Current 212,390 114,119 16,958 343,467 (75,389) 268,078
Total consolidated liabilities (a) 600,037 293,985 40,303 934,325 (313,983) 620,342

{a) Notincluding equity or deferred tax assets and liabilities,

Installations specifically used to generate electrical energy from biomass grouped in the segment "New energy
projects”, including investments in non-current assets that at the close of 2011 were grouped in “Forest

Management” in the amount of EUR 136,550 thousand.

22. Guarantee commitments to third parties and other contingent liabilities

At 31 December 2012 various financial institutions had extended guarantees, mainly relating to commercial
operations, to various Group companies for a total of EUR 50,497 thousand (EUR 56,209 thousand at 31
December 2011). The directors do not expect that the guaranteed amounts or the guarantees given will give rise

to significant liabilities.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries have arranged civil liability insurance. The directors consider that this

policy reasonably covers the refated contingencies.

23. Remuneration and other benefits paid to directors and senior executives of the

Parent Company, and other information

In 2012 and 2011 the directors of the Parent Company earned the following amounts in respect of the discharge

of their duties as members of the Board of Directors:
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Thousands of Euros

Fixed
2012 — Director Type Remuneraiio  Attendance Total
n Fees

Juan Luis Arregui Ciarsolo Executive 124 77 201
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. Nominee 34 30 64
José Manuel Serra Peris Independent 34 42 76
Pedro Barato Triguero Independent 34 22 56
Fernando Abril-Martorell Herndndez External 34 46 80
Gustavo Matias Clavero Independent 34 32 66
Jose Guillermo Zubia Guinea Independent 34 53 87
Nortefia Patrimonial, S.L. Nominee 34 14 48
Pedro José Lopez Jiménez (b) Nominee 34 24 58
José Carlos de Alamo Jiménez Independent 34 26 60
Pascual Fernandez Martinez Nominee 34 36 70
lavier Echenique Landiribar Nominee 34 44 78

498 446 944

(a) Director resigned in 2012.
Thousands of Euros
Fixed
2011 — Director Type Remuneratio Attendance Total
n Fees

Juan Luis Arregui Ciarsolo Executive 113 72 185
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. Norninee 31 28 59
José Manuel Serra Peris Independent 31 37 68
Pedro Barato Triguero Independent 28 26 54
Fernando Abril-Martorell Hernéndez External 31 42 73
Gustavo Matias Clavero Independent 31 30 61
Jose Guillermo Zubfa Guinea Independent 31 71 102
Atalaya de Inversiones, S.R.L. (a) Nominee 14 16 30
Nortefia Patrimonial, S.L. Nominee 31 26 57
Pedro José Lopez Jiménez Nominee 31 26 57
José Carlos de Alamo Jiménez Independent 31 26 57
Pascual Fernandez Martinez Nominee 31 30 61
Javier Echenique Landiribar (b) Nominee 31 42 73

465 472 937

{a) Directors standing down in 2011.

(b) Also in receipt of prior years’ remuneration amounting to EUR 10 thousand.

In 2012 the Parent Company's Management Committee earned total remuneration of EUR 3,366 thousand (EUR
3,676 thousand in 2011) in respect of all itemns, including the duties of the Chief Executive Officer by way of
services provided and termination benefits.

Directors performing executive functions and Upper Management received 628,792 options to shares of Ence
Energia y Celulosa, S.A., as part of their remuneration, under the conditions established in the “Ence Energia y
Celulosa S.A. Long Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015" (see Note 4-0).
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Members of upper management during 2012 and 2011 are:

Name: Title:
Ignacio de Colmenares y Brunet CEO
José Manuel Zarandona de la Torre Head of Pulp
Jacinto Lobo Morin Head of Energy
Maria José Zueras Saludas Head of Human Capital
Diego Maus Lizariturry Head of Finance
Luis Carlos Martinez Martin Head of Communications
Guillermo Medina Ors Secretary General

No advances ar loans have been granted to the directors of the Parent Company.

The Parent Company has not contracted any pension or alternative life insurance obligations with its directors in
their capacity as such. However, the Chief Executive Officer receives certain social benefits under his service
agreement, which are included in the pertinent pensions contributions and payments.

Pursuant to Article 229 of the Spanish Corporations Law and in order to reinforce the transparency of public
limited companies, it is hereby expressly stated that the directors did not hold any ownership interests at 31
December 2012 in the share capital of companies engaging in an activity that is identical, similar or
complementary to that which constitutes the Company's object. Furthermore, they did not and do not currently
perform any activities, as independent professionals or employees, that are identical, similar or complementary to
the activity that constitutes the company object of the Parent Company, Except for Messrs. Arregui Ciarsolo and
Abril-Martorell Hernandez, who indirectly own 90% and 4.97% respecfively of Foresta Capital, S.L. Mr. Arregui
Ciarsolo also holds a 0.577% ownership interest in the share capital of Iberdrola, S.A.

Transactions with related parties

The Gompany had various sources of financing from related companies at 31 December 2012 and 2011, all at
market price, as follows:

Carrying Interest
Year Amount Currency Rate Maturity
2012 6.155 EURO Euribor + 3% 2014
2011 5.452 EURO  Euribor + 3% 2014

The Group companies carried out the following transactions with related parties in 2012 and 2011:

Thousands of Euros

Related Party Transaction 2012 2011
Liberbank, S.A. Interest and banking fees 255 481
Fidalser, S.L. Share purchase 25,246 -
Atalaya de Inversiones, S.R.L. Share purchase - 26,389
Grupo Foresta Purchase of intangible assets 3,566 -
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The Parent Company on 20 December 2012 also executed a service agreement with Agroluan, S.L., represented
by Javier Arregui Abendivar, to assure the correct implementation of R&D technology acquired during the year
(see Note 8). That agreement provides for an annual payment of EUR 250 thousand.

Environment

The Ence Industrial Group has three plants located in Huelva, Navia and Pontevedra, each of which has the
pertinent Integrated Environmental Authorization to conduct its industrial activities and to generate renewable
electricity using biomass. Those authorizations were renewed in 2011.

In addition and in accordance with current standards the Cellulose Business Unit plants have a Greenhouse Gas
Emission Authorization {C0O2), obtained from the annual joint assignment of 657,870 emission rights for the
period 2008-2012. Emissions for 2012, verified by AENOR, did not exceed the rights assigned; any excess
generated will be used in 2013-2020 as greenhouse gas emission rights frading.

The processes carried out in Ence follow the TQM Management Model, excellence in management, are
structured around three linchpins:

1y Direct improvement
2) Manage process
3) Manage daily activities.

The management model has been implemented through continuous improvement with a focus on maximum
efficiency and competitiveness with an integral focus on quality, personal health and safety, respect for the
environment and prevention of pollution.

The three Operating Cenires are certified by certified rating agencies (AENOR and Lioyd's) pursuant to UNE-EN-
ISO 14001:2004, and the corresponding audits were performed in June to renew the management systems.

Auditors validating the Environmental Statement were almost carried out so the three plants keep their EMAS
{Eco-audit and Eco-Management System) certificate pursuant to EU Regulation 1221/2008. Each of the three
factories were the first in their respective Autonomous Communities to undertake this voluntary commitment,
which few other companies have done to date.

Environmental management forms part of the TQM Management Model which offers one of the tools in the
foolbox. This is the Fundamental Improvement Objectives {OMF) that were defined in each of the Operating
Centres, and which have an environmental interest as they incorporate such aspects as minimising noxious
smells, improving the quality of spills, improving resource management, decreasing electric consumption or
reducing wastes generated.

Regular analytic controls are carried out at the plants covering all discharge parameters, as well as atmospheric
emissions, noise levels and the waste generated and managed. The results obtained reflect the efficacy of this
management model, and certify compliance with applicable legislation.

These results are the result of the commitment of all those who work in Ence, as well as the efforts made over
recent years with implementation of best available techniques (BAT) as well as best environmental practices
(BEP) defined in the sector BREF (Best Available Techniques in the Pulp and Paper Industry 2001).

Huelva Centre of Operations

In 2012 the Huelva mill completed the 50 MW biomass generating project, which involves a boiler, a turbine and a
biomass treatment plant.

With this plant the biomass project is the largest of its kind in Spain, using biomass energy and therefore reducing
the consumption of fossil fuels.

Actions implemented in 2012 have channelled emissions from some parts of the process, thereby reducing
noxious odours by 45%.

The 11% reduction in water use achieved during the second half of 2011 was consolidated this year.

The principle parameters of effluent spills have also been improved, with total organic carbon (TOC) and
suspended solids reduced by 30%, for the second consecutive year.
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The amendment of the Integrated Environmental Authorization reclassified determined waste products from the
process, such as grit and ash from the biomass boiler and ash from the recovery boiler as by-products or
secondary raw materials. This amendment opened the door to management procedures designed to extract value
rather than dumping the waste produced. Different improvemenis have also helped {o reduce the amount of dregs
generated.

Other improvements implemented in the TQM model were designed to reduce the consumption of raw materials
such as, for example, fossil fuels.

Environmental investments made in 2012 represented a total of EUR 13.2 million. The most important were
construction of a new, energy efficient stripping and chipping plant that allows a better use of the biomass
generated. The investment made in a construction of a new gas discharge condensation system with accumulator
tank included is also important. Total investments in Huelva in 2012 came to EUR 4,509 thousand.

Navia Centre of Operations

The Navia Plant had record pulp and energy production in 2012, consolidating and oplimising the amplification
and renovation performed in 2009 and improving its processes. With these positive results noxious odours have
been reduced, from the reduction in atmospheric emissions and wastes generated.

The most important environmental investment made in 2042 in the Navia Operations Centre is the amplification of
the effluent treatment plant, which with its commissioning in 2013 will improve the quality of liquid effluents to
benchmark values at the European level. The project has a budget of EUR 12 million, and includes minimising
noxious odours and the treatment of organic wastes generated.

The treatment plant currently in construction in 2012 improved effluent quality by optimising processes and
improving the internat effluent channelling system for the lumber camp and recirculating currents during the
digestion and washing stages, to make a better use of organic matter and reduce its contribution to total effluents.

Noxious odours were reduced through operating improvements and better gas treatment equipment in the plant,
which have reduced atmospheric emissions from the lime ovens. This improvement was seen with the investment
made in 2012 in air quakity metering equipment.

Finally the plan to cut sources of noise focusing on the lumber camp installations continued in 2012,

The total investments made at the Navia plant in 2012 amounted to EUR 2,484 thousand.

Pontevedra Centre of Operations

One environmental improvement projects in the Pontevedra Centre of Operations, underway with the
collaboration of the Universidad de Santiage de Compostela, is fo eliminate noxious odours.

Proposals planned in the study made have been implemented, such as for example the start up of a solution to
eliminate odours from the pressing shop at the effluent treatment plant, which was done using biological treatment
towers which achieved high performance in eliminating odours.

New investments have also been made in the thickening cover or changing the gas boiler chimney and the
chimney of the recovery boiler.

These measures, together with the 2012 commitment to improved operations according to indicators showed a
decrease of 75% this year in the impact of noxious odours.

New investments have been made with this goal of “Zero odour” in mind, such as the gathering of washing gases
for burning in the Recovery Boiler, the system to burn biclogical sludge in the Recovery Boiler, or the installation
of hydraulic seals on the tanks to eliminate leaks. Conclusion of the work is scheduled for the annual shut down
next March.

A total of EUR 3.2 miillion was invested in Pontevedra in 2012, to eliminate odours.

Another projected prepared in 2012 is designed to improve the visual impact of the Operations Centre by
eliminating the vapours trails that leave the cooling towers. The work involved in this investment of EUR 1.8
million will concluded during the annual shutdown this March.
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Finally the continuous monitoring of atmospheric emissions was certified according to UNE-EN 14181, This
represents an investment of EUR 0.12 million for the acquisition, adaptation and calibration of the metering
equipment.

Excellent results were achieved in 2012 in terms of spill quality. With this the Pontevedra factory continues to set
the European benchmark in terms of effluent quality.

Finally and complying with their commitment to the environment, a webpage (www.encepontevedra.com) was set
up making the daily indicators for the Pontevedra Operations Centre environmental petrformance, available to the
public. The webpage provides data for the previous 30 days, contextualised with parameters of the Integrated
Environmental Authorization and BREF indicators for the EU.

The total invesiments made at the Pontevedra plant in 2012 amounted to EUR 1,198 thousand.

Forestry Operations

Forestry acfivities continued during 2012 in Group companies (Silvasur Agroforestal and Norte Forestal, including
investments in maintaining production mass (fertilization, fire and pest fighting activities, forest investments),
management (mass activities designed to protect or preserve biodiversity) and amplification of the forest.
Environmental activities focus on reducing risks to masses of all kinds and to maximising intrinsic values such as
biodiversity maintenance, improved soil conservation, and in general to a global mitigation of climate change
through the carbon fixing capacity in forest ecosystems.

As part of their efforts to protect the environment, the Group companies that are primarily engaged in forestry
activities have obtained and maintained certificates issued by duly authorised firms demonstrating the sustainable
and responsible use of forests, boosting confidence in the consumption of forest products. Silvasur Agroforestal,
Norte Forestal and Ibersilva maintained their Management System certification under UNE-EN-ISO 14001:2004.

Norte Forestal and Silvasur Agroforestal which at one time were the first forest managers in the Iberian Peninsula
to obtain PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes) certification for a sustainable
forestry management, continue to hold that certification based cn the planning, monitoring and operations of
forest masses. They continue fo hold that certification for their chain of custody, assuring the origin of the wood is
traceable throughout the process, and showing that there are no conflictive sources. In 2012 the internal
certification process for the chain of custody was integrated for the entire Group. Although this is certified
separately, the process is integral and coordinated, reinforcing product traceability and positioning the company
favourably for entry of the Due Diligence Regulation in 2013,

The greatest progress made in Faorestry Management dealt with the FSC® benchmark. Throughout 2012 the
certificate scope was amplified; consequently Norfor has duplicated certified surface and Silvasur has include
cork production within its scope, making it the main FSC certified cork producer in the Province of Huelva. The
integration process progressed in 2012 with a grouped certification pre-audit that would allow a single FSC
Sustainable Forestry Management Certificate for the entire Grupo Ence.

A single CdC FSC certificate allows the wood's traceability for all of the Group in Spain. Afiiliate Iberflorestal in
Portugal, dedicated mainly to the sale of wood, holds its own certificate.

Las Pleyades (Uruguay) and Sierras Calmas Uruguay) maintained their GFS and CdC for both PEFT and FSC
systems in 2012. '

We also note the work performed throughout 2012 to acguire uncut wood, especially in the north of the peninsula,
which involved the direct work of Ence on the land at the time of cutting. This activity, under the coordination of
the Standing Purchases and Usage Areas was carried out under functioning standards similar to those applied to
the surface completely managed by Ence; so certificate groups were created to cover forest management in the
stands purchased. These certifications were issued under the PEFC system; these will be issued under the FSC
system in 2013, pursuant to regulatory changes made in the Spanish system at the initiative of Ence, to allow the
certification of very small surfaces, mostly in northern Spain.

Forestry activities in assets managed by Grupo Ence represented a total forest surface of 1,341 ha. Controlled
assets increased by 248 hectares, representing an investment of EUR 479,162, Forestry investment is listed in
Note 8.
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26. Events after the end of the reporting period

Corporate debt refinancing

Ence Energia y Celulosa S.A. on 1 February 2013 completed the placement of a bonds issue for EUR 250 million
among institutional investors, in accordance with 144A Reg S of the Securities Law of 1933 and its later
amendments. The issue was made under the rules of the State of New York (United States of America) and
bonds will be listed on the Luxembourg exchange MTF Euro market.

This issue, which matures 15 February 2020 accrues fixed annual interest of 7.250%, payable semi-annually, and
as the principal guarantees offers a pledge on the shares of the principal operating companies of the Group (Ence
Energia y Celulosa, S.A., Celulosas de Asturias, 8.A., Norte Forestal, S.A. and Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.P, as
well as a pledge on receivables, bank accounts and Group loans excluding those used to hedge the financing
project. Transactions costs came to approximately EUR 10 million.

The issue includes debt and interest hedge covenants, as well as limits on the execution of determined payments,
customary in this type of issue.

Two financial rating agencies have issued their opinion within the framework of the issue, on the Group as a
whole and on the debt issue; Standard & Poor's rated the Group and the issue as BB and Moody's rated the
Group as Ba3 and the issue as B1.

A revolving credit facility was also signed as part of the issue in the amount of EUR 20M, with a syndicate of
national and international first level banks. This financing earns interest at Euribor and matures in 2017.

Funds captured were used fo pay the amounts pending payment from the syndicated loan taken by the Group in
2010 for EUR 229,410 thousand (see Note 16), loans and credit lines in the amount of EUR 2,913 thousand, and
the IRS linked to corporate financing for EUR 10,068 thousand (see Note 10).

Regulatory changes in the energy sector

Regulatory changes applicable to the energy business (see Note 5) have a negative impact on project finance for
the Huelva 50 Mw and Merida 20 Mw projects, as these are calculated based on determined ratios that include
projecied cash flows.

The estimated effect on the financial institutions of joint implementation of Law 15/2012 of 27 December, on tax
- for energy sustainability and Royal Decree Law 2/2013 of 1 February, on urgent measures in the electricity sector
and in the financial system, is a reduction in the funding available for Merida projects 20 MW and 50 MW Huelva
20 million euros and 29 mitlion euros respectively.

Currently the Group's management is analysing the reasonableness of the assumptions used by financial
institutions, mainly the evolution of costs and the core CPl. We estimate that these analyses will result in a
negotiation process that matches the available funding for both projects fo the expected impact of these
regulatory changes, limiting the reduction in the funding available above.
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ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Directors’ Report
for the year ended
31 December 2012

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND AND OUTLOOK

The 2012 macroeconomic environment turned positive during the year. Although a worsening of the euro crisis
was noted in the first semester after doubts on Spanish and ltalian ability to make the structural reforms
necessary for their economies to once again grow and create jobs in the context of a restrictive fiscal policy, the
second semester showed a clear reduction in uncertainty on both economies.

Although meeting deficit commitments is proving hard to do, cost cutting measures implemented at the national
and regional levels began to show an improvement in both ratios. The government deficit reduced the 8.8%
recorded in 2011 by levels close to 7%, while regional and local administration deficits were cut in half. Labour
reform is generating a reduction in company costs {a drop of close to 3% in unit labour cost in 2012) allowing
companies to recover the competitiveness lost in the years before the crisis. Based on this improvement the
current account deficit is expected to drop to 1.5% from the 3.5% registered in 2011, with a positive number in the
second semester. The balance sheet clean up by banks and savings funds after the provisions assumed, the
rescue fund agreed with European bodies and creation of a bad bank to absorb the so-called “toxic assets” is
improving the visibility of the health of Spanish financial institutions. As a result the risk premium for Spanish debt
against the German bond closed the year at below 400 basis points, after reaching a maximum high over 600
basis poinis in July.

The euro:dollar exchange rate in part was tied to the evolution of the euro crisis during the year. The worsening of
the crisis caused a change in the exchange rate of close to 1.22 USD/EUR in mid-July, leading to a progressive
deprecation of the US dollar to 1.32 at the end of the year, and coinciding with a reduction in Eurozone
uncertainty and the stagnating of budget talks by the American government (the so-called “fiscal cliff’}).

The pulp market during the year has shown signs of solidness and greater stability despite the usual volatility
shown by raw materials. After cellulose prices remained stable at the level of $650/, prices took an upward trend
until July, placing prices at levels over $780/t. This trend was possible thanks fo the rise in demand in the year
(+2.4%), the absence of new capacities and low inventory levels (consumer levels have remained at minimum
levels of 20 days and producers at normalised levels close to 33 days). Although prices showed a slight
correction in the third quarter to $750/t, coinciding with a lower demand in the summer months together with
greater shut downs by paper producers, the rise in activity in the fourth quarter allowed us to finish the year at
levels close to $780/t. Praduction of the new Eldorado plant in Brazil for 1.5 million tons began in November,
although the impact on total sector offering has been marginal.

Perspectives for 2013 remain positive for the ceflulose business. Although new capacities are expected in
Uruguay and Brazil around the last quarter of the year (Montes del Plata and Maranhao with 1.3 and 1.5 million
tons respectively), the learning curve will limit the volume that will arrive at markets next year. Although the
Eldorado plant will progressively increase its levels of use during coming months, the close of the 0.4 million fons
Jari plant in Brazil and a rise in demand of between 1 and 2 million tons, expected by various consultants, support
expectations that 2013 market prices will be in line with current prices. Activity is expected to rise in 2014 in the
plant mentioned {no new significant increases are expected this year). This will be absorbed by a greater rise in
demand in mature markets, arising from the recovery of their economies.

Electric activity oh the other hand is penalised by fiscal changes implemented for a new 7% tax on electricity
sales and a heavier tax on hydrocarbon use, as well as the elimination of the variable option in the tariff applicable
within the special regimen.

BUSINESSES AND EARNINGS PERFORMANCE
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2012 was a good year for Grupo Ence, both for operations as well as for the cellulose market, although with
prices below 2011 levels of $800/t vs. the slight gains over the $750/t of 2012. This drop was compensated by
greater cellulose and electricity sales and a reduction in production costs, placing the Group's 2012 operating
profits below those achieved in 2011.

Group sales as a whale in 2012 were EUR 828 million, slightly above those of the previous year. Cellulose sales
came to EUR 597 million in 2012, in line with 2011 sales after compensating the 1% growth in volumes with a
similar drop in net sales price. The drop in the celiulose price in dollars was compensated by the rise in the dollar
during the year (1.28 USD/EUR in 2012 vs. 1.39 USD/EUR in 2011).

Electricity sales also set record highs, in terms of both volumes and prices. Electricity sales rose 4% to 1,542,773
MWh thanks to the increased evacuation capacity in Navia and turbine improvements in Pontevedra, with 76%
generated with biomass. Prices per MWh rose 7% over 2011 thanks to the updated fariffs and the greater weight
of forest waste in the generation mix. In accounting terms, electricity sales grew by 13% to EUR 208 milfion.

Forestry and consulting activity fell 50% to EUR 22 million in comparison with 2011, due to the restructuring and
slow abandonment of this activity.

Operating profit (EBIT) was EUR 82 million, 3% over those of 2011. The drop in prices was compensated by
efficiency improvements that allowed not just a rise in production, but also a reduction in production costs per ton
oh the order of 6% in 2012. This improvement was despite unscheduled stops for repairs in Huelva, the impact of
the general strike in the third quarter and a lower plant stability in the second half of the year. An important effort
was made to increase wood supplied through agreements with forest owners, to 50% more than in 2011. Those
agreements reduced dependency on imported wood to satisfy the growing consumption, and also reduced
operating and transpaortation costs through a greater control and modernization of this part of the supply chain. It
also allowed the sale of Company assets in Uruguay, which closed in December 2012,

Investments in 2011 amounted to EUR 130 million. Close to 18% of this investment was made in biological
assets, including both reforestation and forest improvement work in step with the growth in pulp output, and the
development of energy crops to feed the new electriciy generating plants. Industrial investmenis in tangible
assets totalled EUR 87 million, more than 65% of which were applied to the projects related with the expansion of
biomass electricity generating, principally the construction of the 50 MW plant in Huelva, and to a lesser extent to
the construction of the 20 MW plant in Merida, and to the development of new projects and to irrigation systems
for plantations of energy crops.

Net consolidated equity at 31 December 2012 was EUR 725 million (EUR 720 million at 31 December 2011),
equal to 53% of total assets. The drop in growth was due mainly to the recommencement of dividend payments of
EUR 16.5 million in 2012 out of the profit earned in 2011. The objective of this measure was to ensure appropriate
remuneration of the Group’s shareholders at the same time as reducing leverage while ensuring that investment
needs refated with the new generating plants are met in a financial scenario of tight credit, and acquiring treasury
shares.

Ongoing Research, Innovation and Technology activities focused on the continuation of programmes aimed at
achieving the genetic and silvicultural improvement of the eucalyptus tree, innovation and improvement of pulp
processes, mechanical fransformation of timber and the engineering of new projects, as described in the section
“Intangible Assets” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENT

See Note 25 to the accompanying consclidated financial statements.

RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH THE GROUP’S ACTIVITY

ldentified risk factors that affect Grupo ENCE and its activities are listed in Note 5 of the Consolidated Notes
attached.

TRANSACTIONS WITH TREASURY SHARES
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The Parent Company carried out certain transactions with freasury shares in 2012. The Parent Company shares
held as treasury stock at 31 December 2012 represented 7.5 % of share capital (7.8% at 31 December 2011} with
a total par value of EUR16,869 thousand {(EUR 18,190 thousand at 31 December 2011). The average purchase
price was EUR 1.8455 per share.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No important facts occurred after the close of fiscal year 2012, in addition to those included in Note 26 of the
consolidated annual statements attached.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The annual Corporate Governance Report forms part of this Consolidated Management Report and is published
on the CNMV webpage.

S
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The 2012 consolidated financial statements and directors’ report of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and
subsidiaries prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union were formally prepared by the
directors of the Parent Company on 19 February 2013. The financial and accompanying notes are set forth on 73
sheets of ordinary paper {numbered from 1 o 5 in the case of the consolidated financial statements, and from 1 fo
68 in the case of the explanatory notes), the directors’ report on 3 sheets (numbered from 69 to 71). All of the
aforementioned sheets of ordinary paper have been signed by the Secretary to the Board of Direclors, and all of
the directors have signed the present sheet.

And for purposes of RD 1362/2007 of 19 October {Art. 8.1.b), the Company Directers who sign below, declare as
follows regarding responsibility for the Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2012 of Ence Energia y Celulosa,
S.A. and subsidiaries, including financial information for its consolidated group: j*to the best of my knowledge, the
annual financial statements for fiscal year 2012 have been prepared following applicable accounting standards,
offer a true image of the capital, financial situation and profit and loss of the Company and the companies
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, and the director report includes a true analysis of the information
required”,
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The annual accounts and the consolidated management report for the year 2012 Ence Energia y Celulosa, 5.A.
and subsidiaries, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, have been formulated
by the Directors of the Parent Company on 19 February 2013. This document contains the English transtation of
such financial information.

In the event that there was a discrepancy between the English translation with the version of the annual accounts
and consolidated management report for the year 2012 Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries in
Spanish, the Spanish version prevails.

|
]
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Mr. Ignacio de Colmenares y Brupet~
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